
Board Meeting - Special Agenda
Dec 13th 2023  6�00pm - 8�00pm
3610 E. Ashlan Avenue, Fresno, CA 93726
Regularly Scheduled Board Meeting - January 2024

Join Virtually: https://zoom.us/j/99162534048

Meeting ID: 991 6253 4048

Join by Phone: (669) 444-9171

I. Opening Items

A. Record Attendance

B. Call the Meeting to Order

C. Flag Salute

D. Discussion & Potential Action on the Approval of the
Agenda

E. Public Comment

F. Discussion & Potential Action to Approve the
September 26, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes

9-26-2023 - Board Meeting Minutes - Draft.pdf

II. Closed Session Steph Johnson

A. STUDENT PRIVACY ACT: Petition for Early Graduation
(Student: 11383)

 6�00pm

6�10pm

11

https://zoom.us/j/99162534048
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/cbebc08e?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=


Coversheet - Closed Session.pdf

Board Policy No. 6146 - Graduation Requirements & Guidelines -
MR (1).pdf

B. Report Out of Any Action Taken in Closed
Session

Coversheet - Report out of CS.pdf

Dr. Sam Nofziger

III. Finance

A. Discussion & Potential Action on the
July-October 2023 Financial Report

Coversheet - Financial Report.pdf

Financial Report - MR.pdf

Christopher Williams

B. Discussion & Potential Action on the
First Interim Report

Coversheet - First Interim.pdf

FY24 First Interim - MR.pdf

Christopher Williams

C. Discussion & Potential Action on the
Fiscal Policies & Procedures
Board Policy No. 1300

Coversheet - Fiscal Manual.pdf

FISCAL POLICY AND PROCEDURES-
Summary of Changes.pdf

Fiscal Policies and Procedures Manual-
FY2024 - MR.pdf

Christopher Williams

D. Discussion & Potential Action on the
Superintendent Divvy Expenses

Coversheet - Divvy.pdf

Steph Johnson

6�30pm

6�30pm

6�40pm

6�50pm

6�55pm

22

https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/ebbe20e7?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/7b45243b?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/1a84088e?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/8f6f65d8?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/2729f2bc?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/6ce69804?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/81a891bb?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/97f6da4d?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/0c87dc89?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/d7eebb67?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/1daa2f15?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=


IV. Academic Excellence

A. Discussion & Potential Discussion of the
Winter Superintendent Report

Coversheet - Superintendent Report.pdf

Steph Johnson
Dr. Steven James

B. Presentation & Potential Discussion on the
Annual Submission of the Local Indicators
Informational

Coversheet - Local Indicators.pdf

Steph Johnson

V. Operations

A. Discussion & Potential Action on the 2022-
2023 Audit Report

Coversheet - Audit Report.pdf

22-23 Audit Draft - MR.pdf

Steph Johnson

B. Discussion & Potential Action on the
Updated Comprehensive Safety Plan

Coversheet - C. Safety Plan.pdf

Pending Board Approval_Comprehensive
Safety Plan MRA 23_24_11-29-23 (1).pdf

Dr. Damien Phillips

C. Discussion & Potential Action on the
Updated Employee Handbook
(Daily/Hourly Rate Changes)

Coversheet - Employee Handbook.pdf

Employee Handbook - MR.pdf

Steph Johnson

VI. Governance

A. Presentation & Discussion of the Board
Metrics Report - December 2023

Maria Thoeni

7�00pm

7�00pm

7�10pm

7�15pm

7�15pm

7�25pm

7�35pm

7�40pm

7�40pm

33

https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/7c55a5b7?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/0d209412?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/bde91290?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/6442d028?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/84b8df5c?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/f6485147?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/3325475a?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/5305d69c?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=


Coversheet - Board Metrics Report.pdf

Board Metrics Report - December 2023 - MR.pdf

B. Discussion & Potential Action on the
2023-2024 Board Meeting Calendar

Coversheet - Board Meeting Calendar.pdf

MR Board Calendar 2023-2024.pdf

Dr. Sam Nofziger

VII. Closing Items

A. Board of Director Comments & Request

B. Announcement of the Next Scheduled
Board Meeting

Dr. Sam Nofziger

1. Regular: January 2024

MR Board Calendar 2023-2024.pdf

C. Adjourn Meeting

VIII. Meeting Notes

A. Public Comment Rules: Members of the public may
address the Board on agenda or non-agenda items
through the teleconference platform, Zoom. Zoom does
not require the members of the public to have an
account or login. Please either utilize the chat option to
communicate to the administrative team of your desire
to address the Board or simply communicate orally your
desire to address the Board when the Board asks for
public comments. Speakers may be called in the order
requests are received. Comments are limited to 2
minutes each, with no more than 15 minutes per single
topic. If a member of the public utilizes a translator to
address the Board, those individuals are allotted 4
minutes each. If the Board utilizes simultaneous

7�50pm

7�55pm

44

https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/e8c7c9ef?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/fc4189f0?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/420a278a?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/dd75db8b?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=
https://app.boardable.com/monarch-river-academy/documents/0fcefe49?redirect=320763?token=eyJpdiI6IlVBZmtFdDJEay90NllKczl5NkFaTnc9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiTURFTS9NUm5EQklGS3lJRWppaWw0NGFsL1FTc3JIRG5MVG9wblJZdE5Idz0iLCJtYWMiOiJlNjY4NWY4OWRjY2Q2ZjM4MjA1NzM2NTZkYmU3MGJkYTM1YTY1ZmM2YjVkOWNlN2JjNTllNDc5OWVkMGY4MDQwIiwidGFnIjoiIn0=


translation equipment in a manner that allows the Board
to hear the translated public testimony simultaneously,
those individuals are allotted 2 minutes each. By law, the
Board is allowed to take action only on items on the
agenda. The Board may, at its discretion, refer a matter
to school staff or calendar the issue for future
discussion.

B. Note: The Governing Board encourages those with
disabilities to participate fully in the public meeting
process. If you need a disability-related modification or
accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, to
participate in the public meeting, please contact the
Governing Board Office at (562) 758-0511 at least 48
hours before the scheduled board meeting so every
reasonable effort can be made to accommodate you.
(Government Code § 54954.2; Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990, § 202 (42 U.S.C. § 1213)

C. Note: Times listed on the agenda are estimates only and
do not represent the actual time each agenda item will
take place during the Board meeting. Similarly, the
length of time noted for each of the agenda items also
represents estimated duration, and not the actual
length of time allocated for each.

8�00pm
END

55



Monarch River Academy - Board Meeting - Minutes

I. Opening Items

A. Record Attendance
Directors Present (In-Person): Dr. Sam Nofziger, Dr. Craig Wheaton, & Elizabeth
Wagner

Director(s) Absent:
Dr. Monique Ouwinga-DeRuiter and Sarah Sanchez

Guests Present:
In Person - Steph Johnson, Jenny Plumb, and Dr. Damien Phillips
Remote - Anna Wilkinson, Denise Voth, Maria Thoeni, Dr. Yolanda Vazquez, Rhonda
Deurksen, Christopher Williams, & Kimmi Buzzard

B. Call the Meeting to Order
Dr. Sam Nofziger called the meeting of the Board of Directors of Monarch River
Academy to order on Tuesday, September 26, 2023 at 6:00 PM.

C. Flag Salute
Dr. Nofziger led the Flag Salute.

D. Discussion & Potential Action on the Approval of the Agenda
Elizabeth Wagner made a motion to approve the agenda.
Dr. Craig Wheaton seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

E. Public Comment
No public comments were made.

F. Discussion & Potential Action to Approve the September 15, 2023 and the June
20, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes
Dr. Craig Wheaton made a motion to approve the September 15, 2023 and the June
20, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes.
Elizabeth Wagner seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

II. Finance

A. Discussion & Potential Action on the Education Protection Account (EPA)
Actuals

6



Christopher Williams from Absolute Charter Group presented the school's EPA
actual report.

Dr. Craig Wheaton made a motion to approve the EPA Actuals.
Elizabeth Wagner seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

B. Discussion & Potential Action on the Superintendent Divvy Expenses
There were no Divvy transactions to report.

C. Discussion & Potential Action on the Revised Nurse Salary Schedule
Steph Johnson explained this is a need in order to ensure and retain the school can
secure qualified nurses.

Dr. Craig Wheaton made a motion to approve the Revised Nurse Salary Schedule.
Elizabeth Wagner seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

III. Academic Excellence

A. Discussion & Potential Action on the Absolute Charter Group (ACG)
Scholarship
Christopher Williams presented the background and inspiration for this scholarship.

Elizabeth Wagner made a motion to approve the Absolute Charter Group (ACG)
Scholarship.
Dr. Craig Wheaton seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

B. Presentation & Potential Discussion of Fall School Report
Steph Johnson provided a report that included enrollment, staffing, professional
development including partnership with Fresno County Office of Education and the
continued Personalized Professional Development Plan. New curriculum initiative
was launched where every student had a curriculum plan for the first day of school.
The Chromebook 1:1 Program continued this year. There are already ideas of how
to make additional improvements for next year. There have also been field trips,
Adventure Days led by a local Community Arts Educator, Virtual Academy, and High
School specific events.

IV. Operations

A. Discussion & Potential Action on the Employee Handbook

7



Dr. Damien Phillips presented the revised Employee Handbook.

Dr. Craig Wheaton made a motion to approve the Employee Handbook.
Elizabeth Wagner seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

B. Presentation & Potential Discussion on the 2021-22 Teaching Assignment
Monitoring Outcomes (TAMO)
Dr. Damien Phillips presented the school's TAMO for informational purposes.

C. Discussion & Potential Action on the Shared Staff MOU
Dr. Damien Phillips presented the Shared Staff MOU that now includes the current
year's personnel.

Dr. Craig Wheaton made a motion to approve the Shared Staff MOU.
Elizabeth Wagner seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

D. Discussion & Potential Action on Shared Office MOU - Ashlan Avenue
Steph Johnson outlined the structure of the Shared Office MOU between Monarch
River Academy and Yosemite Valley Charter School that will include increased office
space to expand meeting and Library spaces.

Dr. Craig Wheaton made a motion to approve the Shared Office MOU - Ashlan
Avenue.
Elizabeth Wagner seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

E. Discussion & Potential Action on the Shared Office MOU - Fine Avenue
Steph Johnson explained the need for this temporary space for Special Education
services.

Dr. Craig Wheaton made a motion to approve the Shared Office MOU - Fine Avenue.
Elizabeth Wagner seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

F. Discussion & Potential Action on the Records Retention Policy
Board Policy No. 5380

Jenny Plumb outline the new Records Retention Policy that was developed with the
support of the Charter School Development Center and legal counsel.

8



Elizabeth Wagner made a motion to approve Board Policy No. 5380.
Dr. Craig Wheaton seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

G. Presentation & Potential Discussion on Charter Renewal Term
Steph Johnson gave a historical review of the school's charter, terms, and
extension. The school plans to start the renewal process early in 2025.

V. Governance

A. Presentation & Discussion of the Board Metrics Report Schedule & Template
Steph Johnson presented the outline and schedule of this year's proposed Board
Metrics report.

Elizabeth Wagner made a motion to approve the Board Metrics Report Schedule &
Template.
Elizabeth Wagner seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

B. Brown Act & Conflict of Interest Training
Kimmi Buzzard conducted annual Brown Act and Conflict of Interest Training.

C. Discussion & Potential Action on Board Meeting Days & Times

Dr. Craig Wheaton made a motion to Schedule December 6, 2023 at 6:45 pm and to
discuss the topic of meeting days and times again with the Board.
Elizabeth Wagner seconded the motion.
The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

VI. Closing Items

A. Board of Director Comments & Request
No Board comments or requests were made at this time.

B. Announcement of the Next Scheduled Board Meeting

1. Regular: December 6, 2023 at 6:45 PM

C. Adjourn Meeting
Elizabeth Wagner made a motion to adjourn the Board Meeting at 7:09 PM.
Dr. Craig Wheaton seconded the motion.

9



The Board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

VII. Meeting Notes

A. Public Comment Rules: Members of the public may address the Board on
agenda or non-agenda items through the teleconference platform, Zoom. Zoom
does not require the members of the public to have an account or login. Please
either utilize the chat option to communicate to the administrative team of your
desire to address the Board or simply communicate orally your desire to
address the Board when the Board asks for public comments. Speakers may
be called in the order requests are received. Comments are limited to 2 minutes
each, with no more than 15 minutes per single topic. If a member of the public
utilizes a translator to address the Board, those individuals are allotted 4
minutes each. If the Board utilizes simultaneous translation equipment in a
manner that allows the Board to hear the translated public testimony
simultaneously, those individuals are allotted 2 minutes each. By law, the Board
is allowed to take action only on items on the agenda. The Board may, at its
discretion, refer a matter to school staff or calendar the issue for future
discussion.

B. Note: The Governing Board encourages those with disabilities to participate
fully in the public meeting process. If you need a disability-related modification
or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, to participate in the
public meeting, please contact the Governing Board Office at (562) 758-0511 at
least 48 hours before the scheduled board meeting so every reasonable effort
can be made to accommodate you. (Government Code § 54954.2; Americans
with Disabilities Act of 1990, § 202 (42 U.S.C. § 1213)

C. Note: Times listed on the agenda are estimates only and do not represent the
actual time each agenda item will take place during the Board meeting.
Similarly, the length of time noted for each of the agenda items also represents
estimated duration, and not the actual length of time allocated for each.

10



 Cover Sheet 
 Closed Session: STUDENT PRIVACY ACT 

 Petition for Early Graduation (Student: 11383) 

 Sec�on:  II. Closed Session 
 Item:  A.  STUDENT PRIVACY ACT: Pe��on for Early Gradua�on 

 (Student: 11383) 
 Purpose:  Discussion & Poten�al Ac�on - Vote 
 Related Material:  Board Policy No. 6146 (Reference) 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  This student seeks the Board’s considera�on for early gradua�on. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  A�er hearing from the school staff, make a decision regarding the student’s pe��on. 

11



Board Policy No. 6146 

 

 

Page 1 of 4 

 

                                                             Monarch River Academy 

 

 
Instruction  |  Instructional Program 

GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS & GUIDELINES 

 

 

The aspiration of the Monarch River Academy (MRA) charter school (the School), in partnership 

with the community, is to provide an exceptional education that prepares students to be successful 

members of our society.  Therefore, the graduation requirements stated below have been 

established.  The graduation requirements encompass the knowledge, abilities, and experience 

necessary to develop the essential aptitudes and skills of successful participants in today’s society:  

behavior of character, communication, citizenship, intellect, self-direction, teamwork, wellbeing, 

and productivity.  

Students are to be provided with assistance to tailor the requirements according to their individual 

needs and abilities.  Students must demonstrate proficiency in reading comprehension, writing and 

mathematics.  Those students not proficient will be provided with remedial programs after 

consultation with the student’s parent/guardian.  

The purpose of the MRA Governing Board approving this Graduation Requirement Policy is to 

accomplish the following:   

1. Identify High School Graduation and A-G Requirements 

2. Identify Guidelines for Early High School Withdrawal from the School 

3. Identify Guidelines for Early High School Graduation 

 

1.     Graduation & A-G Requirements 

      Subjects Required for Graduation 

● English 

●  Math 

● Social Studies 

● Science 

●  Foreign Language or Visual/Performing Arts 

●  Electives 

For students in grades 9th-12th, the School has one graduation pathway that allows for students to 

choose courses based on academic, career, and personal interests. The graduation requirements 

help students prepare to enter the workforce, attend community college, or enter military service 

directly after high school. The School graduation requirements allow students to have greater 

flexibility in the classes they take and allow students to explore individual interests. 

12



Board Policy No. 6146 

 

 

Page 2 of 4 

The School shall comply with coursework and graduation requirements that have been extended 

to students who are migratory children or students participating in an English language proficiency 

program for newly arrived immigrant students consistent with Education Code sections 51225.1 

and 51225.2, as amended by AB 2121 (2018). 

MRA teachers, support staff, and counselors advise students on A-G requirements and help 

students schedule courses based on their individual goals. Counselors monitor the completion of 

A-G requirements. Teachers and counselors revise graduation plans according to individual 

student goals and needs. 

High school graduation requirements and college/university entrance requirements are not the 

same. Course selection should be based on academic, career, and personal interest. Student 

interests and goals should guide the path through high school. 

A high school diploma will be awarded to all students who meet the Charter School's graduation 

requirements. 

College admission requirements will vary from school to school and it is recommended that 

students check admission requirements before applying to their college of choice. Students are 

encouraged to reach out to their Guidance Counselor if they have questions about graduation 

requirements or the college admission process. 

Students who plan to apply to a 4-year college right after high school graduation will need to meet 

A-G requirements. These requirements are mandatory for students who apply to the CSU or UC 

systems, and recommended for students who plan to apply to private and out-of-state colleges and 

universities. 

  

* Please note that once a subject area graduation requirement has been fulfilled, all excess 

credits will be rolled over to the Electives category. 

  

  

13



Board Policy No. 6146 

 

 

Page 3 of 4 

Suggested Course Sequences 

 

 

 

 

14



Board Policy No. 6146 

 

 

Page 4 of 4 

2.     Guidelines for Early High School Withdrawal from the School 

Should a high school student withdrawal more than two weeks prior to the end of a 

semester, the student will not receive full credit for their course(s). A withdrawal report 

card will be created with the percent of the course(s) completion and the current grades 

earned at the time of withdrawal. 

The School will adhere to foster youths’ rights with regard to partial credits, upon 

withdrawal and when changing schools. 

 

3.     Guidelines for Early High School Graduation 

The school does not provide the opportunity for students to graduate prior to the end of the 

school year. 

A student can petition the School Board in writing to seek approval for early graduation at 

any semester or year break. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted: May 25, 2021 

15



 Cover Sheet 
 Report Out of Any Action Taken in Closed Session 

 Sec�on:  II. Closed Session 
 Item:  B.  Report Out of Any Ac�on Taken in Closed Session 
 Purpose:  Informa�onal 
 Related Material:  N/A 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  Should  there  have  been  ac�on  taken  in  Closed  Session,  the  Board  President  will  report 
 out the decision. l 

16



 Cover Sheet 
 July-October 2023 Financial Report 

 Sec�on:  III. Financial 
 Item:  A.  July-October 2023 Financial Report 
 Purpose:  Discussion & Poten�al Ac�on - Vote 
 Related Material:  Financial Report - MR 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  Absolute Charter Group has prepared a financial report covering July-October 2023. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  Consider the approval of the July-October 2023 Financial Report 

17



Monarch 
River 
Academy

FINANCIAL PRESENTATION 

OCT 2023 YEAR-TO- DATE

18



Financial Outlook

AB 1505: initially imposed a two-year moratorium on the approval of petitions to establish new nonclassroom-based 
charter schools, until January 1, 2022.  AB 130 extended the moratorium to January 1, 2025.  The Trailer Bill now 
extends the moratorium until January 1, 2026.  The Legislature has directed this one-year extension be used to study 
funding processes for nonclassroom-based charter schools, with the goal of identifying and making recommendations 
on potential improvements, including recommendations for enhancing oversight.

Raising LCFF funding: Legislation that would aim to increase funding for the Local Control Funding Formula by 50% 
over the next seven years, while encouraging districts to use the new money to increase staff pay by that percentage 
over that time, almost made it to Newsom’s desk. But uncertainty about whether Newsom would sign it led the author 

of Assembly Bill 938 to pull the bill in the last week of the session.

The UCLA Anderson Forecast - As core inflation continues to come down slowly, we expect the Fed to increase the 

federal funds rate by 25 basis points in fall 2023.

The LAO: is now projecting the 2024-25 statutory COLA to be approximately 1.00%

19

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB938


Authorizer Page

ADA was budgeted at 1,169 
and the current ADA is being 
measured at 1,143. The 
attendance rate is 98.6% while 
it was budgeted at 97%.

The 2023 Fund Balance 
was $4,464,936 and the 
2024 Fund Balance is 
projected to be 
$4,945,335

Cash balance is 3.3MM 
and represents 2.0 
months of expenses

20



Board of Director Points To Consider

Opportunities

1. The increase in attendance rate

more than offset the reduction in

enrollment.

2.Restricted Revenue:

a. Prop 28 = 164,308

b. UPK = 62,382

c. ELOG = 42,936

Challenges

1. The projected cash balance seems poised to fall $1.3 
million below the budget; nevertheless, it is 
anticipated to surpass last year's figure by an increase 
of $400,000.

a. the beginning cash balance provided came in

$550k lower than expected, after year-end 
adjustments.

b. $236k of prior year invoices were added to 
the forecast.

c. $600k in revenue that will be delayed and 
received in 24-25

21



The Importance of Enrollment Rate

22



Cash Flow Balance

Notes:

1 – End of year cash balance is expected  
to cover 2.9 months of expenses. 

2 -  CASH RATIO: 
Cash Coverage ratio: 1.93 > 1.0 
Current Ratio:                  2.29 > 1.0

23



Fund Balance

$4,464,936 

$4,945,335 

$6,108,469 

$7,304,494 

$7,949,997 
$8,424,701 

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $7,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $9,000,000

FY2023 FY2024 FY2025 FY2026 FY2027 FY2028

Fund Balance

FUND BALANCE PERCENTAGE

State Requirement = 3%

FY2024 25.6%

FY2025 31.0%

FY2026 36.1%

FY2027 38.5%

FY2028 40.0%

24



Surplus / 
(Deficit)

Notes

1 -  The surplus is the amount 
that revenue exceeds expense. 
Deficit is the amount that 
expense exceeds revenue.

2 – The surplus includes cash, 
accounts receivable, fixed 
assets, prepaid assets and 
others. The most important 
component is cash.

25



Monarch River Academy
Multi-Year Budget

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

 Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Assumptions

LCFF COLA 8.22% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 0.00%

Attendance Rate 98.6% 97.0% 97.0% 97.0% 97.0%

Enrollment 1,159.00           1,159.00           1,159.00           1,159.00 1,159.00 

Average Daily Attendance 1,143.11           1,124.23           1,124.23           1,124.23 1,124.23 

Revenues

State Aid - Revenue Limit 0.520 0.78 

8011 LCFF State Aid 13,084,891$     13,275,808$     13,675,100$     14,097,984$       14,097,984$       

8012 Education Protection Account 228,622 228,622 228,622 228,622 228,622 

8096 In Lieu of Property Taxes 190,191 190,191 190,191 190,191 190,191 

13,503,704        13,694,621        14,093,913        14,516,797          14,516,797          

Federal Revenue

8181 Special Education - Entitlement 142,889 140,529 140,529 140,529 140,529 

8290 Title I, Part A - Basic Low Income 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 

292,889 290,529 290,529 290,529 290,529 

Other State Revenue

8311 State Special Education 979,292 963,117 963,117 963,117 963,117 

8550 Mandated Cost 25,777 28,955 29,364 30,301 30,301 

8560 State Lottery 270,917 266,443 266,443 266,443 266,443 

8599 Other State Revenue 342,085 970,327 853,835 53,000 53,000 

1,618,071          2,228,842          2,112,759          1,312,861            1,312,861            

Other Local Revenue

8689 Other Fees and Contracts 4,371,325          4,677,330          4,911,197          5,156,756            5,414,594            

4,371,325          4,677,330          4,911,197          5,156,756            5,414,594            

Total Revenue 19,785,989$  20,891,322$  21,408,397$  21,276,943$    21,534,781$    

26



Monarch River Academy
Multi-Year Budget

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

 Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Expenses

Certificated Salaries

1100 Teachers' Salaries 4,284,724          4,698,572          4,816,328          4,939,926            5,051,332            

1140 Teachers' Extra Duty/Stipends 735,507             549,800             549,800             549,800               549,800               

1150 Teachers' Extra Duty/Stipends 51,086                71,000                71,000                71,000                 71,000                 

1200 Pupil Support Salaries 1,062,330          965,126             985,781             999,063               1,013,287            

1300 Administrators' Salaries 805,176             774,375             787,500             800,625               811,125               

1900 Other Certificated Salaries 285,919             505,046             520,197             535,803               551,877               

7,224,742          7,563,919          7,730,606          7,896,218            8,048,421            

Classified Salaries

2100 Instructional Salaries 259,611             389,369             397,346             414,991               416,045               

2340 Classified Stipends 22,141                5,300                  5,300                  5,300                    5,300                    

2400 Clerical and Office Staff Salaries 59,791                50,019                51,507                51,507                 51,507                 

2900 Other Classified Salaries 63,600                49,083                50,400                51,985                 53,549                 

405,143             493,772             504,553             523,783               526,402               

Benefits

3101 STRS 1,508,128          1,454,491          1,486,613          1,518,245            1,547,316            

3301 OASDI 20,848                27,438                28,014                29,207                 29,369                 

3311 Medicare 123,640             116,837             119,410             122,090               124,335               

3401 Health and Welfare 910,188             886,397             928,213             970,028               1,011,843            

3501 State Unemployment 46,233                25,748                25,748                25,717                 25,684                 

3601 Workers' Compensation 25,333                38,000                38,000                38,000                 38,000                 

3760 Accrued Leave 36,938                55,032                56,311                57,679                 58,731                 

3999 Payroll Tax Adjustments (2,504)                -                           -                           -                            -                            

3901 Other Benefits (10,010)              -                           -                           -                            -                            

2,658,794          2,603,944          2,682,308          2,760,965            2,835,277            

Books and Supplies

4100 Textbooks and Core Curricula Materials 8,879                  -                           -                           -                            -                            

4302 School Supplies 1,581,304          1,287,919          1,287,919          1,287,919            1,287,919            

4400 Software 160,804             -                           -                           -                            -                            

4311 Office Expense 40,310                40,000                40,000                40,000                 40,000                 

4310 Noncapitalized Equipment 156,504             75,000                75,000                75,000                 75,000                 

1,947,802          1,402,919          1,402,919          1,402,919            1,402,919            

27



Monarch River Academy
Multi-Year Budget

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

 Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Subagreement Services

5102 Special Education 645,348             666,408             679,014             692,249               706,147               

5106 Other Educational Consultants 3,579,733          4,081,106          4,238,569          4,403,904            4,577,507            

5108 Instructional Services 1,616,446          1,700,390          1,730,127          1,690,541            1,690,541            

5,841,527          6,447,905          6,647,709          6,786,694            6,974,194            

Operations and Housekeeping

5200 Auto and Travel 43,369                33,000                33,000                33,000                 33,000                 

5300 Dues & Memberships -                           10,472                10,472                10,472                 10,472                 

5400 Insurance 203,228             209,664             220,147             231,155               242,712               

5501 Utilities 4,884                  -                           -                           -                            -                            

5502 Janitorial Services 1,600                  2,400                  2,400                  2,400                    2,400                    

5900 Communications 10,158                12,130                12,130                12,130                 12,130                 

5910 Postage and Shipping 2,000                  3,000                  3,000                  3,000                    3,000                    

265,238             270,666             281,149             292,156               303,714               

Facilities, Repairs and Other Leases

5610 Rent 12,454                13,992                14,411                14,844                 15,289                 

5611 Additional Rent 600                     -                           -                           -                            -                            

5630 Repairs and Maintenance 24,000                24,000                24,000                24,000                 24,000                 

37,054                37,992                38,411                38,844                 39,289                 

Professional/Consulting Services

5820 Audit & Taxes 15,178                10,066                10,066                10,066                 10,066                 

5810 Legal 49,376                50,000                50,000                50,000                 50,000                 

5804 Professional Development 19,937                19,800                19,800                19,800                 19,800                 

5815 General Consulting 7,750                  -                           -                           -                            -                            

5806 Special Activities/Field Trips 34,116                33,400                33,400                33,400                 33,400                 

5514 Bank Charges 969                     1,200                  1,200                  1,200                    1,200                    

5892 Other taxes and fees 3,104                  5,000                  5,000                  5,000                    5,000                    

5811 Management Fee 334,237             324,280             329,944             322,404               322,404               

5812 District Oversight Fee 405,111             410,839             422,817             435,504               435,504               

5840 Public Relations/Recruitment 3,022                  -                           -                           -                            -                            

872,801             854,585             872,228             877,374               877,374               

Depreciation 

6900 Depreciation Expense 52,488                52,488                52,488                52,488                 52,488                 

52,488                52,488                52,488                52,488                 52,488                 

Total Expenses 19,305,590$  19,728,188$  20,212,371$  20,631,441$    21,060,077$    

28



Monarch River Academy
Multi-Year Budget

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

 Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Surplus (Deficit) 480,399$    1,163,134$    1,196,025$    645,503$     474,704$     

2.4% 5.6% 5.6% 3.0% 2.2%

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 4,464,936$     4,945,335$     6,108,469$     7,304,494$    7,949,997$    

Fund Balance, End of Year 4,945,335$    6,108,469$    7,304,494$    7,949,997$    8,424,701$    

25.6% 31.0% 36.1% 38.5% 40.0%

Cash Flow Adjustments

Surplus (Deficit) 480,399 1,163,134          1,196,025          645,503 474,704 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Depreciation/Amortization 52,488 52,488 52,488 52,488 52,488 

Public Funding Receivables 247,580 (3,141) (3,141) (3,141) (3,141) 

Grants and Contributions Rec. - - - - - 

Due To/From Related Parties - - - - - 

Unearned Revenue - - - - - 

Prepaid Expenses 173,713 - - - - 

Other Assets - - - - - 

Accounts Payable (466,438)            - - - - 

Accrued Expenses (384,533)            - - - - 

Other Liabilities 452,562 - - - - 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Purchases of Prop. And Equip. (26,042) - - - - 

Notes Receivable - - - - - 

Total Change in Cash 430,977 1,212,481          1,245,372          694,849 524,050 

Cash, Beginning of Year 4,247,985          4,678,961          5,891,442          7,136,814            7,831,663            

Cash, End of Year 4,678,961$    5,891,442$    7,136,814$    7,831,663$    8,355,714$    

29



Monarch River Academy
Monthly Cash Flow/Forecast FY23-24

ADA = 1143.11
Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24 Apr-24 May-24 Jun-24 2024 Accruals

 FY 23-24 

Forecast 

Revenues

State Aid - Revenue Limit

8011 LCFF State Aid - 615,583 615,583        1,108,050     1,108,900     1,108,900    1,108,900      1,108,900    1,262,015     1,262,015    1,262,015    1,262,015      1,262,015      13,084,891    

8012 Education Protection Account - - - 53,671          - 53,671 - - 64,125          - - 57,156            - 228,622          

8096 In Lieu of Property Taxes - - 569 46,583          14,288          14,288 14,288           14,288          28,629          14,315          14,315          14,315            14,315            190,191          

- 615,583 616,152        1,208,304     1,123,188     1,176,859    1,123,188      1,123,188    1,354,769     1,276,329    1,276,329    1,333,485      1,276,329      13,503,704    

Federal Revenue

8181 Special Education - Entitlement - - - - - - - - - - - 142,889         - 142,889          

8290 Title I, Part A - Basic Low Income - - - - - 112,500 - - - - - - 37,500            150,000          

8299 Prior Year Federal Revenue - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

- - - - - 112,500 - - - - - 142,889 37,500            292,889          

Other State Revenue

8311 State Special Education 45,309            45,309          81,555          82,763          82,763          82,763          82,763           82,763          78,661          78,661          78,661          78,661            78,661            979,292          

8550 Mandated Cost - - - - - 25,777 - - - - - - - 25,777            

8560 State Lottery - - - - - - 76,167           - - 64,551          - - 130,198         270,917          

8590 Other State Revenue 93,282            4,343 4,343 7,817 - 77,433 - - 77,433          - - 77,433            - 342,085          

138,591          49,652          85,898          90,580          82,763          185,974       158,930         82,763          156,094        143,212       78,661          156,094         208,859         1,618,071       

Other Local Revenue

8689 Other Fees and Contracts - 392,329 394,233        399,029        398,217        398,217       398,217         398,217        398,217        398,217       398,217       398,217         4,371,325       

- 392,329 394,233        399,029        398,217        398,217       398,217         398,217        398,217        398,217       398,217       398,217         - 4,371,325       

Total Revenue 138,591          1,057,565     1,096,284     1,697,913     1,604,168     1,873,549    1,680,335     1,604,168    1,909,079     1,817,758    1,753,207    2,030,684      1,522,688      19,785,989    

Expenses

Certificated Salaries

1100 Teachers' Salaries 370,548          373,044        339,452        365,651        354,504        354,504       354,504         354,504        354,504        354,504       354,504       354,504         - 4,284,724       

1140 Teachers' Extra Duty/Stipends 31,109            65,343          63,117          66,428          63,689          63,689          63,689           63,689          63,689          63,689          63,689          63,689            - 735,507          

1150 Admin  Extra Duty/Stipends 5,260 3,417 8,883 3,992 3,692 3,692            3,692 3,692            3,692 3,692            3,692            3,692 - 51,086            

1200 Pupil Support Salaries 80,469            80,469          89,760          90,181          90,181          90,181          90,181           90,181          90,181          90,181          90,181          90,181            - 1,062,330       

1300 Administrators' Salaries 62,038            64,531          97,826          64,531          64,531          64,531          64,531           64,531          64,531          64,531          64,531          64,531            - 805,176          

1900 Other Certificated Salaries 25,247            25,247          8,202 25,247          25,247          25,247          25,247           25,247          25,247          25,247          25,247          25,247            - 285,919          

574,671          612,051        607,240        616,030        601,844        601,844       601,844         601,844        601,844        601,844       601,844       601,844         - 7,224,742       

Classified Salaries

2100 Instructional Salaries 69 14,465          19,848          22,458          25,346          25,346          25,346           25,346          25,346          25,346          25,346          25,346            - 259,611          

2340 Classified Stipends 7,751 1,546 1,333 1,444 1,258 1,258            1,258 1,258            1,258 1,258            1,258            1,258 - 22,141            

2400 Clerical and Office Staff Salaries 3,311 5,084 4,627 4,826 5,243 5,243            5,243 5,243            5,243 5,243            5,243            5,243 - 59,791            

2900 Other Classified Salaries 5,903 9,474 4,325 4,516 4,923 4,923            4,923 4,923            4,923 4,923            4,923            4,923 - 63,600            

17,034            30,569          30,133          33,243          36,771          36,771          36,771           36,771          36,771          36,771          36,771          36,771            - 405,143          

Benefits

3101 STRS 84,669            263,744        111,989        109,758        117,246        117,246       117,246         117,246        117,246        117,246       117,246       117,246         - 1,508,128       

3301 OASDI - - - - 2,606 2,606            2,606 2,606            2,606 2,606            2,606            2,606 - 20,848            

3321 Medicare 12,541            12,045          11,377          11,595          9,510 9,510            9,510 9,510            9,510 9,510            9,510            9,510 - 123,640          

3401 Health and Welfare 89,237            69,415          89,426          99,054          70,382          70,382          70,382           70,382          70,382          70,382          70,382          70,382            - 910,188          

3501 State Unemployment 17,529            2,410 319 173 - - 21,345           3,457            319 319 319 41 - 46,233            

3601 Workers' Compensation - - - - 3,167 3,167            3,167 3,167            3,167 3,167            3,167            3,167 - 25,333            

3760 Accrued Leave - - - - 4,617 4,617            4,617 4,617            4,617 4,617            4,617            4,617 - 36,938            

3999 Payroll Tax Adjustments - (2,504) - - - - - - - - - - - (2,504) 

3901 Other Benefits 3,750 (13,760) - - - - - - - - - - - (10,010)           

207,727          331,350        213,111        220,580        207,528        207,528       228,873         210,985        207,847        207,847       207,847       207,569         - 2,658,794       

30



Monarch River Academy
Monthly Cash Flow/Forecast FY23-24

ADA = 1143.11
Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24 Apr-24 May-24 Jun-24 2024 Accruals

 FY 23-24 

Forecast 

Books and Supplies

4100 Textbooks and Core Curricula Materials 8,642              - 237 - - - - - - - - - - 8,879 

4302 School Supplies 51,400            217,135        302,346 173,991        55,730          92,495          66,772           95,503          126,899        130,868       189,886       78,279            - 1,581,304       

4400 Software 20,804            - - - - - - - - - 25,000 115,000         - 160,804          

4311 Office Expense 743 7,056 2,081 3,763 3,333 3,333            3,333 3,333            3,333 3,333            3,333 3,333 - 40,310            

4310 Noncapitalized Equipment 115,701          13,021          10,496          2,286 15,000          - - - - - - - - 156,504          

197,291          237,212        315,160        180,040        74,064          95,828          70,105           98,836          130,233        134,202       218,219       196,612         - 1,947,802       

Subagreement Services

5102 Special Education 37,126            52,280          67,273          52,401          54,534          54,534          54,534           54,534          54,534          54,534          54,534          54,534            - 645,348          

5106 Other Educational Consultants - 265,128 258,804        256,276        349,940        349,940       349,940         349,940        349,940        349,940       349,940       349,940         - 3,579,733       

5108 Instructional Services 126,000          126,000 126,000        126,000        134,704        134,704       134,704         134,704        134,704        134,704       134,704       134,704         34,815            1,616,446       

163,126          443,408        452,077        434,677        539,178        539,178       539,178         539,178        539,178        539,178       539,178       539,178         34,815            5,841,527       

Operations and Housekeeping

5200 Auto and Travel 1,561 9,878 5,628 2,302 3,000 3,000            3,000 3,000            3,000 3,000            3,000            3,000 - 43,369            

5300 Dues & Memberships - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

5400 Insurance - 16,640 36,828          16,640          16,640          16,640          16,640           16,640          16,640          16,640          16,640          16,640            - 203,228          

5501 Utilities - - 4,884 - - - - - - - - - - 4,884 

5502 Janitorial Services - - - - 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 - 1,600 

5900 Communications 697 475 470 428 1,011 1,011            1,011 1,011            1,011 1,011            1,011            1,011 - 10,158            

5910 Postage and Shipping - - - - 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 - 2,000 

2,259 26,993          47,810          19,370          21,101          21,101          21,101           21,101          21,101          21,101          21,101          21,101            - 265,238          

Facilities, Repairs and Other Leases

5610 Rent - 1,133 1,133 1,133 1,132 1,132            1,132 1,132            1,132 1,132            1,132            1,132 - 12,454            

5611 Additional Rent 600 - - - - - - - - - - - - 600 

5630 Repairs and Maintenance - - - - 4,000 2,000            2,000 2,000            2,000 2,000            2,000            8,000 - 24,000            

600 1,133 1,133 1,133 5,132 3,132            3,132 3,132            3,132 3,132            3,132            9,132 - 37,054            

Professional/Consulting Services

5820 Audit & Taxes 5,112 - - - - - - 5,033            - - - 5,033 - 15,178            

5810 Legal 99 (5,044)           154 - 8,333 8,333            8,333 8,333            8,333 4,167            4,167            4,167 - 49,376            

5804 Professional Development 732 5,679 1,793 - 1,467 1,467            1,467 1,467            1,467 1,467            1,467            1,467 - 19,937            

5815 General Consulting - - 1,500 - - 1,250            1,250 1,250            - - 1,250            1,250 - 7,750 

5806 Special Activities/Field Trips 1,250 2,746 1,060 4,060 1,000 2,000            2,000 3,000            3,000 4,000            5,000            5,000 - 34,116            

5514 Bank Charges - - 169 - 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 - 969 

5892 Other taxes and fees (419) 90 66 32 417 417 417 417 417 417 417 417 - 3,104 

5832 Payroll Service Fee - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

5811 Management Fee 51,511            25,568          25,568          25,568          25,568          25,568          25,568           25,568          25,568          25,568          25,568          25,568            1,477 334,237          

5812 District Oversight Fee 31,767            31,767          31,767          31,767          31,767          31,767          31,767           31,767          31,767          31,767          31,767          31,767            23,902            405,111          

5840 Public Relations/Recruitment 1,996 1,026 - - - - - - - - - - - 3,022 

92,050            61,833          62,079          61,427          68,652          70,902          70,902           76,935          70,652          67,485          69,735          74,769            25,379            872,801          

Depreciation 

6900 Depreciation Expense 4,374 4,374 4,374 4,374 4,374 4,374            4,374 4,374            4,374 4,374            4,374            4,374 - 52,488            

4,374 4,374 4,374 4,374 4,374 4,374            4,374 4,374            4,374 4,374            4,374            4,374 - 52,488            

Total Expenses 1,259,131       1,748,922     1,733,116     1,570,875     1,558,643     1,580,657    1,576,280     1,593,156    1,615,131     1,615,934    1,702,201    1,691,349      60,195           19,305,590    

Surplus (Deficit) (1,120,540)     (691,357)      (636,832)      127,039        45,524          292,892       104,055         11,011          293,948        201,825       51,006         339,336         1,462,494      480,399          

31



Monarch River Academy
Monthly Cash Flow/Forecast FY23-24

ADA = 1143.11
Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24 Apr-24 May-24 Jun-24 2024 Accruals

 FY 23-24 

Forecast 

2.4%

Cash Flow Adjustments

Monthly Surplus (Deficit) (1,120,540)      (691,357)       (636,832)       127,039        45,524          292,892       104,055         11,011          293,948        201,825       51,006          339,336         1,462,494      480,399          

Cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation/Amortization 4,374 4,374 4,374 4,374 4,374 4,374            4,374 4,374            4,374 4,374            4,374            4,374 - 52,488            

Public Funding Receivables 1,262,703       (560,655)       (297,932)       (103,459)       1,232,997     60,379          - 176,235       - - (1,522,688)     247,580          

Grants and Contributions Rec. - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Due To/From Related Parties - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Unearned Revenue - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Prepaid Expenses 33,080            40,747          29,539          (3,414)           2,980 2,980            2,980 2,980            2,980 19,620          19,620          19,620            - 173,713          

Accounts Payable 284,910          (207,597)       (52,960)         (314,866)       (236,121)       - - - - - - - 60,195            (466,438)         

Accrued Expenses 5,560 305,374        295,363        293,929        (895,987)       - - - - - - (388,772)        - (384,533)         

Other Liabilities 242,597          190,717        6,763 12,485          - - - - - - - - - 452,562          

Unposted transactions - (149,391) 18,369          32,268          - - - - - - - - - (98,754)           

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of Prop. And Equip. (5,208) (5,208)           (10,417)         (5,208)           - - - - - - - - - (26,042)           

Total Change in Cash 707,477          (1,072,995)   (643,732)       43,147          153,768        360,625       111,409         18,365          301,302        402,054       75,000          (25,443)          

Cash, Beginning of Month 4,247,985       4,955,462     3,882,467     3,238,735     3,281,881     3,435,650    3,796,275      3,907,683    3,926,049     4,227,351    4,629,404    4,704,404      

Cash, End of Month 4,955,462       3,882,467     3,238,735     3,281,881     3,435,650     3,796,275    3,907,683     3,926,049    4,227,351     4,629,404    4,704,404    4,678,961      

32



Monarch River Academy
Budget vs Actual Year-end Projection

ADA = 1143.11  FY 23-24 

Forecast 
23-24 Budget

Favorable / 

(Unfav.)
VARIANCE ANALYSIS

Revenues ADA = 1168.85

State Aid - Revenue Limit

8011 LCFF State Aid 13,084,891   13,005,383   79,508           A higher COLA and a higher attendance rate led to an increase in LCFF funds in 

8012 Education Protection Account 228,622        233,770        (5,148)           spite of the lower ADA.

8096 In Lieu of Property Taxes 190,191        171,353        18,837           

13,503,704   13,410,506   93,197          

Federal Revenue

8181 Special Education - Entitlement 142,889        146,106        (3,218)           

8290 Title I, Part A - Basic Low Income 150,000        150,000        - 

8299 Prior Year Federal Revenue - 29,248 (29,248)         

292,889        325,354        (32,466)         

Other State Revenue

8311 State Special Education 979,292        920,119        59,173           

8550 Mandated Cost 25,777          26,323           (546) 

8560 State Lottery 270,917        277,017        (6,100)           

8590 Other State Revenue 342,085        381,337        (39,252)         

1,618,071     1,604,796     13,275           

Other Local Revenue

8689 Other Fees and Contracts 4,371,325     4,454,600     (83,275)         

8699 School Fundraising 1 - 1 

4,371,325     4,454,600     (83,275)         

Total Revenue 19,785,989   19,795,257   (9,268)           

Expenses

Certificated Salaries

1100 Teachers' Salaries 4,284,724     4,742,781     458,057        

1140 Teachers' Extra Duty/Stipends 735,507        581,500        (154,007)       

1150 Teachers' Extra Duty/Stipends 51,086          39,300           (11,786)         

1200 Pupil Support Salaries 1,062,330     939,890        (122,440)       

1300 Administrators' Salaries 805,176        761,250        (43,926)         

1900 Other Certificated Salaries 285,919        301,519        15,600           

7,224,742     7,366,240     141,498        

Classified Salaries

2100 Instructional Salaries 259,611        344,896        85,285           

2340 Classified Stipends 22,141          5,300 (16,841)         

2400 Clerical and Office Staff Salaries 59,791          54,082           (5,710)           

2900 Other Classified Salaries 63,600          100,115        36,515           

405,143        504,393        99,249          

Benefits

3101 STRS 1,508,128     1,406,952     (101,176)       

3312 OASDI 20,848          31,272           10,424           

3321 Medicare 123,640        114,124        (9,516)           

3401 Health and Welfare 910,188        844,582        (65,605)         

3501 State Unemployment 46,233          25,802           (20,431)         

3601 Workers' Compensation 25,333          38,000           12,667           

3761 Accrued Leave 36,938          55,406           18,469           

3999 Payroll Tax Adjustments (2,504)           - 2,504 

3901 Other Benefits (10,010)         - 10,010 

2,658,794     2,516,139     (142,656)       

33



Monarch River Academy
Budget vs Actual Year-end Projection

ADA = 1143.11  FY 23-24 

Forecast 
23-24 Budget

Favorable / 

(Unfav.)
VARIANCE ANALYSIS

Books and Supplies

4100 Textbooks and Core Curricula Materials 8,879             - (8,879) 

4302 School Supplies 1,581,304     1,258,236     (323,068) 

4400 Software 160,804        140,000        (20,804) 

4311 Office Expense 40,310          40,000           (310) 

4310 Noncapitalized Equipment 156,504        75,000           (81,504)         

1,947,802     1,513,236     (434,566)       

Subagreement Services

5102 Special Education 645,348        654,403        9,055 

5106 Other Educational Consultants 3,579,733     3,903,863     324,131        

5108 Instructional Services 1,616,446     1,608,690     (7,756)           

5,841,527     6,166,956     325,429        

Operations and Housekeeping

5200 Auto and Travel 43,369          33,000           (10,369)         

5300 Dues & Memberships - 10,840 10,840           

5400 Insurance 203,228        145,278 (57,950)         

5520 Utilities 4,884             - (4,884) 

5502 Janitorial Services 1,600             2,400 800 

5900 Communications 10,158          12,130           1,972 

5910 Postage and Shipping 2,000             3,000 1,000 

265,238        206,648        (58,591)         

Facilities, Repairs and Other Leases

5610 Rent 12,454          53,713           41,260           

5611 Additional Rent 600 - (600) 

5630 Repairs and Maintenance 24,000          24,000           - 

37,054          77,713          40,660          

Professional/Consulting Services

5820 Audit & Taxes 15,178          10,066           (5,112)           

5810 Legal 49,376          50,000           624 

5804 Professional Development 19,937          19,800           (137) 

5815 General Consulting 7,750             7,500 (250) 

5806 Special Activities/Field Trips 34,116          33,400           (716) 

5514 Bank Charges 969 1,200 231 

5892 Other taxes and fees 3,104             5,000 1,896 

5830 Payroll Service Fee - 15,000 15,000           

5811 Management Fee 334,237        306,813 (27,424)         

5812 District Oversight Fee 405,111        402,315 (2,796)           

5840 Public Relations/Recruitment 3,022             - (3,022) 

872,801        851,095        (21,707)         

Depreciation 

6900 Depreciation Expense 52,488          48,324           (4,164)           

52,488          48,324          (4,164)           

Total Expenses 19,305,590   19,250,743   (54,846)         

Surplus (Deficit) 480,399        544,514        (64,114)         

2.4% 2.8%

34



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY
Payment Register
County TULARE COUNTY

District Alta Vista Elementary

Fiscal Year 2024

Begin Date 7/1/2023

End Date 10/31/2023

Vendor Vendor Type Amount

Axia Group Instructional Services 378,000.00

Yosemite Valley Charter School Shared consulting services 302,698.82

Alta Vista Elementary School District Oversight fees 222,371.94

Absolute Charter Group Finance services 76,704.00

Charter Impact, Inc. Finance services 75,498.00

CharterSafe Business insurance 70,107.80

Moving Beyond the Page School supplies 40,324.22

Voya Financial FBO CalSTRS Pension2 403B 25,950.00

Sequoia Learning Community School supplies 21,125.00

AATK2, LLC Technology 20,833.36

Break the Barriers, Inc School supplies 17,654.00

Effectual Educational Consulting Services Special education services 17,572.60

SpiritHorse Connections School supplies 17,430.00

Outsiders Adventure Community, Inc. School supplies 16,900.00

Delta Dental of California Medical provider 16,880.31

Lighthouse Therapy LLC Special education services 16,152.42

Rainbow Resource Center School supplies 13,989.32

Enrichment Academy LLC School supplies 13,800.00

BookShark School supplies 13,223.80

Wild Hearts Adventure Co LLC School supplies 11,865.00

Acorns & Arrows, Inc. School supplies 11,385.00

The Advantage Group Medical provider 11,256.44

Bright Thinker School supplies 10,597.81

America's Kids Inc. School supplies 9,582.55

N2Y, LLC Technology 9,519.80

Growing Healthy Children Therapy Services, Inc. Special education services 8,776.32

Adventures in Education School supplies 8,700.00

KiwiCo, Inc School supplies 8,581.04

Studies Weekly School supplies 8,165.60

Singapore Math, Inc. School supplies 7,815.55

Grace Note Music Studio School supplies 6,996.00

E-Therapy, LLC Special education services 6,347.50

Farrah McWilliams School supplies 5,800.00

Colleen Snyder School supplies 5,205.00

Reverent School of Movement LLC School supplies 5,183.00

Beautiful Feet Books, Inc. School supplies 5,165.11

MicroAge Technology 5,050.41

Cal Music Industry School supplies 4,760.00

Brian Hammons Piano School supplies 4,520.00

Sylvan Learning School supplies 4,158.00

McRuffy Press LLC School supplies 4,150.00

35



Mr. D Math, LLC 4,098.00

Steinway Piano Gallery of Fresno 4,050.00

Fresno Music Academy & Arts 3,890.00

Kathleen Atchley 3,800.00

California Arts Academy 3,608.50

Guido's Martial Arts Academy 3,576.00

Anchor Counseling & Education Solutions 3,475.24

eDynamic LP 3,470.00

Institute for Excellence in Writing 3,300.51

Sequoia Hills Stables LLC 3,290.00

Beyond Behavior California 3,264.59

Wendy DeRaud 3,180.00

Rob's Music Lessons 3,160.00

Tracy Vilanova 3,065.95

All About Learning Press, Inc. 3,024.55

Kids Edition 2,890.00

American Kids Sports Center 2,858.00

CrunchLabs, LLC 2,849.00

Nicole Medeiros 2,719.00

Michele Lafferre 2,695.00

Brenda Myers 2,600.00

Enlightened Minds LLC 2,600.00

Good Dirt Pottery Studio 2,587.00

WTG Unlimited Inc 2,520.00

GL Kenpo 2,470.00

Logic of English 2,350.52

Rise Fitness x Ninja Warrior LLC 2,250.00

Lee's United Gymnastics Academy 2,189.00

Renaissance 2,047.50

MEL Science U.S. LLC 1,874.91

Empower Speech Therapy & Life Skills Center LLC 1,860.00

Teacher Synergy, LLC 1,778.15

Boardable 1,760.40

Demme Learning 1,742.73

TouchMath Acquisition LLC 1,731.55

Abriana Lantz DBA:High Voltage Sporthorses LLC 1,690.00

Central California Gymnastics Institute Inc 1,683.00

Dr Steven James 1,679.43

Attainment Company 1,654.30

Pacific Martial Arts 1,650.00

Silicon Valley High School Inc. 1,625.00

Melissa Ens 1,610.00

Perfect 10 Gymnastics 1,590.00

McColgan & Associates Inc. 1,588.55

School Pathways, LLC 1,584.28

Evan-Moor 1,580.73

Jenna Hulsey 1,500.00

Timberdoodle.com 1,490.74

Mathnasium of North Fresno 1,396.00

Homeschool Spanish Academy 1,395.00

WM Music Lessons 1,390.00

36



Braille Abilities, LLC 1,357.95

Vera Kotenkov 1,350.00

HEC Software, Inc. DBA Reading Horizons 1,302.95

Moore's Martial Arts Clovis 1,300.00

Katie Verrue 1,240.00

TALK Enterprises Inc. DBA Fresno Gymnastics Center 1,200.00

The Dancers Edge LLC 1,200.00

Breely Unruh 1,170.00

Kevin Freeman dba Impact Tutoring 1,170.00

Art of Problem Solving 1,161.66

Emily Salters 1,153.35

Gateway Ice Center 1,121.00

Susan Mason 1,120.00

Delta Dental Insurance Company 1,088.31

Michelle Buchanan 1,035.00

Oak Meadow Inc. 1,010.75

Math Crazy 1,000.00

37



 Cover Sheet 
 First Interim Report 

 Sec�on:  III. Finance 
 Item:  B.  First Interim Report 
 Purpose:  Discussion & Poten�al Ac�on - Vote 
 Related Material:  FY24 First Interim - MR 

 BACKGROUND: 
 ●  Schools  are  required  to  file  two  reports  during  a  fiscal  year  (interim  reports)  on  the 

 status of their financial health. 
 ●  The  first  interim  report  is  due  December  15  for  the  period  ending  October  31.  The 

 second interim report is due March 17 for the period ending January 31. 
 ●  The  interim  reports  must  include  a  cer�fica�on  of  whether  or  not  the  school  is  able  to 

 meet its financial obliga�ons. 
 ●  The cer�fica�ons are classified as posi�ve, qualified, or nega�ve. 

 ○  A  posi�ve  cer�fica�on  is  assigned  when  the  school  will  meet  its  financial 
 obliga�ons for the current and two subsequent fiscal years. 

 ○  A  qualified  cer�fica�on  is  assigned  when  the  district  may  not  meet  its  financial 
 obliga�ons for the current or two subsequent fiscal years. 

 ○  A  nega�ve  cer�fica�on  is  assigned  when  a  district  will  be  unable  to  meet  its 
 financial  obliga�ons  for  the  remainder  of  the  current  year  or  for  the  subsequent 
 fiscal year. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  Consider the approval of the First Interim Report. 

38



2023-24 First Interim
School Board Presentation 
December 06, 2023

1

39



2

What is a “First Interim” Report?

• Reflects the financial and budgetary status 
of the School as of October 31, 2023.

• Includes an MYP that shows the financial
projections for the current and subsequent
two (2) fiscal years.

• The Governing Board is required to certify
to the School’s ability to meet its financial
obligations for the current and two (2)
succeeding fiscal years.

40



Student Population
(October 2023 CALPADS)

Enrollment- By Grade Level Total

Transitional Kindergarten 23

Kindergarten 107

Grade 1 129

Grade 2 122

Grade 3 145

Grade 4 118

Grade 5 99

Grade 6 95

Grade 7 85

Grade 8

Grade 9

Grade 10

Grade 11

Grade 12

89

37

37

50

23

Total 1159
3

41



Adopted Budget vs. First Interim

A. Combined Unrestricted & Restricted General Fund

Details of the increase in General Fund revenues and expenditures from Adopted budget to First Interim are reflected on pages 

5 – 9 of the presentation.

4

42



B. General Fund

5

43



2023-24 
GENERAL FUND 
REVENUES
$19.8 Million

644



7

45



2023-24 Expenses

8

46



9

47



10

MULTI-YEAR PROJECTIONS

48



11

✓ First Interim due to Tulare COE – Dec. 15, 2023

✓MRA Audit Report – Dec. 15, 2023
• Tulare County Office of Education

• California Department of Education

• State Controller’s Office

• El Dorado SELPA

✓Governor’s January Budget Proposal – FY 2024/25

✓ Begin LCAP & Budget development for FY 2024/25

✓ 2023/24 Second Interim – due March 15, 2024

Next steps:

49



The Budget Cycle

July 1:

2023-24

Adopted Budget
Sept 15 :

2022-23 Year-
End Report 
(Unaudited 

Actuals)

Dec. 15:

2023-24 1st Interim 
Report

January: 

Governor’s 2024-25 

State Budget Proposal

March 15:

2023-24 2nd Interim 
Report

Mid-May:

Governor’s 2024-25 
Revised State Budget 

Proposal

June:
2024-25 LCAP & 

Budget 
Adoption

Current Year

12

Next year

Last year

50



Questions?

Recommending approval of the 
2023-24 First Interim Report.

13

51



Reporting Period:

Charter School Name:

(continued)

CDS #:

Charter Approving Entity:

County:

Charter #:

Fiscal Year:

This charter school uses the following basis of accounting:

   Accrual Basis (Applicable Capital Assets / Interest on Long-Term Debt / Long-Term Liabilities objects are 6900, 7438, 9400-9499, and 9660-9669)

X    Modified Accrual Basis (Applicable Capital Outlay / Debt Service objects are 6100-6170, 6200-6500, 7438, and 7439)

              Description Object Code Unrestricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted Total

A. REVENUES  

1. LCFF Sources  

State Aid - Current Year 8011 13,005,383.00  13,005,383.00      2,339,216.92    2,339,216.92       13,084,891.00  13,084,891.00     

Education Protection Account State Aid - Current Year 8012 233,770.00       233,770.00           53,671.00         53,671.00            228,622.00       228,622.00          

State Aid - Prior Years 8019 -                        -                        -                       

 Transfers to Charter Schools in Lieu of Property Taxes 8096 171,353.00       171,353.00           47,152.00         47,152.00            190,191.00       190,191.00          

    Other LCFF Transfers 8091, 8097 -                        -                        -                       

          Total, LCFFSources  13,176,736.00  233,770.00       13,410,506.00      2,386,368.92    53,671.00         2,440,039.92       13,275,082.00  228,622.00       13,503,704.00     

 

2. Federal Revenues  

Every Student Succeeds Act (Title I - V) 8290 150,000.00       150,000.00           -                        142,889.00       142,889.00          

Special Education - Federal 8181, 8182 146,106.00       146,106.00           -                        150,000.00       150,000.00          

Child Nutrition - Federal 8220 -                        -                        -                       

Donated Food Commodities 8221 -                        -                        -                       

Other Federal Revenues 8110, 8260-8299 29,248.00         29,248.00             -                        -                       

          Total, Federal Revenues  -                    325,354.00       325,354.00           -                    -                    -                        -                    292,889.00       292,889.00          

 

3. Other State Revenues  

Special Education - State StateRevSE 920,119.00       920,119.00           254,936.00       254,936.00          979,292.00       979,292.00          

All Other State Revenues StateRevAO 225,027.00       459,650.00       684,677.00           109,784.83       109,784.83          220,105.70       418,673.00       638,778.70          

         Total, Other State Revenues  225,027.00       1,379,769.00    1,604,796.00        -                    364,720.83       364,720.83          220,105.70       1,397,965.00    1,618,070.70       

 

4. Other Local Revenues  

All Other Local Revenues LocalRevAO 4,454,600.00    4,454,600.00        1,185,592.01    1,185,592.01       4,371,325.00    4,371,325.00       

          Total, Local Revenues  4,454,600.00    -                    4,454,600.00        1,185,592.01    -                    1,185,592.01       4,371,325.00    -                    4,371,325.00       

   

5. TOTAL REVENUES  17,856,363.00  1,938,893.00    19,795,256.00      3,571,960.93    418,391.83       3,990,352.76       17,866,512.70  1,919,476.00    19,785,988.70     

 

B. EXPENDITURES  

1. Certificated Salaries  

Certificated Teachers' Salaries 1100 4,218,938.39    964,816.44       5,183,754.83        1,250,157.39    446,086.24       1,696,243.63       4,006,545.92    1,064,771.29    5,071,317.21       

Certificated Pupil Support Salaries 1200 939,890.00       939,890.00           340,879.58       340,879.58          1,062,330.00    1,062,330.00       

Certificated Supervisors' and Administrators' Salaries 1300 761,250.00       761,250.00           288,925.98       288,925.98          805,176.00       805,176.00          

Other Certificated Salaries 1900 345,143.64       136,200.96       481,344.60           83,942.78         83,942.78            285,919.00       285,919.00          

          Total, Certificated Salaries  6,265,222.03    1,101,017.40    7,366,239.43        1,963,905.73    446,086.24       2,409,991.97       6,159,970.92    1,064,771.29    7,224,742.21       

 

2. Non-certificated Salaries  

Non-certificated Instructional Aides' Salaries 2100 289,816.84       55,079.16         344,896.00           36,090.62         20,748.80         56,839.42            172,865.40       86,745.58         259,610.98          

Non-certificated Support Salaries 2200 -                    -                        -                    -                    -                        -                       

Non-certificated Supervisors' and Administrators' Sal. 2300 4,475.40           824.64              5,300.04               8,254.98           3,818.96           12,073.94            15,201.35         6,939.65           22,141.00            

Clerical and Office Salaries 2400 54,082.00         54,082.00             17,847.96         17,847.96            59,791.00         59,791.00            

Other Non-certificated Salaries 2900 100,114.76       -                    100,114.76           16,650.93         7,566.48           24,217.41            63,600.00         63,600.00            

          Total, Non-certificated Salaries  448,489.00       55,903.80         504,392.80           78,844.49         32,134.24         110,978.73          311,457.75       93,685.23         405,142.98          

3. Employee Benefits  

STRS 3101-3102 1,196,657.40    210,294.24       1,406,951.64        615,172.06       (45,012.06)        570,160.00          1,304,756.05    203,371.32       1,508,127.37       

PERS 3201-3202 -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                        -                       

OASDI / Medicare / Alternative 3301-3302 125,155.08       20,241.36         145,396.44           47,557.60         -                    47,557.60            129,049.84       15,439.18         144,489.02          

Health and Welfare Benefits 3401-3402 692,434.20       152,148.92       844,583.12           367,409.57       (20,276.72)        347,132.85          757,031.31       153,156.00       910,187.31          

Unemployment Insurance 3501-3502 21,976.11         3,826.49           25,802.60             20,431.44         -                    20,431.44            46,233.00         46,233.00            

Workers' Compensation Insurance 3601-3602 38,000.04         -                    38,000.04             -                    -                    -                        25,333.00         25,333.00            

OPEB, Allocated 3701-3702 -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                        36,938.00         36,938.00            

OPEB, Active Employees 3751-3752 -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                        (2,504.00)          (2,504.00)             

Other Employee Benefits 3901-3902 48,401.24         7,002.84           55,404.08             (12,014.14)        (500.00)             (12,514.14)           (10,010.00)        (10,010.00)           

          Total, Employee Benefits  2,122,624.07    393,513.85       2,516,137.92        1,038,556.53    (65,788.78)        972,767.75          2,286,827.20    371,966.50       2,658,793.70       

 

4. Books and Supplies  

Approved Textbooks and Core Curricula Materials 4100 -                    -                    -                        8,878.63           -                    8,878.63               8,879.00           -                    8,879.00              

Books and Other Reference Materials 4200 -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                       

Materials and Supplies 4300 1,434,923.25    78,312.95         1,513,236.20        895,777.92       4,241.71           900,019.63          1,686,225.91    91,893.09         1,778,119.00       

Noncapitalized Equipment 4400 -                    -                    -                        20,804.40         -                    20,804.40            160,804.00       160,804.00          

Food 4700 -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                        -                    -                       

          Total, Books and Supplies  1,434,923.25    78,312.95         1,513,236.20        925,460.95       4,241.71           929,702.66          1,855,908.91    91,893.09         1,947,802.00       

 

5. Services and Other Operating Expenditures  

Subagreements for Services 5100 5,871,811.00    295,145.00       6,166,956.00        1,198,874.96    294,413.15       1,493,288.11       5,547,720.00    293,807.00       5,841,527.00       

Travel and Conferences 5200 33,000.00         -                    33,000.00             19,206.42         162.89              19,369.31            43,206.11         162.89              43,369.00            

Dues and Memberships 5300 10,840.00         -                    10,840.00             -                    -                    -                        -                       

Insurance 5400 145,278.00       -                    145,278.00           70,107.80         -                    70,107.80            203,228.00       203,228.00          

Operations and Housekeeping Services 5500 3,600.00           -                    3,600.00               5,052.85           -                    5,052.85               6,484.00           6,484.00              

Rentals, Leases, Repairs, and Noncap. Improvements 5600 77,713.00         -                    77,713.00             3,997.53           -                    3,997.53               37,054.00         37,054.00            

Transfers of Direct Costs 5700-5799 -                        -                        -                       

Professional/Consulting Services and Operating Expend. 5800 834,895.00       15,000.00         849,895.00           265,173.10       12,046.41         277,219.51          869,611.00       3,190.00           872,801.00          

Communications 5900 15,130.00         15,130.00             2,071.11           -                    2,071.11               12,158.00         12,158.00            

          Total, Services and Other Operating Expenditures  6,992,267.00    310,145.00       7,302,412.00        1,564,483.77    306,622.45       1,871,106.22       6,719,461.11    297,159.89       7,016,621.00       

  

 Adopted Budget - July 1 Actuals thru 10/31 First Interim - Oct 31

Alta Vista Elementary

Tulare

2057

2024

54 71811 0139477

CHARTER SCHOOL 

INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORT - ALTERNATIVE FORM

Monarch River Academy  

Page 1 of  

52



6. Capital Outlay  (Objects 6100-6170, 6200-6500 for modified accrual basis only)  

Land and Land Improvements 6100-6170 -                        -                        -                       

Buildings and Improvements of Buildings 6200 -                        -                        -                       

Books and Media for New School Libraries or Major  

     Expansion of School Libraries 6300 -                        -                        -                       

Equipment 6400 -                        -                        -                       

Equipment Replacement 6500 -                        -                        -                       

Depreciation Expense (for accrual basis only) 6900 48,324.00         48,324.00             17,495.92         17,495.92            52,488.00         52,488.00            

           Total, Capital Outlay  48,324.00         -                    48,324.00             17,495.92         -                    17,495.92            52,488.00         -                    52,488.00            

 

7. Other Outgo  

 Tuition to Other Schools 7110-7143 -                        -                        -                       

Transfers of Pass-through Revenues to Other LEAs 7211-7213 -                        -                        -                       

Transfers of Apportionments to Other LEAs - Spec. Ed. 7221-7223SE -                        -                        -                       

Transfers of Apportionments to Other LEAs - All Other 7221-7223AO -                        -                        -                       

All Other Transfers 7281-7299 -                        -                        -                       

Transfers of Indirect Costs 7300-7399 -                        -                        -                       

Debt Service:  

     Interest 7438 -                        -                        -                       

     Principal (for modified accrual basis only) 7439 -                        -                        -                       

          Total, Other Outgo  -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                       

 

8. TOTAL EXPENDITURES  17,311,849.35  1,938,893.00    19,250,742.35      5,588,747.39    723,295.86       6,312,043.25       17,386,113.89  1,919,476.00    19,305,589.89     

 

C. EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPEND.  

BEFORE OTHER FINANCING SOURCES AND USES (A5-B8)  544,513.65       -                    544,513.65           (2,016,786.46)   (304,904.03)      (2,321,690.49)      480,398.81       -                    480,398.81          

D. OTHER FINANCING SOURCES / USES  

1. Other Sources 8930-8979 -                        -                        -                       

2. Less:  Other Uses 7630-7699 -                        -                        -                       

3. Contributions Between Unrestricted and Restricted Accounts

(must net to zero) 8980-8999 -                        -                        -                       

  

4. TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES / USES  -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                        -                    -                    -                       

 

E. NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN FUND BALANCE (C + D4)  544,513.65       -                    544,513.65           (2,016,786.46)   (304,904.03)      (2,321,690.49)      480,398.81       -                    480,398.81          

  

F. FUND BALANCE, RESERVES  

1. Beginning Fund Balance

a. As of July 1 9791 2,903,995.00    1,560,941.00    4,464,936.00        2,903,995.00    1,560,941.00    4,464,936.00       2,903,995.00    1,560,941.00    4,464,936.00       

 b. Adjustments to Beginning Balance 9793, 9795 -                        -                        -                       

c. Adjusted Beginning Balance  2,903,995.00    1,560,941.00    4,464,936.00        2,903,995.00    1,560,941.00    4,464,936.00       2,903,995.00    1,560,941.00    4,464,936.00       

2. Ending Fund Balance, June 30 (E + F.1.c.)  3,448,508.65    1,560,941.00    5,009,449.65        887,208.54       1,256,036.97    2,143,245.51       3,384,393.81    1,560,941.00    4,945,334.81       

Components of Ending Fund Balance :  

a. Nonspendable

Revolving Cash (equals object 9130) 9711 -                        -                        -                       

Stores (equals object 9320) 9712 -                        -                        -                       

Prepaid Expenditures (equals object 9330) 9713 -                        79,402.06         79,402.06            -                    -                       

All Others 9719 147,495.73       147,495.73           150,833.16       150,833.16          115,841.32       115,841.32          

b Restricted 9740 1,560,941.00    1,560,941.00        1,256,036.97    1,256,036.97       1,560,941.00    1,560,941.00       

c. Committed

Stabilization Arrangements 9750 -                        -                        -                       

Other Commitments 9760 -                        -                        -                       

d. Assigned

Other Assignments 9780 -                        -                        -                       

e Unassigned/Unappropriated

Reserve for Economic Uncertainities 9789 519,485.55       519,485.55           579,167.70       579,167.70          579,167.70       579,167.70          

Unassigned/Unappropriated Amount 9790 2,781,527.37    2,781,527.37        77,805.62         77,805.62            2,689,384.79    2,689,384.79       

Page 2 of  

53



Reporting Period:

(continued)

7/1 Adopted Actuals thru 1st Interim $ Difference % Change

              Description Object Code Budget (X) 10/31 (Y) Budget (Z) (Z) vs. (X) (Z) vs. (X)

A. REVENUES  

1. LCFF/Revenue Limit Sources  

State Aid - Current Year 8011 13,005,383.00  2,339,216.92    13,084,891.00  79,508.00         0.61%

Education Protection Account State Aid - Current Year 8012 233,770.00       53,671.00         228,622.00       (5,148.00)          -2.20%

State Aid - Prior Years 8019 -                   -                   -                   -                   

 Transfers to Charter Schools Funding in Lieu of Property Taxes 8096 171,353.00       47,152.00         190,191.00       18,838.00         10.99%

    Other LCFF Transfers 8091, 8097 -                   -                   -                   -                   

          Total, LCFF Sources  13,410,506.00  2,440,039.92    13,503,704.00  93,198.00         0.69%

 

2. Federal Revenues  

Every Student Succeeds Act (Title I-V) 8290 150,000.00       -                   142,889.00       (7,111.00)          -4.74%

Special Education - Federal 8181, 8182 146,106.00       -                   150,000.00       3,894.00           2.67%

Child Nutrition - Federal 8220 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Donated Food Commodities 8221 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Other Federal Revenues 8110, 8260-8299 29,248.00         -                   -                   (29,248.00)        (100%)

          Total, Federal Revenues  325,354.00       -                   292,889.00       (32,465.00)        -9.98%

 

3. Other State Revenues  

Special Education - State StateRevSE 920,119.00       254,936.00       979,292.00       59,173.00         6.43%

All Other State Revenues StateRevAO 684,677.00       109,784.83       638,778.70       (45,898.30)        -6.70%

         Total, Other State Revenues  1,604,796.00    364,720.83       1,618,070.70    13,274.70         0.83%

 

4. Other Local Revenues  

All Other Local Revenues LocalRevAO 4,454,600.00    1,185,592.01    4,371,325.00    (83,275.00)        -1.87%

          Total, Local Revenues  4,454,600.00    1,185,592.01    4,371,325.00    (83,275.00)        -1.87%

   

5. TOTAL REVENUES  19,795,256.00  3,990,352.76    19,785,988.70  (9,267.30)          -0.05%

 

B. EXPENDITURES  

1. Certificated Salaries  

Certificated Teachers' Salaries 1100 5,183,754.83    1,696,243.63    5,071,317.21    (112,437.62)      -2.17%

Certificated Pupil Support Salaries 1200 939,890.00       340,879.58       1,062,330.00    122,440.00       13.03%

Certificated Supervisors' and Administrators' Salaries 1300 761,250.00       288,925.98       805,176.00       43,926.00         5.77%

Other Certificated Salaries 1900 481,344.60       83,942.78         285,919.00       (195,425.60)      -40.60%

          Total, Certificated Salaries  7,366,239.43    2,409,991.97    7,224,742.21    (141,497.22)      -1.92%

 

2. Non-certificated Salaries  

Non-certificated Instructional Aides' Salaries 2100 344,896.00       56,839.42         259,610.98       (85,285.02)        -24.73%

Non-certificated Support Salaries 2200 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Non-certificated Supervisors' and Administrators' Sal. 2300 5,300.04           12,073.94         22,141.00         16,840.96         317.75%

Clerical and Office Salaries 2400 54,082.00         17,847.96         59,791.00         5,709.00           10.56%

Other Non-certificated Salaries 2900 100,114.76       24,217.41         63,600.00         (36,514.76)        -36.47%

          Total, Non-certificated Salaries  504,392.80       110,978.73       405,142.98       (99,249.82)        -19.68%

3. Employee Benefits  

STRS 3101-3102 1,406,951.64    570,160.00       1,508,127.37    101,175.73       7.19%

PERS 3201-3202 -                   -                   -                   -                   

OASDI / Medicare / Alternative 3301-3302 145,396.44       47,557.60         144,489.02       (907.42)             -0.62%

Health and Welfare Benefits 3401-3402 844,583.12       347,132.85       910,187.31       65,604.19         7.77%

Unemployment Insurance 3501-3502 25,802.60         20,431.44         46,233.00         20,430.40         79.18%

County:

Charter #:

Fiscal Year:

Charter Approving Entity: Alta Vista Elementary

CDS #:

Charter School Name:

CHARTER SCHOOL 

INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORT - ALTERNATIVE FORM

54 71811 0139477

Increase, (Decrease)

1st Interim vs. Adopted Budget

2057

2024

Monarch River Academy  

Tulare

Page 3 of  
54



Workers' Compensation Insurance 3601-3602 38,000.04         -                   25,333.00         (12,667.04)        -33.33%

OPEB, Allocated 3701-3702 -                   -                   36,938.00         36,938.00         New

OPEB, Active Employees 3751-3752 -                   -                   (2,504.00)          (2,504.00)          New

Other Employee Benefits 3901-3902 55,404.08         (12,514.14)        (10,010.00)        (65,414.08)        -118.07%

          Total, Employee Benefits  2,516,137.92    972,767.75       2,658,793.70    142,655.78       5.67%

 

4. Books and Supplies  

Approved Textbooks and Core Curricula Materials 4100 -                   8,878.63           8,879.00           8,879.00           New

Books and Other Reference Materials 4200 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Materials and Supplies 4300 1,513,236.20    900,019.63       1,778,119.00    264,882.80       17.50%

Noncapitalized Equipment 4400 -                   20,804.40         160,804.00       160,804.00       New

Food 4700 -                   -                   -                   -                   

          Total, Books and Supplies  1,513,236.20    929,702.66       1,947,802.00    434,565.80       28.72%

5. Services and Other Operating Expenditures  

Subagreements for Services 5100 6,166,956.00    1,493,288.11    5,841,527.00    (325,429.00)      -5.28%

Travel and Conferences 5200 33,000.00         19,369.31         43,369.00         10,369.00         31.42%

Dues and Memberships 5300 10,840.00         -                   -                   (10,840.00)        (100%)

Insurance 5400 145,278.00       70,107.80         203,228.00       57,950.00         39.89%

Operations and Housekeeping Services 5500 3,600.00           5,052.85           6,484.00           2,884.00           80.11%

Rentals, Leases, Repairs, and Noncap. Improvements 5600 77,713.00         3,997.53           37,054.00         (40,659.00)        -52.32%

Transfers of Direct Costs 5700-5799 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Professional/Consulting Services and Operating Expend. 5800 849,895.00       277,219.51       872,801.00       22,906.00         2.70%

Communications 5900 15,130.00         2,071.11           12,158.00         (2,972.00)          -19.64%

          Total, Services and Other Operating Expenditures  7,302,412.00    1,871,106.22    7,016,621.00    (285,791.00)      -3.91%

            

6. Capital Outlay (Objects 6100-6170, 6200-6500 modified accrual basis only)  

Land and Land Improvements 6100-6170 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Buildings and Improvements of Buildings 6200 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Books and Media for New School Libraries or Major  

     Expansion of School Libraries 6300 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Equipment 6400 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Equipment Replacement 6500 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Depreciation Expense (for accrual basis only) 6900 48,324.00         17,495.92         52,488.00         4,164.00           8.62%

           Total, Capital Outlay  48,324.00         17,495.92         52,488.00         4,164.00           8.62%

 

7. Other Outgo  

 Tuition to Other Schools 7110-7143 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Transfers of Pass-through Revenues to Other LEAs 7211-7213 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Transfers of Apportionments to Other LEAs - Spec. Ed. 7221-7223SE -                   -                   -                   -                   

Transfers of Apportionments to Other LEAs - All Other 7221-7223AO -                   -                   -                   -                   

All Other Transfers 7281-7299 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Transfers of Indirect Costs 7300-7399 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Debt Service:  

     Interest 7438 -                   -                   -                   -                   

     Principal (for modified accrual basis only) 7439 -                   -                   -                   -                   

          Total, Other Outgo  -                   -                   -                   -                   

 

8. TOTAL EXPENDITURES  19,250,742.35  6,312,043.25    19,305,589.89  54,847.54         0.28%

 

C. EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPEND.  

BEFORE OTHER FINANCING SOURCES AND USES (A5-B8)  544,513.65       (2,321,690.49)   480,398.81       (64,114.84)        -11.77%

D. OTHER FINANCING SOURCES / USES  

1. Other Sources 8930-8979 -                   -                   -                   -                   

2. Less:  Other Uses 7630-7699 -                   -                   -                   -                   

3. Contributions Between Unrestricted and Restricted Accounts

(must net to zero) 8980-8999 -                   -                   -                   -                   

  

4. TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES / USES  -                   -                   -                   -                   

 

E. NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN FUND BALANCE (C + D4)  544,513.65       (2,321,690.49)   480,398.81       (64,114.84)        -11.77%

  

F. FUND BALANCE, RESERVES  

1. Beginning Fund Balance

a. As of July 1 9791 4,464,936.00    4,464,936.00    4,464,936.00    -                   0.00%

Page 4 of  
55



 b. Adjustments/Restatements 9793, 9795 -                   -                   -                   -                   

c. Adjusted Beginning Fund Balance  4,464,936.00    4,464,936.00    4,464,936.00    

2. Ending Fund Balance, June 30 (E + F.1.c.)  5,009,449.65    2,143,245.51    4,945,334.81    

 

Components of Ending Fund Balance :  

a. Nonspendable

Revolving Cash (equals object 9130) 9711 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Stores (equals object 9320) 9712 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Prepaid Expenditures (equals object 9330) 9713 -                   79,402.06         -                   -                   

All Others 9719 147,495.73       150,833.16       115,841.32       (31,654.41)        -21.46%

b. Restricted 9740 1,560,941.00    1,256,036.97    1,560,941.00    -                   0.00%

c Committed

Stabilization Arrangements 9750 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Other Commitments 9760 -                   -                   -                   -                   

d Assigned

Other Assignments 9780 -                   -                   -                   -                   

e. Unassigned/Unappropriated

Reserve for Economic Uncertainties 9789 519,485.55       579,167.70       579,167.70       59,682.15         11.49%

Unassigned/Unappropriated Amount 9790 2,781,527.37    77,805.62         2,689,384.79    (92,142.58)        -3.31%

Page 5 of  
56



(continued)

This charter school uses the following basis of accounting:

x    Accrual Basis (Applicable Capital Assets / Interest on Long-Term Debt / Long-Term Liabilities objects are 6900, 7438, 9400-9499, and 9660-9669)

   Modified Accrual Basis (Applicable Capital Outlay / Debt Service objects are 6100-6170, 6200-6500, 7438, and 7439)

Totals for Totals for

              Description Object Code Unrestricted Restricted Total 2025 2026

A. REVENUES  

1. LCFF Sources  

State Aid - Current Year 8011 13,084,891.00 0.00 13,084,891.00 13,275,808.00 13,675,100.00

Education Protection Account State Aid - Current Year 8012 0.00 228,622.00 228,622.00 228,622.00 228,622.00

State Aid - Prior Years 8019 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Transfers of Charter Schools in Lieu of Property Taxes 8096 190,191.00 0.00 190,191.00 190,191.00 190,191.00

    Other LCFF Transfers 8091, 8097 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

          Total, LCFF Sources  13,275,082.00 228,622.00 13,503,704.00 13,694,621.00 14,093,913.00

 

2. Federal Revenues  

Every Student Succeeds Act (Title I - V) 8290 0.00 142,889.00 142,889.00 140,529.00 140,529.00

Special Education - Federal 8181, 8182 0.00 150,000.00 150,000.00 150,000.00 150,000.00

Child Nutrition - Federal 8220 0.00 0.00 0.00

Donated Food Commodities 8221 0.00 0.00 0.00

Other Federal Revenues 8110, 8260-8299 0.00 0.00 0.00

          Total, Federal Revenues  0.00 292,889.00 292,889.00 290,529.00 290,529.00

 

3. Other State Revenues  

Special Education - State StateRevSE 0.00 979,292.00 979,292.00 963,117.00 963,117.00

All Other State Revenues StateRevAO 220,105.70 418,673.00 638,778.70 1,265,724.00 1,149,641.00

         Total, Other State Revenues  220,105.70 1,397,965.00 1,618,070.70 2,228,841.00 2,112,758.00

 

4. Other Local Revenues  

All Other Local Revenues LocalRevAO 4,371,325.00 0.00 4,371,325.00 4,677,330.00 4,911,197.00

          Total, Local Revenues  4,371,325.00 0.00 4,371,325.00 4,677,330.00 4,911,197.00

   

5. TOTAL REVENUES  17,866,512.70 1,919,476.00 19,785,988.70 20,891,321.00 21,408,397.00

 

B. EXPENDITURES  

1. Certificated Salaries  

Certificated Teachers' Salaries 1100 4,006,545.92 1,064,771.29 5,071,317.21 5,319,372.00      5,437,128.00

Certificated Pupil Support Salaries 1200 1,062,330.00 0.00 1,062,330.00 965,126.00         985,781.00

Certificated Supervisors' and Administrators' Salaries 1300 805,176.00 0.00 805,176.00 774,375.00         787,500.00

Other Certificated Salaries 1900 285,919.00 0.00 285,919.00 505,046.00         520,197.00

          Total, Certificated Salaries  6,159,970.92 1,064,771.29 7,224,742.21 7,563,919.00 7,730,606.00

 

2. Non-certificated Salaries  

Non-certificated Instructional Aides' Salaries 2100 172,865.40 86,745.58 259,610.98 389,369.00 397,346.00

Non-certificated Support Salaries 2200 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Non-certificated Supervisors' and Administrators' Sal. 2300 15,201.35 6,939.65 22,141.00 5,300.00 5,300.00

Clerical and Office Salaries 2400 59,791.00 0.00 59,791.00 50,019.00 51,507.00

Other Non-certificated Salaries 2900 63,600.00 0.00 63,600.00 49,083.00 50,400.00

          Total, Non-certificated Salaries  311,457.75 93,685.23 405,142.98 493,771.00 504,553.00

County: Tulare

2057

Fiscal Year:

FY 2024

2024

Charter #:

MULTI-YEAR PROJECTION - ALTERNATIVE FORM

First Interim Report - MYP

Charter Approving Entity: Alta Vista Elementary

CHARTER SCHOOL 

Monarch River Academy  

54 71811 0139477CDS #:

Charter School Name:

Page 6 of  
57



Totals for Totals for

              Description Object Code Unrestricted Restricted Total 2025 2026

FY 2024

3. Employee Benefits  

STRS 3101-3102 1,304,756.05 203,371.32 1,508,127.37 1,454,491.00      1,486,613.00

PERS 3201-3202 0.00 0.00 0.00 -                      0.00

OASDI / Medicare / Alternative 3301-3302 129,049.84 15,439.18 144,489.02 144,275.00         147,424.00

Health and Welfare Benefits 3401-3402 757,031.31 153,156.00 910,187.31 886,397.00         928,213.00

Unemployment Insurance 3501-3502 46,233.00 0.00 46,233.00 25,748.00           25,748.00

Workers' Compensation Insurance 3601-3602 25,333.00 0.00 25,333.00 38,000.00           38,000.00

OPEB, Allocated 3701-3702 36,938.00 0.00 36,938.00 55,032.00 56,311.00

OPEB, Active Employees 3751-3752 (2,504.00) 0.00 (2,504.00)

Other Employee Benefits 3901-3902 (10,010.00) 0.00 (10,010.00)

          Total, Employee Benefits  2,286,827.20 371,966.50 2,658,793.70 2,603,943.00 2,682,309.00

 

4. Books and Supplies  

Approved Textbooks and Core Curricula Materials 4100 8,879.00 0.00 8,879.00 0.00 0.00

Books and Other Reference Materials 4200 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Materials and Supplies 4300 1,686,225.91 91,893.09 1,778,119.00 1,402,919.00 1,402,919.00

Noncapitalized Equipment 4400 160,804.00 0.00 160,804.00 0.00 0.00

Food 4700 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

          Total, Books and Supplies  1,855,908.91 91,893.09 1,947,802.00 1,402,919.00 1,402,919.00

 

5. Services and Other Operating Expenditures  

Subagreements for Services 5100 5,547,720.00 293,807.00 5,841,527.00 6,447,905.00 6,647,709.00

Travel and Conferences 5200 43,206.11 162.89 43,369.00 33,000.00 33,000.00

Dues and Memberships 5300 0.00 0.00 0.00 10,472.00 10,472.00

Insurance 5400 203,228.00 0.00 203,228.00 209,664.00 220,147.00

Operations and Housekeeping Services 5500 6,484.00 0.00 6,484.00 2,400.00 2,400.00

Rentals, Leases, Repairs, and Noncap. Improvements 5600 37,054.00 0.00 37,054.00 37,992.00 38,411.00

Transfers of Direct Costs 5700-5799 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Professional/Consulting Services and Operating Expend. 5800 869,611.00 3,190.00 872,801.00 854,585.00 872,228.00

Communications 5900 12,158.00 0.00 12,158.00 15,130.00 15,130.00

          Total, Services and Other Operating Expenditures  6,719,461.11 297,159.89 7,016,621.00 7,611,148.00 7,839,497.00

  

6. Capital Outlay (Obj. 6100-6170, 6200-6500 for mod. accr. basis only)  

Land and Land Improvements 6100-6170 0.00 0.00 0.00

Buildings and Improvements of Buildings 6200 0.00 0.00 0.00

Books and Media for New School Libraries or Major  

     Expansion of School Libraries 6300 0.00 0.00 0.00

Equipment 6400 0.00 0.00 0.00

Equipment Replacement 6500 0.00 0.00 0.00

Depreciation Expense (for accrual basis only) 6900 52,488.00 0.00 52,488.00 52,488.00 52,488.00

           Total, Capital Outlay  52,488.00 0.00 52,488.00 52,488.00 52,488.00

 

7. Other Outgo  

 Tuition to Other Schools 7110-7143 0.00 0.00 0.00

Transfers of Pass-through Revenues to Other LEAs 7211-7213 0.00 0.00 0.00

Transfers of Apportionments to Other LEAs - Spec. Ed. 7221-7223SE 0.00 0.00 0.00

Transfers of Apportionments to Other LEAs - All Other 7221-7223AO 0.00 0.00 0.00

All Other Transfers 7280-7299 0.00 0.00 0.00

Transfers of Indirect Costs 7300-7399 0.00 0.00 0.00

Debt Service:  

     Interest 7438 0.00 0.00 0.00

     Principal (for modified accrual basis only) 7439 0.00 0.00 0.00

          Total, Other Outgo  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

 

8. TOTAL EXPENDITURES  17,386,113.89 1,919,476.00 19,305,589.89 19,728,188.00 20,212,372.00

 

C. EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPEND.  

BEFORE OTHER FINANCING SOURCES AND USES (A5-B8)  480,398.81 0.00 480,398.81 1,163,133.00 1,196,025.00

Page 7 of  
58



Totals for Totals for

              Description Object Code Unrestricted Restricted Total 2025 2026

FY 2024

Totals for Totals for

              Description Object Code Unrestricted Restricted Total 2025 2026

D. OTHER FINANCING SOURCES / USES  

1. Other Sources 8930-8979 0.00 0.00 0.00

2. Less:  Other Uses 7630-7699 0.00 0.00 0.00

3. Contributions Between Unrestricted and Restricted Accounts

(must net to zero) 8980-8999 0.00 0.00 0.00

  

4. TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES / USES  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

 

E. NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN FUND BALANCE (C + D4)  480,398.81 0.00 480,398.81 1,163,133.00 1,196,025.00

  

F. FUND BALANCE, RESERVES  

1. Beginning Fund Balance

a. As of July 1 9791 2,903,995.00 1,560,941.00 4,464,936.00 4,945,334.81 6,108,467.81

 b. Adjustments/Restatements 9793, 9795 0.00 0.00 0.00

c. Adjusted Beginning Balance  2,903,995.00 1,560,941.00 4,464,936.00 4,945,334.81 6,108,467.81

2. Ending Fund Balance, June 30 (E + F.1.c.)  3,384,393.81 1,560,941.00 4,945,334.81 6,108,467.81 7,304,492.81

Components of Ending Fund Balance:  

a. Nonspendable

Revolving Cash (equals object 9130) 9711 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Stores (equals object 9320) 9712 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Prepaid Expenditures (equals object 9330) 9713 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

All Others 9719 115,841.32 0.00 115,841.32 63,353.32 10,865.32

b. Restricted 9740 1,560,941.00 1,560,941.00 1,560,941.00 1,560,941.00

c. Committed

Stabilization Arrangements 9750 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Other Commitments 9760 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

d Assigned

Other Assignments 9780 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

e. Unassigned/Unappropriated

Reserve for Economic Uncertainties 9789 579,167.70 0.00 579,167.70 549,105.04 1,146,406.80

Unassigned/Unappropriated Amount 9790 2,689,384.79 0.00 2,689,384.79 3,935,068.45 4,586,279.69

FY 2024

Page 8 of  
59



2023-24 Cash Flow Projections

Monarch River Academy

Beginning July % August % September % October % November % December % January %

OBJECT Balance Actuals Bud Actuals Bud Actuals Bud Actuals Bud Actuals Bud Estimated Bud Estimated Bud

Beginning Cash Balance 4,247,985        4,955,462         3,882,467        3,238,735       3,281,881       3,435,650      3,796,275       

RECEIPTS

LCFF Sources 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

LCFF Principal Apportionment 8010-8019 -                   615,583            615,583           1,108,050       1,108,900       1,108,900      1,108,900       

Education Protection Account 8010-8019 -                   -                    -                   53,671.00       -                  53,671.00      -                  

Property Taxes 8020-8079 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% 569.00             0.30% 46,583.00       24.49% 14,287.65       7.51% 14,287.65      7.51% 14,287.65       7.51%

Miscellaneous Funds 8080-8099 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% -                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

Federal Revenue 8100-8299 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% -                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                  0.00% 112,500.00    38.41% -                  0.00%

State Revenue 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Lottery 8560 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% -                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% 76,167.44       28.11%

Other State Revenue 8300-8599 138,591.00      10.29% 49,651.85         3.69% 85,897.85        6.38% 90,580.13       6.72% 82,763.00       6.14% 185,973.58    13.80% 82,763.00       6.14%

Local Revenue 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Interest 8660 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Other Local Revenue 8600-8799 -                   0.00% 392,329.43       8.98% 394,233.37      9.02% 399,029.21     9.13% 398,216.68     9.11% 398,216.68    9.11% 398,216.68     9.11%

Interfund Transfers In 8910-8929 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

All Other Financing Sources 8930-8979 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

TOTAL REVENUES 138,591.00      0.70% 1,057,564.68    5.35% 1,096,283.62   5.54% 1,697,913.46  8.58% 1,604,167.56  8.11% 1,873,549.14 9.47% 1,680,335.00  8.49%

DISBURSEMENTS

Certificated Salaries 1000-1999 574,671.07      7.95% 612,050.67       8.47% 607,239.83      8.41% 616,030.40     8.53% 601,843.76     8.33% 601,843.76    8.33% 601,843.76     8.33%

Classified Salaries 2000-2999 17,033.68        4.20% 30,568.54         7.55% 30,133.15        7.44% 33,243.36       8.21% 36,770.58       9.08% 36,770.58      9.08% 36,770.58       9.08%

Employee Benefits 3000-3999 207,726.57      7.81% 331,349.72       12.46% 213,111.36      8.02% 220,580.17     8.30% 207,528.07     7.81% 207,528.07    7.81% 228,873.48     8.61%

Books & Supplies 4000-4999 197,290.74      10.13% 237,211.83       12.18% 315,159.61      16.18% 180,040.48     9.24% 74,063.82       3.80% 95,827.98      4.92% 70,105.41       3.60%

Services 5000-5999 258,034.47      3.68% 533,367.15       7.60% 563,098.13      8.03% 516,606.47     7.36% 634,062.84     9.04% 634,312.84    9.04% 634,312.84     9.04%

Capital Outlay 6000-6599 4,373.98          8.33% 4,373.98           8.33% 4,373.98          8.33% 4,373.98         8.33% 4,374.00         8.33% 4,374.00        8.33% 4,374.00         8.33%

Other Outgo 7100-7299 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% -                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

Debt Service 7400-7499 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% -                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

Interfund Transfers Out 7600-7629 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% -                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

All Other Financing Uses 7630-7699 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% -                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 1,259,130.51   6.52% 1,748,921.89    9.06% 1,733,116.06   8.98% 1,570,874.86  8.14% 1,558,643.07  8.07% 1,580,657.23 8.19% 1,576,280.06  8.16%

BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Assets and Deferred Outflows

Cash Not in Treasury 9200 -                   0.00% (149,390.56)      -151.28% 18,368.85        18.60% 32,268.00       32.68% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

Accounts Receivable 9200 1,262,703.02   -510.02% (560,654.61)      226.45% (297,931.78)     120.34% (103,459.18)    41.79% 1,232,997.00  -498.02% 60,379.00      -24.39% -                  0.00%

Prepaid Expenditures 9330 33,080.44        -19.04% 40,747.39         -23.46% 29,539.05        -17.00% (3,414.00)        1.97% 2,980.00         -1.72% 2,980.00        -1.72% 2,980.00         -1.72%

Capital Assets 94XX (5,208.33)         -20.00% (5,208.34)          -20.00% (10,416.68)       -40.00% (5,208.34)        -20.00% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

Other Current Assets 4,373.98          -8.33% 4,373.98           -8.33% 4,373.98          -8.33% 4,373.98         -8.33% 4,374.00         -8.33% 4,374.00        -8.33% 4,374.00         -8.33%

SUBTOTAL -                    1,294,949.11   -371.06% (670,132.14)      192.02% (256,066.58)     73.37% (75,439.54)      21.62% 1,240,351.00  -355.42% 67,733.00      -19.41% 7,354.00         -2.11%

Liabilities and Deferred Inflows

Accounts Payable 9500 (284,910.40)     61.08% 207,596.66       -44.51% 52,959.69        -11.35% 314,866.30     -67.50% 236,120.56     -50.62% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

Current Loans 9640 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% -                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

Unearned Revenue 9650 -                   0.00% -                    0.00% -                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                  0.00% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

Other Liabilities 9650 (248,157.17)     -364.78% (496,091.03)      -729.23% (302,126.55)     -444.11% (306,413.91)    -450.41% 895,986.74     ####### -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

SUBTOTAL 9650 -                    (533,067.57)     133.80% (288,494.37)      72.41% (249,166.86)     62.54% 8,452.39         -2.12% 1,132,107.30  -284.16% -                 0.00% -                  0.00%

TOTAL BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 1,828,016.68   565.16% (381,637.77)      -117.99% (6,899.72)         -2.13% (83,891.93)      -25.94% 108,243.70     33.47% 67,733.00      20.94% 7,354.00         2.27%

NET INCREASE/DECREASE 707,477.17      (1,072,994.98)   (643,732.16)     43,146.67       153,768.19     360,624.91    111,408.93     

ENDING CASH BALANCE 4,955,461.90   3,882,466.92    3,238,734.76   3,281,881.43  3,435,649.62  3,796,274.52 3,907,683.45  

11/29/2023 60



2023-24 Cash Flow Projections

Monarch River Academy

OBJECT

Beginning Cash Balance

RECEIPTS

LCFF Sources

LCFF Principal Apportionment 8010-8019

Education Protection Account 8010-8019

Property Taxes 8020-8079

Miscellaneous Funds 8080-8099

Federal Revenue 8100-8299

State Revenue

Lottery 8560

Other State Revenue 8300-8599

Local Revenue

Interest 8660

Other Local Revenue 8600-8799

Interfund Transfers In 8910-8929

All Other Financing Sources 8930-8979

TOTAL REVENUES

DISBURSEMENTS

Certificated Salaries 1000-1999

Classified Salaries 2000-2999

Employee Benefits 3000-3999

Books & Supplies 4000-4999

Services 5000-5999

Capital Outlay 6000-6599

Other Outgo 7100-7299

Debt Service 7400-7499

Interfund Transfers Out 7600-7629

All Other Financing Uses 7630-7699

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS

BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Assets and Deferred Outflows

Cash Not in Treasury 9200

Accounts Receivable 9200

Prepaid Expenditures 9330

Capital Assets 94XX

Other Current Assets

SUBTOTAL

Liabilities and Deferred Inflows

Accounts Payable 9500

Current Loans 9640

Unearned Revenue 9650

Other Liabilities 9650

SUBTOTAL 9650

TOTAL BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

NET INCREASE/DECREASE

ENDING CASH BALANCE

February % March % April % May % June % Estimated Projected Difference

Estimated Bud Estimated Bud Estimated Bud Estimated Bud Estimated Bud Accrual Total Budget

3,907,683        3,926,049       4,227,351         4,629,404         4,704,404       4,247,984.73    4,247,984.73    

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% -                    -                  

1,108,900        1,262,015       1,262,015         1,262,015         1,262,015       1,262,015         13,084,891       13,084,891       -                  

-                   64,124.50       -                    -                    57,155.50       -                    228,622            228,622.00       -                  

14,287.65        7.51% 28,629.35       15.05% 14,314.67         7.53% 14,314.67         7.53% 14,314.67       7.53% 14,314.67         190,190.64       190,190.64       -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% -                    -                    -                    -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% 142,888.75     48.79% 37,500.00         292,888.75       292,888.75       -                  

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% -                    -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% 64,551.36         23.83% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% 130,198.27       270,917.07       270,917.07       -                  

82,763.00        6.14% 156,094.18     11.59% 78,660.73         5.84% 78,660.73         5.84% 156,094.18     11.59% 78,660.73         1,347,153.95    1,347,153.95    (0.00)               

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% -                    -                  

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% -                    -                  

398,216.68      9.11% 398,216.68     9.11% 398,216.68       9.11% 398,216.68       9.11% 398,216.68     9.11% -                    4,371,325.44    4,371,325.44    -                  

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% -                    -                  

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% -                    -                  

1,604,167.56   8.11% 1,909,079.36  9.65% 1,817,758.10    9.19% 1,753,206.74    8.86% 2,030,684.43  10.26% 1,522,688.33    19,785,988.98  19,785,988.98  (0.00)               

601,843.76      8.33% 601,843.76     8.33% 601,843.76       8.33% 601,843.76       8.33% 601,843.76     8.33% -                    7,224,742.05    7,224,742.05    -                  

36,770.58        9.08% 36,770.58       9.08% 36,770.58         9.08% 36,770.58         9.08% 36,770.58       9.08% -                    405,143.37       405,143.37       -                  

210,985.41      7.94% 207,847.48     7.82% 207,847.48       7.82% 207,847.48       7.82% 207,569.02     7.81% -                    2,658,794.33    2,658,794.33    -                  

98,836.49        5.07% 130,232.64     6.69% 134,201.52       6.89% 218,219.09       11.20% 196,612.16     10.09% -                    1,947,801.78    1,947,801.78    -                  

640,346.03      9.13% 634,062.84     9.04% 630,896.17       8.99% 633,146.17       9.02% 644,179.36     9.18% 60,194.78         7,016,620.07    7,016,620.07    -                  

4,374.00          8.33% 4,374.00         8.33% 4,374.00           8.33% 4,374.00           8.33% 4,374.00         8.33% -                    52,487.92         52,487.92         -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% -                    -                    -                    -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% -                    -                    -                    -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% -                    -                    -                    -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% -                    -                    -                    -                  

1,593,156.27   8.25% 1,615,131.30  8.37% 1,615,933.51    8.37% 1,702,201.08    8.82% 1,691,348.88  8.76% 60,194.78         0.00                  19,305,589.53  1.00                 

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% 98,753.71         98,753.71         -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% 176,235.00       -71.18% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% (1,522,688.33)   (247,580.12)      (247,580.12)      -                  

2,980.00          -1.72% 2,980.00         -1.72% 19,620.00         -11.29% 19,620.00         -11.29% 19,620.00       -11.29% (173,712.88)      (173,712.88)      -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% 26,041.69         26,041.69         -                  

4,374.00          -8.33% 4,374.00         -8.33% 4,374.00           -8.33% 4,374.00           -8.33% 4,374.00         -8.33% (52,487.92)        (52,487.92)        -                  

7,354.00          -2.11% 7,354.00         -2.11% 200,229.00       -57.37% 23,994.00         -6.88% 23,994.00       -6.88% (1,522,688.33)   (348,985.52)      (348,985.52)      -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% (60,194.78)        (466,438.03)      (466,438.03)      -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% -                    -                    -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% -                  0.00% -                    -                    -                  

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% 388,772.25     571.47% 68,029.67         68,029.67         (0.00)               

-                   0.00% -                  0.00% -                    0.00% -                    0.00% 388,772.25     -97.58% (60,194.78)        (398,408.36)      (398,408.36)      (0.00)               

7,354.00          2.27% 7,354.00         2.27% 200,229.00       61.90% 23,994.00         7.42% (364,778.25)    -112.78% (1,462,493.55)   (4.52)                 323,449.19       0.00                 

18,365.29        301,302.05     402,053.59       74,999.66         (25,442.70)      (0.00)                 803,848.64       (1.00)               

3,926,048.74   4,227,350.80  4,629,404.38    4,704,404.04    4,678,961.34  

11/29/2023 61



 Cover Sheet 
 Fiscal Policies & Procedures Manual 

 Board Policy No. 1300 

 Sec�on:  III Finance 
 Item:  C. Fiscal Policies & Procedures Manual 
 Purpose:  Discussion & Poten�al Ac�on - Vote 
 Related Material:  Fiscal Policies and Procedures Manual-FY2024 - MR 

 FISCAL POLICY AND PROCEDURES-Summary of Changes 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  The school’s Fiscal Policies and Procedures Manual has been updated. 
 ●  Please  see  the  FISCAL  POLICY  AND  PROCEDURES-Summary  of  Changes  document 

 included as part of the Board Packet for a detailed list 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  Consider the approval of the updated Fiscal Policies & Procedures Manual. 

62



FISCAL POLICY AND PROCEDURES 

SUMMARY OF CHANGES 

 

1. Various pages: changed Executive Director to Superintendent and Assistant Executive Director to 

Deputy Superintendent. 

2. Page 6: changed “On a monthly basis, the Executive Director and Board reviews….” to “ During 

each regular board meeting the Superintendent and Board reviews…” 

3. Page 7: changed “The Executive Director may transfer up to $100,000 from one unrestricted 

budget item to another without board approval, but shall notify the Board of the transfer at the 

next regularly scheduled meeting.” to “The Executive Director may transfer up to $100,000 from 

one unrestricted budget item to another without board approval, but shall notify the Board of the 

transfer at the next regularly scheduled meeting. This applies if the school manages its budget on 

a line-item basis.” 

4. Page 10: changed “Individual checks greater than $100,000 require two signatures prior to check 

issuance.” to “Individual checks greater than $100,000 require two signatures prior to check 

issuance, unless the School checks are issued by a third party preparer.” 

5. Page 18: added:  

Paying Vendor Invoices 

The school uses Bill.com to process a majority of its vendor invoices. The proper documentation, which 

includes 

• an invoice or 

• check request 

must be uploaded to Bill.com, then coded by accounts payable at the back office, who then assigns the 

invoice approver. Each invoice type has a specific approver determined by the school's Delegation of 

Expenditure Authority policy. Those policy requirements from the Delegation of Expenditure Authority 

are entered into Bill.com to limit invoice approver assignment only to those listed in the policy. 

The invoice approver is required to log into the Bill.com software to review any invoices in their 

inbox/profile and only approve the invoice if the charges are accurate and the product or service has 

been received. In some instances, the vendor may request payment prior to shipping the product or 

performing services, and in these cases the approver is required to verify that the vendor completed his 

delivery obligation. After all invoices have been approved the invoice is ready to pay. 

The school has established a policy to pay all invoices once they are approved by delegated approvers. A 

team member at the back office will approve the payment within the Bill.com software. Bill.com then 

disburses either a check, virtual card or ACH credit to the vendor.  

6. Page 21: changed “Delivery costs and a reasonable tip (up to 20%) are allowable” to “Delivery 

costs and a reasonable tip (up to 18%) are allowable”. (This is now consistent with Page 29. 

7. Page 28: changed “the Chairperson or Treasurer of the Board will review charges and supporting 

documentation for the Executive Director’s monthly statement.” to “the Chairperson or 

63



Treasurer of the Board will review charges and supporting documentation for the 

Superintendent’s credit card.” 

8. Page 29: changed “the Board or fiscal committee, if any, may approve the reimbursement of a 

Board member’s actual and necessary expenses incurred when conducting the School’s 

business” to “the Board or fiscal committee, if any, may approve the reimbursement of a Board 

member’s actual and necessary expenses incurred when conducting the School’s business or 

receive payment for estimated expenses if it proves too difficult to itemize all of the actual 

expenses.” 

9. Page 30: changed the School will obtain a W-9 from the contract service provider prior to 

submitting any requests for payments to Charter Impact” to “the School will obtain a W-9 from 

the contract service provider prior to submitting any requests for payments to the Back Office” 

10. Page 31: Added 

 

Square Account Management 

 
The School uses a Square account (Square gives the School practical tools to sell goods and 

services and manage day-to-day operations) to collect payments for student ID fees and other 

events. Currently, it is only used for events like dances.  

 

The account should continue to be used for only School events unless changed, in writing, by the 

Superintendent or their assigned designee.  

 

The account shall be reconciled monthly by the Back Office to verify that all funds are being used 

only for School purposes and all required documentation shall be filed for any potential audit 

needs. 

 

The account will not carry a balance above $10,000. Any amount above that limit will be 

deposited into the School’s account.  
 

11. Page 41: changed “. A lease can be classified as either a capital lease or an operating lease. The 

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 840-30, 

Capital Leases, describes the criteria for determining which of these two classifications applies.  

Under those criteria, a lease should be treated as a capital lease if any of the following are true 

when the lease is entered into:  

 

• The lease transfers ownership to the School at the end of the lease term.  

• The lease contains a bargain purchase option.  

• The lease term is equal to 75% or more of the estimated economic life of the leased property.  

• The present value of the minimum lease payments is 90% or more of the fair value of the 

leased property (using as the interest rate the lesser of the School’s incremental borrowing rate 

or, if known, the lessor’s implicit rate).  

64



Any lease for which none of the four preceding statements is true, or that is immaterial in 

nature, will be recognized and accounted for as an operating lease. An operating lease is similar 

to a rental agreement in that the monthly lease costs are expensed.” 

 

to 

 

The ASC 842 lease accounting standard for GAAP lease accounting requires all leases longer than 

12 months to be recorded as assets and liabilities on balance sheets. ASC 842 lease accounting is 

a replacement for the previous GAAP lease accounting standard, ASC 840, under which certain 

leases might have been classified as “operating leases” and therefore not capitalized onto the 

balance sheet. 

 

With the ASC 842 lease accounting standard, all organizations that follow generally accepted 

accounting principles, or GAAP, are required to categorize all leases as both liabilities and right-

of-use assets. 

 

12. Page 42: changed “See Cash Tally sheet in Appendix C” to “See Cash Tally sheet in Appendix D” 

13. Page 43: changed “See Appendix C for all Fundraising forms” to “See Appendix E for all 

Fundraising forms” 

14. Page 44: changed “Outgoing wire transfers should not be issued unless the secondary approver 

logs on to the bank’s secure website and approves the transfer electronically” to “Outgoing wire 

transfers should not be issued unless the secondary approver logs on to the bank’s secure 

website and approves the transfer electronically, if applicable” 

 

65



 
 

0 
 

  

 

 

Monarch River 
Academy 

Fiscal Policies and Procedures 

66



 
 

1 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The Board of Directors of Monarch River Academy (“School”) has reviewed and adopted the following Fiscal 

Policies and Procedures Guide (“Guide”) to ensure the most effective use of the School’s funds to support 

the School’s mission and to ensure that the funds are budgeted, accounted for, expended, and maintained 

appropriately. 

This Guide details the School’s policies and procedures in a number of areas including Internal Controls, 

Legal Compliance, Conflict of Interest policies, as well as other financial and accounting procedures and 

protocols. This Guide is intended to align with the School’s charter petition and any Memoranda of 

Understanding (MOU) with its authorizing entity. The various Chapters herein include, but are not limited 

to, the School’s policies on authorized signers, use of credit cards, employee reimbursements, purchasing, 

and payroll processing.  

In developing this Guide, the School reviewed the Charter School Accounting and Best Practices Manual 

published by the California Fiscal Crisis and Management Assistance Team (“FCMAT”), as well as other 

relevant information and resources.   

DEFINITIONS 

For purposes of this Guide, the following definitions apply: 

“Superintendent”, Deputy Superintendent,, , and “School staff” or “School administration” shall mean those 

positions at the School.   

“Board of Directors” shall mean the School’s governing body.   

“Fiscal Committee” shall mean the fiscal committee, if any, of the School’s governing body.   

“Back-office” shall mean the financial professionals hired as third party preparers, reviewers and custodians 

of the financial statements and other financial documents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
67



 
 

2 
 

 

KEY ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  

Board of Directors / Fiscal Committee 

The Board of Directors will be provided a presentation of the financial reports noted below that are listed in 

order from the beginning of the fiscal year. These reports will be prepared by the back-office group and the 

School staff, approved by the Board of Directors at an open and public meeting, and submitted to the 

appropriate governmental agencies on or before the dates listed below, unless altered by the accepting 

agency.  

1. Adopted Budget (submitted by July 1st) 
2. Unaudited Actuals Report (submitted by September 15th) 
3. Audited Financial Statements (submitted by December 15th) 
4. First Interim Financial Report (submitted by December 15th)  
5. Second Interim Financial Report (submitted by March 15th)  
6. Form 990 tax return (submitted by May 15th with extension)  

 
The Board of Directors, and/or a Fiscal Committee if created, is responsible for the following:  
 

1.  Overseeing the preparation of the annual budget and financial statements.  
 
2.  Overseeing the administration, collection, and disbursement of the School’s financial 

resources, in addition to approving the related policies and procedures  
 
3.  Overseeing significant financial decisions, such as correcting or restructuring the School’s 

financials and accounting procedures should fiscal problems arise 
 
4.  Overseeing the annual independent audit process, including engaging the independent 

auditor and reviewing all reports and management letters from the auditor  
 
5.  Overseeing the preparation and implementation of the governance policies referenced in 

the Form 990, including conflict of interest, document retention, whistle-blower, review of 
executive compensation, etc. 

 

  

68



 
 

3 
 

CHAPTER 1 

Internal Controls 

Definition and Importance  

Internal controls are the foundation of sound financial management. They include the policies and 

procedures that help provide reasonable assurance that the School is achieving its objectives and goals by 

doing the following:  

• Ensuring that operations are effective and efficient.  

• Safeguarding and preserving the organization’s assets.  

• Promoting successful events and fundraising ventures.  

• Protecting against improper disbursements.  

• Ensuring that unauthorized obligations are not incurred.  

• Providing reliable financial information.  

• Reducing the risk of, and promoting the detection of, fraud and abuse.  

• Protecting employees and volunteers.  

• Ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulations.  

• Ensuring accurate documenting of all transactions.  

Internal controls include the segregation of duties according to functions so that one person is not handling 

a transaction from beginning to end. This is a critical part of a system of checks and balances. Functions that 

need to be segregated include the following:  

• Initiating, authorizing or approving transactions.  

• Executing transactions.  

• Recording transactions.  

• Reconciling transactions.  

• Responsibility for the item acquired from the transaction.  

To ensure proper internal controls, the duties of custody, recording, and reconciliation are kept separate. 

For example, if a School staff member were to collect cash, record activity (including receipts) in the financial 

system, prepare the deposit slip, and reconcile the bank account, with no one else involved in verifying these 

transactions, there would be a definite lack of internal control because there is no separation of duties. This 

is especially true if no one other than that School staff member reviews the bank statement and compares 

it to the original cash receipt documentation. This Guide sets out policies and procedures to ensure 

segregation of duties and avoid exposing the School to a higher risk of potential cash skimming, delayed 

deposits, or other errors or irregularities.  

69



 
 

4 
 

Role of Key Financial Staff (Segregation of Duties)  

As set forth in more detail in the financial management policies herein, in general, School staff are 

responsible for initiating, authorizing, approving, and executing transactions, while the Back Office and 

School Administration are responsible for recording, reconciling, reporting, and reviewing transactions.   

Internal controls are affected by the practices and attitudes of administrators.  The goal of this Guide is to 

accomplish the following:  

• School administration and the Back Office set a good example by following established policies 

and procedures  

• School administration ensures that all staff, volunteers and others associated with the School are 

informed about, and follow established, policies and procedures  

• School, through the Back Office, provides continual assistance and training for all staff members 

involved in all aspects of cash management and fundraising  

• School administration takes action when an infraction occurs  

The basic components of internal controls, set forth in more detail in the financial management policies 

herein, include the following:  

• Segregation of duties  

• System of checks and balances  

• Staff cross training  

• Controlled use of pre-numbered documents, i.e. checks  

• Asset security and restricted access  

• Timely reconciliations  

• Up-to-date inventory records  

• Appropriate review and approval of transactions  

• Comprehensive, up-to-date annual budget  

• Expectation that all staff and the Back Office, including administrators, will follow all internal 

controls  

To help ensure adequate internal controls, the School has established, implemented and maintained 

these policies and procedures based on laws, regulations and sound business principles, and communicates 

them to those involved (e.g., School staff). It is essential that all employees, volunteers and students (when 

necessary) be aware of expectations regarding internal accounting controls.  The Back Office provides 

training for all individuals who are expected to follow policies and carry out procedures; School staff will 

ensure that, wherever possible, more than one person is trained for each function (cross training).  

The School’s annual independent audit also serves to monitor whether School’s policies and procedures are 

being followed in order to determine compliance with applicable state and federal regulations.  

70



 
 

5 
 

If problems with the School’s internal controls are identified through any means, the Back Office and the 

School will work together to address such problems as soon as possible.  

1. The Board approves financial policies and procedures, delegate’s administration of the policies 
and procedures to the Superintendent and reviews operations and activities on a regular basis. 

2. The Superintendent has responsibility for all operations and activities related to financial 
management. However, the Board and Superintendent can appoint or delegate someone else to 
perform the responsibilities. 

3. Financial duties and responsibilities must be separated so that no one employee has sole control 
authorizing transactions, recording financial transactions and custody of assets. 

4. The School will maintain in effect the following principles in its ongoing fiscal management 
practices to ensure that: 

a. expenditures are authorized by and in accordance with amounts specified in the board‐ 
adopted budget, 

b. the school’s funds are managed and held in a manner that provides a high degree of 
protection of the school’s assets, and 

c. all transactions are recorded and documented in an appropriate manner. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

71



 
 

6 
 

CHAPTER 2 

Budget Development 

 

Budget Development, Oversight Calendar and Responsibilities  
 

May – June 

 

The Back Office and the Superintendent review revenue projections subsequent to the Governor’s 
annual “May Revise” budget figures, and fine‐tunes the upcoming fiscal year budget to 
accommodate any changes. The e budget will include monthly cash flow projections. The Board 
reviews and formally adopts a budget for upcoming fiscal year before June 15. A copy of the final 
budget is provided to the charter‐granting agency. 

 

July – August 

 

Books for prior fiscal year are closed by the Back Office, all transactions are posted, and 
records assembled for audit. 

 

The budget is reviewed subsequent to the adoption of the state Budget Act and necessary 
adjustments are made. A copy of the revised final budget is provided to the charter‐ 
granting agency, if applicable. 

 

September – December 

 

The independent auditor performs the audit of the closed fiscal year and prepares the 
audit report for submission to the Board of Directors or the Audit Committee, if any. 

 

At the end of the first full week of school, the Superintendent reviews the Charter 
School’s actual attendance figures and notifies the Board if actual attendance is below 
budget projections. If needed, the school’s budget is revised to match likely revenues. 

 

The Audit Committee of the Board, if any, reviews a copy of the audit. The Superintendent 
addresses any audit exceptions or adverse findings. Once the Board approves the audit 
report, it is submitted to the charter‐granting agency. 

 

During each regular board meeting the Superintendent and Board reviews current year 
actual versus budgeted revenues and expenditures and other financial reports as 
presented by the Back Office. The Board approves any needed changes to the annual 
budget. 
 

 

72



 
 

7 
 

Budget Transfers 
 

The Executive Director may transfer up to $100,000 from one unrestricted budget item to 
another without board approval, but shall notify the Board of the transfer at the next regularly 
scheduled meeting. This applies if the school manages its budget on a line-item basis. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

73



 
 

8 
 

CHAPTER 3 

 

Legal Compliance 

The School will follow all the relevant laws and regulations that apply to California charter schools. 

Additionally, any applicable Federal laws and regulations that relate to grant funding received by the School 

will be followed. The following are specific policies of the School: 

Political Contributions and Involvement  

The School does not take any position regarding any political candidate. School officials do not make political 

endorsements in their official capacity, and the School does not make political contributions and/or endorse 

candidates. However, School officials are not prohibited from making endorsements privately.  

Examples of prohibited political contributions, lobbying, and expenditures that support or oppose 

candidates for public office include, but are not limited to, the following:  

• Contributions to political parties or political action committees  

• Contributions to the campaigns of individual candidates for public office  

• Expenditures to print or assist in printing any political materials  

• Expenditures for political advertisements  

 

School complies with all federal and state laws and regulations regarding political contributions, lobbying 

and expenditures. No federal funds, or assets obtained from federal funds, may be used for any political 

purposes. 

Record Keeping  

To provide an accurate and auditable record of all financial transactions, the School’s financial documents, 

records, and accounts will be maintained in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles as 

applicable to charter schools, and in conformity with the School’s record retention policy as applicable.  The 

School’s accounting data will be backed up regularly by the Back Office to ensure the recoverability of 

financial information.  Further, the School specifically requires that:  

1. No funds or accounts may be established or maintained for purposes that are not fully and 

accurately described within the books and records of the School. 

2. Receipts and disbursements must be fully and accurately described in the books and records. 

3. No false entries may be made on the books or records nor any false or misleading reports 

issued. 

4. Payments may be made only to the contracting party and only for the actual services rendered 

or products delivered. No false or fictitious invoices may be paid. 

74



 
 

9 
 

School staff and the Back Office will work together to provide access to the School’s financial records to 

School’s charter authorizer upon reasonable request, including supporting records as requested.    

 

Reporting Questionable or Suspicious Activity  

Employees are responsible for immediately reporting questionable or suspicious activity to their supervisor, 

theSuperintendent, or the School’s Board Chairperson.  This includes reporting any concerns regarding 

improper activity.  This could range from financial concerns such as theft or misstated financial statements 

to workplace concerns such as harassment, discrimination, safety issues, substance abuse, etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

75



 
 

10 
 

CHAPTER 4 

Conflict Of Interest and Related Party Transactions 

The School complies with all applicable laws regarding conflicts of interest and related party transactions, 

including, but not limited to, the California Corporations Code, the Political Reform Act, and Government 

Code section 1090.   

The School recognizes that it is important for Board members and key employees to understand the conflict 

of interest laws and rules that apply to the School, in order to identify and avoid conflicts of interest. The 

School board and key staff shall receive annual mandatory training, to be conducted by a third party, on the 

applicable conflict of interest laws. Such training may be provided at the time the board receives the 

mandatory Ralph M. Brown Act training required by the School’s Charter and may also cover specific topics 

including an overview of significant, applicable laws regarding the use of public funds, procedures for hiring, 

contractual arrangements, purchasing, bidding, and expenditure approvals that help to prevent conflicts of 

interest. 

It is the policy of this School that all School officials, including Board members, officers, and employees, shall 
not place themselves in any position where their private, personal interests may conflict with their official 
duties, or where they may directly or indirectly receive personal financial gain through direct or indirect 
personal influence. School decision makers shall be neither personally nor financially interested in any 
contract made by them in their official capacity.  
 
The School will be guided by the principle of arms-length standards in entering into transactions with all 

affiliated or unaffiliated organizations or with a private or related individual(s).  

  
 

Signature Authorities 

The Board will approve, in advance, the list of authorized signers on the School’s account(s).  The 

Superintendent, and any other employee/Board member authorized by the Board, may execute contracts, 

purchases, and expenditures, endorse checks, drafts, and orders for the payment of money, or otherwise 

withdraw or transfer funds, in the name of and on behalf of the School, subject to the policies and 

procedures in this Guide.  Individual checks greater than $100,000 require two signatures prior to check 

issuance unless the School checks are issued by a third party preparer. 

Use of School Assets  

No employee may use any of the School’s property, equipment, materials, or supplies for personal use 

without the prior approval of the Superintendent or the Superintendent’s designee. 

 

 

 

 

76



 
 

11 
 

Related Party Transactions 

Policy 

 
It is the policy of the Board of Directors that all Related Party Transactions, as that term is defined in this 
policy, shall be subject to review in accordance with the procedures set forth below. The School has 
determined that the Board is best suited to review all Related Party Transactions. 

 
Procedures 

 
The Board shall review the material facts of all Related Party Transactions and may also approve or 
disapprove of the entry into the Related Party Transaction, subject to the exceptions described below. 
Where advance Board review of a Related Party Transaction is not feasible or has otherwise not been 
obtained, then the Related Party Transaction shall be reviewed subsequently by the Board (and such 
transaction may be ratified subsequently by the Board). The Board may also disapprove of a previously 
entered into Related Party Transaction and may require that management of the School take all 
reasonable efforts to terminate, unwind, cancel or annul the Related Party Transaction. In connection 
with its review of a Related Party Transaction, the Board will take into account, among other factors it 
deems appropriate, whether the Related Party Transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms 
generally available to an unaffiliated third-party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent 
of the Related Party’s interest in the Related Party Transaction. 

 
The Superintendent shall present, or cause to have presented, to the Board, the following 
information, to the extent relevant, with respect to actual or potential Related Party 
Transactions: 

 

1. A general description of the transaction(s), including the material terms and conditions. 
 

2. The name of the Related Party and the basis on which such person or entity is a Related Party. 
 

3. The Related Party’s interest in the transaction(s), including the Related Party’s position or 
relationship with, or ownership of, any entity that is a party to or has an interest in the 
transaction(s). 

 

4. The approximate dollar value of the transaction(s), and the approximate dollar value of the 
Related Party’s interest in the transaction(s) without regard to amount of profit or loss. 

 

5. In the case of a lease or other transaction providing for periodic payments or installments, the 
aggregate amount of all periodic payments or installments expected to be made. 

 

6. In the case of indebtedness, the aggregate amount of expected debt to be outstanding and the 
rate or amount of interest to be payable on such indebtedness. 

 

7. Any other material information regarding the transaction(s) or the Related Party’s interest in the 
transaction(s). 

77



 
 

12 
 

The Board shall be authorized to review in advance and provide standing pre-approval in advance for 
certain Related Party Transactions or categories of Related Party Transactions. The Board has reviewed 
the Related Party Transactions described below in “Standing Pre-Approval for Certain Related Party 
Transactions” and determined that each of the Related Party Transactions described therein shall be 
deemed to have been reviewed and approved in advance by the Board under the terms of this Policy. 

 
 

Each director who is a Related Party with respect to a particular Related Party Transaction shall disclose 
all material information to the Board concerning such Related Party Transaction and his or her interest in 
such transaction. The Board may recommend the creation of a special committee to review any Related 
Party Transaction. 

 
If a Related Party Transaction will be ongoing, the Board may establish guidelines for the School’s 
management to follow in its ongoing dealings with the Related Party. Thereafter, the Board shall 
periodically review and assess ongoing relationships with the Related Party. 
Any material amendment, renewal or extension of a transaction, arrangement or relationship previously 
reviewed under this Policy shall also be subject to subsequent review under this Policy. 

This Policy is intended to augment and work in conjunction with other School policies having any code of 
conduct, code of ethics and/or conflict of interest provisions. 

The Board periodically shall review this Policy and may recommend amendments to this Policy from 
time to time as it deems appropriate. In addition to guidelines for ongoing Related Party Transactions, 
the Board may, as it deems appropriate and reasonable, establish from time to time guidelines 
regarding the review of other Related Party Transactions including those that (i) involve de minimus 
amounts, (ii) do not require public disclosure, or (iii) involve transactions that have primarily a 
charitable purpose. 

 

Definitions 

 
A “Related Party Transaction” is any financial transaction, arrangement or relationship or series of similar 
transactions, arrangements or relationships (including any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness) in 
which: 

 

(1) the aggregate amount involved will or may be expected to exceed $10,000 in any 
calendar or fiscal year, 

 

(2) the Board or any of its subsidiaries is a participant, and 
 

(3) any Related Party has or will have a direct or indirect interest. 
 

A “Related Party” is any: 

(a) person who is or was, since the beginning of the last fiscal year, (even if they do not presently 

78



 
 

13 
 

serve in that role) an executive officer, director or nominee for election as a director, 
 

(b) Immediate Family Member of any of the foregoing. An “Immediate Family Member” 
includes a person’s spouse, parents, stepparents, children, stepchildren, siblings, mothers- and 
fathers-in-law, sons- and daughters-in-law, and brothers- and sisters-in-law and anyone residing 
in such person’s home (other than a tenant or employee). 

Standing Pre-Approval for Certain Related Party Transactions 

 
The Board has reviewed the types of Related Party Transactions described below and determined that 
each of the following Related Party Transactions shall be deemed to have been reviewed in advance and 
pre-approved by the Board, even if the aggregate amount involved will exceed $10,000. 

 

1. Employment of officers. Any employment by the School of, or compensation of, an officer of the 
School if (i) the officer is not an immediate family member of another officer or director of the School, 
(ii) the officer was not otherwise a Related Party of the School prior to becoming an employee of the 
School and (iii) the Board has approved the compensation of such officer. 

 

2. Certain transactions with other companies. Any transactions, arrangements or relationships with 
another School or Company at which a Related Party’s relationship is as a director, owner, officer or 
executive. 

 

3. Transactions involving competitive bids. Any transactions, arrangements or relationships involving 
a Related Party where the rates or charges involved are determined by competitive bids. 

 

4. Regulated transactions. Any transactions, arrangements or relationships with a Related Party 
involving the rendering of services as a common or contract carrier, or public utility, at rates or charges 
fixed in conformity with law or governmental authority. 

 

5. Certain banking-related services. Any transactions, arrangements or relationships with a Related 
Party involving services as a bank depositary of funds, transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust 
indenture, or similar services. 

 

 Interpretation 
In any circumstance where the terms of these Policies and Procedures differ from any existing or newly 
enacted law, rule, regulation or standard governing the Company, the law, rule, regulation or standard 
will take precedence over these policies and procedures until such time as these Policies and Procedures 
are changed to conform to the law, rule, regulation or standard. 
 
Failure to disclose to the Board a known Financial Interest or a known potential Related Party 
Transaction may be grounds for removal from the Board or termination of employment by the School. 
 

 

 

 

79



 
 

14 
 

ANTI-NEPOTISM POLICY 

 

POLICY STATEMENT 

 

It is the policy of Monarch River Academy to avoid Nepotism, which means to avoid creating or 

maintaining circumstances in which the appearance or possibility of favoritism, conflicts of interest, or 

management disruptions exist due to a relationship between an Monarch River Academy decision-maker and 

his or her Family Member.  This policy is to ensure effective supervision, internal discipline, security, safety, 

and positive morale in the workplace and to avoid the potential for problems of actual or perceived favoritism, 

conflicts in loyalty, discrimination, and appearances of impropriety or conflict of interest.  This policy applies 

to all Monarch River Academy board members, employees, individual consultants hired or retained by 

Monarch River Academy, and School Services Providers hired or retained by Monarch River Academy.  

Relationships between Monarch River Academy board members, employees, consultants, or School 

Services Providers are permissible under the following circumstances: 

(a) Family Members of Monarch River Academy board members, employees, individual consultants, or 

School Services Providers shall not be hired for or retained in an employment position if one Family 

Member would have the authority or be in a position to directly supervise, hire, or discharge the other. 

 

(b) Any time a board member, employee, individual consultant, or School Services Provider is a 

Family Member of another, the relationship shall not result in an adverse impact on work 

productivity or performance.  The determination of whether there is an adverse impact shall 

be in the discretion of the supervisor(s) of the employee(s), consultant(s), or School Services 

Provider(s), or in the case of a board member, in the discretion of the Monarch River 

Academy board of directors.  

 
(c) Any time a board member, employee, individual consultant, or School Services Provider is a Family 

Member of another, the relationship shall not create an actual conflict of interest under the law, and 

shall not create a detrimental perceived conflict of interest.  The determination of whether there is a 

detrimental perceived conflict of interest shall be in the discretion of the supervisor(s) of the 

employee(s), consultant(s) or School Services Provider(s), or in the case of a board member, in the 

discretion of the Monarch River Academy board of directors. 

 

DEFINITIONS 

“Family Members” include an employee's parent, child (natural, adopted, or legal guardianship), 

spouse, domestic partner, brother, sister, grandparent, grandchild, step-relationships within the preceding 

categories, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law and father-in-law. 

 

“Nepotism” describes a work-related situation in which there is the potential for favoritism toward a 

Family Member (such as giving a job, promotion, biased performance reviews, or more favorable working 

conditions) on the basis of the familial relationship. 

80



 
 

15 
 

 

“School Services Provider” shall mean any provider of school services to Monarch River Academy, 

and in the case of an organization shall mean be the responsible individual at such organization that provides 

school services to Monarch River Academy.  

 

PROCEDURES 

When a Family Member of a current Monarch River Academy board member, employee, individual 

consultant, or School Services Provider applies to become a board member or employee, or requests to be a 

consultant or School Services Provider, the Family Member’s application/request must be denied if a conflict 

under this policy exists (e.g., if one Family Member would have the authority or be in a position to directly 

supervise, hire, or discharge the other).  Special circumstances may be reviewed by the Board in the event that 

Monarch River Academy’s best interests would be served otherwise.  

 

When a Family Member of a current Monarch River Academy board member, employee, individual 

consultant, or School Services Provider applies for a transfer to a new employment position within Monarch 

River Academy, the Family Member’s application must be evaluated to determine whether a conflict under 

this policy exists.  If a conflict exists, the application for transfer must either be denied or one of the Family 

Members must seek a position transfer to avoid the conflict, if any such opportunity exists.  In the event that 

no such opportunity exists, the application for transfer must be denied.   

 

In implementing this policy, it is permissible to ask an applicant, potential consultant, or School 

Services Provider to state whether he or she has a Family Member who is presently employed by or on the 

board of Monarch River Academy, but such information may not be used as a basis for an employment 

decision except as stated herein. 

 

When a relationship that creates a conflict with this policy occurs during employment, Monarch River 

Academy will attempt to arrange a transfer or change in position/duties to eliminate the conflict.  If a suitable 

transfer/change in position/duties is not available, one of the employees may be separated from service.  Every 

attempt will be made to effect transfer or separation on the basis of agreement between the employees involved 

and Monarch River Academy. If a mutual agreement is unattainable, the Board will determine, in Monarch 

River Academy’s best interest, which employee is to be transferred or separated. 

 

 

 

RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

The Senior Director or designee shall coordinate with the current employee’s direct supervisor to 

develop appropriate plans to ensure that a Family Member’s employment does not conflict with this policy. If 

81



 
 

16 
 

the situation cannot be resolved by a transfer, then the Senior Director or designee will deny the application 

for employment.  Special circumstances may be reviewed by the Board in the event that Monarch River 

Academy’s best interests would be served by the employment of a Family Member. 

 

The Senior Director or designee shall investigate reports of Nepotism and take appropriate action.  

Employees are required to disclose changes in their personal situations to the Senior Director or designee 

which may be covered by this policy.  Supervisors may inquire about the family relationship between 

employees to determine the appropriateness of the working relationship under this policy.  The Board shall 

make the final determination concerning potential conflicts with this policy involving the Senior Director.        

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CHAPTER 5 

Purchasing and Bank Policy 

 
 

82



 
 

17 
 

Purchasing and Procurement  

 
The School adheres to the following objectives in purchasing:  
 
All proposed non-payroll expenditures/invoices are reviewed by the Back Office to determine whether they 
are consistent with the Board-adopted budget and approved contract, if applicable. In the absence of a 
vendor invoice, the School will develop and maintain a check request form or other form to document the 
approval of payment for goods or services.  All transactions will be posted in an electronic general ledger 
maintained by the Back Office. To ensure segregation of recording and approvals, the Back Office may not 
sign purchase orders or check requests. 
 

Some transactions do not require purchase orders:  

1.  Re-occurring expenditures, such as:  

a.  Professional fees to back office service providers, and legal services  
b.  Outsourced services (e.g. special education services, security, etc.)  
c.  Payment of health and welfare benefits  
d.  Risk management costs (e.g. insurance) 
e.  Utilities  
f.  Communications (e.g. Internet, wireless, etc.)  
g. Payroll taxes 
h. Facility costs pursuant to a Board-approved lease or other agreement 
 

2.  Budgeted costs, such as:  
a.  Existing and replacement positions (i.e. payroll)  
b.  Expenditures listed in awarded grants  
c.  Software subscriptions (e.g. productivity tools, licenses, etc.)  
d.  Student materials and supplies, unless for a vendor contract over $50,000, except 

for the below listed vendors: 
 i.  
 ii.  
 iii.  
 iv.  
 v.  
 
 For these, the Superintendent has a limit of $100,000 
 
 

3.  Mandatory costs, such as:  
a.  Expenditures required in an IEP (i.e. individualized education program).  
b.  Expenditures from duly approved legal settlements. 

 

Paying Vendor Invoices 

The school uses Bill.com to process a majority of its vendor invoices. The proper documentation, which 

includes 

83



 
 

18 
 

• an invoice or 

• check request 

must be uploaded to Bill.com, then coded by accounts payable at the back office, who then assigns the 

invoice approver. Each invoice type has a specific approver determined by the school's Delegation of 

Expenditure Authority policy. Those policy requirements from the Delegation of Expenditure Authority are 

entered into Bill.com to limit invoice approver assignment only to those listed in the policy. 

The invoice approver is required to log into the Bill.com software to review any invoices in their 

inbox/profile and only approve the invoice if the charges are accurate and the product or service has been 

received. In some instances, the vendor may request payment prior to shipping the product or performing 

services, and in these cases the approver is required to verify that the vendor completed his delivery 

obligation. After all invoices have been approved the invoice is ready to pay. 

The school has established a policy to pay all invoices once they are approved by delegated approvers. A 

team member at the back office will approve the payment within the Bill.com software. Bill.com then 

disburses either a check, virtual card or ACH credit to the vendor.  

Use of School Credit Cards  

PURPOSE:  

The Board of Directors of the School recognizes the efficiency and convenience afforded the day-to-day 

operation of the School, for payments and recordkeeping for certain expenses, through the use of School 

credit cards. However, the Board recognizes the need to establish control measures for the use of these 

cards. The Board agrees that it has a responsibility to ensure that credit card expenses incurred by the School 

must clearly be linked to the business of the School. This policy addresses and establishes the proper use 

and assignment of School credit cards.  

School credit and debit cards should be issued only to School personnel who travel on School business or 

who have a legitimate need to purchase goods and services, either in person or online, when a purchase 

cannot be approved in time or when a vendor will not accept a purchase order. Credit and debit cards should 

not be used to bypass established purchasing procedures, including advanced approval processes.  

DEFINITIONS:  

Cardholder/User: The person for which the School credit card has been issued.  

School credit card: The physical or virtual card and number associated with the card issued to the 

cardholder.  

Administrator: The person assigned to establish or terminate Cardholder rights, reassign card limits, or 

change budget access. 

SCHOOL CREDIT CARD USERS:  

A list of those individuals issued a School credit card will be maintained by the Superintendent and the Back 

Office and reported to the Board of Directors annually.  

84



 
 

19 
 

A Cardholder/User employee who is no longer employed by the School shall return his or her School credit 

card upon termination or resignation to the Superintendent’s designee.  

Credit cards will be disabled immediately upon the termination or resignation of a Cardholder/User by the 

card Administrator. Accounting for credit cards and settlement of credit card billings shall be part of the 

employee separation checklists. 

USER RESPONSIBILITIES: 

Credit Cardholders/Users must take proper care of their School credit card(s) and take all reasonable 

precautions against damage, loss or theft by adherence to the following provisions:  

1.  All Cardholders/Users must keep secure and confidential all School credit card numbers and 

information.  

2.  Cardholders/Users shall not store sensitive School credit card data, including full account 

number, type, expiration and track data, in any method on computers or networks; for 

example, many sites, like Amazon or Apple will allow you to store credit card information online 

as a convenience for future purchases. This is not allowed because it does make it easier for 

those who have access to your computer or mobile device to utilize your card fraudulently or 

for personal purchases to be made using the stored card information.  

3.  Cardholders/Users shall not transmit in an insecure manner, such as by email, unsecured fax or 

via mail, School credit card information. 

4.  Cardholders/Users shall restrict access to credit card data and processing to the Administrator 

or other authorized individuals.  

5.  Cardholders/Users shall maintain card information in a secure environment accessed only by 

the issued Cardholder/User. 

6.  Cardholders/Users shall not be allowed to authorize payment of their own travel expenses. 

Travel expenses for any Cardholder/ User other than the Superintendent must be pre-approved 

by the Superintendent, and the Superintendent’s travel expenses shall be approved by a board 

member.  

7.  Cardholders/Users are responsible for retaining detailed receipts and/or supplier 

documentation for all purchases made with their School credit card, without which the 

Cardholder/User is responsible for the purchase.  

8.  Cardholders/Users shall submit detailed documentation, such as itemized detailed receipts 

and/or supplier documentation for services, supporting all purchases made on their School 

credit card, including travel and/or other actual and necessary expenses which have been 

incurred in connection with School-related business for which the School credit card has been 

used.  

9.  Failure to take proper care of School credit card(s) or failure to report damage, loss or theft may 

subject the Cardholder/User to financial liability and discipline. 

85



 
 

20 
 

10. If the Back Office identifies any inadvertent personal charges or unauthorized uses of the card, 

the card statement and all backup documentation will be forwarded to the Superintendent for 

review, or if such charges or uses are those of the Superintendent, to the Board Chairperson. 

11. Purchases made using a credit or debit card are subject to the same approval thresholds and 

other procurement requirements as all other purchases. 

PURCHASING GUIDELINES:  

School credit cards may only be used for legitimate School business expenses and in accordance with Board 

policies, as defined below.  

1.  Credit cards shall only be used for transactions for which payment of check disbursement is not 

accepted or is not practicable, such as if the transaction would cause undue hardship to the 

School or the Cardholder/User.  

2.  School credit card usage is limited to the following types of expenses. Any deviations from this 

usage policy must have prior written approval from the Board of Directors.  

a.  School services, including catering or advertising.  

b.  School supplies, including office supplies, educational supplies, operation and maintenance 

supplies.  

c.  Travel, including transportation services, airfare, car rental expenses, or payments to a travel 

agency.  

d.  Payments to educational and charitable organizations, including Schools, colleges, vocational 

Schools and membership organizations. 

e. Educational conferences and seminars. 

f. Other expenses necessary for the education of students or for the continuous operations of 

the school. 

3.  The person requesting (Requestor) a purchase should contact the Superintendent or 

Superintendent’s designee (Designee) for approval prior to making, or committing to make, a 

purchase above $1,000 

4. If the purchase is approved, the Superintendent, Designee or Requestor (Purchaser) will either 

make or approve the purchase of the requested item following the guidelines for Online or In-

Person purchases. 

5. After the item is received, the Purchaser (for Drop-shipped orders) will verify that the full order 

was received.  If not, then the Purchaser will continue to follow up with the vendor until the full 

order is received or a credit is issued for the portion of the order that was not received. 

6.  Food purchases. 

Generally, meal expenses must involve an overnight stay to qualify for reimbursement. In 

these instances, the traveler must adhere to the travel regulations for meal 

86



 
 

21 
 

reimbursement. Individuals who are not in a travel status are eligible for meal 

reimbursement if they participate in a business meal.  

Such meals must be for official school business and must: 

a. Include Superintendent approval. 

b. Involve substantive and bona fide charter school business that promotes student 

learning. 

c. List by name all persons involved in the meal and affiliations and the reason for the 

meal.  

d. Delivery costs and a reasonable tip (up to 18%) are allowable. 

e. There must be at least two attendees and at least two meals purchased. 

Appropriate Business Meals 

a. Business meals involving external parties 

b. Internal training and related business functions 

c. Employee retirement and appreciation events 

d. Student events like award ceremonies, commencements, etc, where the students are 

the primary beneficiaries. 

MAKING ONLINE PURCHASES: 

School credit cards may only be used for legitimate School business expenses and in accordance with Board 

policies, as defined below.  

1. Make your online purchase and then code your transaction for budgeting purposes. 

2. After making your purchase the transaction will appear in the “Transactions” section of your Divvy 

profile.   

3. Go to the navigation menu to the left of the home page and open the "Transactions" page in Divvy to 

see your purchases. 

4. You can see all of your historical transactions, or you can use the “+ Add Filter” function in the middle of 

the screen to only see specific transactions. 

After selecting “+ Add Filter” you can then choose any of the following: 

 COMPLETION STATUS: 

  Complete – displays all transactions that have support uploaded 

  Incomplete – displays all transactions that do not have support 

  All – displays all transactions 

 Date Range – allows the user to review transactions over a specified period of time 

 Amount – allows the user to review transactions within a specified dollar amount 

87



 
 

22 
 

You are also able to review transactions that are either “Pending”, “Cleared”, Reviewed” or “Un-

reviewed”. 

Phone App: you will complete these steps on the "activity" page. 

Website: you will complete these steps on the "transactions" page. 

Please do this step as soon as possible. The back office frequently runs reports to assess spending 

for budget purposes. If the coding is not complete, their reporting will not be accurate. 

5.  Click on a transaction to review and code your purchase and use the dropdowns to make selections.  For 

the RESOURCE, select the revenue source from which you were directed, and for the LCAP do the same. 

For the OBJECT, select the type of purchase you made.   

6. Ordering specialists are tasked with reconciling their Divvy transactions against their student orders 

daily.  

a.  All transactions should contain a receipt, order ID, LCAP code, expense code, and resource code. 

The exception to this rule is Amazon transactions. 

b.  Amazon transactions are completed in bulk on the ordering director’s card. Ordering specialists 

are not responsible for reconciling Amazon transactions. There is a different internal process for 

Amazon reconciliations. 

c.  Either the Ordering Coordinator or Ordering Director will run Divvy reports to verify transactions 

are complete in Divvy and notify specialists of any missing documents or codes. 

7. Save your receipt as a PDF. 

a. File names are saved with the following format: 
Date - Dept - Vendor Name - $$$ 

Example: 7.6.18 – Classroom Supplies - Learning A-Z - $109.95 
b. Please save / upload your receipts to your computer’s hard-drive. 

 
8. Upload your receipt. 

a. After saving your receipts, invoices and other documentation to your computer’s hard-drive 
b. In Divvy, click “Transactions” (it looks like a receipt on the left side of the screen). 
c. Click on a transaction line 
d. The “Transactions details” menu will open 
e. Click on the plus sign and you’ll see the “Open” menu. 
 f. Locate the folder where you saved your documentation and upload it to Divvy. 
 

9. Provide your notes. 

a. Be sure to add notes for the auditor’s review. Include in your notes: 
1. A brief description for how this benefits student learning or helps the school operate.  
2. Who is the original requestor. 
3. Was the entire order received? Yes or no or n/a. 
4. If the entire order was not received, is a credit being issued by the vendor?  

 

88



 
 

23 
 

Notes are required for any transaction that doesn’t clearly match the receipt. This typically 

applies to Amazon transactions but there may be other vendors. 

MAKING IN-PERSON PURCHASES: 

1. Anyone who would like to use the card to make a purchase should have their purchase pre-approved by 

the Superintendent or Designee prior to incurring the charge.  

2. Once your purchase is made, retain the original receipt and any other documentation to support the 

purchase. 

3. Save your receipt as a PDF. 

a. File names are saved with the following format: 
Date - Vendor Name - $$$ 

Example: 7.6.18 - Learning A-Z - $109.95 
b. Please save your receipts to your computer’s hard-drive. 

 
 
GO TO DIVVY 
 

4. Upload your receipt. 

a. After saving your receipts, invoices and other documentation to your computer’s hard-drive 
b. In Divvy, click “Transactions” (it looks like a receipt on the left side of the screen). 
c. Click anywhere on one of the transaction lines that you want to match with your receipt. 
d. The “Transactions details” menu will open 
e. Click on the plus sign and you’ll see the “Open” menu. 
f. Locate the folder where you saved your documentation, click on it and then click “Open” to 
upload to Divvy. Repeat for any other documents you want to upload. 
 

5. Provide your notes. 

a. Be sure to add notes for the auditor’s review. Include in your notes: 
1. A brief description for how this benefits student learning or helps the school operate.  
2. Who is the original requestor. 
3. Was the entire order received? Yes or no or n/a. 
4. If the entire order was not received, is a credit being issued by the vendor?  

 

Notes are required for any transaction that doesn’t clearly match the receipt. This typically 

applies to Amazon transactions but there may be other vendors. 

6. Select the "OBJECT/RESOURCE/LCAP" for that purchase. 

This must be done for EVERY transaction, except Amazon orders made by the EOS team. 

Use the drop down menu and choose the appropriate OBJECT/RESOURCE/LCAP. 

If the transaction gets split and is displayed as multiple transactions on the site, you still must 

choose an OBJECT/RESOURCE/LCAP for each line item. 

89



 
 

24 
 

OBJECT/RESOURCE/LCAPS will also need to be chosen if there is a return/credit/refund/canceled 

order. If it has a transaction line then it must have an OBJECT/RESOURCE/LCAP assigned to it. 

Phone App: you will complete these steps on the "activity" page. 

Website: you will complete these steps on the "transactions" page. 

Receipt Management  

Original itemized receipts are required for all expenses. Receipts need to be uploaded into the 

DivvyPay database and matched to the transaction it supports.  All receipts need to be uploaded 

by the 4th of each month for the previous month’s activity (i.e., activity for April’s transactions 

should be uploaded by May 4th, etc.) If a cardholder loses or does not obtain a required receipt 

from the merchant, they must complete a No Receipt Form (appendix A). This form requires 

details of the expense and an explanation of what happened to the receipt. The use of this form 

is not a substitute for original receipts. Repeated use of this form may lead the Superintendent 

to suspend credit card use and require monetary reimbursement by the cardholder to the 

School. 

Superintendent Review 

 To safeguard school assets, the Superintendent, or designee, will be required to review card 

activity monthly.  The review for the calendar month should be conducted no later than the 5th 

day after the end of that month. 

1. Each month the Superintendent, or designee, will be provided with a list of transactions.  

2. The Superintendent, or designee, will review each transaction, along with the support 

provided on the Divvy website. 

3. If proper support is missing then the Superintendent, or designee, will request the support 

from the staff member responsible for the purchase.  

4. The Superintendent, or designee, will also review each transaction to verify that each has 

been coded. 

5. The Superintendent, or designee, will need to mark on the list provided whether each 

transaction is either approved or unapproved. 

6. If a transaction is unapproved then the Superintendent, or designee, should inquire about 

the nature of why the transaction is unapproved from the purchaser. 

7. After completing the monthly review, the Superintendent, or designee, will file the 

approved list of transactions. 

Disputed or Fraudulent Charges  

If there is an inaccuracy on a statement, the cardholder must address the issue immediately. If a 

cardholder believes the merchant has charged the account incorrectly or there is an 

outstanding quality of service issue, the cardholder must first contact the merchant and try to 

resolve the error or problem. If the cardholder is unable to resolve the matter directly with the 

merchant or if contacting the merchant is not possible, then it is the responsibility of the 

cardholder to submit their dispute to School Leadership within 30 days of the date of the 

90



 
 

25 
 

charge. Prompt reporting of any such charges will help to prevent the School from being held 

responsible. 

All requests will be forwarded to the Superintendent (and/or whomever they designate 

(designee) as their administrator/approver), so pre-planning your purchases is always 

recommended in case there are delays in obtaining approval.  

 

Purchases Over $5,000   

Purchases over $5,000 must use the Purchase Request JotForm.   
 

1. Complete the form by listing the following information:  
a. Requestor’s First and Last Name 
b. Requestor’s email address 
c. Requestor’s Supervisor’s First and Last Name 
d. Reason for request 
e. Date of request 
f. Vendor 
g. Estimated amount of purchase 
h. Description of item(s) to purchase 

2. Submit the form 
3. After the form is submitted, the Superintendent or designee will then review the purchase request 

and decide the next course of action, which will be: 
a. Approved-the form will be forwarded to the requestor and the purchase may be made.   
b. Rejected-the form will be forwarded to the Requestor and the reason for the decline can 

be discussed with the Superintendent or designee. 
c. The Superintendent or designee can also add a Comment for additional instructions. 

 

Important Information: 

● The Superintendent is responsible for making sure all documentation is uploaded and sufficient 

to support the purchases for all of their school’s credit cards. 

● Any items purchased on the Disallowed Purchases list below may incur disciplinary action: 

• Alcohol 

• Fuel (unless used for a school van) 

• Meals that do not include an outside attendee or are not a part of a school activity 

• Non-school purchases 

• Penalties, fines or tickets 

• Gifts 

• Gift cards, gift certificates, money orders 

• Cash withdrawal, ATM usage 

91



 
 

26 
 

• Jewelry 

• Clothing 

• Medical expenses 

• Flowers, cards, or other items for bereavement or congratulatory recognition 

• Any purchase that reflects unfavorably upon the School and its core values 

 

REQUESTING A DIVVY CARD: 

1. Any school employee can complete the Divvy Card Request/Limit Adjustment Jot Form to request the 

use of a school Divvy card. 

2. The employee completes the form with the below information and then submits the form: 

 a. First and Last Name 
 b. Reason for request 
 c. Department location 
 d. Date of request 
 e. Supervisor’s first and last name 
 f. Amount of limit request 
 
3. The request for approval is then routed to the Superintendent, or designee, who will review the 

submitted information and then decides to: 

 a. Approve the request without alterations 
 b. Approve the request with alterations (i.e. a different limit amount) 
 c. Decline the request 
 d. Decline the request pending additional information 
 
4. Any discussions about a request decline or alteration can be discussed prior to further actions on the 

request. 

 

REQUESTING A DIVVY CARD LIMIT ADJUSTMENT: 

1. Any school employee can complete the Divvy Card Request/Limit Adjustment Jot Form to request an 

increase or decrease to their school Divvy card. 

2. The employee completes the form with the below information and then submit the form: 

 a. First and Last Name 
 b. Reason for request 
 c. Department location 
 d. Date of request 
 e. Supervisor’s first and last name 
 f. Amount of limit adjustment 

92



 
 

27 
 

 
3. The request for approval is then routed to the Superintendent, or designee, who will review the 

submitted information and then decides to: 

 a. Approve the request without alterations 
 b. Approve the request with alterations (i.e. a different limit amount) 
 c. Decline the request 
 d. Decline the request pending additional information 
 
4. Any discussions about a request decline or alteration can be discussed prior to further actions on the 

request. 

 

PURCHASE AUTHORIZATION 

The Superintendent needs to approve any purchases on the school credit cards for all staff members who 

have been issued cards, unless the staff member has received previous approval authority under the 

Delegation of Expense Authority policy or has been assigned approval authority under the same policy. 

Any purchase above $50,000 must have board approval. 

 

PURCHASE LIMITATIONS 

1. A Cardholder/User must obtain documented pre-approval from the Superintendent or 

Superintendent designee before using their card. 

2. Any purchase by the Superintendent that exceeds $50,000 must be approved by a board 

member. 

 

APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

1.  A Cardholder/User will review the card statement to ensure it includes only their own approved 

charges.  

2.  The Back Office will verify that documents have been provided for all charges on the card 

statement.  

3.  Any charges not made by the Cardholder/User will be identified and discussed with the 

Superintendent.  

4.  The Superintendent or Superintendent’s designee will review charges and supporting 

documentation for each Cardholder/User’s monthly statement before approving any payment.  

5.  For the Superintendent, the Chairperson or Treasurer of the Board will review charges and 

supporting documentation for the Superintendent’s credit card..   

93



 
 

28 
 

6.  All cardholders should report the loss or theft of their School credit or debit card immediately to 

the credit card company and the Superintendent, even if the loss or theft occurs on a weekend 

or holiday. 

EXCLUSIONS:  

School credit cards shall not be used for alcohol, cash advances, ATM, gifts, gifts certificates, money orders, 

gift cards, jewelry or clothing, medical expenses, or payment of fines, auto tickets or penalties, bereavement 

or congratulatory related items like cards or flowers, unless prior written approval is received from the 

Superintendent, or in the case of the Superintendent, the Board Chairperson or Board of Directors, as 

appropriate. In no event shall a School credit card be used for a Cardholder/User’s personal expenses. 

 

 

Employees’ Personal Credit Cards  

An employee may use their personal credit or debit card for legitimate School business-related purchases 

and submit a request for reimbursement, but only in alignment with the School’s procurement policies and 

policies for expenditures and employee reimbursements.   

Expenditures and Employee Reimbursements 

The Employee Handbook calls for the reimbursement of “certain reasonably necessary business expenses 

incurred in the furtherance of School business. In order to be eligible for reimbursement, employees must 

follow the protocol set forth in the School’s policy regarding expenditures.” This constitutes said School 

policy.  

PROCEDURES FOR REIMBURSEMENT 

The School will reimburse employees for certain reasonably necessary business expenses incurred in the 

furtherance of School business. In order to be eligible for reimbursement employees must follow the 

protocols noted below:  

1.  Utilize the official “School Reimbursement Form.”  
2.  Fill out form, print, and sign. The Superintendent, or designee, should also sign the 

form signifying their approval.  
3.  Make a copy of both the form and backup documentation for your files.  
4.  Attach backup documentation (e.g. itemized receipts, map/s for mileage) to the 

form.  
5.  Email your signed and completed form and backup documentation to the Back 

Office.  
6.  Complete requests for reimbursement should be submitted within 60 days of the 

expenditure.   
7. The request for reimbursement will be processed by the Back Office.  

 
Guidelines for Specific Reimbursement Types:  
 

94



 
 

29 
 

1.  Reimbursement for Purchases – Must receive immediate supervisor approval, or 
higher, prior to any purchase of food, supplies, and/or equipment  

2.  Hotel Stay – Room rates must be reasonable for the area visited for the 
reimbursement of Superintendent, Superintendent designee or Board Pre-
Approved hotel stays. 

3.  Mileage Reimbursement – attach documented approval or have their Supervisor 
sign the reimbursement form. Reimbursement for personal car mileage is the 
prevailing rate allowed by the IRS while on School business.  

 

Gratuity: Employees are allowed to tip up to 18% of the subtotal cost, rounded up to the nearest dollar, 

when gratuity is customary. Any incremental excess is the responsibility of the employee. 

 

 

Governing Board Expenses  

1.  Board members are not compensated for their services as Board members.  However, the Board or 

fiscal committee, if any, may approve the reimbursement of a Board member’s actual and 

necessary expenses incurred when conducting the School’s business or receive payment for 

estimated expenses if it proves too difficult to itemize all of the actual expenses 

2. The Board member incurring authorized expenses while carrying out the duties of the School will 

complete and sign a reimbursement report.  

3.  The full Board or fiscal committee will review the reimbursement report, and if they approve the 

report, it will be submitted to the Back Office for payment. 

 

Contracts  

1. The Governing Board must also approve the following contracts:  

•  Contracts of $50,000 or more for construction, equipment, materials, supplies, non-

professional services and repairs. 

2.  Consideration will be made of in-house capabilities before contracting for outside services. 

Below are considerations:  

a.  Whether the services needed are for a limited amount of time.  

b.  Whether the contract service provider has expertise not otherwise available to the 

Charter School.  

c.  Whether the current staff has capacity to do the work.  

d.  Whether the contract service provider’s core competency would lead to long-term 

savings.  

95



 
 

30 
 

e.  Whether the utilization of the contract service provider would cost less than a 

comparable employee with benefits. 

Consideration will be made of in‐house capabilities to accomplish services before contracting for them. 
Except as otherwise provided in these policies, the Superintendent may enter into contracts and 
agreements not to exceed $50,000 without Board approval, provided funds sufficient for the contract or 
agreement are authorized and available within the school’s board‐adopted budget. Contracts and 
agreements in excess of $50,000 must be submitted for board approval and may be executed by the 
Superintendent or other person specifically designated by the Board after the Board has duly approved 
the contract or agreement. 

Office staff will keep and maintain a contract file evidencing the competitive bids obtained (if any) and the 
justification of need for any contracts over $25,000. Competitive bids will be obtained where required by 
law or otherwise deemed appropriate and in the best interests of the school. 

Written contracts clearly defining work to be performed will be maintained for all contract service providers 
(i.e. consultants, independent contractors, subcontractors). Contract service providers must show proof 
of being licensed and bonded, if applicable, and of having adequate liability insurance and worker’s 
compensation insurance currently in effect. The Superintendent may also require that contract service 
providers list the school as an additional insured. 

If the contract service provider is a sole proprietor or a partnership (including LP, and LLP), the School will 
obtain a W‐9 from the contract service provider prior to submitting any requests for payments to the Back 
Office. 

The Superintendent will approve proposed contracts and modifications in writing. Contract service 
providers will be paid in accordance with approved contracts as work is performed. The Superintendent 
will be responsible for ensuring the terms of the contracts are fulfilled. Potential conflicts of interest will 
be disclosed upfront, and the Superintendent and/or Member(s) of the Governing Board with the conflict 
will excuse themselves from discussions and from voting on the contract. 

96



 
 

31 
 

Bank Account Reconciliation  

The opening and closing of bank accounts on behalf of the School must be approved by the Board.   

Bank reconciliations are a major internal control mechanism and will be prepared and reviewed accurately 

each month by the Back Office. Reconciliations will be performed for all of the School’s bank account 

transactions.  

PREPARING BANK STATEMENT RECONCILIATIONS  

The Back Office completes the bank reconciliation monthly after receiving the bank statement(s). The 

Superintendent or the Superintendent’s designee reviews every completed bank reconciliation. To ensure 

proper segregation of duties, the individual who prepares the bank reconciliation is not involved with any 

purchase transactions. Any interest, bank charges or other fees or charges should be posted to the 

account before reconciling. The Superintendent of the School has final review responsibilities to ensure 

all procedures have been followed. 

 

Square Account Management 

The School uses a Square account (Square gives the School practical tools to sell goods and services and 

manage day-to-day operations) to collect payments for student ID fees and other events. Currently, it is 

only used for events like dances.  

The account should continue to be used for only School events unless changed, in writing, by the 

Superintendent or their assigned designee.  

The account shall be reconciled monthly by the Back Office to verify that all funds are being used only 

for School purposes and all required documentation shall be filed for any potential audit needs. 

The account will not carry a balance above $10,000. Any amount above that limit will be deposited into 

the School’s account.   

97



 
 

32 
 

CHAPTER 6 

Financial Management Policies 

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING  

The School will maintain their accounting records and related financial reports on the accrual basis of 

accounting. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

The accounting policies and financial reporting adopted are consistent with the non-profit requirements 

of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). FASB is the recognized standard setting body for 

establishing non-profit accounting and financial reporting principles.  

BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

The accounts of the School are organized on a basis of the Charter School required elements of the 

Standardized Account Code Structure or SACS. The operations of all funds are accounted for by providing 

a separate set of self-balancing accounts, which comprise the assets, liabilities, net assets, revenues and 

expenditures. 

REVENUES  

The School records revenue on the modified accrual basis of accounting, consistent with generally 

accepted accounting principles applicable to special purpose governmental units.  

EXPENDITURES  

Expenditures are recorded on a full accrual basis, if material, because they are always measurable when 

they are incurred. 

CASH MANAGEMENT  

1.   The School maintains cash accounts at Wells Fargo 

2.  A schedule of aged accounts and grants receivable is prepared monthly and reviewed by the  

Back Office for collection and reported to the Superintendent.  Aged accounts payable and 

receivable are also reflected on regular financial materials provided to the Board of 

Directors.  Appropriate collection procedures are initiated, if necessary.  

GRANT RECEIVABLE AGING CRITERIA  

Accounts receivables outstanding are aged on a thirty, sixty, ninety, and over-ninety day basis.  

BUDGETS  

1. The School prepares an annual operating budget of revenues and expenses, a cash flow 

projection, and a capital budget. These budgets and projections are reviewed and approved 

by the Board of Directors, prior to June 30th each year and modified, as necessary.  

2. Financial statements displaying budget vs. actual results are prepared by the Back Office and 

reviewed by the Superintendent, and presented to the Board of Directors at each regularly 

scheduled board meeting.  

98



 
 

33 
 

 

INSURANCE AND BONDING  

1.  The School should maintain minimum levels of coverage, as required by any School charter 

and/or MOU and as deemed appropriate by School, for the following policies:  

 a.  General liability  

 b.  Business & personal property (including auto/bus, as applicable)  

 c.  Computer equipment  

 d.  Workers' compensation  

 e.  Personal injury liability  

2.  The School requires proof of adequate insurance coverage from all prospective contractors.  

FINANCIAL REPORTING  

The Back Office maintains supporting records in sufficient detail to prepare the School’s financial reports 

throughout the year, including:  

 1.  Annually:  

 a.  Financial statements for audit  

 b.  Annual budget  

 c. Unaudited Actuals 

 d. 990 Income Tax Returns 

 2.  Monthly:  

 a.  Trial balance  

 b.  Internally generated budget vs. actual financial statements  

 c.  Billing invoices to funding sources  

 d.  Updating the cash flow projection  

 3.  Periodically:  

 a. IRS Forms 941 and payroll tax returns and comparable state taxing authority returns 

 b. First and Second Interim Reports 

 c. Other reports as requested 

ANNUAL AUDIT  

The Board of Directors arranges annually for a qualified certified public accounting firm to conduct an 

audit of the School’s financial statements in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and the 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board.  

99



 
 

34 
 

The audit reports will be submitted to the Charter granting agency, California Department of Education, 

County Superintendent of Schools, and State Controller's Office by December 15th of each year. 

(Education Code 47605(m))  

BOARD AUDIT OVERSIGHT  

The Board of Directors shall fulfill its responsibility to provide oversight of management regarding:  

 1.  the School’s system of internal controls, policies and risk management;  

 2.  the integrity of the School’s financial statements;  

 3.  the School’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and ethical standards; 

and  

 4.  the engagement, independence and performance of the School’s independent auditors.  

Staff will review and present an analysis of independent auditor proposals and make a recommendation 

to the audit committee, if applicable, and to the Board for selection of an independent auditor. The Board 

will select the independent auditor. The committee and/or Board will review the scope and results of the 

audit and will receive notice of any consequential irregularities and management letter comments that 

the auditor noted during the engagement. Additionally, the committee and/or the Board will develop a 

corrective action plan to address all relevant weaknesses noted by the auditor. The committee and/or the 

Board will also review all financial information of the School. 

 

ATTENDANCE ACCOUNTING  

 

The Superintendent will establish and maintain an appropriate attendance accounting system to record 
the number of days students are actually in attendance at the School and engaged in the activities 
required of them by the School. The annual audit will review actual attendance accounting records and 
practices to ensure compliance. The attendance accounting practices will be in conformance with the 
Charter Schools Act and the applicable California Administrative Code sections defining Charter School 
Average Daily Attendance. Therefore: 

 

1. ADA will be computed by dividing the actual number of days of student attendance by the 
number of calendar days of instruction by the School. 

2. The School’s instructional calendar will include at least 175 days of instruction to avoid the 
fiscal penalty for providing fewer than 175 days of instruction as provided by the Administrative 
Code regulation. The calendar must also document that the school offers an appropriate 
amount of annual minutes of instruction as required pursuant to applicable law. 

3. Independent study must be pre‐arranged by the student’s adult guardian and the School and 
that the adult guardian will be required to complete and submit documentation of engagement 
in instructional activity to the school on forms prepared by the school. As applicable, such study 
shall be in full compliance with law governing independent study. 

 

 

100



 
 

35 
 

POLICIES RELATED TO ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY  

ASSETS  

Bank Accounts  

A. Bank accounts for the indicated purpose and limitation(s) have been authorized by the 

Board of Directors of the School at the indicated Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 

(FDIC)-insured bank(s):Wells Fargo  

Petty Cash 

A. No account has been approved.  

LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY  

Accounts Payable  

Only valid accounts payable transactions based on documented vendor invoices, check requests 

or other approved documentation are recorded as accounts payable.  

Accounts Payable Payment Policy  

Vendors and suppliers are paid as their payment terms require, taking advantage of any discounts 

offered. If cash flow problems exist, payments are made on a greatest dependency/greatest need 

basis.  

Accrued Liabilities  

These are liabilities that reflect expenses that have not yet been paid or logged under accounts 

payable during an accounting period. 

Liability for Compensated Absences  

 1.  Compensated absences arise from employees' absences from employment due to 

personal time off leave. When the School expects to pay an employee for such 

compensated absences, a liability for the estimated probable future payments are 

accrued if all of the following conditions are met:  

a.  The employee's right to receive compensation for the future absences is attributable 

to services already performed by the employee.  

b.  The employee's right to receive the compensation for the future absences is vested or 

accumulates.  

  c.  It is probable that the compensation will be paid.  

  d.  The amount of compensation is reasonably estimable.  

 2.  Compensated absences that are not required to be paid upon employee termination (e.g., 

paid sick leave) are only recorded when paid.  

 

 

101



 
 

36 
 

Debt  

 1.  When applicable, short-term debt consists of financing expected to be paid within one 

year of the date of the annual audited financial statements. Long-term debt consists of 

financing that is not expected to be repaid within one year.  

 2.  Loan agreements must be approved by the Board of Directors, unless otherwise 

authorized under the School’s Board of Directors, must be in writing, and must specify all 

applicable terms, including the purpose of the loan, the interest rate, and the repayment 

schedule.  

 3.  Loans, lines of credit, and other debt incurred on behalf of the School must be approved 

by the Board of Directors, except as otherwise permitted by the Board of Directors. The 

School shall not make any loans to third parties, except as otherwise permitted by the 

Board of Directors. 

FACILITIES  
 
Disposal of Property and Equipment  
 

1. No item of property or equipment shall be removed from the premises without prior approval 
from the Superintendent.  

 
2. The School has adopted standard disposition procedures for staff to follow, which include an 

Asset Disposal Form (see Appendix A), which identifies the asset, the reason for disposition, 
and signature of the requester. The form also allows for an identification of the asset’s book 
value, condition of the asset, and supervisory approval or denial.  

 
3. When property is retired, the appropriate asset in the fixed asset subsidiary will be adjusted 

and properly reflected in the accounting system by the Back Office 
 
 

GENERAL ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES  
 
In this section, procedures are described for the overall accounting system design, General Ledger activity 
and General Ledger closeout for the School.  
 
GENERAL LEDGER ACTIVITY  
 
Control Objective  
 

To ensure that all General Ledger entries are current, accurate and complete.  
 
Major Controls  

1. Timeliness of Entries  
All entries are made soon after the underlying accounting event to ensure the financial 
records and reporting is current.  
 

2. Support Documentation  

102



 
 

37 
 

All entries are supported by adequate documentation that clearly shows the justification and 
authorization for the transaction.  
 

3. Audit Trail  
A complete audit trail is maintained by the use of reference codes from source documentation 
through the books of original entry and General Ledger, to periodic reporting statements.  
 

Procedures  
 

1. Financial data on source documentation is verified against original documents (e.g., invoice, 
purchase order, etc.) before entering into the accounting system.  
 

2. Each entry in the accounting system is reviewed and approved.  
 

3. Provision is made for using recurring General Journal entries for certain transactions, such as 
recording the monthly portion of prepaid insurance.  

 
4. Non-recurring entries, such as for correcting entries, recording accruals and recording 

noncash transactions, are prepared as circumstances warrant and on a monthly basis.  
 

5. All entries in the books of original entry (e.g., cash receipts journal and checkbook) are made 
soon after the accounting event from authorized forms, and are prepared and reviewed by 
qualified accounting personnel.  

 
6. All General Journal entries are supported by General Journal Vouchers that have supporting 

documentation attached.  
 
GENERAL LEDGER CLOSE-OUT  
 
Control Objective  
 
To ensure the accuracy of financial records and reports.  
 
Major Controls  
 

1. Trial Balance  
Monthly, a trial balance is prepared to ensure the accuracy of the General Ledger account 
balances.  
 

2. Reconciliation of General Ledger Control Accounts with Subsidiary Ledgers  
are prepared on a monthly basis.  
 

Procedures  
 

1. At the end of each month, a trial balance of all General Ledger accounts is prepared by the 
Back Office.  
 

2. Reconciliation between the General Ledger control accounts and the subsidiary ledgers are 
completed by the Back Office.  

103



 
 

38 
 

 
3. At the end of the fiscal year and after the annual audit, all income and expense accounts are 

closed out; and the general ledger balances must be aligned to the audited financial 
statements. 

 

Fixed Assets and Leases  
 
Acquisitions and disposals of assets are carefully documented. There are two types of assets: depreciable 
assets, also known as capital assets (this includes land even though it is not depreciated); and assets the 
School will track for inventory purposes but not depreciate. All assets purchased, when applicable, such 
as with automobiles and buses, shall be registered in the name of the School and not the name of an 
individual.  
 
Cost basis is not the market value or list price of an asset; rather, it is the total amount invested in the 
purchase or the total amount paid, whether paid in cash or received in kind. The cost basis should include 
all charges related to the purchase, including the purchase price, sales tax, freight charges, and installation 
charges if applicable. 
 
Asset purchases that cost $5,000 or more and have a useful life of more than one year will be capitalized 
and depreciated. Remodeling of facilities and replacement of structural components are capitalized only 
when their cost exceeds $50,000.  
 
Assets that are depreciated include furniture, fixtures, automobiles and buses, buildings, building 
improvements, and equipment. The straight-line depreciation and amortization method is used. 
Alternative or accelerated depreciation methods may be used when considered necessary and if approved 
by the Superintendent or Superintendent’s designee.  
 
Any assets purchased that cost $5,000 or more are recorded in a depreciable fixed asset schedule. 
 
Any asset that is not capitalized will be expensed. For example, small tools and equipment, or repairs and 
maintenance, are usually expensed. 
 
The depreciable fixed asset schedule prepared by the Back Office includes the following information, as 
applicable:  
 

• Name of the asset  
• Asset class (e.g., equipment)  
• Description  
• Serial number  
• Asset tag number, if any  
• Date purchased and placed in service  
• Vendor purchased from  
• Original cost  
• Depreciation method  
• Estimated useful life  
• Accumulated depreciation  
• Net book value  
• Estimated salvage value, if any 

 

104



 
 

39 
 

Leasehold Improvements  
 
Leasehold improvements, including painting, will be capitalized if they relate to the occupancy of a new  
facility or to a major renovation of an existing facility, and meet the capitalization threshold of $50,000.  
 
Inventory 
 

All non‐consumable school property lent to students shall be returned to the school no later than June 30 
(the deadline). If the assigned property is not returned by the student to the school at, or before, the deadline 
then the school is required to initiate its restitution process (See Appendix C). Any excess or surplus property 
to the school owned by the school may be sold or auctioned by the Superintendent provided the 
Superintendent engages in due diligence to maximize the value of the sale or auction to the school. The 
sale or auction of property owned by the school with a fair market value in excess of $1,000 shall be 
approved in advance by the Board. The Superintendent will immediately notify the Back Office of all cases 
of theft, loss, damage or destruction of assets. 
 
 
Repairs  
 
Expenditures for maintaining vehicles, equipment or an existing building are not capitalized; they are 
expensed as a repair.  
 
Cost of Buildings  
 
The capitalized cost of a building includes all expenditures related directly to its acquisition, construction 
or rehabilitation. This includes all associated costs such as materials, labor and overhead incurred during 
construction, and any fees such as attorney’s fees, architect’s fees, and building permit fees.  
 
The Back Office will account for the cost of buildings by capturing and recording the details of all costs in 
a construction in progress account. Costs recorded will include acquisition costs and expenditures made 
to prepare the building for occupancy. 

 
Asset Purchase Approval  
 
All purchases of assets should be approved by the Superintendent or designee unless the purchaser has 
received prior approval to purchase according to the Delegation of Expenditure Authority policy. 
 
Authorization  
 
Proper authorization should be obtained using the Charter School’s purchasing process. Approval should 
be documented on all approvals submitted to the Back Office. School staff may identify the vendor for 
purchase of the capital assets, or may submit the request to purchasing staff in the Back Office for 
procurement.  
 
Constructed or Donated Equipment  
 
Any equipment constructed by School employees or donated to the School will be reported to the Back 
Office if the item has a value of $5,000 or more. The report will include a complete description of the 

105



 
 

40 
 

property, the date it was manufactured or received, the number of items, the cost or estimated value, 
and a statement indicating whether it was constructed by employees or donated.  
 
Donated equipment becomes the property of the School. Also, the School’s Board or its designee should 
approve the donation. If the equipment has no reasonable use or purpose for the School, the donation 
should not be accepted.  
 
Asset Sales and Dispositions  
 
Capital assets may be sold or traded for new equipment; when this occurs, an asset sale and disposition 
form will be completed.  
 
For all assets the Superintendent’s approval will be required for a sale or disposition. Any asset over 
$5,000 requires board approval prior to sale or disposition. 
 
Upon approval, the School may advertise the property for sale or submit a list to the Back Office for sale 
and disposition. 
 
After completion of the sale, a completed original bill of sale form with wet signature in blue ink, 
preferably, should be submitted to the Back Office. The Back Office will delete the item from the asset 
records and record any gain or loss on the disposition. 
 
 
 
 
Obsolete Assets  
 
Obsolete assets with no cash value should be reported to the Back Office on the asset disposition form, 
which includes a description, serial number and condition of the asset. The Back Office should inspect all 
worn out or obsolete property before it is discarded. The asset can then be removed from the asset 
records. 
 
Missing or Stolen Assets  
 
Any missing or stolen asset should be reported in writing to the Back Office as soon as its absence is 
discovered. The report should include the description, serial number, and other information about the 
lost item. 
 
The Back Office should determine the proper course of action and should notify the School’s insurance 
carrier and any outside authorities if deemed appropriate. If the asset is not recovered, it can be removed 
from the asset records. 
 
Movement of Assets within the Organization  
 
Movement of assets within the organization (e.g., from one School facility to another, in cases where 
there are multiple facilities) should be reported to the Back Office in writing for tracking and inventory 
purposes; the report should include a description, serial number and the name of the School location that 
is to receive the property.  
 

106



 
 

41 
 

Employees Using Their Personal Assets  
 
Employees may bring their personal tools, equipment or furniture for use at the School, subject to the 
approval of the Superintendent. To maintain proper segregation and control upon termination of any 
employees, any employee-owned tools, equipment or furniture to be used at the School should be 
reported to the Superintendent and the Back Office. The report should include the employee’s name, a 
description of the item or items, identification numbers (if any), and the reason for using the item. 
 
Asset Tagging  
 
When an asset is purchased, the Back Office or the School is responsible for assigning and attaching an 
asset number tag to the property in a readily visible location. If an asset tag cannot be attached and the 
asset has no serial number, other means should be used to permanently identify the asset, such as 
engraving or heat stamping it with the School’s name and a sequential number.  
 
Once a year the Back Office reviews a report that includes a list of assets assigned to each School location 
and any acquisitions, disposals and transfers during the past year and validates the report, noting any 
discrepancies. 
 
Leases  
 
The ASC 842 lease accounting standard for GAAP lease accounting requires all leases longer than 12 
months to be recorded as assets and liabilities on balance sheets. ASC 842 lease accounting is a 
replacement for the previous GAAP lease accounting standard, ASC 840, under which certain leases might 
have been classified as “operating leases” and therefore not capitalized onto the balance sheet.  
 
With the ASC 842 lease accounting standard, all organizations that follow generally accepted accounting 
principles, or GAAP, are required to categorize all leases as both liabilities and right-of-use assets.  
 
 
The School, through the Back Office, will maintain a list or inventory of capital leases and operating leases; 
the list should include all relevant lease terms. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cash Receipts Policy and Procedures 
 
 
Objective 
 
To establish proper controls and cash handling procedures throughout all School departments. Controls 
are required to safeguard against loss and to define responsibilities in the handling of cash. All 
departments receiving cash are designated as cash collection points. “Cash” may consist of currency, 
checks, money orders, credit card transactions, fed wires and electronic fund transfers. 
 

107



 
 

42 
 

Cash Handling Procedures 
 

1.  All departments responsible for cash collection must maintain a clear separation of duties. An 
individual should not have responsibility for more than one of the cash handling components: 
receipt, deposit or reconciliation. All cash collections (See Cash Tally sheet in Appendix D) 
require two signatures – the individual collecting and handling the money, and the individual 
recording the money.  

 
2.  All checks, cash and credit card receipts must be protected by using a safe or lockbox until they 

are deposited. A secure area for processing and safeguarding funds received must be 
maintained and access restricted to authorized personnel.  

 
3. All checks should be made payable to Monarch River Academy. Checks will be restrictively 

endorsed immediately upon receipt with “For Deposit Only”. Post-dated checks should not be 
accepted and will be returned to the check writer.  

 
4.  The Depositor is responsible for making the deposit to the appropriate bank account.  

 
5. Generally, the timely deposit of cash receipts requires a School to deposit receipts daily. 

However, it may not be practical or cost effective for the School that receives small amounts 
of cash on an irregular basis. In cases where the amounts of cash deposits are small and an 
adequate safekeeping facility is available, an aggregate un-deposited total may not exceed 
$100 and may be retained in the School’s safekeeping facility for a period not to exceed 5 
business days. Although this option is available, the School must be aware that these monies 
must be deposited with the bank within 5 business days of receipt, even if the amount does 
not exceed $100.  

 
6. Under no circumstances will employees or students make disbursements from the un-

deposited receipts. All cash or other receipts must be deposited with the bank, in total.  
 

7. Any person delivering a deposit to the bank should take adequate precautions for their  
personal security and safety. If it is practical, more than one person should make the deposit.  

 
8.  Never mail cash or checks to the bank.  

 
9.  All funds received must be counted daily by totaling the cash, checks and credit card collections 

and recording the result on a Cash Tally Form. 
 

10.  Cash boxes with up to $100 startup cash are available for events/fundraisers by completing a 
Fund Raiser Request form. Cash boxes with up to $500 will be made available for ticket sales. 
All requests require a 48 hour notice in order for the School to be able to manage the cash 
needs.  The startup funds must be included on the Cash Tally Form. 

 
11.  Always issue some type of receipt in return for cash received from students, parents, or others. 

Be sure to include at a minimum: date cash received, amount received, purpose and 
initials/signature verification. A receipt can be a pre-numbered slip, a pre-numbered ticket 
stub, etc. 

 
Fundraising 

108



 
 

43 
 

 
Each fundraising activity must be approved by the Superintendent or Superintendent’s designee. In order 
to be approved, the individual planning the fundraiser must submit a proposal in advance of the event so 
that all fundraising efforts may be coordinated. (See Appendix E for all Fundraising forms) 
 
For sales of small items – for example fundraisers, cookouts, concessions, or supplies sales – use the 
Fundraising Inventory Form to create an inventory control sheet for items purchased, less items leftover 
to report items sold. 
 
Services performed – for example car washes. Use the Fundraiser Service Form to keep a roster of which 
services were performed or how many cars were washed, then multiply by fee charged to report total 
collected. 
 
Donations – Submit a completed Donation Information Sheet with the deposit for all cash donations and 
all gifts of property (tangible goods). 
 
*No staff member is to accept any special gifts or bonuses of more than nominal value offered by an 
outside supplier or vendor for any reason or purpose. 
 
 
 

Returned Checks and Improper Checks  
 
The School should attempt to deposit returned checks a second time; if the check does not clear on the 
second attempt, the payment should be returned to the vendor and the general ledger account to which 
it was applied adjusted. No check should be withheld from the deposit unless it is legally imperfect (e.g., 
no maker signature), in which case the Back Office or the School should immediately contact the payer 
and discuss the best method to remedy the imperfect check.  
 
The School should never provide cash to any individual or organization in exchange for their personal 
checks. 
 

Wire Transfers  
 
Wire transfers are a way to pay customers and vendors quickly.  
 
Incoming wire transfers require the same documentation procedures as cash receipts and deposits. When 
the School’s bank receives a wire transfer, it may notify the School by email, fax, or via its online banking 
site. This notification documents that the money has been received.  
 
Only the Superintendent or the Superintendent’s designee should be permitted to initiate an outgoing 
wire transfer. All outgoing wire transfers should be performed using the bank’s secure website, and should 
include the Superintendent or Superintendent’s designee as the secondary approver. Outgoing wire 
transfers should not be issued unless the secondary approver logs on to the bank’s secure website and 
approves the transfer electronically, if applicable.  
 
 

Meals for Professional Development or other School Activities  

109



 
 

44 
 

 
1. School-related meals at meetings, professional development, and other school activities occur on 

a regular basis. If the meal is not pre-approved by Superintendent, the employee runs the risk of 
bearing the full cost of the meal if it is ultimately denied. For meals to be charged to the School 
or reimbursable to an employee, the employee must provide the following information:  

a. Purpose of the meeting or agenda;  
b. Items ordered as reflected on a detailed receipt;  
c. Number of individuals in the party;  
d. Names of the attendees or a sign-in sheet;  
e. Pre-approval by the Superintendent 

 
2. For meals during professional development:  

a. Non-School days, staff may purchase meals for staff for meetings lasting three or more 
hours.  

b. On School days, staff may purchase meals or snacks for staff meetings. Any meals that fall 
outside of these parameters must be Superintendent approved. 

 
3. Each department has a budget of $20/employee/event for meals for team building, professional 

development and morale. Any meals that fall outside of these parameters must be 
Superintendent approved. 

 
 
  

110



 
 

45 
 

CHAPTER 7 
 

Preparation of Payroll 
 
CONTROL OBJECTIVE 
 
To ensure that payment of salaries and wages are accurately calculated.  
 

Major Controls 
 
A. Internal Accounting Controls  

Time records are periodically reconciled with payroll records by the Back-Office.  
 
Procedures  
 

1. Employee time sheets are approved by the Superintendent or Superintendent’s 
designee. All deviations from normal work schedules as determined by a staff 
member and their supervisor are approved by the appropriate supervisor.  
 

2. The total time recorded on time and attendance system and the number of 
employees is calculated by the payroll system and reviewed by the Back Office.  

 
3. Recorded hours from the time clock punches are communicated to the Back-Office 

electronically.  
 

4. The payroll ledger is sent to the school who reviews the base pay, stipends, and 
hourly rates related to classified staff. 

 
5. The Superintendent, or their designee, examines the proposed payroll roster and, 

within two days, the ledger is examined and any change recommendations are 
submitted to payroll for processing. 

 
6The payroll documents received from payroll software (e.g., calculations, payrolls and 

payroll summaries) are compared with employee punches, pay rates, payroll 
deductions, compensated absences etc. by the operations vendor and the Back-
Office.  
 

7.  The Back-Office verifies gross pay and payroll deductions. 
 
8.  The total hours and number of employees are compared with the totals in the 

Payroll Register by the Back-Office.  
 
 
9.  The Payroll Register is reviewed and approved by the Back Office.  

 
 
 

111



 
 

46 
 

PAYROLL PAYMENT  
 
Control Objective  
 
To ensure payment for salaries and wages by check, direct deposit, cash or other means is made only to 
employees entitled to receive payment. 
 
 
 
 
PAYROLL WITHHOLDINGS  
 
Control Objective  
 
To ensure that payment withholdings are correctly reflected and paid to the appropriate third parties.  
 
Major Controls  
 

1. Reconciliation of Payment and Payroll Withholdings  
 
Payroll withholdings are recorded in the appropriate General Ledger control 
accounts and reconciled with payments made to third parties. 
 

2. Internal Accounting Controls  
 
The in-house payroll software calculates payroll withholdings, which are reviewed 
and verified by the Back-Office. 

 
Procedures 
 

1. The web based payroll software calculates payroll withholdings for each 
employee. These are summarized by pay period and recorded in General Ledger.  
 

2.  Payments for payroll withholdings are reconciled with the amounts recorded in 
the General Ledger control accounts by the Back-Office.  

 
3.  The Back-Office reviews the accuracy and timeliness of payments made to third 

parties for payroll withholdings.  
 
4. Original withholding and benefit election forms, maintained in the employee file, 

are prepared by employee and reviewed and approved on a periodic basis by the 
Back-Office. 
 

5. Payroll records are to be stored for at least 7 (seven) years, in line with the 
Records Retention Policy. 

 
 
 
 

112



 
 

47 
 

PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS   
 
Control Objective  
 
To ensure that the School hires only those employees, full or part-time, it absolutely needs and exerts 
tight control over hiring new employees.  
 
Major Controls  
 
New Employees  

1.  Requests for new employees are initiated by the Superintendent or other 
appropriate staff member and compared with the approved annual 
personnel budget.  

2.  New employees complete an Application for Employment.  
  3.  New employees complete all necessary paperwork for payroll.  

4.  Employee is fingerprinted. Fingerprint clearance must be received by School 
before any employee may start work.  

 
Paid Time Off (PTO) 

1.  Paid time off (PTO) provides some A-Basis (12 Months school-based 
employees with an entitlement of days away from work with pay.  

2.  Temporary employees, part time employees, workers being paid short or 
long-term disability insurance, and workers being paid workers’ 
compensation are not eligible to receive or accumulate PTO.  

3.  On July 1st all A-Basis (12 Months) school based employees are credited 10 
days of PTO which are accumulated throughout the contracted year.  

4.  PTO will not accumulate during any unpaid leave of absence.  
5.  Upon separation of employment, employees will be paid their earned PTO 

based on their date of separation and their hourly rate of pay.  
6.  The School monitors vacation and sick time using a web-based HR system.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

113



 
 

48 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

Asset Disposal Form 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

114



 
 

49 
 

FIXED ASSETS DISPOSAL PROCEDURE: 
 

Fixed Assets property that are not being used, are obsolete, and/or beyond repair, are to be disposed 
of through submission of the Asset Disposal Form (ADF) to the Back Office provider. Complete and 
deliver the ADF to the Superintendent (ED) or the designee. The ED or designee will review the ADF 
and approve the disposition. All Fixed Assets will remain on the school’s inventory until this process 
is complete. 

 
The actual physical disposal or transfer of Fixed Assets between departments should not occur 
without an ADF form. Departments should keep a copy of the form for their inventory records. 

 
The administrative head of each department has the responsibility of: 

 

1. Verifying that any asset that is being disposed of is properly cataloged before it is 
removed. 

2. Safeguarding the possession of all property within the department 
3. In the event an item is “lost or stolen,” an incident report must accompany the ADF 
4. The removal-disposal of any property must be recorded on the ADF and 

submitted to the Back Office; the administrator making the original request 
for removal/disposal must sign such form. 

5. Remove asset tags and other company-specific information from the asset before its 
disposal. 

6. A picture must be taken as a visual record of the item. 
 

DETERMINE THE SALES PRICE: 

For any item that is sold, instead of being retired, the sales price will be determined by the higher 
of the book value or market value. 

 
If the book value cannot be determined, then the market value may be used alone. 

 

DETERMINE THE MARKET VALUE: 

 

1. Examine the asset for wear and tear or any damage to determine if it is usable. 
2. Locate at least three items that are similar in nature using eBay, Amazon, or any other 

website that may list the item. 
3. Use the average price, or the most reasonable price of items selected, adjusting the price 

based on damage, normal wear-and-tear, the need to avoid having to pay storage if 
retained, and other factors in an attempt to benefit the organization. 
 

PROCESSING PAYMENT: 

 
1. All payments will be made by check or money order and made payable to Monarch River 

Academy. 
2. The payment must be given to office designee who will then provide a receipt. 
3. The payment and the ADF will be recorded in the general ledger. 

115



 
 

50 
 

Asset Disposal Form 
 

Complete the form below if school-owned assets are disposed of in any way. This form does 

not grant approval to dispose of assets until it has been approved by the Superintendent or 

designee and should be used to update the asset inventory. Upon completion of this form, please 

forward it to the Back Office. 
 

 

Name:     Title:  Today’s Date:  

Department:    

E-mail:    Phone Number:  

 

Type of Disposition: 
 

Sold  Obsolete      Returned    Traded-in  Donated 

Lost/Missing  Stolen  Destroyed 

Recipient of Property:   Disposal Date:  

Is this a related party (circle one):  _Yes or No  Price Received: 
 

 

Explanation if Missing or Stolen (attach copy of Police report, if stolen): 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Asset Description: 
 

Description Serial # Location 
Original 

Purchase Date 

Original 

Purchase Price 

Sale Price 

(if applicable) 

      
      

Quantity:       

 
 
Quantity:  

     

116



 

51 
 

 

Board Approval   Date:  _________________ 
 

Approved copy to be sent to Back Office: ____________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

117



 
 

52 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

Delegation of Expenditure Approval Authority 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

118



 
 

53 
 

Delegation of Expenditure Approval Authority 

 

Purpose 

 

This policy defines Expenditure approval authority, and outlines to whom and when it may be 
delegated. This policy also documents limits related to delegation of expenditure approval 
Authority. 

 

Definitions 

 

Account Holder The individual employee who is responsible for expenditures 
against 

a specific budget or account. 
 

Approval includes: 
 

i) original hand written signature on a paper copy 
 

ii) “electronic signature” means a graphical image of a 
handwritten signature attached to or logically associated 
with an electronic Record and executed or adopted by a 
person with the intent to sign the record. 

 

iii) “electronic approval” means the electronic approval 
provided to execute or adopt a request. 

 

iv) “email approval” means the email authorization provided 
to execute or adopt a request. 

 

Designee School employee chosen to authorize expenditures on behalf 

of the School. 

Executive Officer includes the Superintendent or Vice Superintendent. 
 

Expenditure Approval is the authority of a delegated employee to initiate 
expenditures on Authority behalf of the School, and certify receipt of goods or services and 

contract performance and price. 

 

119



 
 

54 
 

 

Policy Statements 
 

This policy describes how Expenditure Approval Authority is granted and used to initiate and 

approve expenditures against a budget code and to certify contract performance, or receipt of 

goods and price. 

 

All expenditures or commitments to expend, other than payroll transactions, must be authorized by an 

employee with delegated Expenditure Approval Authority. 

 

Expenditure Approval Authority does not include the authority to make commitments to a vendor or 

contractor, or the ability to approve a payment from a School bank account. These authorities are 

governed by the School’s Purchasing and Bank Policy. 

 

Delegation of Expenditure Approval Authority: 
 
The School Board delegates expenditure authority to the Superintendent who then may sub-delegate to 

various budget account holders within the scope and limits of the approved budget and/or available 

funding. 

 

Expenditure approval authority is delegated to a dollar value limit which is the greater of the 

individual commitment value or transaction value. Commitments may not be split in such a way as to 

avoid dollar value limits within this policy. The maximum possible delegation of expenditure approval 

for each staff level is according to the following limits: 

 

Superintendent - 

$100,000  

This authority is limited to expenditures and projects contemplated in the Annual Budget of the 

School and approved by The Board. Regardless of the net effect on the budget of the School, the 

initiation of any new projects or expenditures exceeding $100,000 must be approved by The Board. 

 

The Superintendent has the authority to assign Account Holders and sub-delegate Expenditure 

Approval Authority to individual employees to a maximum of $100,000 per transaction or 

commitment.  

 

Delegation may be limited to specific types of invoices, and to specific time periods. All new 

delegations of Expenditure Approval Authority are only effective once the employee to whom the 

Expenditure Approval Authority is delegated has read the financial signing authority regulations 

provided by Business Services. 

 

An employee with delegated Expenditure Approval Authority can only approve expenditures or 
reimbursements originated by positions at a lower level in the organizational structure.  

120



 
 

55 
 

Expenditure Approval Authority’s Responsibilities: 

 
Employees with Expenditure Approval Authorities shall ensure that all School Policy 
requirements are followed in the procurement of goods and services. All new employees with 
Expenditure Approval Authority are required to read the signing authority regulations offered 
by Business Services prior to initiating or approving any expenditures. 

 
When approving an expenditure, an Employee with Expenditure Approval Authority certifies that:  
 

The approver has delegated authority over the account to which the charge is being made.  
 
The expenditure is within the dollar value limits of delegation. 

The approver is knowledgeable about the purpose, and occurrence, of the expenditure or 
reimbursement. 

 
The purpose of the expenditure or reimbursement aligns with the account being charged, and 
with any restrictions related to those funds. 

 
The expenditure does not personally benefit themselves, their relatives, or their supervisor(s). 

 
The employees approval does not create a perceived conflict of interest (refer to the Conflicts of 
Interest policy). Whenever there is a perceived or potential conflict of interest, the expenditure 
approval must be made by an Expenditure Approval Authority that is acting in a supervisory and 
not a subordinate relationship, within the departmental hierarchy. 

 
Prior to payment of contracts for goods or services or reimbursement of expenses to employees 
an employee with Expenditure Approval Authority must certify that the goods or services were 
provided and the amount charged agrees to the related contract terms, or the relevant travel and 
expense claim policy. 
 
 

Accountholders    Invoice Type    Approval Limit 

 

All teachers    Enrichment    3,000 

         

Stephanie Johnson   Special Education   20,000 

Crystal Deathrage   Special Education   20,000 

 

Stephanie Johnson   Curriculum    100,000 

Crystal Deathrage   Curriculum    100,000 

 

All teachers    Tech/Hardware though the EOS  3,000 

 

Stephanie Johnson   All Other Expenses   100,000 

 

Stephanie Johnson   Day Programs    100,000 

 
 

121



 
 

56 
 

 
 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

Restitution Policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

122



 
 

57 
 

 

 

 

123



APPENDIX D 
 

Cash Tally Sheet 

 

124



CASH TALLY SHEET 

_____________________________ 
School Name

___________________________     
School Event 

___________________________ 
Date 

Loose Currency 
Quantity Amount 

Hundreds X    $100.00= 
Fifties X       50.00= 
Twenties X       20.00= 
Tens X       10.00= 
Fives X         5.00= 
Ones X         1.00= 

Subtotal $ 

Loose Coin 
Quantity Amount 

Half Dollars X          .50 = 
Quarters X          .25= 
Dimes X          .10= 
Nickels X          .05= 
Pennies X          .01= 

Subtotal $ 

Total Loose Currency and Coin $__________________ 

 Total Checks                              $__________________ 

                                        
$ 

Prepared by: __________________________________ 

Verified by: __________________________________  

Total Cash Collected

125



APPENDIX E 
 

Fundraising Forms 

 

126



DONATION RECEIPT

Date __________________________________________________________________________________

Name _________________________________________________________________________________

Cash contribution $ ______________________________________________________________________

In-kind non-cash items exceeding $250 in value (description of items): 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________________

“Quid Pro Quo” contributions (Contributions that are made partly as a contribution and partly in payment for 
goods and services received, for example, a ticket price that is higher than its normal value). For Quid Pro 
Quo contributions of more than $75, list item(s) and total amount paid for each. 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________________

In consideration of their donation, donor received (e.g., value of meal): 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________________

This School is a tax-exempt nonprofit organization as described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. 

322

Name of School

Authorized by _________________________________________________________________

IRS EIN______________________________________________________________________________

PLEASE RETAIN FOR YOUR TAX RECORDS
THANK YOU FOR YOUR SUPPORT

_____________________________
_____________________________
_____________________________

Name of School:
School Address:
City/State/Zip:

127



FUNDRAISER COST TRACKER
NAME OF EVENT:

School Name: Date:

Item Purchased Receipt Number

Quantity 

Purchased x Purchase Price = Cash Usage

Starting fundraiser amount 500.00                 

Hot dogs (example) 13629852 15 1.97                     29.55                   

tickets (example) 13629852 1 10.00                   10.00                   

tax (example) 13629852 2.72                     2.72                     

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

TOTAL SALES 457.73$              

Print Name

Signature

128



FUNDRAISER INVENTORY FORM
NAME OF EVENT:

School Name: Date:

NAME OF ITEM

BEGINNING 

INVENTORY + PURCHASES =

TOTAL 

NUMBER FOR 

SALE -

ENDING 

INVENTORY =

NUMBER 

SOLD X

SELLING 

PRICE =

TOTAL 

SALES

Bottled Water 0 100 100                   37 63            2 126.00$  

Hot dogs 0 120 120                   10 110          1 110.00    

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

-                    -           -           

TOTAL SALES 236.00$  

TOTAL FROM CASH TALLY FORM

Print Name

CASH OVER/SHORT

Signature

* Please submit this form with the Cash Tally Form

129



FUNDRAISER SERVICE FORM
NAME OF EVENT:

School Name: Date:

NAME OF SERVICE

SERVICES SOLD 

(count) x SELLING PRICE = TOTAL SALES

Car wash 15 5 75.00$                

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

TOTAL SALES 75.00$                

Print Name

Signature

130



 Cover Sheet 
 Superintendent Divvy Expenses 

 Sec�on:  III. Finance 
 Item:  D.  Superintendent Divvy Expenses 
 Purpose:  Discussion & Poten�al Ac�on - Informa�onal 
 Related Material:  N/A 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  Part of the fiscal checks and balances process to ensure proper spending of school funds. 
 ●  This will be a monthly agenda item. 
 ●  Board review will be on the prior, not current month’s transac�ons. 
 ●  There were no Divvy transac�ons for October or November. 

131



 Cover Sheet 
 Winter Superintendent Report 

 Sec�on:  IV. Academic Excellence 
 Item:  A.  Winter Superintendent Report 
 Purpose:                                             Presenta�on & Poten�al Discussion - Informa�onal 
 Related Material:  N/A 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  The school will provide a report on how the school year is going including: 
 ○  Enrollment & Staffing 
 ○  Special Educa�on 
 ○  CSDC Conference 
 ○  Tes�ng & Data 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  The Board may consider reques�ng further informa�on or a formal presenta�on at the 
 next Board Mee�ng on these topics or other areas from other school departments. 

132



 Cover Sheet 

 Annual Submission of the Local Indicators 

 Sec�on:  IV. Academic Excellence 
 Item:  B.  Annual Submission of the Local Indicators 
 Purpose:                                             Presenta�on & Poten�al Discussion - Informa�onal 
 Related Material:  N/A 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  The  State  Board  of  Educa�on  (SBE)  approved  standards  for  the  local  indicators  that 
 support  schools  in  measuring  and  repor�ng  progress  within  the  appropriate  priority 
 area. 

 ●  The approved performance standards require a school to: 
 ○  Annually  measure  its  progress  in  mee�ng  the  requirements  of  the  specific  Local 

 Control Funding Formula (LCFF) priority. 
 ○  Report  the  results  as  part  of  a  non-consent  item  at  a  regularly  scheduled  public 

 mee�ng  of  the  local  governing  board/body  in  conjunc�on  with  the  adop�on  of 
 the Local Control and Accountability Plan (LCAP). 

 ○  Report  results  to  the  public  through  the  Dashboard  u�lizing  the  SBE-adopted 
 self-reflec�on tools for each local indicator. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  Provide input and or direc�on to school staff as needed. 

133



 Cover Sheet 
 2022-2023 Audit Report 

 Sec�on:  V. Academic Excellence 
 Item:  A.  2022-2023 Audit Report 
 Purpose:  Discussion & Poten�al Ac�on - Vote 
 Related Material: 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  The school’s current auditor is Christy White’s firm. 
 ●  All  schools  are  required  to  have  an  annual  audit  completed  by  an  independent  auditor 

 registered  with  the  State  Controller’s  Office  (SCO),  pursuant  to  Educa�on  Code  (EC) 
 Sec�on 41020. 

 ●  The  purpose  of  these  annual  audits  is  to  promote  accountability  over  public  educa�onal 
 funding  and  encourage  effec�ve  and  efficient  use  of  state  funds  for  the  children  of 
 California. 

 ●  Further,  the  annual  audits  are  designed  to  encourage  sound  fiscal  management  and 
 strengthen fiscal accountability. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  Consider the approval of the 2022-2023 Audit Report. 

134



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

AUDIT REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
JUNE 30, 2023 

A NONPROFIT PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 
OPERATING THE FOLLOWING CALIFORNIA CHARTER SCHOOL 

Monarch River Academy (Charter No. 2057) 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

135



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 

Independent Auditors' Report .................................................................................................................................................... 1 
Financial Statements 

Statement of Financial Position ............................................................................................................................................ 3 
Statement of Activities ........................................................................................................................................................... 4 
Statement of Functional Expenses ...................................................................................................................................... 5 
Statement of Cash Flows ...................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Notes to Financial Statements ................................................................................................................................................... 7 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

LEA Organization Structure ..................................................................................................................................................... 16 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ....................................................................................................................... 17 
Schedule of Average Daily Attendance .................................................................................................................................. 18 
Schedule of Instructional Time ................................................................................................................................................ 19 
Reconciliation of Financial Report – Alternative Form with Audited Financial Statements ............................................. 20 
Note to the Supplementary Information ................................................................................................................................. 21 
 

OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTS 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on  

an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Governmental Auditing Standards ..................... 22 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program; and Report on Internal Control over Compliance  

Required by the Uniform Guidance ................................................................................................................................... 24 
Report on State Compliance and on Internal Control over Compliance for State Programs ......................................... 27 

 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

 
Summary of Auditors’ Results.................................................................................................................................................. 30 
Financial Statement Findings ................................................................................................................................................... 31 
Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs .................................................................................................................... 32 
State Award Findings and Questioned Costs ........................................................................................................................ 33 
Schedule of Prior Audit Findings ............................................................................................................................................. 34 
 
 DRAFT 12

/11
/20

23

136



 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 

 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

137



 

1 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
Monarch River Academy 
Fresno, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Monarch River Academy which comprise the statement 
of financial position as of June 30, 2023, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.   
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Monarch River Academy as of June 30, 2023, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of Monarch River Academy and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Monarch River Academy’s ability to continue as a 
going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.   

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

138



 

2 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user based 
on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we:  

 Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Monarch River Academy’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about Monarch River Academy’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified 
during the audit.  
 
Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.  The 
supplementary information listed in the table of contents, including the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, 
as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a 
required part of the financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from 
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.  The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In 
our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.   
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated DATE, on our consideration 
of Monarch River Academy’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results 
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Monarch River Academy’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering Monarch River Academy’s internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
DATE 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

139



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
 

3 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4,247,985$      
Accounts receivable 1,929,948        
Prepaid expenses 179,355          
Total current assets 6,357,288        

Noncurrent assets
Property and equipment 241,605          
Less accumulated depreciation (94,110)           
Capital assets, net 147,495          
Total Assets 6,504,783$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities

Accounts payable 569,981$        
Deferred revenue 1,407,368        
Loan payable 62,500            
Total liabilities 2,039,849        

Net assets
Without donor restrictions 4,464,934        
Total net assets 4,464,934        
Total Liabilities and Net Assets 6,504,783$       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

140



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
 

4 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

Without Donor
Restrictions

SUPPORT AND REVENUES
Federal and state support and revenues

Local control funding formula, state aid 11,561,319$    
Federal revenues 787,608          
Other state revenues 2,205,857        
Total federal and state support and revenues 14,554,784      

Local support and revenues
Payments in lieu of property taxes 178,596          
Shared cost reimbursements 4,061,992        
Investment income, net 4,146              
Total local support and revenues 4,244,734        
Total Support and Revenues 18,799,518      

EXPENSES
Program services 16,236,497      
Management and general 1,245,139        

Total Expenses 17,481,636      

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 1,317,882        

Net Assets - Beginning 3,147,052        

Net Assets - Ending 4,464,934$       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

141



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
 

5 

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

Program Management
Services  and General Total

EXPENSES
Personnel expenses

Certificated salaries 6,227,064$      226,516$        6,453,580$      
Non-certificated salaries 139,763          75,880            215,643          
Pension plan contributions 1,546,400        56,252            1,602,652        
Payroll taxes 166,888          7,833              174,721          
Other employee benefits 555,022          26,051            581,073          
Total personnel expenses 8,635,137        392,532          9,027,669        

Non-personnel expenses
Books and supplies 1,543,184        39,198            1,582,382        
Insurance 132,153          6,203              138,356          
Professional services 4,430,362        398,916          4,829,278        
Depreciation -                    48,321            48,321            
Service fees to Axia Group 1,445,643 -                    1,445,643        
Fees to authorizing agency -                    351,743          351,743          
Other operating expenses 50,018            8,226              58,244            
Total non-personnel expenses 7,601,360        852,607          8,453,967        
Total Expenses 16,236,497$    1,245,139$      17,481,636$     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

142



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
 

6 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in net assets 1,317,882$      
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash

provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation 48,321            
(Increase) decrease in operating assets

Accounts receivable 180,808          
Prepaid expenses (153,245)         

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities
Accounts payable (101,732)         
Deferred revenue 1,049,218        

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,341,252        

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal payments on loans payable (57,292)           

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (57,292)           

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,283,960        

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning 1,964,025        

Cash and cash equivalents - Ending 4,247,985$      

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
Cash paid for interest -$                    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

143



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

7 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 

Monarch River Academy (the “Charter”) was formed as a nonprofit public benefit corporation on April 2, 2019 for 
the purpose of operating as a California public school located in Tulare County.  The Charter was numbered by 
the State Board of Education in July 2019 as California Charter No. 2057.  The mission of Monarch River Academy 
is to develop the individual gifts of students in Tulare County and adjacent counties to become proficient in 
Common Core State Standards and become critical thinkers, responsible citizens, and innovative leaders 
prepared for academic and real-life achievement in the 21st Century.  Monarch River Academy provides 
nonclassroom-based instruction to students in grades TK/K to 12. 
 
Monarch River Academy is authorized to operate as a charter school through the Alta Vista Elementary School 
District (the “authorizing agency”).  In March 2019, the Board of Directors of the Alta Vista Elementary School 
District approved a charter petition for a five-year term beginning July 1, 2019 and expiring on June 30, 2024.  
Due to AB 130 and SB 114, the current charter petition end date is extended to June 30, 2027.  Funding sources 
primarily consist of state apportionments, in lieu of property tax revenues, and grants and donations from the 
public. 

 
B. Basis of Accounting 
 

The Charter’s policy is to prepare its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting; consequently, 
revenues are recognized when earned rather than when cash is received and certain expenses and purchases 
of assets are recognized when the obligation is incurred rather than when cash is disbursed. 
 

C. Financial Statement Presentation 
 

The financial statements are presented in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958 dated August 2016, and the provisions of the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) “Audit and Accounting Guide for Not-for-Profit Organizations” (the 
“Guide”). ASC 958-205 was effective July 1, 2018. Under the Guide, Monarch River Academy is required to report 
information regarding its financial position and activities according to two classes of net assets: 
 

Net assets without donor restrictions – These net assets generally result from revenues generated by 
receiving contributions that have no donor restrictions, providing services, and receiving interest from 
operating investments, less expenses incurred in providing program-related services, raising contributions, 
and performing administrative functions.  
 
Net assets with donor restrictions – These assets result from gifts of cash and other assets that are received 
with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets, either temporarily or permanently, until the 
donor restriction expires (that is until the stipulated time restriction ends or the purpose of the restriction is 
accomplished) the net assets are restricted.  When a restriction expires, restricted net assets are reclassified 
to net assets without donor restrictions. 

 
As a public charter school, Monarch River Academy also accounts for its financial transactions in accordance 
with the policies and procedures of the Department of Education’s California School Accounting Manual 
presented in Procedure 810 Charter Schools.  Fund accounting is not used in the Charter’s financial statement 
presentation. 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

144



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

8 

NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
D. Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures, such as 
depreciation expense and the net book value of capital assets. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

 
E. Functional Expenses 
 

The costs of providing services have been summarized on a functional basis in the statement of activities and 
detailed in the statement of functional expenses.  Certain costs and expenses have been allocated between 
program and supporting services based on management’s estimates. 
 

F. Contributions 
 

Unconditional contributions are recognized when pledged and recorded as net assets without donor restrictions 
or net assets with donor restrictions, depending on the existence and/or nature of any donor-imposed restrictions.  
Conditional promises to give are recognized when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met.  
Gifts of cash and other assets are reported with donor restricted support if they are received with donor 
stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. 
 
When a restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or a purpose restriction is accomplished, 
net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported on the 
statement of activities as “net assets released from restrictions.” Donor-restricted contributions whose restrictions 
are met in the same reporting period are reported as net assets without donor restriction support.  Contributions 
restricted for the acquisition of land, buildings, and equipment are reported as net assets without restriction upon 
acquisition of the assets and the assets are placed in service.   
 
Non-cash contributions of goods, materials, and facilities are recorded at fair value at the date of contribution.  
Contributed services are recorded at fair value at the date of contribution if they are used to create or enhance a 
non-financial asset or require specialized skills, are provided by someone possessing those skills, and would have 
to be purchased by the organization if not donated. 
 

G. In Lieu of Property Tax Revenue 
 
Secured property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of March 1.  Taxes are payable in two 
installments on December 10 and April 10.  Unsecured property taxes are payable in one installment on or before 
August 31.  The County bills and collects the taxes for the authorizing agency.  In lieu of distributing funds out of 
property tax proceeds, the authorizing agency makes monthly payments to Monarch River Academy.  Revenues 
are recognized by the Charter when earned. 
 

H. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Monarch River Academy considers all highly liquid deposits and investments with an original maturity of less than 
ninety days to be cash equivalents.   
 

I. Investments 
 

The Charter’s method of accounting for most investments is the fair value method.  Fair value is determined by 
published quotes when they are readily available.  Gains and losses resulting from adjustments to fair values are 
included in the accompanying statement of activities.  Investment return is presented net of any investment fees. 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

145



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

9 

NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
J. Receivables and Allowances 

 
Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances.  An 
allowance for doubtful accounts is established, as necessary, based on past experience and other factors which, 
in management’s judgment, deserve current recognition in estimating bad debts.  Such factors include the 
relationship of the allowance for doubtful accounts to accounts receivable and current economic conditions.  
Based on review of these factors, the Charter establishes or adjusts the allowance for specific revenue sources 
as a whole. At June 30, 2023, an allowance for doubtful accounts was not considered necessary as all accounts 
receivable were deemed collectible. 

 

K. Capital Assets 
 

Monarch River Academy has adopted a policy to capitalize asset purchases over $5,000.  Lesser amounts are 
expensed. Donations of capital assets are recorded as contributions at their estimated fair value.  Such donations 
are reported as net assets without donor restrictions.  Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the property and equipment or the related lease terms.     

 
L. Deferred Revenue 

 
Deferred revenue arises when potential revenue does not meet the criteria for recognition in the current period 
and when resources are received by the organization prior to the incurrence of expenses.  In subsequent periods, 
when both revenue recognition criteria are met, the liability for deferred revenue is removed from the statement 
of financial position and revenue is recognized. 

 
M. Income Taxes 
 

Monarch River Academy is a 509(a)(1) publicly supported nonprofit organization that is exempt from income 
taxes under Section 501(a) and 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and classified by the Internal Revenue 
Service as other than a private foundation.  The Charter is exempt from state franchise or income tax under 
Section 23701(d) of the California Revenue and Taxation Code.  As a school, the Charter is not required to register 
with the California Attorney General as a charity.  
 
The Charter’s management believes all of its significant tax positions would be upheld under examination; 
therefore, no provision for income tax has been recorded.  The Charter’s information and/or tax returns are 
subject to examination by the regulatory authorities for up to four years from the date of filing. 

 
N. Fair Value Measurements 
 

The Fair Value Measurements Topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification establishes a fair value 
hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 
measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).  A financial instrument’s 
level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.  The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below: 

Level 1  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities 
in active markets. 

Level 2  Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, 
for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. 

Level 3 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement.  

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

146



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

10 

NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
O. Change in Accounting Principle 

 
ASC 842 Leases  
In February 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The objective of the ASU is to increase 
transparency and comparability in financial reporting by requiring balance sheet recognition of leases and note 
disclosure of certain information about lease arrangements.  The new FASB ASU topic on leases consists of five 
subtopics: overall, lessee, lessor, sale and leaseback transactions, and leveraged lease arrangements.  ASU No. 
2016-02 is applicable to any entity that enters into a lease. The new lease standard is effective for private 
nonprofits with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021.  
 
Under FASB ASC 842, a right-of-use asset and a related lease liability must be recorded on the statement of 
financial position (balance sheet) for proper recognition of any operating lease. A right-of-use asset is an 
intangible asset that pertains to the lessee’s right to occupy, operate, and hold a leased asset during the agreed 
rental period. A lease liability is the financial obligation for the payments required by the lease, discounted to 
present value.  
 
The Charter has determined the impact and noted no significant change to the financial statements as a result of 
this accounting principle.  

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2023, consists of cash in banks of $4,247,985 held in a non-interest-bearing 
accounts.  As of June 30, 2023, $4,472,112 of the Monarch River Academy’s bank balance was exposed to custodial 
credit risk as there were deposits over $250,000 in accounts held at insured bank.  Custodial credit risk is the risk 
that in the event of a bank failure, an organization’s deposits may not be returned to it.  Monarch River Academy does 
not have a policy for custodial credit risk for deposits.  The FDIC insures up to $250,000 per depositor per insured 
bank.   
 
 
NOTE 3 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
Accounts receivable, as of June 30, 2023, consists of the following: 

 
Local control funding sources, state aid 849,030$        
Federal sources 367,484          
Other state sources 193,597          
Due from authorizing agency 44,845            
Due from partner school 474,992          
Total Accounts Receivable 1,929,948$       

 
*Refer to related party transactions Note 12. 
 
  

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

147



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

11 

NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
A summary of activity related to capital assets during the year ended June 30, 2023 consists of the following: 
 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2022 Additions Disposals June 30, 2023

Property and equipment
Furniture and equipment 15,195$          -$                   -$                   15,195$          
Software 226,410          -                    -                    226,410          
Total property and equipment 241,605          -                    -                    241,605          

Less accumulated depreciation (45,789)           (48,321)           -                    (94,110)           
Capital Assets, net 195,816$        (48,321)$         -$                   147,495$         

 
 
NOTE 5 – ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
 
Accounts payable, as of June 30, 2023, consists of the following: 
 

Salaries and benefits 272,981$        
Due to partner school 250                
Due to grantor government 174,612          
Credit card liability 773                
Other vendor payables 121,365          
Total Accounts Payable 569,981$         

 
 
NOTE 6 – DEFERRED REVENUE 
 
Deferred revenue, as of June 30, 2023, consists of $1,407,368 from State sources. Deferred revenue includes funding 
that has been received in cash, however, has not yet been earned as of June 30, 2023. Funding conditions are 
expected to be met and revenue will be recognized in the subsequent fiscal year. 
 
 
NOTE 7 – LOAN PAYABLE 
 
Software Loan 
In June 2021, Monarch River Academy along with Yosemite Valley Charter School entered into a shared loan 
agreement with AATK, LLC for $475,000.  The agreement required $100,000 to be paid by June 30, 2021 and the 
balance to be paid in monthly installments of $10,417 over a three-year term from closing date. No interest is being 
charged.  Monarch River Academy has recorded fifty percent of the shared agreement as a loan payable. The 
agreement includes the purchase of a software platform that provides authorized schools access to enrichment 
ordering system, curriculum ordering system, tech extension to the ordering system, lender library, field trip and 
events, and curriculum suite. At July 1, 2022, the Monarch River Academy's portion of the loan had a balance of 
$119,792. Throughout the current fiscal year, the Charter made principal payments totaling $57,292. As of June 30, 
2023, $62,500 remained payable and is to be repaid in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024. 
 
 
  

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

148



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

12 

NOTE 8 – NET ASSETS 
 
As of June 30, 2023, the Charter did not hold any net assets with donor restrictions.  Certain designations or reserves 
have been made for the use of net assets without donor restrictions either by the board, management or by nature of 
the financial assets held by the Charter.  At June 30, 2023, the Charter’s net assets without donor restrictions consist 
of the following:  
 

Net investment in capital assets 84,995$          
Undesignated 4,379,939        
Total Net Assets without Donor Restrictions 4,464,934$       

 
 
NOTE 9 – LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
The following table reflects the Charter’s financial assets as of June 30, 2023, reduced by amounts not available for 
general expenditure within one year.  Financial assets are considered not available for general use when illiquid or 
not convertible to cash within one year, consist of assets held for others or are held aside by the governing board for 
specific contingency reserves.  Any board designations could be drawn upon if the board approves that action. 
Monarch River Academy maintains a line of credit (as mentioned in Note X) which could be drawn upon to ensure 
financial assets are available as general expenditures and other obligations become due. 
 

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,247,985$      
Accounts receivable 1,929,948        
Prepaid expenses 179,355          

Contractual or donor-imposed restrictions
Cash held for conditional contributions (1,407,368)       

Financial Assets available to meet cash needs
for expenditures within one year 4,949,920$       

 
 
NOTE 10 – EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS 
 
Qualified employees are covered under a multi-employer defined benefit pension plans maintained by agencies of 
the State of California. In accordance with California Education Code 47605, charter schools have the option of 
participating in such plans if an election to participate is specified within the charter petition.  The Charter has made 
such election.  Certificated employees are members of the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS), 
and non-certificated employees are offered social security as an alternative plan. All employees are eligible to 
participate in a 403(b) plan as an alternative plan. 
 
Plan Description 
Monarch River Academy contributes to the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS), a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer public employee retirement system defined benefit pension plan administered by CalSTRS.  The 
plan provides retirement, disability and survivor benefits to beneficiaries.  Benefit provisions are established by state 
statutes, as legislatively amended, within the State Teachers’ Retirement Law.  CalSTRS issues a separate 
comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.  
Copies of the CalSTRS annual financial report may be obtained from CalSTRS, 7667 Folsom Boulevard; Sacramento, 
California 95826. 
 
  

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

149



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

13 

NOTE 10 – EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (continued) 
 
California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS) (continued) 
 
Funding Policy 
Active plan members are required to contribute 10.25% or 10.205% of their 2022-23 salary depending on the 
employee’s membership date in the plan.  The required employer contribution rate for fiscal year 2022-23 was 19.10% 
of annual payroll. The contribution requirements of the plan members are established by state statute.   
 
The Charter’s contributions to CalSTRS for the last three fiscal years were as follows:  

 
   

Contribution 
 Percent of Required 

Contribution 
2022-23  $            1,168,370  100% 
2021-22  $               770,221  100% 
2020-21  $               530,962  100% 

 
On-Behalf Payments 
The State of California makes direct on-behalf payments for retirement benefits to CalSTRS on behalf of all school 
agencies in California.  The amount of on-behalf payments made for Monarch River Academy is estimated at $434,282 
The on-behalf payment amount is computed as the proportionate share of total 2021-22 State on-behalf contributions.  
 
Alternative Plan  
 
As established by federal law, all public sector employees who are not members of their employer’s existing 
retirement plan (CalSTRS or CalPERS) must be covered by social security or an alternative plan. The Charter offers 
both social security and a 403(b) employee funded plan.  All employees are eligible to participate in the plans.  A 
participant of the 403(b) plan may make an election to defer compensation and have it contributed to this plan. 
 
 
NOTE 11 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 
Charter School Authorization 
 
As mentioned in Note 1A, Monarch River Academy is approved to operate as a public charter school through 
authorization by the Alta Vista Elementary School District.  As such, the Charter is subject to the risk of possible non-
renewal or revocation at the discretion of its authorizing agency if certain criteria for student outcomes, management, 
and/or fiscal solvency are not met.  
 
On July 9, 2021, the Governor of California approved Assembly Bill 130 (AB 130).  Effective July 1, 2021, AB 130 
added a provision within the California Education Code whereby all charter schools whose term expires on or between 
January 1, 2022, and June 30, 2025, inclusive, shall have their term extended by two years.  As a result, the charter 
petition end date is extended to June 30, 2026. Refer to Note 14 for an additional one-year extension. 
  

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

150



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

14 

NOTE 11 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 
 
Charter School Authorization (continued) 
 
The Charter makes payments to the authorizing agency, Alta Vista Elementary School District, to provide required 
services for special education and other purchased services in addition to fees for oversight. In accordance with 
California Education Code 47613(b), the authorizing agency may charge actual costs of oversight not to exceed 3% 
of revenue from local control funding formula sources if the authorizing agency also provides substantially free 
facilities; Alta Vista Elementary School District provides such facilities.  Total fees for oversight and facility use 
amounted to $351,743 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
Monarch River Academy has received state and federal funds for specific purposes that are subject to review and 
audit by the grantor agencies.  Although such audits could generate expenditure disallowances under terms of the 
grants, it is believed that any required reimbursements would not be material. 
 
Multiemployer Defined Benefit Plan Participation 
 
Under current law on multiemployer defined benefit plans, the Charter’s voluntary withdrawal from any underfunded 
multiemployer defined benefit plan would require the Charter to make payments to the plan, which would approximate 
the Charter’s proportionate share of the multiemployer plan’s unfunded vested liabilities.  CalSTRS has estimated that 
the Charter’s share of withdrawal liability is approximately $5,405,675 as of June 30, 2022.  The Charter does not 
currently intend to withdraw from CalSTRS.  Refer to Note 10 for additional information on employee retirement plans. 
 
Pending or Threatened Litigation 
 
The Charter is involved in various litigation arising from the normal course of business. In the opinion of management 
and legal counsel, the disposition of all litigation pending is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the 
overall financial position of the Charter as of June 30, 2023. 
 
 
NOTE 12 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Provenance (formerly Inspire Charter Schools) 
 
When Monarch River Academy was initially incorporated in April 2019, its articles of incorporation listed the founder 
and former CEO of Inspire Charter Schools (“Inspire”) as the incorporator of the Charter.  In July 2019, Monarch 
River Academy entered into an education and support services agreement with Inspire Charter Schools for 
educational services under the “Inspire Education Model” and for management services.  Inspire Charter Schools 
has since changed its name to Provenance. The agreement called for an annual fee of 15% of annual revenues and 
covered a term from July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2024.  This agreement was cancelled due to the closure of Provenance 
and the Charter began services with Axia Group LLC. 
 
Partner Schools 
 
During the fiscal year, Monarch River Academy worked with certain partner schools that had also received services 
from Provenance. Provenance has since dissolved; however, there are still certain shared services that occurred 
throughout the year with these partner schools.  
 
Yosemite Valley Charter School 
Due to/from partner schools as of June 30, 2023 consists of $474,992 from Yosemite Valley Charter School.  This 
amount is presented as due from partner schools within Note 3.  

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

151



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

15 

NOTE 12 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 
Axia Group LLC 
 
The Charter entered into an education and support services agreement with Axia Group LLC.  Axia Group LLC was 
formed by the former CEO and CFO of Inspire Schools.  The term of the agreement is from July 1, 2021 to June 30, 
2024.  The services agreement calls for an annual fee of 10.5% of the Charter’s revenues with the exclusion of one-
time federal and state funds used for professional development.  During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the 
Charter incurred $1,445,643 in educational services to Axia Group LLC.  
 
Interested Parties 
 
The Charter’s Executive Director, Dr. Laura Goodman, also serves as the Executive Director for Yosemite Valley 
Charter School. Yosemite Valley Charter School is a separate nonprofit organization that operates as an independent 
charter school.  Monarch River Academy entered into a software loan along with Yosemite Valley Charter School as 
mentioned in Note 7. 
 
 
NOTE 13 – DONATED GOODS AND SERVICES 
 
Use of Volunteers 
 
During the year, many parents, administrators and other individuals donated significant amounts of time and services 
to Monarch River Academy in an effort to advance the Charter’s programs and objectives.  These services have not 
been recorded in the Charter’s financial statements because they do not meet the criteria required by generally 
accepted accounting principles.  The Charter did not receive any donated items during the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 14 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Monarch River Academy has evaluated subsequent events for the period from June 30, 2023 through DATE, the date 
the financial statements were available to be issued.  Management did not identify any transactions or events that 
require disclosure or that would have an impact on the financial statements. 
 
On July 10, 2023, the Governor of California approved Senate Bill 114 (SB 114), which amended California Education 
Code (EC) 47607.4.  The EC was amended to add “all charter schools whose term expires on or between January 1, 
2024, and June 30, 2027, inclusive, shall have their term extended by one additional year.” As a result, the charter 
petition end date is extended to June 30, 2027.  
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

152



 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

 
 

 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

153



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

See accompanying note to the supplementary information. 
 

16 

LEA ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
Monarch River Academy was formed as a nonprofit public benefit corporation on April 2, 2019 for the purpose of 
operating as a California public school located in Tulare County. The Charter was numbered by the State Board of 
Education in July 2019 as California Charter No. 2057. The Charter is authorized to operate as a charter school 
through the Alta Vista Elementary School District. Classes began August 2019 for grades TK/K to 12.  During 2022-
23, the Charter served approximately 1,125 students in grades TK/K to 12.   
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Name Office Term Expiration

Dr. Sam Nofziger President June 11, 2024

Dr. Craig Wheaton Secretary July 26, 2024

Dr. Monique Ouwinga-DeRuiter Treasurer July 26, 2024

Ms. Elizabeth Wagner Director June 11, 2024

Ms. Sarah Sanchez Director June 11, 2024

ADMINISTRATION

Dr. Laurie Goodman
Superintendent  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

154



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

See accompanying note to the supplementary information. 
 

17 

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

AL 
Number

Pass-Through 
Entity Identifying 

Number
 Federal 

Expenditures 
U. S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION:

Passed through California Department of Education:
Title I, Part A

Title I, Part A, Basic Grants Low-Income and Neglected 84.010 14329 152,530$          
COVID-19 Emergency Acts Funding/Education Stabilization Fund Discretionary Grants: [1]

Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief II (ESSER II) Fund 84.425 15547 78,772              
Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief III (ESSER III) Fund 84.425 15559 47,660              
Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief III (ESSER III) Fund: Learning Loss 84.425U 10155 97,020              
Expanded Learning Opportunities (ELO) Grant ESSER II State Reserve 84.425 15618 84,155              
Expanded Learning Opportunities (ELO) Grant GEER II 84.425 15619 19,314              
Expanded Learning Opportunities (ELO) Grant: ESSER III State Reserve, Emergency Needs 84.425 15620 50,927              
Expanded Learning Opportunities (ELO) Grant: ESSER III State Reserve, Learning Loss 84.425 15621 94,568              

Subtotal Education Stabilization Fund Discretionary Grants 472,416            
Passed through El Dorado SELPA

IDEA Basic Local Assistance Entitlement, Part B, Sec 611 84.027 13379 162,662            
Total U. S. Department of Education 787,608            

Total Federal Expenditures 787,608$          

[1] - Major Program

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program or Cluster

 
 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

155



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

See accompanying note to the supplementary information. 
 

18 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

Second Period 
Report Annual Report

Grade Span
Regular

Kindergarten* through third 506.55              501.37              
Fourth through sixth 280.81              276.09              
Seventh through eighth 159.51              157.09              
Ninth through twelfth 126.55              125.69              

Total Average Daily Attendance - 
Nonclassroom-Based 1,073.42           1,060.24           

Total Average Daily Attendance 1,073.42           1,060.24           

*Includes Transitional Kindergarten (TK)

Nonclassroom-Based

The Charter had no Classroom-Based ADA in 2022-23.  
 
 
 
 

 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

156



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

See accompanying note to the supplementary information. 
 

19 

SCHEDULE OF INSTRUCTIONAL TIME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

2022-23
Number of

Grade Level Days Status

Kindergarten* 175 Complied
Grade 1 175 Complied
Grade 2 175 Complied
Grade 3 175 Complied
Grade 4 175 Complied
Grade 5 175 Complied
Grade 6 175 Complied
Grade 7 175 Complied
Grade 8 175 Complied
Grade 9 175 Complied
Grade 10 175 Complied
Grade 11 175 Complied
Grade 12 175 Complied  

 
*Includes Transitional Kindergarten (TK)  
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

157



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

See accompanying note to the supplementary information. 
 

20 

RECONCILIATION OF FINANCIAL REPORT – ALTERNATIVE FORM WITH AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

June 30, 2023, fund balance/net position on the Financial Report - 
Alternative Form (Charter School Unaudited Actuals) 4,058,803$      

Adjustments:
Increase (decrease) in total net assets:

Client closing adjustments to revenue 369,895          
Client closing adjustments to expenses 36,236            
Net adjustments 406,131          

June 30, 2023, net assets per audited financial statements 4,464,934$       
 
 
 

 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

158



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

21 

NOTE TO THE SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 1 – PURPOSE OF SCHEDULES 

 
A. LEA Organization Structure 

 
This schedule provides information about the local education agency (LEA or charter school), including the 
Charter’s authorizing agency, grades served, members of the governing body, and members of the 
administration. 
 

B. Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant activity of the Charter 
and is presented on the accrual basis of accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance 
with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Therefore, some amounts 
presented in this schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the financial 
statements.  The Charter has not elected to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate. 
 

C. Schedule of Average Daily Attendance  
 
Average daily attendance (ADA) is a measurement of the number of pupils attending classes of the charter school. 
The purpose of attendance accounting from a fiscal standpoint is to provide the basis on which apportionments 
of state funds are made to charter schools.  This schedule provides information regarding the attendance of 
students at various grade levels and in different programs. 
 

D. Schedule of Instructional Time  
 
This schedule presents information on the amount of instructional days offered per grade level by the Monarch 
River Academy and whether the Charter complied with the provisions of Education Code Section 47612.5   

 
E. Reconciliation of Financial Report – Alternative Form with Audited Financial Statements 

 
This schedule provides the information necessary to reconcile fund balance reported on the Financial Report – 
Alternative Form (Charter School Unaudited Actuals) to net assets on the audited financial statements. 
 
 

 DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

159



 

 
 

 

 

OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTS 
 

 
 
 

 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

160



 

22 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER 
MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
Monarch River Academy 
Fresno, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of Monarch River Academy  (the “Charter”) as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Charter’s 
basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated DATE 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Charter’s internal control over 
financial reporting (“internal control”) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Charter’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Charter’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were 
not identified. 
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Charter’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.  

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

161



 

23 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters (continued) 
 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and, 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance 
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Charter’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the Charter’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
DATE 
 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

162



 

24 

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM; AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE  

 
Independent Auditors’ Report 

 
To the Board of Directors of 
Monarch River Academy 
Fresno, California 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Monarch River Academy’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the 
OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of Monarch River Academy’s 
major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023,  Monarch River Academy's major federal programs are 
identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  
 
In our opinion, Monarch River Academy complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended 
June 30, 2023. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance).  Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.  
 
We are required to be independent of Monarch River Academy and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Monarch River Academy's compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, 
regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Monarch River Academy’s federal 
programs. 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

163



 

25 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on Monarch River 
Academy's compliance based on our audit.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect a material noncompliance 
when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there 
is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a 
reasonable user of the report on compliance about Monarch River Academy’s compliance with the requirements of 
each major federal program as a whole.  
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we:  

 Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding Monarch River Academy’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to 
above and performing such procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of Monarch River Academy’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of Monarch River Academy’s internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, 
no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control over compliance that we identified 
during the audit.  
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. 
A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control 
over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance.  
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that 
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control 
over compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.  
 
  

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

164



 

26 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance (continued) 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
DATE 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

165



 

27 

REPORT ON STATE COMPLIANCE AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE FOR STATE 
PROGRAMS 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report 

 
To the Board of Directors of 
Monarch River Academy  
Fresno, California 
 
Report on State Compliance 

Opinion on State Compliance 

We have audited Monarch River Academy’s compliance with the requirements specified in the 2022-23 Guide for 
Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting, applicable to Monarch River 
Academy’s state program requirements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.  
 
In our opinion, Monarch River Academy complied, in all material respects, with the laws and regulations of the 
applicable state programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. as identified in the table in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of State Compliance section of our report. 
 
Basis for Opinion on State Compliance 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and the 2022-23 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies 
and State Compliance Reporting, prescribed by Title 5, California Code of Regulations, section 19810 as regulations 
(the K-12 Audit Guide). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of State Compliance section of our report.  
 
We are required to be independent of Monarch River Academy and to meet certain ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on state compliance.  Our audit does not 
provide a legal determination of Monarch River Academy’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to 
above. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control over compliance with the requirements of the laws, statutes, 
regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Monarch River Academy's state 
programs. 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

166



 

28 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit for State Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the state compliance 
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on Monarch River 
Academy's compliance based on our audit.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the K-12 Audit Guide will always detect a material noncompliance 
when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there 
is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a 
reasonable user of the report on compliance about Monarch River Academy's compliance with the requirements of 
the applicable state programs as a whole.  
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, and the K-12 Audit Guide, we: 

 Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding Monarch River Academy's compliance with compliance requirements referred to above 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of Monarch River Academy's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with the K-12 Audit Guide, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Monarch River Academy's internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed; and 

 Select and test transactions and records to determine Monarch River Academy’s compliance with the state 
laws and regulations to the following items: 
 

Description Procedures Performed 
School Districts, County Offices of Education and Charter Schools 

California Clean Energy Jobs Act Not applicable 
After/Before School Education and Safety Program Not applicable 
Proper Expenditure of Education Protection Account Funds Yes 
Unduplicated Local Control Funding Formula Pupil Counts Yes 
Local Control and Accountability Plan Yes 
Independent Study-Course Based Not applicable 
Immunizations Not applicable 
Educator Effectiveness Yes 
Expanded Learning Opportunities Grant (ELO-G) Yes 
Career Technical Education Incentive Grant Not applicable 
Transitional Kindergarten Yes 

Charter Schools  
Attendance Yes 
Mode of Instruction Not applicable 
Nonclassroom-Based Instruction/Independent Study Yes 
Determination of Funding for Nonclassroom-Based Instruction Yes 
Annual Instructional Minutes – Classroom Based Not applicable 
Charter School Facility Grant Program Not applicable 

 
“Not applicable” is used in the table above to indicate that the charter school either did not receive program funding 
or did not otherwise operate the program during the fiscal year. 
 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over 
compliance that we identified during the audit. 
  

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

167



 

29 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program on a timely basis. A 
material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a state program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of State Compliance section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.  
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.  
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the K-12 Audit Guide. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
DATE 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

168



 

 
 

 

 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND  
QUESTIONED COSTS 

 

 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

169



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

30 

SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

Financial Statements

Type of auditors' report issued Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered to be material weaknesses? None Reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? None

Federal Awards

Internal control over major program:

Material weakness(es) identified? No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None Reported

Type of auditors' report issued: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance

with Uniform Guidance 2 CFR 200.516(a)? No

Identification of major programs:

AL Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster

84.425, 84.425U Education Stabilization Fund (ESF) Discretionary Grants

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: 750,000$             

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No

State Awards

Internal control over state programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered to be material weaknesses? None Reported

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with 

2022-23 Guide for Annual Audits of California K-12 Local Education Agencies? No

Type of auditors' report issued on compliance for state programs: Unmodified  
 

All audit year findings, if any, are assigned an appropriate finding code as follows:  
 

FIVE DIGIT CODE  AB 3627 FINDING TYPE 
10000  Attendance 
20000  Inventory of Equipment 
30000  Internal Control 
40000  State Compliance 
42000  Charter School Facilities Programs 
43000  Apprenticeship:  Related and Supplemental Instruction 
50000  Federal Compliance 
60000  Miscellaneous 
61000  Classroom Teacher Salaries 
62000  Local Control Accountability Plan 
70000  Instructional Materials 
71000  Teacher Misassignments 
72000  School Accountability Report Card 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

170



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

31 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
There were no audit findings related to the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
. 
 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

171



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

32 

FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
There were no audit findings and questioned costs related to federal awards for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

172



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

33 

STATE AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
There were no audit findings and questioned costs related to state awards for the year ended June 30, 2023.  
 
 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

173



MONARCH RIVER ACADEMY 

34 

SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
This schedule presents the status of actions taken by the Charter on each of the findings and recommendations reported in the prior year audit; however, 
there were no audit findings reported in the year ended June 30, 2022. 
 
 

DRAFT 12
/11

/20
23

174



 Cover Sheet 
 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

 Sec�on:  V. Academic Excellence 
 Item:  B.  Comprehensive Safety Plan 
 Purpose:                                             Discussion & Poten�al Ac�on - Vote 
 Related Material:  Comprehensive Safety Plan MRAC 23_24 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  Addi�on of Melanie’s Law. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  Consider the approval of the updated  Comprehensive Safety Plan. 

175



Rev. November 2023 

Comprehensive Safety Plan  

2023-2024 

Monarch River Academy 
3610 E Ashlan Ave, Fresno, CA 03726 

Ph (559) 258-0800 | Fax (559) 532-0203 

Table of Contents  

176



1 

Emergency Phone Numbers 2 
Incident Command Structure 3 
Initial Crisis Response 4 

A. Overview 4 
B. “INITIAL ACTIONS” 4 
C. “ACTIVE SHOOTER” 6 
D. Incident Commander Structure (ICS) 7 

Incident Commander 7 
PUBLIC INFORMATION OFFICER (PIO) 9 
STUDENT CARE GROUP 10 
FIRST AID GROUP 12 
SEARCH AND RESCUE GROUP 13 
STUDENT ACCOUNTABILITY GROUP 14 
STUDENT RELEASE GROUP 15 

STUDENT RELEASE PROCEDURE 16 
Appendix 17 

MEDIA RELATIONS GUIDE 18 
EARTHQUAKE PROCEDURE 24 
HAZARDOUS MATERIAL RELEASE PROCEDURE 25 
INTRUDER ON SITE PROCEDURE 27 
SEVERE WEATHER PROCEDURE 28 
STUDENT RELEASE REQUEST - Please print clearly 29 
Student Release Log 30 
UTILITY LOSS OR DAMAGE PROCEDURE 31 
BOMB THREAT PROCEDURE 34 
BOMB THREAT CHECKLIST FOR TELEPHONE OPERATORS 41 
BASIC MEDICAL EMERGENCY PROCEDURE 42 
COVID-19 Reporting 43 
Incident Report Form 45 

177



 
2 

Emergency Phone Numbers 
 

Visalia Police Department  
303 S Johnson St, Visalia, CA 93291 
(559) 734-8117 
For emergencies call 911 

Bakersfield Police Department  
1601 Truxtun Ave, Bakersfield, CA 93301 
(661) 327-7111 
For emergencies call 911 

Visalia Fire Department  
(559) 713-4808 
For emergencies call 911 

Bakersfield Fire Department  
(661) 326-3911 
For emergencies call 911 

California Highway Patrol 
(559) 734-6767 

Kaweah Delta Hospital 
(559) 624-2000 

Poison Control 1-800-222-
1222 

National Weather Service 
584-3752 or 584-0583 
(emergency only) 

American Red Cross 
1-800-700-2706 
559-455-1000 (Fresno) 

Southern California Edison 
(Electricity) Customer Service 1-
800-655-4555  Emergency  
1-800-611-1911 
Downed power line/outages 

 
 
 

  

178

https://www.google.com/search?gs_ssp=eJzj4tFP1zfMSIk3qMwtsTBgtFI1qLAwsDQ1SjMzMzU1TklMTEyxMqhIMjVKSTS1NLdMMjExMjNN8pIsyyxOzMlMVCjIz8lMTlVISS1ILCrJTc0rAQCoDxjn&q=visalia+police+department&rlz=1C1GCEA_enUS1013US1013&oq=visalia+polic&aqs=chrome.1.0i355i512j46i175i199i512j0i512l8.3264j0j7&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8
https://www.google.com/search?q=bakersfield+police+department&rlz=1C1GCEA_enUS1013US1013&ei=DO4GY477GsCq0PEP5Zms-Ac&ved=0ahUKEwiOsdXuh-H5AhVAFTQIHeUMC38Q4dUDCA4&uact=5&oq=bakersfield+police+department&gs_lcp=Cgdnd3Mtd2l6EAMyFAguEIAEELEDEIMBEMcBEK8BENQCMgUIABCABDIFCAAQgAQyBQgAEIAEMgUIABCABDIFCAAQgAQyBQgAEIAEMgUIABCABDIFCAAQgAQyBQgAEIAEOgcIABBHELADOgoIABBHELADEMkDOgcIABCwAxBDOgoIABDkAhCwAxgBOhIILhDHARCvARDIAxCwAxBDGAI6BAgAEA06CgguEMcBEK8BEA06DQguEMcBEK8BENQCEA06BggAEB4QBzoTCC4QsQMQgwEQxwEQrwEQ1AIQDUoFCDwSATJKBAhBGABKBAhGGAFQuQlY-Rdgsh5oAnABeACAAbYBiAGoDZIBBDAuMTKYAQCgAQHIARPAAQHaAQYIARABGAnaAQYIAhABGAg&sclient=gws-wiz
https://www.google.com/search?q=bakersfield+fire+department&rlz=1C1GCEA_enUS1013US1013&ei=Te4GY7LxCsKO0PEP1PmKgAg&ved=0ahUKEwjyy8SNiOH5AhVCBzQIHdS8AoAQ4dUDCA4&uact=5&oq=bakersfield+fire+department&gs_lcp=Cgdnd3Mtd2l6EAMyCwguEIAEEMcBEK8BMgUIABCABDIFCAAQgAQyBQgAEIAEMgUIABCABDILCC4QgAQQxwEQrwEyBQgAEIAEMgUIABCABDIFCAAQgAQyBQgAEIAEOgcIABBHELADOgcIABCwAxBDOg0IABDkAhCwAxDJAxgBOgoIABDkAhCwAxgBOhIILhDHARCvARDIAxCwAxBDGAI6EgguEMcBENEDEMgDELADEEMYAjoMCC4QyAMQsAMQQxgCOg8ILhDUAhDIAxCwAxBDGAI6BggAEB4QBzoKCC4QxwEQrwEQDToECAAQDUoFCDwSATJKBAhBGABKBAhGGAFQhA5Y5hFgxRloAnABeACAAYcBiAH4BJIBAzAuNZgBAKABAcgBE8ABAdoBBggBEAEYCdoBBggCEAEYCA&sclient=gws-wiz
https://www.google.com/search?q=california+highway+patrol&rlz=1C1GCEA_enUS1013US1013&tbm=lcl&ei=2u4GY5rBE4zckPIPrN24qAM&oq=california+highway+patrol&gs_l=psy-ab.3..0i512i433i131k1j0i512k1l8j0i512i457k1.73663.78300.0.78539.25.11.0.13.13.0.213.1161.0j6j2.8.0....0...1c.1.64.psy-ab..4.21.1199...0i67k1j0i273k1j0i433i131i67k1j0i433i131k1j0i457i67k1j0i433i131i273k1j0i512i433k1.0.pjuxXHS_7js


 
3 

Incident Command Structure 
 
 

      Incident Commander 
(Superintendent, or Director of Community 

Engagement or her designee) 
Steph Johnson 559-258-0787 

Michelene Fitzgerald 559-905-5373 

      

                    

           Public Liaison 
Officer 

(Superintendent or her 
designee) 

Dr. Damien Phillips 
559-759-5028 

     

                

                    

                    

Student 
Release 
Group 

  Student 
Accountability 

Group 

    Student 
Care 

Group 

 Search and 
Rescue 
Group 

 First Aid 
Group 

        

                    

  Request 
Point 
Team 

                

                  

                    

                    

  Release 
Point 
Team 

                

                  

                    

                    

179



4 

Initial Crisis Response 
A. Overview

This section of the Crisis Response Plan is divided into two parts.  The first outlines four basic “INITIAL 
ACTIONS” that staff will direct students to take in response to most emergencies.   

The second part outlines the three “ACTIVE SHOOTER” actions that should be taken by staff or students 
when they are in immediate contact with a person shooting a gun, or being confronted by a person wielding 
another potentially lethal weapon such as a knife or bat.   

B. “INITIAL ACTIONS”
Regardless of the type of emergency that occurs, the initial response will almost always include one or more 
of these for basic “INITIAL ACTIONS:” 

1. Duck and Cover
2. Evacuate Building
3. Shelter-in-place
4. Lock-Down

When there is a sudden loud noise, or other indication that something bad is happening, the first reaction 
should be to “Duck and Cover”.  Then, once the situation becomes clearer, one of the other “Initial Actions” 
may be implemented.   

Although these four basic Initial Actions will suffice for the vast majority of emergencies, some emergencies 
may prompt the Incident Commander to follow these with additional emergency procedures. Examples of 
other potential actions include the total evacuation of staff and students to an off-site location, or the 
release of students to parents.  When it is necessary to implement these other actions, the school Incident 
Commander will provide direction in person or by other means as necessary.  Recommended additional 
actions for some specific emergencies are included in this plan.   

a. Duck and Cover
Duck and Cover is used as the initial reaction to any sudden event such as gunfire, earthquake, explosion, 
etc.  This action may be followed by “Lock Down”, “Shelter-In-Place”, or “Evacuate Building” actions.   

The Duck and Cover action should also be used during a Lockdown. 

Staff will: 
● If outside, direct students to crouch to the ground, tuck head between knees and cover head and

180



 
5 

face with arms and hands.  Avoid a prone position to preserve 
mobility.   

● If inside, direct students away from windows, bookshelves and 
carts 

● When the threat is over, or it is determined that the Duck and 
Cover is no longer the safest course, move to a different action.  

● Report injuries or other immediate safety concerns. 
● The Incident Commander will notify appropriate school officials 

if needed 
● Begin student release procedures if needed 
●  Prepare incident status report for emergency response 

personnel if needed 
● The Duck and Cover action is rescinded when it is deemed safe 

by the incident commander 
 

b. Evacuate Building (Fire Alarm) 
To be used in any event where the building or scene needs to be evacuated.   
 
Staff will: 

● Secure emergency cards 
● Escort everyone away from the building or away from danger 
● Once the area is clear ensure everyone is accounted for 
● Report injuries or other immediate safety concerns. 
● The Incident Commander will notify appropriate school officials if needed 
● Begin student release procedures if needed 
●  Prepare incident status report for emergency response personnel if needed 
● The Evacuate Building Action is rescinded when it is deemed safe by the incident commander 

 
c. Shelter-In-Place 

To be used in the event of a non-human emergency outside and students/staff are inside a building. 
 
Staff will: 

● Make sure everyone is inside the building 
● Close all doors and windows to exclude outside air if necessary 
● Document the names of all present 
● The Incident Commander will notify appropriate school officials if needed 
● Begin student release procedures if needed 
●  Prepare incident status report for emergency response personnel if needed 
● Be prepared to shut down all HVAC systems, if stopping outside air intrusion is necessary  
● Be prepared to assist with building access for emergency responders  
● The Shelter-In-Place Action is rescinded when it is deemed safe by the incident commander 

 
d. Lock-Down  

To be used in the event of a human emergency such as: 
● Civil disturbance 

181



 
6 

● Gunfire/Police action in the vicinity 
● Other threat situations as appropriate  

 
Staff will: 

● Immediately secure the building 
● Instruct everyone to move away from doors and windows, and then implement DUCK AND COVER 

unless directed otherwise. 
● Close all windows, blinds and curtains 
● Turn off all lights 
● Instruct everyone to remain silent 
● Await further instructions from Incident Commander or Emergency Personnel 
● The Incident Commander will notify appropriate school officials if needed 
● Begin student release procedures if needed 
●  Prepare incident status report for emergency response personnel if needed 
● Be prepared to assist with building access for emergency responders  
● Direct people in route to location to stay away 
● The Lock-Down Action is rescinded when it is deemed safe by the incident commander 

 
C. “ACTIVE SHOOTER” 

One critical exception to handling basic emergencies with the four “Initial Actions” will be when there is an 
Active Shooter situation.  In an Active Shooter situation, one of the three basic “Active Shooter Actions” 
must be taken immediately to protect against loss of life:  

● RUN 
● HIDE  
● FIGHT 

 
Active Shooter Actions 
When an active shooter is in the vicinity: 

1. RUN - If there is an accessible escape path, attempt to evacuate the premises.  Be sure to: 
● Have an escape route and plan in mind 
● Evacuate regardless of whether others agree to follow 
● Leave your belongings behind 
● Help others escape, if possible 
● Prevent individuals from entering the area 
● Follow the instructions of any police officers 
● Keep your hands visible at all times 
● Do not attempt to move wounded people  
● Call 911 when you are safe 

2. HIDE - If evacuation is not possible, quickly find a place to hide.  Your hiding place should: 
● Be out of the active shooter’s view 
● Provide protection if shots are fired in your direction (i.e., an office with a closed and locked 

door) 
● Not trap you or restrict your options for movement 
● If the active shooter is in a nearby room or hallway lock and blockade the door, silence cell 

phones, hide behind large items, remain quiet 

182



 
7 

3. FIGHT - As a last resort, and only when your life is in imminent danger, attempt to disrupt and/or 
incapacitate the active shooter. 

 
D. Incident Commander Structure (ICS) 

Incident Commander 

Responsibilities: The Incident Commander is the Superintendent or her designee.  The 
Incident Commander is responsible for all emergency incident activities.  
This will include the assignment of staff to ICS positions as necessary 
and the development and implementation of strategic decisions.  The 
Incident Commander is responsible for carrying out the duties of all ICS 
positions that are not filled with other staff members.  To be most 
effective, staff should be pre-assigned and trained in advance to fill 
their anticipated emergency duties.  

Safety: Ensure your safety and the safety of others. Brief 
your team: 

● Take no action that might endanger you. 
● Do not work beyond your expertise. 
● Use appropriate safety gear. 
● Size up the situation first. 
● Follow all operational and safety procedures. 

Start-up Actions: ● Implement the Crisis Response Plan and necessary Initial 
Actions such as "Lock Down" or "Shelter-In-Place". 

● Establish an Incident Command Post and stay there! 
● Obtain the school Crisis Response Box and keep it with you. 

Operational 
Duties: 

● Assess the type and scope of emergency. 
● Determine the threat to human life and structures. 
● Distribute Crisis Response Box materials to emergency 

responders as needed. 
● Develop and communicate an incident action plan with 

objectives and a timeframe to meet those objectives. 
● Activate ICS functions and assign positions as needed. 
● Use the "Emergency Assignment Worksheet" to assist you in 

filling and tracking position assignments. 
● Designate a backup or alternate Incident Commander 
● Assemble and brief subordinates 
● Continue to monitor and assess the total school situation. 
● Check with Command Staff and section Chiefs for regularly for 

updates. 

183



 
8 

● Reassign personnel as needed. 
● Report to the school on the status of students, staff, and 

facility, as needed (Site Status Report). 
● Develop and communicate revised incident action plans as 

needed. 
● Begin student release when appropriate. 
● NOTE: No student should be released until student 

accounting is complete.  
● Authorize the release of information. 
● Utilize your back-up and take regular breaks (5-10 minutes 

per hour). During break periods, relocate away from the 
Command Post. 

● Plan regular breaks for all staff and volunteers. Take care 
of your caregivers! 

● Release teachers as appropriate and per school guidelines. 
(By law, during a disaster, teachers become disaster 
workers.) 

● Remain on and in charge of your location until the incident is 
concluded. Should you have to leave the location, appoint a 
Deputy IC to fulfill the command role in your absence. 

Closing Down: ● Authorize deactivation of positions when no longer needed 
● Ensure that any open actions not yet completed will be taken 

care of after deactivation. 
● Ensure the return of all equipment and reusable supplies. 
● Close out all logs. Ensure that all logs, reports, and other 

relevant documents are completed and provided to the 
Documentation Unit. 

● Announce the termination of the emergency and proceed 
with recovery operations if necessary. 

184



 
9 

PUBLIC INFORMATION OFFICER (PIO) 

Responsibilities: ● This person communicates directly with the Incident 
Commander.  This person, the Incident Commander, or the 
Superintendent or their designee should be the only person 
determining what information is suitable for release to the 
press.  

● The PIO is responsible for disseminating information to 
parents and the media. The PIO must work closely with the 
PIOs from law enforcement, fire or other responding agencies 
to ensure the consistency and accuracy of information that is 
consistent, accurate, and timely. 

● The public and parents have the right and need to know 
important information related to an emergency/disaster at 
the school site as soon as it is available. 

● The PIO acts as the official spokesperson for the school 
office/event location in an emergency situation.  

● News media can play a key role in assisting the school in 
getting emergency/ disaster-related information to the public 
(parents). 

● Information released must be preapproved by the Incident 
Commander. 

Safety: Ensure your safety and the safety of others. 

Brief your team: 

● Size up the situation first. 
● Take no action that might endanger you. 
● Do not work beyond your expertise. 
● Use appropriate safety gear. 
● Follow all operational and safety procedures. 

Start-Up Actions: ● Check in with the Incident Commander for a situation briefing. 
● Obtain necessary equipment and supplies from any 

emergency kit pre-established for your position. 

Operational 
Duties: 

● Keep up to date on the situation. 
● Gather facts and write news releases/statements. 
● Releases must be approved by the Incident Commander and 

should reflect: 
● Reassurance -What is being done to protect students 
● Incident or disaster cause and time of origin. 
● Size and scope of the incident. 

185



 
10 

● Current situation-condition of school site, evacuation 
progress, care being given, injuries, student release 
location, etc. Do not release any names. 

● Other information the school needs distributed. 
● Provide talking points if the Incident Commander has 

approved someone other than the PIO to speak to the 
media. 

● Coordinate with law, fire or other involved PIOs to ensure 
information released is consistent and accurate. 

● Ensure updates are made throughout the day, even if 
nothing new has happened. 

● Releases must be approved by the Incident Commander and 
should reflect: 

● Remain accessible to the media.  
● Read statements if possible. 
● When answering questions, be complete and truthful, 

always considering confidentiality and emotional impact. 
● Avoid speculation, bluffing, lying, talking "off the record," 

arguing, etc. 
● Avoid using the phrase "no comment." 
● Remind school staff to refer all questions from the media or 

parents to the PIO. 
● Update information periodically with the Incident Commander. 
● Ensure that announcements and other information are 

translated into other languages as needed. 
● Monitor news broadcasts about the incident. Correct any 

misinformation heard. Control rumors! 

Closing Down: ● When assigned tasks are completed, return 
equipment/supplies, and report to the Incident 
Commander for reassignment or release. 

 STUDENT CARE GROUP 

Responsibilities: Ensure the care and safety of all students except those who are in the 
medical treatment area. 

186



 
11 

Safety Rules: ● Ensure your safety and the safety of others: 
● Size up the situation first. 
● Take no action that might endanger you. 
● Do not work beyond your expertise. 
● Use appropriate safety gear. 
● Follow all operational and safety procedures. 

Start-up 
Actions: 

● Obtain supplies from any pre-established "Group" kits. 
● Obtain briefing from Incident Commander. 

Operational 
duties: 

● Monitor the safety and well-being of the students and staff in 
the assembly area or alternate location 

● Administer minor first aid as needed. 
● When necessary, provide water and food to students and staff. 
● Make arrangements for portable toilets if necessary, ensuring 

that students and staff wash their hands thoroughly to 
prevent disease. 

● Make arrangements to provide shelter for students and staff. 
● Arrange activities and keep students reassured. 
● Assist in updating records of the number of students and staff 

in the assembly area and/ buildings. 
● Direct all media or parent requests for information to the Public 

Information Officer or Incident Commander. 

Closing Down: ● When assigned tasks are completed, return 
equipment/supplies, and report to the Incident Commander 
for reassignment or release. 

  

  

187



 
12 

FIRST AID GROUP 

Responsibilities: In a school emergency, the First Aid Group is responsible for initiating 

emergency first aid to injured or ill staff and students. They will coordinate 

their efforts with those of arriving professional emergency responders. 

Safety Rules: Ensure your safety and the safety of others: 

● Size up the situation first. 
● Take no action that might endanger you. 
● Do not work beyond your expertise. 
● Use appropriate safety gear. 

Follow all operational and safety procedures: 

● Ensure members use latex or nitrile gloves for protection from 
body fluids and new gloves for each new patient. 

● Ensure members wear appropriate eyeglasses and masks to 
protect eyes, nose and mouth from body fluids. 

Start-up 
Actions: 

● Obtain necessary equipment from any pre-established First Aid 
supply caches. 

● Obtain briefing from Incident Commander. 

Operational 
Duties: 

● Establish scope of emergency and request outside resources 
needed to provide emergency medical support and transport. 

● Assign teams as needed for "Triage", "Immediate Treatment" and 
"Delayed Treatment". Two or more people per team, if possible. 

● Review safety procedures and assignments with personnel. 
● Set up one or more first aid areas: 

●  In a safe place (upwind from smoke or 

hazardous materials) 
● With access to emergency vehicles 

● Provide staff to respond to injured people in remote locations 
who cannot be moved to first aid stations due to their injuries. 

● Keep the Operations Section Chief informed of the overall status. 

Remember: A student's emergency information/parental 
consent for treatment card/information must accompany each 
student transported off-site for advanced medical attention. 

Closing Down: ● When assigned tasks are completed, return equipment/supplies, 
and report to the Incident Commander for reassignment or 
release. 

188



 
13 

SEARCH AND RESCUE GROUP 

Responsibilities: Locate and report locations of trapped or injured staff or students. Free 

them only if you can do so safely. 

Safety: Use the buddy system: Divide into Teams as needed, and ensure that 

each team has been assigned a minimum of 2 persons. 

● Size up the situation first. 
● Take no action that might endanger you. 
● Do not work beyond your expertise. 
● Use appropriate safety gear. 
● Follow all operational and safety procedures. 

Start-up Actions: ● Obtain a briefing from the Incident Commander 
● Obtain equipment from any pre assembled Group kit. 

Operational 
Duties: 

● Report hazardous conditions to the Incident Command Post 
immediately upon discovery. 

● Before entering a building, inspect the complete exterior of the 
building. Do not enter severely damaged buildings. If you are in 
doubt about your safety, DO NOT ENTER! 

● If the building is safe to enter, search the assigned area using an 
orderly pattern; Check all rooms. 

● Use chalk or grease pencil to mark a slash on the door when 
entering a room. This indicates to others that you are inside. 

● Check under desks and tables. Search visually and vocally. Listen. 
● When leaving each room, complete the slash to form an "X" on 

the door. This indicates you have searched the room and left. 
● If possible, report by radio to the Incident Command Post as the 

rooms are searched and cleared. (e.g. "Room A-123 is clear."). 
● When an injured victim is located, transmit the location, number, 

and condition of the injured to the Command Post. Do not use 
names of students or staff. 

● Keep radio communication brief and simple. Do not use codes. 

Remember: If you are not acknowledged, repeat your transmission. 

Closing Down: ● When assigned tasks are completed, return equipment/supplies, 
and report to the Incident Commander for reassignment or release. 

189



 
14 

  

STUDENT ACCOUNTABILITY GROUP 

Responsibilities: This group is responsible for accounting for all students in the 
Assembly Area(s} following an evacuation. The Student 
Accountability Group is responsible for obtaining and reporting 
student accountability information to the Incident Commander.  

Safety Rules: Ensure your safety and the safety of others: 

● Size up the situation first. 
● Take no action that might endanger you. 
● Do not work beyond your expertise. 
● Use appropriate safety gear. 
● Follow all operational and safety procedures. 

Start-up 
Actions: 

● Obtain supplies from any pre-established "Group" kits. 
● Obtain briefing from Group Leader/Operations Chief. 

Operational 
duties: 

● Establish contact with each pre-designated team leaders and 
obtain accountability report for each area/office. 

● Provide accountability reports to Operations Chief: 

1.  Provide name and last known location of any 
missing student or staff. 

2.  Update report if missing are located. 

● Maintain current record of the number of students and staff 
in the assembly area and/ buildings. 

● Maintain record of students or staff who leave assembly 
area for any reason. 

● Direct all media or parent requests for information to the PIO. 

Closing Down: ● When assigned tasks are completed, return 
equipment/supplies, and report to the Incident Commander 
for reassignment or release. 

 
  

190



 
15 

STUDENT RELEASE GROUP  

Responsibilities: Assure the reunification of students with their parents or authorized adult through 
separate Request and Release Points. 

Student Release will be conducted as outlined in the "Student Release Procedure" 
of the school Crisis Response Plan. The procedure guides release from the event 
location(s) as well as release from an evacuation site. 

Principles outlined in this checklist will apply to either situation. 

Safety: Use the buddy system: Divide into Teams as needed, and ensure that each team 
has been assigned a minimum of 2 persons. 

● Size up the situation first. 
● Take no action that might endanger you. 
● Do not work beyond your expertise. 
● Use appropriate safety gear. 
● Follow all operational and safety procedures. 

Start Up Actions: ● Obtain a briefing from the Incident Commander 
● Obtain equipment from any preassembled Group kit. 
● Obtain Student Emergency Cards from Incident Commander (kept in school 

Crisis Response Box or in Pathways). 

Operational 
Duties: 

● Obtain and follow the "Student Release Procedure". 
•      The procedure is available in the school Crisis Response Plan, but 

should also be kept in the school Crisis Response Box and/or any 
pre-assembled Operations/Student Release Group kit. 

Items below are general steps: 
● Maintain strict accountability/record of all students released! 
● Work with the Security Group as needed to secure the areas. 
● Coordinate with the "Evacuation Group" if releasing from another location 

following evacuation of the office/event location. 
● Set up "Request Point" and "Release Point" at planned locations. 
● Receive release request and confirm requestor ID. 
● Confirm they are authorized to pick up student. 
● If confirmed, direct them to Release Point. 
● Send runner to get student and take to Release Point. 
● Release Point confirms student and parent ID, releases student. 

Refer all requests for information to the PIO. 

191



 
16 

Closing Down: ● When assigned tasks are completed, return equipment/supplies, and 
report to the Incident Commander for reassignment or release. 

STUDENT RELEASE PROCEDURE 
 

Overview 
 Release of students to parents following, or in the course of, a school emergency can be one of the most 
challenging emergency tasks that school administrators may face. As such, careful planning is critical. It is also 
imperative that parents are well informed as to what the process will be prior to an emergency. 

 Schools must also be prepared to handle situations where students have been injured, perhaps fatally, cannot 
be located, or for other reasons cannot be immediately released to parents. In addition to the "Request" and 
"Release" points outlined in this Student Release procedure, schools must designate a private location where 
parents can be taken and made comfortable until the Incident Commander, Law enforcement or other officials 
can meet with them to explain the circumstances. Schools should also prepare to provide crisis counseling. 

  

Practice Makes Perfect! 
 Schools must practice the student release process under non-emergency conditions.  

  

Student Release Group 
 Student release is conducted by the "Student Release Group", and schools must predetermine the number of 
staff that will need to be assigned to the group, typically based on the number of students involved. The 
Student Release Group will be divided into two teams; Request Point and Release Point. 

●  The Request Point Team must have people to receive release request forms and people to act as 
runners to go get the requested students and escort them to the Release Point. 

 

● The Release Point Team must have people to check parent identification and release 
students and should have someone assigned to escort parents to a private holding area 
when a student cannot be located or released for whatever reason. 

 Set Up: 

● Secure an area against unauthorized access.  
● Set up the Request Point at the pre-designated location. Post a "Request Point" sign. 
● Establish multiple "Request Lines". 
● Obtain Student Emergency Cards from the school Crisis Response Box or from Pathways. 
● Have Student Release Forms and pens available for distribution to parents while in line. 
● Set up Release Point, with sign, at pre-designated location well away from Request Point. 
● If not pre-determined, identify where parents of "Missing" students are to be taken.  

192



 
17 

Appendix 
 

A. Media Relations Guide 

B. Earthquake Procedure 

C. Hazardous Material Release Procedure 

D. Intruder on site Procedure 

E. Severe Weather Procedure 

F. Student Release Request 

G. Student Release Log 

H. Utility Loss or Damage Procedure 

I. Bomb Threat Procedure 

J. Bomb Threat Checklist for Telephone Operators 

K. Basic Medical Emergency Procedure 

L. Covid 19 Reporting  

M. Incident Report Form 

N. Opioid Prevention and Response 

  

193



 
18 

Appendix A 

MEDIA RELATIONS GUIDE 
 (Suggestions for working with the News Media) 

Introduction 

The public (including parents) has a right to timely and accurate information when a school crisis occurs.  
Additionally, the media can be a powerful tool when the school needs to control rumors or impart critical 
information to parents such as where to pick up their children during an evacuation.  

Schools share responsibility for issuing public statements during an emergency with other agencies such as 
law enforcement and the fire department. It is therefore imperative that these entities work together 
before and during an emergency to ensure they can provide cohesive, accurate and timely incident 
information regardless of who issues the information. 

The school Incident Commander should appoint an individual and alternates, in advance, to serve as the 
school’s Public Information Officer (PIO) and assistants, if needed, during a crisis.  Ideally, the school PIO 
staff should meet with local fire and law representatives to discuss how they will work together, develop 
media contact lists, and accomplish other preplanning tasks such as creating generic message templates for 
use in an emergency. 

The suggestions below have been compiled from a variety of sources and are intended to assist the school 
Incident Commander and/or Public Information Officer in preparing for and handling media 
communications: 

Preplan A Media Center Location and Supplies 
• The school Incident Commander, in concert with emergency officials, should determine in advance 

where the school media center will be established, and identify an alternate site should it become 
necessary to evacuate.  

• The media center should, at minimum, have telephones, copier, FAX and Internet service available. 

• Determine and obtain in advance the materials and supplies you will need to support your media 
operations. 

• Office supplies include chairs, desks, bulletin boards, flip charts, computers, printers, fax 
machines, telephones, cell phones and chargers, digital cameras, TV, radios, copy machine, file 
folders, paper, message pads, school letterhead, pens, and pencils. 

• Communications supplies include press release templates, school fact sheets, and other 
documents to assist in providing rapid and factual information. 

• Key lists include staff and student telephone directories, media directory, a map of the school 
and area. 

 

Understand The Needs Of The Media  

194



 
19 

Recognize that the needs of the media will change as the situation evolves! 
● First hours of the crisis: The media will make a mad scramble for information. Reporters will 

interview anyone willing to talk, often without verifying accuracy of information. The more 
information released, the less the media will have to rely on rumor and hearsay. 

● What and who: The media will want to know exactly what happened and who was involved — 
victims and perpetrators. 

● Why and how: The media will ask why the crisis occurred and how it evolved. There will be a step-
by-step dissection of the crisis. 

● Analysis of emergency response: The media will analyze how the crisis response functioned. Did 
first responders react appropriately? Did the school’s crisis plan work? 

● How could it happen: As the situation stabilizes, the media will begin to look for causes of the 
tragedy and whether it could have been avoided. For example, they’ll ask, “Were proper emergency 
planning measures in place”? 

● Second-day stories:  The media will begin to look for a different spin or angles, emerging issues 
and people to interview. The media will also want to cover special events, such as memorials, the 
first day back at school and athletic activities.  

 
Things To Remember When Working With The Media 
● Immediacy: Issue an accurate, factual, initial statement as quickly as possible. 

● Location: Designate a media area where all briefings will be held.  Secure the school perimeter and 
determine where media will/will not be permitted. 

● Purpose: Use local media as a quick communications pipeline to key audiences, but don’t depend 
solely on the media. 

● Policy: Make sure you follow all school policies and state laws when releasing information. Respect 
student and staff health, safety and privacy rights! 

● Key messages: Develop two or three key messages that are honest, consistent, responsive and 
responsible. Strive to be positive and proactive. 

● Accuracy: Never guess, speculate or predict the future. Don’t release information until you have 
verified its accuracy. Never go off the record. 

● Availability: Hold regular media briefings and respect deadlines. Avoid saying “no comment.” 
Provide a brief statement and then take a few questions, but stop when they get redundant or head 
off course. 

● Attitude: Express sympathy; be calm and respectful. Avoid getting defensive or placing blame. 

  

195



 
20 

Consider Student and Staff Privacy Issues 
● Understand the roles of law enforcement, schools, hospitals and families in releasing names and 

conditions of victims. 
● The school should have a carefully considered and crafted policy regarding release of student and 

staff names and photos. 
● Consider laws such as Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act as well as restrictions regarding 

identification of special education students. 
● Consider the need for parental consent before students are allowed to participate in interviews or 

be photographed or filmed while under the control of school officials.  
● Be aware that the media may use existing file photos of students or staff participating in athletic or 

other events. 
● Remember that staff and students have the right to: 

✔ Say “no” to an interview. 

✔ Be treated with respect. 
✔ Select the time and location of the interview. 
✔ Have someone with you during the interview. 
✔ Know the purpose of the story. 
✔ Ask about the questions in advance.  
✔ Request a specific reporter and/or refuse to work with certain reporters. 
✔ Speak to one reporter at a time. 
✔ Release a written statement instead of having an interview. 
✔ Refrain from answering uncomfortable questions. 
✔ Say when the interview is over. 
✔ Ask for a correction if information is wrong. 

 
Consider Using Other Available Communication Tools 

● Website - Create an emergency Web Page linked to the school Website for daily updates. 
● Emails and faxes - Set up an email distribution list to stakeholders who need to be contacted 

regularly, including staff, media, parents and elected officials. 
● Social networks - Use Facebook, Instagram and other social networking tools to provide 

information quickly to parents and other stakeholders. 
● Hotline - Dedicate a phone line to emergency information and update it frequently. 
● Phone Tree – For small schools, especially, phone trees can be used to disburse information rapidly 

when other systems are down.  Messages must be short and factual to avoid sharing misinformation 
or starting rumors. 

● Face-to-face – Well prepared press conferences or public meetings and can be an effective way to 
answer questions, address concerns and build public and media confidence in how an incident is 
being managed. 

196



 
21 

Questions Frequently Asked By Parents And The Media 
Anticipating questions parents and the media will ask can be very helpful to the school 
Incident Commander and Public Information Officer as they prepare to conduct press 
conferences or release information.  These are some of the common questions asked: 

Q: What happened? 
A: Stick to the facts that you have verified: who, what, when, where. Coordinate 
information release with law enforcement, fire or other officials. 

Q: How much damage was sustained? 
A: NEVER SPECULATE on dollar amount of damage. Give factual, clear information 

as it becomes available (e.g., two areas have sustained damage in the fire). 

Q: How many people were killed/injured/missing? 
A: ONLY RELEASE CONFIRMED NUMBERS. Coordinate with law enforcement. 

Q: How can I get updated information? 
A: Give time, location of next briefing as well as hotline number. 

Q: How can I locate a family member, colleague or student? 
A: Provide evacuee information numbers. 

Q: How can parents and teachers receive information? 
A: Provide hotline number. 

Q: How can I volunteer to help or provide donations? 
A: Provide information and direct inquiries to organizations such as the Red Cross. 

Q: Why did this happen? 
A: NEVER SPECULATE. 

Q: What are you doing next? 
A: We are assessing the situation and will determine next steps in cooperation with 

law enforcement. Provide information on how families are being reunited, when 
classes will resume, etc. 

Q: Were any policies or laws violated? 
A: We are conducting a thorough investigation into what occurred and how it can 

be prevented in the future. 

Q: When will school resume? 
A: The administration and school board are meeting this evening to make that 

decision. 

Q: Where can I get information about assistance to victims? 
A: Be prepared to provide contact information for mental health assistance, 
financial aid, or other services such as food shelter and clothing.  

  

197



 
22 

“Grab and Go” Initial Media Release Template 
A simple “Grab and Go” template such as this will assist in preparing a quick initial press release 
about an incident occurring at a school event location. It may be faxed or emailed to local media. 

 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

DATE/ 
TIME :                                    (Indicate the current time and date) 
 
YOUR NAME 
AND TITLE:                          (Your title will lend credence to your report) 
 
YOUR PHONE 
NUMBER(s):          (Use a school number.  Avoid revealing your personal cell number!) 
 
NAME OF 
SCHOOL:                   (Be sure to indicate High School,  Middle School, etc.) 
 
SCHOOL 
ADDRESS:                   (If rural, indicate miles and direction from closest community) 
 
TYPE OF 
INCIDENT:              (Use common terms, “fire”, “explosion”, “chemical spill”) 
 
SITUATION 
OVERVIEW: 

(Be brief and factual): “At approximately 10:00 a.m., a fire broke out in a classroom 
at the John Doe Elementary school near Appleville.“ 
 

 
ACTION 
BEING 
TAKEN: 

(Again, be brief and factual. Inject a positive statement to indicate the situation is being 
handled proactively,):  “At this time school buildings have been evacuated and the fire 
department is working to contain the fire. As always our number one concern is for the 
safety of our students and staff and the emergency procedures we practice regularly have 
been implemented.” 
 

 
REPORTED 
INJURIES: 

(Be very careful here not to stir undue concern or panic. Don’t speculate about or estimate 
the number or types of injuries. Provide general factual information and attempt to keep 
the message positive by reiterating that professional rescuers are on top of the situation. 
Stress that additional information will be forthcoming.) 
 “We have an unconfirmed report of a possible injury, and emergency personnel are 
currently assessing that situation. We will have additional information available as soon as 
the emergency responders are able to give us an update.”   
  

 
SPECIAL 
INFORMATION: 

(If there is a special announcement that needs to be broadcast to parents or the public, 
use this block for that announcement.   If the school has a public website or other 
source of school related information that might interest the media or public, you may 
also use this block to provide the website address, phone numbers, etc.)   
 
 

  

198



 
23 

Sample Parent/Press Message 
Schools may also wish to draft sample announcements, such as below, in advance.  When 
needed, messages can be quickly disseminated by simply altering dates, times and other 
variable information.  Not only will this save time, it will provide consistency in the 
messages that parents receive, and help assure that important information is not 
overlooked in the rush to craft a message and get it out.  This format can also be used to 
develop press releases. 

 
SAMPLE 

Parent Notification/Press Release 
SCHOOL LOCK DOWN 

 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
 
[Headline:]  
DOE SCHOOL LOCKED DOWN  
[Message:] 
FRESNO, CA – July 17, 2022, 10:00 a.m. – This message is to advise you that the John Doe school is 

presently under LOCK DOWN.  This action has been taken in response to a police SWAT action that 

is occurring in the vicinity of the school.   

As our primary concern is student safety, students will be kept in secured areas until further 

notice.  This may delay the release of students slated to board buses or be picked up by parents at 

2:35 p.m.  For the protection of our students and staff, as well as parents, parents are asked not to 

come to or call the school at this time.  Please be patient. We will provide periodic updates for the 

duration of this activity, and will advise parents by phone or text message as soon as this action 

has ended and it is deemed safe to resume normal school operations or release students.   

Additional information will be posted on the school website at www.jdschool.k.12.org as it 

becomes available.  Recorded updates can be accessed on the school Hot Line at 559-555-1212. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Back to Appendix 

199



 
24 

 

Appendix B 

EARTHQUAKE PROCEDURE 
Earthquakes generally occur without warning and may cause minor to serious ground 
shaking, damage to building and injuries.  

The Initial Action for any earthquake will be “Duck and Cover”. 
 
School Commander (Principal or designee): 

◻ If necessary, call 9-1-1 to report damage and/or injuries 

◻ After the shaking stops, initiate an EVACUATE BUILDING alert.   
◻ If necessary, initiate parent notification procedures for students inside the building 

without their parents. 
◻ If necessary, establish an Incident Command post and activate appropriate Incident 

Command functions. Consider need for: 

✔ First Aid Group 

✔ Utility Group 

✔ Security Group 

✔ Others, as needed. 
◻ Consider need to cancel event due to power loss, building damage or other factors. 
◻ Consider need to evacuate everyone to evacuation site. 
◻ Implement parent notification and Student Release procedures as necessary. 
◻ As needed, consult with emergency management and public safety officials to 

determine if school buildings are safe to reoccupy.   
 

Teachers and staff: 
◻ Upon the first indication of an earthquake, teachers should direct students to 

DUCK and COVER, seek shelter under desks and move away from windows and 
overhead hazards.  

◻ If outdoors, teachers should direct students to move away from buildings, gas and 
electrical lines. 

◻ If EVACUATION is ordered, teachers will bring their student roster. 
◻ Take attendance at the Assembly Area, and report any missing or injured students. 
◻ Initiate first-aid if needed. 
◻ Await further instructions from the school Incident Commander.  

 
 
 
 

200



 
25 

 
Back to Appendix  

201



 
26 

Appendix C 

HAZARDOUS MATERIAL RELEASE PROCEDURE 
 
A Hazardous Material (HazMat) release is the discharge or spill of a biological or chemical 
substance including release of radioactive materials.  HazMat incidents most commonly 
involve liquids, powders, or vapors.   HazMat incidents at school event location(s) most 
often occur in laboratory or vocational training areas, or in maintenance areas.  HazMat 
incidents may also involve chemical releases from rail cars, trucks or industrial sites near 
the office/event location(s).  Releases at the office/event location or in surrounding areas 
may both pose threats that require prompt action by school officials. 

FOR ON-SITE RELEASES WITHIN A BUILDING: 
Administration: 
◻ The school Incident Commander (or first staff member to recognize the release), 

should initiate an EVACUATION of that building only. 
✔ If possible exterior doors should be closed (but not locked), and air moving 

systems shut down as the building is vacated. 
✔ If a substantial vapor cloud is present, efforts should be made to evacuate 

to an area upwind of the affected building.  

◻ The school Incident Commander should initiate a “SHELTER-IN-PLACE” action for 
other buildings on site. This will help avoid exposing students or staff to potential 
vapors, or contamination from persons who have evacuated the immediate area of 
the release. 

◻ The School Incident Commander (or designee) will call 9-1-1 and: 
✔ Identify the location. 
✔ Describe the nature of the emergency (fire, smoke, building collapse, etc.) 
✔ Describe actions being taken to safeguard staff and students 
✔ Provide the exact location of the problem. 
✔ Advise of the location of the school Incident Command Post. 

◻ The Incident Commander will direct staff to secure the area around the chemical 
spill.   

◻ The Incident Commander will establish a school Incident Command Post, upwind 
and out of the immediate danger area.  

◻ The Incident Commander will confirm with Accountability Team Leaders that roll 
has been taken of those evacuated and that all students are accounted for. 

◻ Until emergency responders can arrive and assist, the Incident Commander must 
then assess the situation and consider these questions: 

✔ Could a Search and Rescue Group safely look for missing students? 

✔ Should other buildings be evacuated? 

✔ Should evacuees be moved to a safer indoor location (Shelter-In-Place)? 

202



 
27 

✔ Are any evacuees contaminated, and should they be separated from 
others? 

✔ Can First-Aid be started on injured persons without contaminating others?  

✔ Should a “Student Release” or “Off-Site Evacuation” be started? 

HAZARDOUS MATERIAL RELEASE PROCEDURE - continued 

◻ The Incident Commander will brief emergency responders when they arrive, and 
promote full cooperation between them and the school’s staff.  

Teachers: 
◻ Implement “Evacuation” or “Shelter-In-Place” procedures as directed. 

 
RELEASES OUTSIDE OFFICE BUILDING/EVENT LOCATION OR RELEASE THREAT FROM AN 
ALTERNATE LOCATION: 

The most appropriate initial action for this type of release is Shelter-In-Place. 

◻ The school Incident Commander will initiate a office/school event location-wide 
“SHELTER-IN-PLACE” action and ensure all students and staff outside buildings are 
quickly moved indoors. 
✔ The Incident Commander should remind staff to turn off air 

handling/ventilation systems, close all windows and doors and turn off fans 
and air conditioners.  

◻ School Incident Commander (or designee) will call 9-1-1 and: 

✔ Identify the school and location. 

✔ Describe the nature of the emergency (fire, smoke, building collapse, etc.) 

✔ Describe actions being taken to safeguard staff and students 

✔ Provide the exact location of the problem. 

✔ Advice on the location of the school Incident Command Post. 

◻ The Incident Commander should consider initiating an immediate parent 
notification.  
✔ At this point parents should NOT come to the school and risk being exposed 

to the chemical release! 

◻ The Incident Commander will ensure that anyone enroute to the school with 
students are redirected to the off-site evacuation site to await further instructions.  

◻ The school will remain in SHELTER-IN-PLACE until the Incident Commander and 
emergency response officials can further assess the situation to determine the best 
next course of action: 

✔ Continue “Shelter-In-Place” 

✔ Notify parents and initiate the “Student Release” procedure. 

203



 
28 

✔ Initiate an immediate “Evacuation” procedure.  

✔ Issue an “ALL CLEAR” signal and resume normal school operations. 
 

 

 

Back to Appendix 

Appendix D 

INTRUDER ON SITE PROCEDURE 
When an unknown person (intruder) is found on site: 

◻ Notify school office/Incident Commander. 
◻ Ask another staff person to accompany you before approaching person. 
◻ Politely greet person and identify yourself. 
◻ Ask the purpose of the visit, and inform person all visitors must register at the front 

desk. 
◻ If intruder’s purpose is not legitimate, ask person to accompany you to the exit.  

If intruder refuses to go to office or leave, or you become aware that intruder is armed: 
◻ Walk away from intruder and maintain visual contact from a safe distance, while other 

staff member notifies school office/Incident Commander: 
✔ Provide a description of the intruder. 
✔ Provide last known location. 

◻ School office/Incident Commander will initiate an immediate school “LOCK DOWN”. 
◻ School Incident Commander (or designee) will call 9-1-1 and: 

✔ Identify the school and location. 
✔ Provide description of the intruder, and whether intruder is known to be 

armed. 
✔ Provide last known location of intruder. 
✔ Describe actions being taken to safeguard staff and students. 
✔ Advice on the location of the school Incident Command Post. 

◻ If possible, maintain surveillance of intruder and update law enforcement upon arrival.   
◻ Maintain “LOCK DOWN” until situation is resolved. 

IF YOU DISCOVER A HOSTAGE SITUATION: 
◻ If hostage taker is unaware of your presence, do not intervene. 
◻ Notify the school office/incident Commander. 
◻ School Incident Commander will initiate immediate “LOCK DOWN”. 
◻ School Incident Commander (or designee) will call 9-1-1 and: 

✔ Identify the school and location. 
✔ Provide description of the intruder, and whether intruder is known to be 

armed. 
✔ Provide last known location of intruder. 
✔ Describe actions being taken to safeguard staff and students. 

204



 
29 

✔ Advise of the location of the school Incident Command Post. 
◻ If possible, maintain surveillance of intruder and update law enforcement upon arrival.   
◻ Maintain “LOCK DOWN” until situation is resolved. 

If taken hostage: 
◻ Treat the hostage taker as normally as possible and follow his/her instructions.  
◻ Do not panic and calm students if they are present. 
◻ Be respectful to hostage taker, ask to speak and do not argue or make suggestions. 

If hostage taker becomes violent initiate “ACTIVE SHOOTER” action – RUN, HIDE, FIGHT! 
 

 
 
 

Back to Appendix 
Appendix E 

SEVERE WEATHER PROCEDURE 
 
For the purposes of this procedure “Severe Weather” is defined as a severe windstorm, 
hail storm, lightning storm or other weather event that could result in damage to school 
facilities or injuries to students or staff.  
 
If a “Severe Weather Watch” has been issued by the National Weather Service: 

◻ Monitor NOAA Weather Stations (National Weather Service, Weather Channel, 
etc.) 

◻ Bring all persons inside building(s). 
◻ Be prepared to move students from outside areas into permanent buildings. 
◻ Close facility doors, windows and blinds or curtains. 
◻ Review severe weather drill procedures and location of safe areas.  Severe weather 

safe areas are under desks, in hallways and interior rooms away from windows. 
◻ Review “Duck and Cover” procedures with students. 
◻ Avoid gyms and cafeterias with wide free-span roofs and large areas of glass 

windows. 
 

If a “Severe Weather Warning” has been issued in the area, or if severe weather is being 
observed at or near the site: 

◻ The school Incident Commander will initiate a “SHELTER-IN-PLACE”.  
◻ If flying debris or hail is creating a risk of broken windows, etc. the school Incident 

Commander will further direct staff to implement “Duck and Cover” procedures 
until the threat subsides.  

◻ The school Incident Commander should also be prepared to provide shelter to 
parents who may arrive to pick up children during the storm, until such time as it is 
safe to formally release the students without posing undue risk to staff or other 
students. 

After passage of the storm: 

205



 
30 

◻ The school Incident Commander will rescind the “Duck and Cover” order. 
o Shelter-In-Place should temporarily be continued. 

◻ The school Incident Commander should deploy staff to do a preliminary damage 
assessment of site buildings and facilities, to identify issues that need to be 
immediately addressed before students and staff are released to move about. 

◻ Based on this assessment the school Incident Commander will: 

✔ Continue “Shelter-In-Place” until school event location(s) can be made safe. 

✔ Give the “ALL CLEAR” signal and resume normal school operations. 

✔ Notify parents and initiate the “Student Release” procedure. 

✔ Initiate an “Evacuation” procedure.  
 

Back to Appendix

 

Appendix F 

        STUDENT RELEASE REQUEST - Please print clearly 

REQUEST POINT This section is to be completed by Adult requesting student. 

Date:  Time: 
Student's 
Name: 

Teacher  
or Grade: 

Requesting  
Adult’s Name: 
Adult’s 
Address      

 STREET ADDRESS  CITY, STATE, ZIP  

Adult’s 
Phones:   Home: _____________________________  Cell: _____________________________ 
Relationship 
to Student: 
Student 
Will 
Be Taken:      ◻ Home          ◻ Other: __________________________________________________ 
Requesting 
Adult’s Signature: 

◻ Authority Verified Request Team 
Member Signature: 

TEACHER      Teacher:  Please Indicate Student Status.  

     ◻ Sent with Runner            ◻ Absent Today               ◻ MISSING         (Use comment area at bottom, as needed.) 

Teacher Signature: 

206



 
31 

RELEASE POINT Release Date: Release Time: 

◻ Adult and Student 
Identity Verified 

Request Team 
Member Signature: 

COMMENTS Continue comments on reverse as needed…  

 

Back to Appendix 

Appendix G 

         Student Release Log 
     DATE: _________________________________ 

Student’s Name Release 
Time 

Print Name Of Adult Student 
 Is Being Released To 

Adult’s Signature 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

207



 
32 

    

    

    

    

    

    
Back to Appendix 

 

Appendix H 

      UTILITY LOSS OR DAMAGE PROCEDURE 
 
Loss of electricity is the most common utility problem.  However, loss of gas, water or sewage disposal may 
also occur.  Utility systems may also suffer damage or failure of related components on the site.    

LOSS OF UTILITIES 
Most often the loss of utilities is a result of failure or damage of utility company infrastructure located away 
from the location.  Interruptions are normally brief, and though inconvenient, result in only minimal 
disruption of normal operations.  However, some outages can be extensive, so it is important to contact the 
utility company as soon as failure occurs to find out how long they anticipate an outage might last.   

When it appears the outage will not end in a reasonable amount of time, school officials must weigh their 
options for closing down and sending everyone home. 

UTILITY SYSTEM DAMAGE OR FAILURE AT THE SCHOOL OFFICE/SCHOOL EVENT LOCATION 
Utility failure or damage on site can pose serious threats to students or staff: 

● Gas leaks may require only a spark to set off an explosion.  
● A broken water pipe may cause extensive flood damage to buildings and property. 
● Electrical failures cause disruption of needed heating, ventilation, and air conditioning. 
● Electrical failure may also result in loss of well water and sewage disposal. 
● Broken electrical lines or components may pose a shock hazard to staff or students. 

The initial response to any problem with utility systems on site is to try to identify the source of the 
problem, isolate the area, and shut off the supply of water, gas or electricity to the affected system 
component or building.  The other, but less desired, approach is to shut down the gas, water or electrical 
supply to the entire site.  

For these reasons, the school should develop detailed maps that indicate not only the main office/event 
location(s) utility shut offs, but shut-offs for individual buildings as well as mechanical equipment such as 

208



 
33 

heating, ventilation, and air conditioning units.  These maps should be kept readily available in the school 
Crisis Response Box.   

The school Incident Commander and other key school personnel must know which type of system supplies 
the school and how to shut it off. 
 
  

209



 
34 

 

EMERGENCY PROCEDURES 
Gas Leak - INDOOR:  

◻ Upon detecting gas odor, staff shall initiate EVACUATION of the affected building. 
✔ If the fire alarm uses mechanical bells, versus a speaker system, avoid using the fire alarm as it may 

create an explosive spark. 
✔ DO NOT turn off lights or other electrical equipment which may cause a spark.  
✔ Leave doors open to provide ventilation of the building.  

◻ The school Incident Commander/designee will call 9-1-1: 

✔ Give school name and address. 

✔ Give location of gas leak – what building and what’s leaking, if known. 

✔ Describe best UPWIND access point for emergency responders – driveway/gate. 

✔ Indicate that evacuation is underway and stay on the line to provide updates. 

◻ The school Incident Commander/designee will notify the natural gas company or bottled gas 
provider, describe the problem and request a response if appropriate. 

◻ The school Incident Commander will determine whether to evacuate other buildings. 

✔ Shelter in place may be most appropriate if leak is small and contained to other building, 
weather is inclement, etc.   

✔ If sheltering in place, SHUT DOWN HVAC systems to keep gas out of buildings!   

◻ The school Incident Commander will activate the Utilities Group, or otherwise direct staff to attempt to 
shut down gas at main shut-off or building shut-off. 

◻ Do not reenter the building(s) until fire or utility officials say it is safe 

Gas Leak - OUTDOOR:  

◻ Upon detecting gas odor, staff shall initiate EVACUATION of the immediate area 
✔ Move everyone UPWIND, at least 100’, more if leak is major  
✔ Post staff to prevent entry to the area 
✔ Prevent vehicles, including school service carts, etc. from entering area 

◻ Notify the school office/school Incident Commander  

◻ The school Incident Commander/designee will call 9-1-1: 

✔ Give school name and address. 

✔ Give location of gas leak – what area of the office/event location(s) and what’s leaking, if 
known. 

✔ Describe best UPWIND access point for emergency responders – driveway/gate. 

✔ Request 9-1-1 operator to call Gas Company (they have rapid access). 

✔ Stay on the line to provide updates. 

◻ The school Incident Commander will determine whether to evacuate buildings. 

210



 
35 

✔ Shelter in place may be most appropriate way to protect, unless gas is filling buildings. In that 
case get everyone moved out and well upwind of leak.  

✔ If sheltering in place, SHUT DOWN HVAC systems to keep gas out of buildings!   

◻ The school Incident Commander will activate the Utilities Group, or otherwise direct staff to attempt to 
shut down gas at main shut-off or building shut-off. 

◻ Do not allow anyone to reenter the building(s) until fire or utility officials say it is safe! 
 
Electrical System Damage or Failure: 

◻ If problem is in, or on, a school building and there is smoke or threat of fire: 
◻ Evacuate the building(s).  
◻ Close, but do not lock doors. 

◻ Notify the school office/Incident Commander. 

◻ The school Incident Commander/designee will call 9-1-1: 

✔ Give school name and address. 

✔ Give location and nature of the electrical problem. 

✔ Describe best access point for emergency responders – driveway/gate. 

✔ Indicate if evacuation is underway. 

✔ Request 9-1-1 operator to call Electric Company (they have rapid access). 

✔ Stay on the line to provide updates. 

◻ Incident Commander will determine need to evacuate buildings, if not already done. 

◻ Incident Commander will activate the Utilities Group, or otherwise direct staff to attempt to shut down 
electrical at main shut-off or building shut-off. 

◻ Do not reenter the building(s) until fire or utility officials say it is safe. 

◻ If problem is outdoors, Incident Commander will direct staff to isolate the area and stand watch until the 
power can be shut down. 

✔ If school’s electrical system is involved, school will be responsible for shutting down power and 
calling an electrician. 

✔ If Utility Company line/equipment is involved, the Utility Company will effect shut-down and 
repair as needed. 

Water/Sewer Line Break 
◻ If water leak is in attic or other area where weight or effect of water may cause ceiling or building 

to collapse, EVACUATE the building.     
◻ Notify the school office/school Incident Commander. 
◻ The school Incident Commander will activate the Utilities Group, or otherwise direct staff to attempt to 

shut down water at main shut-off or building shut-off. 
◻ The school Incident Commander will assess situation and determine next step: 

✔ Whether to evacuate buildings, if not already done. 

211



 
36 

✔ Need to remove water, and/or cover/remove contents to protect. 

✔ Need to contact plumber, water removal specialists or others. 

◻ Do not allow anyone to reenter the building(s) until fire or utility officials say it is safe! 

◻ If problem is outdoors, Incident Commander will direct staff to isolate the area and stand watch until the 
leak can be shut down. 

Back to Appendix 

 

 

 

Appendix I 
    BOMB THREAT PROCEDURE 

(Response Procedure on Page 36 may also be applied to “Suspicious Objects”) 

This BOMB THREAT PROCEDURE is a compilation of guidance material and forms. Portions of it, including 
the forms, have been formatted as stand-alone documents that may be extracted, duplicated and 
distributed to school staff as needed before or during a bomb threat incident.    

TOPICS: 
● Introduction 

● Assessing A Bomb Threat 

● Call Taker Instructions/Telephone Bomb Threat Report 

● Response Procedures 

● Bomb Search Procedures 

INTRODUCTION 
Receipt of a bomb threat (or discovery of a suspected explosive device) is a situation school staff must be 
prepared to handle in a calm and professional manner.  It is extremely rare for a person who builds and 
plants a bomb to call and alert the target before the bomb goes off. However, even though most bomb 
threats are pranks, they must all be taken seriously to ensure the safety of school students, staff and 
visitors.  

Bomb threats may be written, e-mailed, posted online or communicated verbally, but the vast majority  are 
made by telephone.  Even though the procedures in this document refer primarily to telephoned bomb 
threats, the same principles will apply regardless of how the threats are received.  Additionally, the actions 
taken in “response” to a bomb threat call, will also apply should an actual or suspected explosive device be 
discovered.   

Perhaps the most important thing school employees can do when they receive a telephoned bomb threat is 
to get, and write down, as much useful information as possible from, and about, the caller.  The “CALL 
TAKER INSTRUCTIONS” sheet and “TELEPHONE BOMB THREAT REPORT“ form, found at the back of this 
Bomb Threat Procedure, have been developed for this purpose. They should both be printed and kept 

212



 
37 

immediately available near all primary school telephones. Every staff member should also be trained in 
their use.     

ASSESSING THE BOMB THREAT 
Contrary to popular belief, schools should not immediately activate the fire alarm and evacuate school 
buildings every time a bomb threat is received.  This could prove to be a fatal mistake. How do you know 
the bomb is not OUTSIDE?    

When a bomb threat occurs, the school Incident Commander must quickly assess the situation and look at 
the big picture before selecting a course of action. For example, the caller might claim that he placed 
bombs in three different areas last night, or that he put two in restrooms this afternoon.  But if the school 
has good fencing, good visitor procedures, cameras, after hours building alarms or other good security 
measures in place, how realistic are his claims?   On the other hand, if he said he jumped the fence last 
night and hid a bomb on the playground near a flag pole or other landmark that really exists, you may have 
a credible threat. 

The "Telephone Bomb Threat Report" is designed to assist school staff in gathering information during the 
call that will help identify the caller, and help gauge whether the threat is real, or simply a prank.  As 
described below, the general tone of the call will allow it to be  classified as a LOW LEVEL or MEDIUM LEVEL 
threat, and therefore almost certainly a prank, or classified as a HIGH LEVEL threat, which means it must be 
taken seriously:  

LOW LEVEL - The probable motive is to cause disruption: The caller is vague in his/her threat, merely 
stating that there is a bomb at the school, he/she provides no specifics and hangs up quickly.  Caller is 
often young, and lacks skill at crafting a credible prank message.  

MEDIUM LEVEL - The probable motive is to cause disruption: The caller gives details such as the size, 
location, or type of bomb. The caller stays on the line longer and states a motive for the bomb, but 
stumbles when asked to repeat or be more specific. Caller may be teen-aged and better able to 
embellish a prank message. 

HIGH LEVEL – May be driven by conscience or other reason to issue warning: The caller is very 
detailed and describes the type, power, location or time of detonation. The caller stays on the line 
longer or makes multiple calls. The caller may exhibit advanced knowledge of bombs. In addition, the 
caller may make demands such as publicity, money, etc.  Caller is likely older and must be taken 
seriously! 

Additionally, bomb threats that come after termination of an employee, or suspension or expulsion of a 
student, should be looked at carefully.   This is particularly true if there are clues (such as familiar voice) 
that indicate this may be the person calling, otherwise person is threats were made during the disciplinary 
action, and/or the person is known to have violent tendencies. 

Quickly assessing the threat will ultimately help the school Incident Commander determine if it would be 
best to evacuate buildings and do a very thorough search of the entire school office/event location(s), 
Shelter-In-Place and do a cursory sweep, or take some other combination of actions, all based on how 
credible the threat is considered.  

213



 
38 

RESPONSE PROCEDURE – Part 1 
CAUTION: There is a slight risk that an explosive device could be detonated by radio waves. The school 
Incident Commander, in concert with emergency response officials, must weigh this risk based on their 
THREAT LEVEL ASSESSMENT.   When the threat level is perceived as “High.” unless absolutely necessary to 
facilitate urgent communications, two-way radios and cell phones should not be used within 300 feet of 
buildings or other areas suspected of containing an explosive device.  Runners should be used to deliver 
messages within this 300 foot zone. 

ADMINISTRATION (School Incident Commander/Designee) 
◻ CALL 9-1-1 and provide  information about the emergency: 

✔ Confirm address of school event location(s). 
✔ Provide threat details – Supposed bomb location, Supposed detonation time, etc.  
✔ Provide location of school Incident Command post. 
✔ Describe best access for emergency responders – driveway/gate. 
✔ If possible, remain on line to provide updates. 

◻ Conduct Threat Assessment – Then either evacuate buildings or Shelter-In-Place: 
✔ If evacuating, announce any needed changes in evacuation routes and assembly areas based 

on potential bomb location.  
✔ If Shelter-In-Place, be sure school event location(s) are clear.  Move all students inside, if 

possible.   
◻ Establish a school Incident Command Post 

✔ Be certain to take the school Crisis Response Box. 
If threat is deemed credible:  
✔ Establish a command post at least 400 feet from school event location(s).  
✔ Ensure that it is away from automobiles, refuse containers, or mailboxes.  
✔ Conduct a scan of the area for any suspicious items.  
✔ Employ runners to communicate. 

◻ Establish Unified Command with arriving emergency response officials, and determine next 
course of action based on continued Threat Assessment:  
✔ Conduct building /site search. 
✔ Cancel school event and notify parents who may be en route to school event. 
✔ Evacuate students from the immediate area. 

◻ Announce “All Clear” if and when it is deemed safe to do so. 
  

214



 
39 

RESPONSE PROCEDURE – Part 2 
CAUTION: There is a slight risk that an explosive device could be detonated by radio waves. The school 
Incident Commander, in concert with emergency response officials, must weigh this risk based on their 
THREAT LEVEL ASSESSMENT.   When the threat level is perceived as “High”, unless absolutely necessary to 
facilitate urgent communications, two-way radios and cell phones should not be used within 300 feet of 
buildings or other areas suspected of containing an explosive device.  Runners should be used to deliver 
messages within this 300 foot zone. 

TEACHERS/STAFF  
Initiate “BUILDING EVACUATION” or “SHELTER-IN-PLACE” - as directed.  

IF EVACUATING: follow normal Evacuation and Student Accountability procedures, but ADD THESE 
ACTIONS: 
◻ Have everyone in the room take their personal belongings with them. This will speed the 

“building search” process later. 
◻ Tell Students to turn off their cell phones - and leave them off - for safety.  
◻ While evacuating, perform a quick visual scan of the room and evacuation path to detect 

unusual, out of place, or suspicious objects.   
◻ Report suspicious objects to the school Incident Commander as soon as possible.  
◻ As assembly area is approached, scan for unusual, out of place, or suspicious objects.   

✔ If anything seems out of the ordinary, move students to another location. 
◻ If possible, keep students at least 300 feet away from buildings.  

✔ Students should be in open areas away from cars, outbuildings, trash cans, etc.  
◻ If you relocate, report your new location and reason for move as soon as possible. 
◻ Use Teacher Buddy system as needed to free staff to be "runners" to communicate with the 

school Incident Commander and other staff. 
◻ Await further instructions or an "ALL CLEAR" announcement. 

IF SHELTER-IN-PLACE is ordered: 

◻ Follow normal Shelter-In-Place procedures. 

◻ Conduct a visual scan of the room to detect unusual, out of place, or suspicious objects.  Do not 
move or touch any suspicious item. 

◻ If a suspicious object is found, initiate an immediate Building Evacuation AND notify the school 
Incident Commander.   

◻ Take all other steps outlined in the section “IF EVACUATING” above. 
  

215



 
40 

BOMB SEARCH PROCEDURE 
“I’m not going to look for a bomb!!!”  That’s a normal response to the sensitive question of who will search 
the school event location(s) in the event of a bomb threat. However, the best answer to this question is 
very clear:  The person most qualified to search a given area is the person who is most familiar with that 
area!   If familiar with an area, a person can quickly scan it and answer these critical questions:  

1. Is there anything unusual? 

2. Is there anything out of place? 

3. Is there anything that looks suspicious?  

So, what does a bomb look like?  The only sure answer to that question is that the bomb WILL NOT 
resemble the familiar black ball with a fuse!  A homemade bomb is called an “Improvised Explosive Device” 
or simply an “IED”.   “Improvised” means it is a person’s own improvisation, and an IED is almost always 
concealed in an ordinary object. They can look like a backpack, briefcase, lunch box, pressure cooker, or 
any other common container available to mankind.  

That is why the most important aspect of searching for an IED is to LOOK FOR AN OBJECT THAT DOES NOT 
BELONG. Again, that is best done by someone very familiar with the search area.  

For the reasons stated above, school staff should expect emergency officials to solicit their assistance in 
conducting a search of the school event location(s) during a bomb threat event. 

COORDINATING THE SCHOOL EVENT LOCATION(S) SEARCH 
The school Incident Commander will coordinate the efforts of school staff with those of the emergency 
response officials.  It is suggested that staff be paired with emergency responders and search the school 
event area.   

It is recommended that the school event location(s) be divided into areas with one individual assigned to 
monitor and report the search progress and findings in each area.  

 

ROOM SEARCH PROCEDURE 
Search teams should be comprised of two people whenever possible.  

FIRST SEARCH: Divide room into two levels. First search the floor and all areas up to window sill height or 
three feet from floor. 

SECOND SEARCH: Search areas from three feet to top of head. Move in circular motion around room to 
starting point. 

THIRD SEARCH: Search top of head to ceiling. 

FOURTH SEARCH: Search ceiling, structural supports, window A/C units, and light fixtures. 

216



 
41 

At the completion of a room search where no suspicious item is found, the person who searched the room 
will place a sheet of paper on the exterior of the door or outside doorknob marked with an "X" and the 
person’s name.  This will indicate to everyone that the room was searched and is clear. 

Following completion of their assigned search tasks, staff should report to the school Incident Commander 
or designee for further instructions or assignment. 

Before declaring the search complete, the school Incident Commander or designee will check for “X” 
papers to confirm that each room on the school event location has been searched.  

IF A SUSPICIOUS ITEM IS FOUND: 

1.   DO NOT APPROACH, MOVE, OR TOUCH ANY SUSPICIOUS ITEM. 

2.   Immediately report the exact location and an accurate description of the object to the school 
Incident Commander. 

3.  The school Incident Commander, in consultation with emergency response officials, will determine 
the next course of action.  This may include the immediate evacuation of all staff and emergency 
response personnel from the building.   

  

217



 
42 

CALL TAKER INSTRUCTIONS 

◻ Use the "Telephone Bomb Threat Report" form as a guide while talking with the caller. 

◻ Attempt to ask Questions 1 through 9, IN ORDER, and document key points of answers. 

◻ Listen closely to detect other information about the caller:  

✔ Try to detect items in “Description of Caller” and “Other Clues” section of form. 

◻ Signal co-workers that you are receiving a bomb threat call. 

✔ If possible, have one pick up a phone and listen in, while another notifies the school Incident 

Commander and relays call information as you write it down.   

◻ Stay calm and indicate your desire to cooperate with the caller. 

◻ DO NOT antagonize or challenge the caller. 

◻ Ask caller to repeat or explain anything you did not understand.  

◻ Prolong the conversation as long as possible. 

◻ Obtain as much information as possible. 

Special Note:  As part of the educational process, schools may provide opportunities for students to gain job 

experience working in the school office. Students tasked with answering phones should be instructed to 

follow these steps if they answer a “bomb threat” call:  
1. Remain calm and politely advise the caller: 

“I am a student. Please hold while I get an adult to talk to you.” 

2. Immediately signal any nearby adult staff member to come to the phone. Don’t yell. 

3. If no adult is near, lay the phone down and quickly go find one to take the call.  

4. DO NOT HANG UP or ask the person to call back! 

 

 

 

 

Back to Appendix 

218



 
43 

Appendix J 

   BOMB THREAT CHECKLIST FOR TELEPHONE OPERATORS 
Instructions: 
Pretend you are having difficulty hearing the caller. Keep the caller talking. Inform the caller that the building is 
occupied and that detonation could cause injury or even death. Be calm and courteous. Listen. Do not interrupt 
the caller except to ask the following questions: 

1. When will the bomb go off? 
2. At what hour? 
3. How much time is remaining? 
4. Where is the bomb planted? Building  Area   Floor  
5. What does the bomb look like? 
6. What kind of bomb? ● Homemade ● Chemical ● FireBomb ● Explosive ● Other 
7. How do you know so much about the bomb? 
8. Why us? 
9. Where are you now? 
10. What is your name and address? 

Leave the phone off the hook even if caller hangs up. 
Did The Caller Appear Familiar With The Building By His Description Of The Bomb Location? 
Operator Name:  Exact Call Time:  Date:  
Caller's Identity: 

● Male ● Female ● Adult ● Juvenile Approx. Age:  
Origin Of Call: 

● Local ● Long-Distance ● Booth ● Internal(in building) 
 

Voice Characteristics Speech 
● Loud 
● High Pitch 
● Raspy 
● Intoxicated 

● Soft 
● Deep 
● Pleasant 
● Other 

● Fast 
● Distinct 
● Stutter 
● Slurred 
● Precise 

● Slow 
● Distorted 
● Nasal 
● Lisp 
● Other 

Language Accent 
● Excellent 
● Fair 
● Foul 

● Good 
● Poor 
● Other 

● Local 
● Foreign 
● Race 

● Not Local 
● Regional 
● Other 

● Use of  certain words or phrases 
Manner Background Noises 

● Calm 
● Rational 
● Coherent 
● Deliberate 
● Righteous 

● Angry 
● Irrational 
● Incoherent 
● Emotional 
● Laughing 

● Office Machinery 
● Factory Machinery 
● Bedlam 
● Animals 
● Quiet 
● Party Atmosphere 

● Street Traffic 
● Airplanes 
● Trains 
● Voices 
● Music 
● Mixed 

Back to Appendix 
Appendix K 

BASIC MEDICAL EMERGENCY PROCEDURE 
 

219



 
44 

This procedure outlines basic steps to be taken for office/school event medical emergencies involving a 
single victim. In major emergencies involving multiple victims, many of the basic principles outlined below 
will also apply. However, in that situation the Incident Commander should activate a First-Aid Group. 
 
School Staff Response: 

◻ Quickly assess the situation.  Make sure it is safe for you to approach. Some examples of danger 
include:  

✔ Live electric wires 
✔ Gas leak 

✔ Building damage 
✔ Animal or insect threat

◻ Immediately notify the school office/Incident Commander.  
◻ Assess the seriousness of the injury or illness, and update office/Incident Commander. 
◻ Protect yourself against contact with blood or body fluids.  Don gloves if possible.  
◻ Administer appropriate first aid according to your level of training until help arrives. 
◻ Do Not Move if seriously injured unless the scene is absolutely unsafe. 
◻ If the victim is not breathing, or there is no pulse, begin CPR if so trained.  

Administration: (school Incident Commander) 
◻ Send available staff with first aid training to injured person’s location. 

If injury/illness not deemed an emergency: 
◻ Get the victim moved to the designated treatment area (main office/Nurse’s office).  
◻ Notify parent/guardian (or family, if an adult.)  
◻ Ensure appropriate treatment (and/or release to parent /guardian, if student).  

If injury/illness is deemed an emergency:  
◻ Ensure 9-1-1 is called, and appropriate information is provided to emergency operator. 
◻ Assign a staff member to meet and direct emergency responders to the victim.  
◻ Assign a staff member to remain with the victim if transported to the hospital. 
◻ Ensure student/staff emergency medical information goes with victim to the hospital. 
◻ Notify parent/guardian/family of the situation, and where the victim has been taken. 

Post event considerations: 
◻ Review event to determine if incident was caused by a safety issue that requires further 

investigation or corrective action.  
◻ Review incident to assess need for improved procedures or additional staff training. 
◻ Consider need to provide follow-up counseling to students/staff/parents. 
◻ Remember that information regarding injuries or illnesses is confidential and cannot be 

shared with the media or others.  
 

 

Back to Appendix 

  

220



 
45 

Appendix L 

COVID-19 Reporting  
AB 685 mandates increased COVID-19 reporting requirements. School employees must be 
notified within one business day of any potential exposure to COVID-19 in the workplace with 
specific information regarding their rights in response to the exposure, as well as the employer’s 
disinfection/safety plan. The local public health agency must be notified within forty-eight hours 
in the event of an outbreak in the workplace.  
 
SCHOOL:  

● The school will notify all employees at a worksite of potential exposures,  COVID-19-
related benefits and protections, and disinfection and safety measures  that will be 
taken at the worksite in response to the potential exposure.   

● The school will provide a written notice to all employees, and the employers of  
subcontracted employees, who were on the premises at the same worksite as the  
person who was infected with COVID-19 or who was subject to a COVID-19-related  
quarantine order within one business day.   

● The school will notify local public health agencies of all workplace outbreaks, which  are 
defined as three or more laboratory-confirmed cases of COVID-19 among  employees 
who live in different households within a two-week period.   

● The school will notify local public health agencies of outbreaks within 48 hours of  
becoming aware of the number of cases that meets the definition of an outbreak.  The 
school will notify the local public health agency in the jurisdiction of the  worksite of the 
names, phone number, occupation, and worksite of employees who  may have COVID-
19 or who are under a COVID-19 isolation order from a public  health official.   

● The school will provide staff who may have been exposed with information regarding  
COVID-19 related benefits available under federal, state, and local laws. This  
information would include workers compensation benefits, COVID-19-related leaves,  
company sick leave, state-mandated leave, supplemental sick leave, and  anti-retaliation 
and antidiscrimination protections.   

● The school will notify all employees of the disinfection and safety plan that the  
employer plans to implement and complete in accordance with the guidelines of the  
Centers for Disease Control.   

● The school will report the business address and NAICS industry code of the worksite  
where the infected or quarantined individuals work.   

● The school will provide information about access to COVID-19 testng.   
● The school will provide information about COVID-19 hazards to staff and anyone that  

comes into contact with the school workplace.   

221



 
46 

● From January 1, 2021 until January 1, 2023, Cal/OSHA can issue an Order Prohibiting  
Use (OPU) to shut down an entire worksite or a specific worksite area that exposes  
employees to an imminent hazard related to COVID-19.   

● From January 1, 2021 until January 1, 2023, Cal/OSHA can issue citations for serious  
violations related to COVID-19 without giving employers 15-day notice before  issuance.  

STAFF:   
❑ Staff need to report to the school, without fear of reprisal, COVID-19 symptoms,  possible 
COVID-19 exposures, and possible COVID-19 hazards at the workplace.  
 ❑ Staff with medical or other conditions that put them at increased risk of severe  COVID-
19 illness shall inform Human Resources.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Back to Appendix 

 

 

222



 
47 

Appendix M 

Incident Report Form 

  
 

Reported by: Date: 

Persons Involved: 

Describe incident and actions taken (Who, what, when, where, why, how.  Be specific.  If it’s 
not in writing it didn’t happen, and if it’s in writing it happened exactly as written): 

 

 

 

223



 
48 

Back to Appendix 

Appendix N 

Opioid Prevention and Response 
In compliance with the newly enacted "Melanie's Law" (Senate Bill 10), our school is committed to prioritizing the 
safety and well-being of our students and staff by implementing comprehensive measures for opioid prevention 
and response, particularly in the context of fentanyl overdoses. This legislation, signed by Governor Gavin Newsom, 
mandates that schools must have prevention and response resources in place to address the growing risks 
associated with fentanyl use. 
 
Key Provisions: 

Employee 
Training: 

● All school employees will undergo training on opioid prevention and lifesaving response 
techniques as outlined in the comprehensive school safety plan. 

● Training will cover the recognition of fentanyl overdoses, proper response procedures, 
and the administration of Novoxil when on a field trip, Adventure Day, Hangouts, or at 
the office or Lending Library, ensuring that every staff member is well-equipped to handle 
such incidents. 

Awareness 
Campaign: 

● The school will actively participate in the statewide awareness campaign to inform the 
community about the dangers of fentanyl and the importance of prevention and timely 
response. 

● Informational sessions, workshops, and resources will be provided to parents, educators, 
and students to raise awareness of the risks associated with fentanyl use at a minimum 
of once annually. 

Resource 
Allocation: 

● The school will allocate resources to ensure the availability of Novoxil, the antidote for 
fentanyl overdoses, on school premises and at larger school events. This includes 
establishing a protocol for the storage and accessibility of Novoxil in case of emergencies. 

Monitoring 
and 
Evaluation: 

● Annual Drills and simulations will be conducted to assess the preparedness and 
effectiveness of the school's response plan. 

● Ongoing monitoring and evaluation will be conducted to identify areas for improvement 
and ensure that the safety measures remain up-to-date and aligned with best practices. 

 
Key Provisions: 
Melanie's Law is a pivotal step in addressing the devastating impact of fentanyl on our communities, and we are 
dedicated to implementing its provisions with utmost diligence. By prioritizing employee training, raising 
awareness, allocating necessary resources, and engaging in school-wide collaboration, our school aims to create a 
safer environment for every student and staff member. We honor the memory of Melanie Ramos and are 
committed to saving young lives in California for decades to come.  

Back to Appendix 

224



 Cover Sheet 
 Employee Handbook 

 Sec�on:  V. Opera�ons 
 Item:  C. Employee Handbook (Daily Hourly Rate Changes) 
 Purpose:  Discussion & Poten�al Ac�on - Vote 
 Related Material:  Employee Handbook - MR 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  The school has updated the Employee Handbook to include Daily/Hourly rate changes. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  Consider the approval of the updated Employee Handbook. 

225



Revised Septmeber 2023 

 
 
 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK   

 

 

 

Table of Contents 
 

226



 Page 1 

Table of Contents 1 

SECTION 1 – WELCOME 3 

SECTION 2 – GENERAL 4 

SECTION 3 – PHILOSOPHY 5 

CORE PURPOSE 5 

CORE VALUES 5 

PERMISSION-TO-PLAY VALUES 5 

STRATEGIC ANCHORS 5 

School-wide Learning Outcomes 5 

SECTION 4 – EMPLOYMENT 6 

EMPLOYMENT APPLICATIONS 6 

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 7 

ANTI- HARASSMENT POLICY 7 

AT WILL EMPLOYMENT 12 

OPEN COMMUNICATION POLICY 12 

LACTATION ACCOMMODATION POLICY 13 

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY 14 

SECTION 5 – THE EMPLOYMENT PROCESS 14 

EMPLOYEE STATUS AND CLASSIFICATIONS 14 

WORK SCHEDULES 15 

WORKWEEK AND WORKDAY 16 

SPECIAL VIRTUAL CLASSROOM EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS 16 

ATTENDANCE AND PUNCTUALITY 17 

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 17 

TIME RECORDS (NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEES) 18 

OVERTIME 18 

OFF THE CLOCK WORK 18 

MEAL AND REST PERIODS (NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEES) 18 

PAYDAYS 20 

PAY PERIODS 20 

PAYROLL WITHHOLDINGS 20 

SECTION 6 - CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 21 

IMMIGRATION LAW COMPLIANCE 21 

CREDENTIAL REQUIREMENTS 21 

TUBERCULOSIS TEST 21 

CRIMINAL BACKGROUND CHECK 22 

CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT REPORTING ACT 22 

PERSONNEL FILES 23 

CHANGES IN EMPLOYEE INFORMATION 23 

SECTION 7 – PERFORMANCE 23 

PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS 23 

SECTION 8 – LEAVES 24 

227



 Page 2 

FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE ACT/CALIFORNIA FAMILY RIGHTS ACT1 24 

PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE 26 

MILITARY SPOUSE LEAVE 27 

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION LEAVE 27 

BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 27 

JURY DUTY LEAVE 28 

TIME OFF TO VOTE 28 

SCHOOL ACTIVITIES LEAVE 28 

SCHOOL APPEARANCE/SUSPENSION LEAVE 29 

CRIME VICTIM LEAVE 29 

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE/SEXUAL ASSAULT/STALKING LEAVE 29 

MILITARY LEAVE 31 

ADULT LITERACY LEAVE 31 

ORGAN DONOR / BONE MARROW DONOR LEAVE 31 

DRUG & ALCOHOL REHABILITATION LEAVE 31 

VOLUNTEER CIVIL SERVICE LEAVE 32 

CIVIL AIR PATROL LEAVE 32 

SECTION 9 – BENEFITS 32 

SCHOOL HOLIDAYS 32 

PAID TIME OFF (PTO) – A-BASIS ONLY 33 

PAID SICK LEAVE (PSL), PERSONAL NECESSITY LEAVE (PNL), & TIME  OFF BALANCES 
POLICY 34 

INSURANCE BENEFITS 36 

COBRA BENEFITS 37 

SOCIAL SECURITY/MEDICARE 37 

STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE (WAGE SUPPLEMENT) 37 

PAID FAMILY LEAVE (WAGE SUPPLEMENT) 38 

WORKER’S COMPENSATION INSURANCE 38 

SECTION 10 – EMPLOYEE COMMUNICATIONS POLICY 38 

COMMUNICATIONS POLICY 38 

SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY 41 

EQUIPMENT POLICY 43 

CELL PHONE POLICY 44 

NO SOLICITATION/DISTRIBUTION POLICY 44 

ANTI-NEPOTISM POLICY 45 

VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE 47 

SECTION 11 – STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 48 

TEACHER-STUDENT INTERACTIONS 48 

CUSTOMER & PUBLIC RELATIONS 51 

PROHIBITED CONDUCT 51 

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 52 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 52 

POLICY REGARDING INCONSISTENT, INCOMPATIBLE OR CONFLICTING  EMPLOYMENT, 

228



 Page 3 

ACTIVITY OR ENTERPRISE BY SCHOOL PERSONNEL 53 

EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT POLICY 54 

POLICY CONFIRMING RESTRICTION ON THE PROVISION OF FUNDS OR  OTHER THINGS OF 

VALUE TO STUDENTS, PARENTS OR GUARDIANS 55 

SECTION 12 – SAFETY 55 

SUBSTANCE AND ALCOHOL POLICY 55 

SMOKING 57 

PARKED VEHICLES 57 

PERSONAL AUTOMOBILE and TRANSPORTATION/ DRIVING POLICY 58 

PERSONAL PROPERTY 59 

SAFETY POLICY 59 

ERGONOMICS 59 

CHEMICAL EXPOSURE WARNING 59 

SECTION 13 – TERMINATION 60 

VOLUNTARY TERMINATION 60 

INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION 60 

EXIT INTERVIEWS 60 

VERIFICATION AND REFERENCE POLICY 60 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 60 
 

SECTION 1 – WELCOME  

Welcome to Monarch River Academy!  

We are happy to have you join us at Monarch River Academy (MRA or School). We  believe our 
school is truly unique. We serve a diverse group of talented and hardworking students.  We regard 
the work we do as being of utmost importance. Therefore, we have very high  expectations for 
professionalism and performance for each one of our employees. All employees  should treat all 
individuals, including students, teachers, administrators, volunteers, and family  members, with 
respect, and approach all situations as opportunities to learn.  

This handbook has been written to provide you with an overview of MRA, its personnel policies  
and procedures, and your benefits as a MRA employee.  

This handbook is intended to explain in general terms those policies that most often apply to your  
day-to‐day work activities. This handbook cannot anticipate every situation or answer every  
question about employment, and it is not an employment contract. Employees are expected to read  
this handbook thoroughly upon receipt, to know and abide by the policies outlined herein, and as  
revised over time, throughout their employment. No MRA guideline, practice, manual or rule  may 
alter the “at-will” status of your relationship with MRA.  

In order to retain necessary flexibility in the administration of its policies, procedures and benefits,  
MRA reserves the right to change, deviate from, eliminate, or revise the handbook, except for the  
at-will provisions, at any time, without notice, whenever MRA determines that such action is  
warranted. For these reasons, we urge you to check with your supervisor to obtain current  
information regarding the status of any particular policy, procedure or practice. This handbook  

229



 Page 4 

supersedes and replaces all previous personnel policies, practices and procedures.  

We welcome you and wish you great success and fulfillment at MRAC. 

 

SECTION 2 – GENERAL  

This handbook has been written to serve as a guide for the employer/employee relationship. This  
handbook applies to faculty and staff at MRA.   

This handbook contains only general information and guidelines. It is not intended to be  
comprehensive or to address all the possible applications of, or exceptions to, the general policies  
and procedures described. For that reason, if you have any questions concerning eligibility for a  
particular benefit, or the applicability of a policy or practice to you, you should address your  
specific questions to your supervisor or Human Resources. You are responsible for reading,  
understanding, and complying with the provisions of this handbook. Our objective is to provide  
you with a work environment that is constructive to both personal and professional growth.   

Neither this handbook nor any other MRA document confers any contractual right, either express  
or implied, to remain in MRA's employ, nor does it guarantee any fixed term or condition of your  
employment. Except as otherwise provided in an executed employment agreement, your  
employment is not for any specified period of time and may be terminated at will, with or without  
cause and without prior notice, by MRA or you may resign for any reason at any time.  

No supervisor or other representative of MRA except the Principal, with the approval of the Board  
of Directors, has the authority to enter into any agreement for employment for any specified period  
of time, or to make any agreement contrary to the above. Further, the procedures, practices, policies  
and benefits described herein may be modified or discontinued from time to time with or without  
advance notice. We will try to inform you of any changes as they occur. 

SECTION 3 – PHILOSOPHY  

CORE PURPOSE   

MRA exists to inspire children to realize their potential to become extraordinary and active  
members of society.   

CORE VALUES   

The following three core values are what distinguish MRA from other schools:  
1. Mentoring – to inspire students to forge their paths in the world   

2. Passionate – to strive for excellence   

3. Collaborative – to be active, engaging, and contributing team members   

230



 Page 5 

PERMISSION-TO-PLAY VALUES   

The following Permission-to-Play values are minimum behavioral standards that all employees  
must exhibit consistently:   

1. Innovative   

2. Dynamic   

3. Results-oriented   

4. Data-driven   

5. Extraordinary   

6. Confident   

7. Energetic  

STRATEGIC ANCHORS   

To ensure success of our core purpose and core values, MRA will use the following two strategic  
anchors to inform every decision the school makes and the basis for how decisions and actions  will 
be evaluated:   

1. Academic achievement through relevant curricula, clear expectations, and shared 

accountability  2. Relationship building through mentorship and consistent communication  

 

School-wide Learning Outcomes  

All students at MRA strive to achieve the School-wide Learning Objectives (SLOs). Each year,  
MRA will assess student progress towards attainment of the SLOs and review and revise the  SLOs, 
as necessary. MRA students will be:   

1. Technologically proficient and will:   

a. Develop media literacy to analyze different information outlets and their influences.  b. 
Navigate various online platforms and participate in virtual discussion.  c. Use the Internet 
to acquire, organize, manipulate, interpret, and communicate  information.   

d. Adapt, integrate and utilize various emerging online resources in order to compete in 
the  workplace and connect with their passion.   

2. Critical thinkers who will:   
a. Produce original products through written and/or oral work, problem solutions, or 
artistic  presentation and/or performances.   

b. Problem solve through questioning, making inferences, predicting, and hypothesizing.  

c. Apply learned skills to new situations or problems.   

d. Take ownership of their learning and modify their performance based on feedback and  
assessment to attain their goals.   

e. Focus on learning state adopted standards and demonstrate mastery in core content 
areas  as evaluated through standardized assessments. (CAASPP, STAR 360)   

3. Effective communicators who will:   

231



 Page 6 

a. Listen, speak, read, and write proficiently using standard English according to 
commonly  accepted rubrics.   

b. Articulate thoughts, rationale and logic with confidence in oral presentation.  c. Present 
work using a variety of media, including drawing, essays, short speech, or  activity sheets.   

d. Contribute effectively in collaborations during office hour discussions or Jigsaw  
meetings.   

4. Responsible and self-directed citizens who will:   
a. Set attainable personal and academic goals through the Individual Learning Plan and 
the  Individualized Graduation Plan.   

b. Demonstrate integrity and respect within the academic and personal setting.  c. Become 

active members of the community through community service and volunteering.  d. Be 
cognizant of local and global issues.  

SECTION 4 – EMPLOYMENT  

EMPLOYMENT APPLICATIONS  

We rely upon the accuracy of information contained in the employment application and the  
accuracy of other data presented throughout the hiring process and employment. Any  
misrepresentations, falsifications, or material omissions in any of this information or data may  
result in exclusion of the individual from further consideration for employment or, if the person  
has been hired, termination of employment.  

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY  

MRA is an equal opportunity employer. In accordance with applicable law, MRA prohibits  
discrimination against any employee or applicant for employment on the basis of an individual’s  
protected status, including race/ethnicity (which includes, but is not limited to, traits historically  
associated with race, including, but not limited to, hair texture and protective hairstyles), color,  
religious creed (which includes, without limitation to religious dress and grooming practices),  
gender, gender identity, gender expression, color, national origin (which includes, but is not  limited 
to, national origin groups and aspects of national origin, such as height, weight, accent, or  language 
proficiency), ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, age,  sexual 
orientation, marital status, parental status, sex (which includes pregnancy, childbirth,  
breastfeeding, and related medical conditions), gender, gender identity/expression, military  
service, veteran status (including state and federal active and reserve members as well as those  
ordered to duty or training), immigration/citizenship status or related protected activities (which  
includes undocumented individuals and human trafficking), genetic information, protected  medical 
leaves, domestic violence victim status, political affiliation, or any other consideration  protected 
by applicable law. Also in accordance with applicable law, MRA prohibits  discrimination against 
any qualified disabled employee or applicant, against a disabled veteran, or  against a veteran of 
the Vietnam era with a physical or mental disability. These categories include  a perception that the 
individual has any of these characteristics or is associated with a person who  has (or is perceived 
to have) any of these characteristics. MRA will ensure that applicants and  employees are treated 
in all aspects of employment without unlawful discrimination because of  these or any other 
protected basis. Such aspects of employment include, but are not limited to,  recruitment, hiring, 
promotion, demotion, transfer, layoff, termination, compensation, and  training. Additionally, in 

232



 Page 7 

accordance with applicable law, MRA prohibits all forms of unlawful  harassment of a sexual or 
other discriminatory nature. Any conduct contrary to this policy is  prohibited. This policy applies 
to all applicants and employees of MRA.   

To comply with applicable laws ensuring equal employment opportunities to qualified individuals  
with a disability, MRA will make a good faith effort to provide reasonable accommodations for  
the known physical or mental limitations of an otherwise qualified applicant or employee with a  
disability, unless undue hardship would result to MRA. An applicant or employee who believes  he 
or she requires an accommodation in order to perform the essential functions of the job should  
contact Human Resources and request such an accommodation, specifying what accommodation  
he or she needs to perform the job. MRA will analyze the situation, engage in an interactive  process 
with the individual, and respond to the individual’s request. If you believe you have been subjected 
to discrimination, please follow the complaint procedure  outlined below.  

ANTI- HARASSMENT POLICY  

It is the policy of MRA to ensure equal employment opportunity without discrimination or  
harassment on the basis of race (which includes, but is not limited to, traits historically associated  
with race, including, but not limited to, hair texture and protective hairstyles), religious creed  
(which includes, without limitation, to religious dress and grooming practices), color, national  
origin (which includes, but is not limited to, national origin groups and aspects of national origin,  
such as height, weight, accent, or language proficiency), ancestry, physical disability, mental  
disability, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, sex (which includes pregnancy,  
childbirth, breastfeeding, and related medical conditions), gender, gender identity, gender  
expression, age, sexual orientation, military or veteran status (including state and federal active  
and reserve members as well as those ordered to duty or training), immigration/citizenship status  
or related protected activities (which includes undocumented individuals and human trafficking),  
protected medical leaves, domestic violence victim status, political affiliation, or any other  
consideration made unlawful by federal, state, or local laws, ordinances, or regulations. These  
categories include a perception that the individual has any of these characteristics or is associated  
with a person who has (or is perceived to have) any of these characteristics.   

MRA prohibits any such discrimination or harassment. In addition, we prohibit abusive  
conduct/workplace bullying in the work environment. It is our mission to provide a professional  
work and learning environment free of harassment, discrimination and/or workplace bullying that  
maintains equality, dignity, and respect for all. This policy protects all employees of the School as  
well as interns, volunteers, and potential employees (applicants). All employees of the School are  
required to abide by this policy, regardless of position or status, including supervisors,  
administration, and co-workers. In addition, this policy prohibits unlawful harassment by third  
parties, including students, parents, vendors or other third parties, who have workplace contact  
with our employees. This policy applies to all applicants and employees (or other listed  
individuals), whether related to conduct engaged in by fellow employees or someone not directly  
connected to MRA (e.g. an outside vendor, consultant or customer). Conduct prohibited by these  
policies is unacceptable in the workplace and in any work-related setting outside the workplace,  
such as during business or field trips, meetings and business or school-related social events.   

What is Harassment?  

Harassment can take many forms. As used in this Employee Handbook, the terms “discrimination” 
and “harassment” includes all unwelcome conduct that comprises the following behavior 
pertaining to any of the above protected categories or characteristics:  

233



 Page 8 

• Offensive remarks, comments, jokes or slurs pertaining to an individual’s race, religion,  
sex, sexual orientation, gender or gender identity or gender expression, age, national  origin 
or ancestry, disability, citizenship, veteran status, or any other protected status  as defined 
by law or regulation whether verbally or by electronic means including  email, and/or text 
messages  

• Offensive sexual remarks, sexual advances, flirtations, or requests for sexual favors  
regardless of the gender of the individuals involved and whether verbally or by  electronic 
means 

• Offensive physical conduct, including, but not limited to, touching, blocking normal  
movement or interfering with another’s work regardless of the gender of the individuals  
involved, including, but not limited to threats of harm, violence or assault   

• Offensive pictures, drawings or photographs or other communications, including email,  
text messages, or other forms of electronic communication  

• Holding work functions in inappropriate venues, such as a strip-club • Sex or gender based 
practical jokes, sexual favoritism  

• Threatening reprisals due to an employee’s refusal to respond to requests for sexual  favors 
or for reporting a violation of this policy  

• Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other verbal or physical  
conduct of a sexual nature, regardless of gender, when:  

o Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or  
condition of an individual’s employment;  

o Submission to, or rejection of, such conduct by an individual is used as a basis for  
employment decisions affecting such individual;   

o Such conduct has the purpose or effect of substantially interfering with the  
individual’s work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive  
working environment.   

What is abusive conduct/workplace bullying?  

• Conduct of an employee in the workplace that a reasonable person would find hostile,  
threatening, intimidating, humiliating and unrelated to an employer’s legitimate business  
interests.  

o Use of derogatory remarks, insults and/or epithets.  
o Verbal or physical conduct that sabotages or undermines a person’s work  

performance that is threatening, humiliating or intimidating. 

• Bullying, gossip, profanity, abusive conduct and negative comments are destructive to our  
School culture, create false rumors, disrupt school operations and interfere with the privacy  
of others.  

What is Retaliation?  

Retaliation against an individual for reporting harassment, discrimination, abusive conduct or for  
participating in an investigation of a claim of such is a serious violation of this policy and, like  
harassment or discrimination itself, will be subject to disciplinary action. Acts of retaliation should  
be reported immediately and will be promptly investigated and addressed.  

As used in this policy, “retaliation” means taking any adverse employment action against an  
employee because the employee engaged in protected activity pursuant to this policy. Protected  
activity may include, but is not necessarily limited to, opposing a practice or conduct the employee  
reasonably believes to be unlawful, reporting or assisting in reporting suspected violations of this  
policy, cooperating or participating in investigations or proceedings arising out of a violation of  
this policy, or engaging in any other activity protected by applicable law.  

234



 Page 9 

As used in this policy, an “adverse employment action” means conduct or an action that materially  
affects the terms and conditions of the employee’s employment status or is reasonably likely to  
deter the employee from engaging in further protected activity. An adverse employment action  
may include, but is not limited to, the following: demotion, suspension, reduction in pay, denial of 
merit salary increase, failure to hire, refusing to promote, denying employment opportunities,  
changing work assignments or otherwise treating an employee differently.  

Any retaliatory adverse action because of a protected activity will not be tolerated. If an employee  
believes he/she has been subjected to, has witnessed, or has knowledge of retaliation in violation  
of this policy, please follow the complaint procedure outlined below.  

Responsibility  

All MRA employees have a responsibility for keeping our work environment free of harassment,  
discrimination, retaliation and abusive conduct in accordance with this policy.  

Reporting  

MRA encourages reporting of all perceived incidents of discrimination, harassment, abusive  
conduct or retaliation, regardless of the offender’s identity or position. Individuals who believe  that 
they have been subjected to such conduct should immediately discuss their concerns with their  
immediate supervisor, the Principal or Human Resources. Do not report your complaint to any  
individual who has allegedly engaged in the inappropriate behavior that is the subject of your  
complaint. In addition, MRA encourages individuals who believe they are being subjected to such  
conduct to promptly advise the offender that his or her behavior is unwelcome and request that it  
be discontinued. Often this action alone will resolve the problem. MRA recognizes, however, that  
an individual may prefer to pursue the matter through formal complaint procedures. Every effort  
will be made to keep such reports as confidential as possible, although confidentiality cannot be  
guaranteed. MRA is serious about enforcing its policy against harassment; however, MRA cannot 
resolve a harassment problem that it does not know about. Therefore, employees are  responsible 
for bringing any such problems to MRA's attention so it can take whatever steps are  necessary to 
correct the problems.  

Supervisors must report any and all conduct of which they are made aware, which violates, or may  
violate, policies regarding discrimination, unlawful harassment, or retaliation to Human  
Resources, the Principal or the Chair of the Board of Directors, if appropriate. Supervisors who  
fail to report alleged violations may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including  
termination.   

Investigation/Complaint Procedure  

All complaints of harassment, discrimination, retaliation or abusive conduct will be promptly  
investigated.   

MRA encourages the prompt reporting of complaints or concerns so that rapid and appropriate  
remedial action can be taken before relationships become irreparably strained. Therefore, while no  
fixed reporting period has been established, early reporting and intervention have proven to be the  
most effective method of resolving actual or perceived incidents of harassment.  

MRA's investigation methods will vary depending on the nature of the complaint, the allegations,  
the witnesses, and other factors. The investigation may include individual interviews with the  
parties involved and, where necessary, with individuals who may have observed the alleged  
conduct or may have other relevant knowledge. All complaints will be handled as confidentially  
as possible and information will be disclosed only as it is necessary to complete the investigation  

235



 Page 10 

and resolve the matter. 
 
All employees are required to fully cooperate with MRA's investigation. which includes, but is  not 
limited to, providing all pertinent information in a truthful manner, submitting pertinent  documents 
in their possession, not interfering with the investigation in any manner, and  maintaining an 
appropriate level of discretion regarding the investigation. Failure to do so may  result in 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  

During the investigation, MRA will provide regular progress updates, as appropriate, to those  
directly involved. MRA will strive to complete its investigation as efficiently as possible in light  
of the allegations and will reach any conclusions based on the evidence collected and credibility  
of the witnesses.  

MRA may investigate conduct in the absence of a formal complaint if MRA has reason to believe  
that an individual has engaged in conduct that violates MRA policies or applicable law. Further.  
MRA may continue its investigation even if the original complainant withdraws his or her  
complaint during the course of the investigation.  

Any conduct which MRA believes constitutes harassment, discrimination, abusive conduct, or  
retaliation in violation of this policy will be dealt with appropriately. Corrective action may  
include, for example, training, referral to counseling and/or disciplinary action such as warning,  
reprimand, withholding of a promotion or pay increase, reassignment, temporary suspension  
without pay or termination, as MRA believes appropriate under the circumstances. Due to privacy  
protections, MRA may not be able to fully disclose its entire decision regarding corrective action  
to the complainant. False and malicious complaints of harassment, discrimination, abusive  
conduct, or retaliation as opposed to complaints, which, even if erroneous, are made in good faith,  
may be the subject of appropriate disciplinary action.  

Title IX provides for separate processes and procedures for sexual harassment and sexual assault  
when the type of conduct falls within the definitions of sexual harassment and sexual assault as  
provided in 34 C.F.R. § 106.30. In addition, the conduct must have taken place at school locations,  
events, or circumstances over which the School exercised substantial control over both the  
individual who has been accused of sexual harassment and/or assault and the context in which the  
sexual harassment occurs. For these types of complaints, the School will follow the Title IX policy  
processes and procedures, which may be found in the School’s Title IX grievance policy. If the  
conduct does not fall within Title IX, this policy will be followed. There may be instances where  
the conduct falls within both policies and the School will follow both policies. The School’s Title  
IX Coordinator is:   

 

Title IX Coordinator – Stephanie Johnson 

Email – Stephanie.johnson@centralvcs.org  

Phone Number:  559-289-7069  

 

Conclusion  

This policy was developed to ensure that all employees could work in an environment free from  
harassment, discrimination, abusive conduct and retaliation. MRA will make every reasonable  
effort to ensure that all concerned are familiar with these policies and aware that any complaint in  
violation of such policies will be investigated and resolved appropriately. Any employee who has  
questions or concerns about these policies should talk with Human Resources or the Principal.  

236



 Page 11 

 
Finally, these policies should not, and may not, be used as a basis for excluding or separating  
individuals of a particular gender, or any other protected characteristic, from participating in  
business or work-related social activities or discussions. In other words, no one should make the  
mistake of engaging in discrimination or exclusion in order to avoid allegations of harassment.  The 
law and the policies of MRA prohibit disparate treatment on the basis of sex or any other  protected 
characteristic, with regard to terms, conditions, privileges and prerequisites of  employment. The 
prohibitions against harassment, discrimination, abusive conduct, and retaliation  are intended to 
complement and further those policies, not to form the basis of an exception to  them.  

If you believe you have experienced discrimination, harassment, or abusive conduct you may file  
a Department of Fair Employment and Housing (“DFEH”) or Equal Employment Opportunity  
Commission complaint. For information contact the DFEH or EEOC. You may find their phone  
numbers in the phone directory.  

Training Requirements  

MRA requires all employees to abide by California’s training requirements, which includes  
training within six months of hire and retraining every two years thereafter. Employees who fail  to 
complete this required training will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including  
termination.  

AT WILL EMPLOYMENT  

We believe that an employment relationship is successful as long as both parties are mutually  
satisfied. Accordingly, both you and MRA will have the right to terminate your employment and  
all related compensation and benefits at any time, with or without cause and with or without notice.  
In addition, MRA may eliminate or change any term or condition of your employment (including  
but not limited to your job assignment, duties, or salary) at will, at any time, for any reason not  
prohibited by law, with or without cause and with or without previous notice. MRA has the right  
due to certain State tax obligations, we would prefer our employees to reside in the state of  
California.  

This is called “employment at will,” and no one other than the Principal of MRA with the approval  
of the Board of Directors, has the authority to alter your employment at-will status, to enter into  
an agreement for employment for a specified period of time, or to make any agreement contrary  to 
this policy. Further, any such agreement must be in writing and must be signed by the Principal.  
Statements of specific grounds for termination set forth in this Handbook, or elsewhere, are not  
all-inclusive and are not intended to restrict MRA's right to terminate at-will.  

OPEN COMMUNICATION POLICY  

We want to hear from you. MRA strongly encourages employee participation in decisions  affecting 
their employment and their daily professional responsibilities. Our greatest strength lies  in our 
employees and our ability to work together. We encourage open communication about all  aspects 
of our school and organization. Employees are encouraged to openly discuss with their  supervisors 
any problems or suggestions they believe would make our organization better and  stronger. MRA 
is interested in all our employee’s success and fulfillment. We welcome all  constructive 
suggestions and ideas.  

 
Employees who have work-related concerns or complaints are encouraged to discuss them with  
their supervisor or the Principal. Employees are encouraged to raise their work-related concerns  as 

237



 Page 12 

soon as possible after the events that cause concern. MRA will attempt to keep the employee’s  
concerns and complaints and any resulting investigation confidential to the extent feasible.  
However, in the course of an investigation and/or in resolving the matter, some dissemination of  
information to others may be necessary, appropriate, and/or required by law. Employees with  
concerns or complaints relating to harassment, discrimination or retaliation should follow the  
reporting procedure outlined in this Handbook.  
 

LACTATION ACCOMMODATION POLICY  

MRA provides a reasonable amount of break time to accommodate a female employee’s need to  
express breast milk for the employee’s infant child. The School will also make a reasonable effort  
to provide the employee with the use of a room or other location in close proximity to the  
employee’s work area for the employee to express milk in private.  

The School reserves the right to deny an employee’s request for a lactation break if the additional  
break time will seriously disrupt operations.  

Employees requesting an accommodation under this policy should comply with the following  
requirements:  

1. The employee should complete an accommodation request form and contact the  employee’s 
supervisor or Human Resources to request designation of a location and time  to express 
breast milk under this policy.   

2. The requested break time should, if possible, be taken concurrently with other scheduled  
break periods. Nonexempt employees should clock out for any lactation breaks that do not  
run concurrently with normally scheduled rest periods. Any such breaks will be unpaid.   

Retaliation for making a lactation accommodation request is strictly forbidden. If the employee  
believes she has been retaliated against it should be reported immediately to her supervisor, Human  
Resources or Principal. Discrimination against and harassment of lactating employees in any form  
is unacceptable, a form of prohibited sex/gender discrimination, will not be tolerated at MRA and  
will be handled in accordance with MRA's policy on discrimination and harassment.  

PUBLIC RELATIONS  

The success of a school depends upon the quality of the relationship among the school, its  
employees, students, parents and the general public. The public impression of MRA and its  interest 
in our school will be formed in part, by MRA employees. Our employees are  ambassadors. The 
more goodwill an employee promotes, the more employees, students, parents  and the general 
public will respect and appreciate the employee, MRA, and our School’s services.   

Below are several things employees can do to help leave people with a good impression of MRA.  

These are the building blocks for our continued success:  

• Communicate with parents regularly.  

• Act competently and deal with others in a courteous and respectful manner. 

• Communicate pleasantly and respectfully with other employees at all times.  

• Follow up on requests and questions promptly, provide business-like and  personable 

replies to inquiries and requests, and perform all duties in an orderly  manner.  

238



 Page 13 

• Respond to email and voicemail within 24 hours during the workweek.  

• Take great pride in your work and enjoy doing your very best.  

 

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY  

MRA is committed to maintaining a workplace where employees are free to raise good faith  
concerns regarding certain business practices, specifically: (1) reporting suspected violations of  
law, including but not limited to federal laws and regulations; (2) providing truthful information  in 
connection with an inquiry or investigation by a court, agency, law enforcement, or other  
governmental body; and (3) identifying potential violations of MRA policy, specifically the  
policies contained in MRA's Employee Handbook.  

An employee who wishes to report a suspected violation of law or MRA Policy may do so by  
contacting the Principal, Assistant Principal or Human Resources.   

MRA expressly prohibits any form of retaliation, including harassment, intimidation, adverse  
employment actions, or any other form of retaliation, against employees who raise suspected  
violations of law, cooperate in inquiries or investigations, or identify potential violations of MRA 
policy. Any employee who engages in retaliation will be subject to discipline, up to and including  
termination.  

Any employee who believes that he or she has been subjected to any form of retaliation as a result  
of reporting a suspected violation of law or policy should immediately report the retaliation to one  
of the following: the Principal, Assistant Principal or Human Resources. Any supervisor, manager,  
or human resources staff member that receives complaints of retaliation must immediately inform  
the Principal or Chair of the Board of Directors, if appropriate.  

Reports of suspected violations of law or policy and reports of retaliation will be investigated  
promptly and in a manner intended to protect confidentiality as much as possible (although  
confidentiality cannot be guaranteed) and consistent with a full and fair investigation. Human 
Resources and a member of MRA's administration will conduct the investigation or designate  other 
internal or external parties to conduct the investigations. The investigating parties will notify  the 
concerned individuals of their findings as appropriate. 

SECTION 5 – THE EMPLOYMENT 

PROCESS  

EMPLOYEE STATUS AND CLASSIFICATIONS  

Each MRA employee is either a “full-time,” “part-time,” or “temporary” employee and either an  
“exempt” or “non-exempt” employee. Some of the policies and benefits described in this  handbook 
depend on whether the employee is full-time or part-time. Full-time employees are  those 
employees regularly scheduled to work 30 or more hours or more each week. Part-time  employees 
are those regularly scheduled to work less than 30 hours each week. Temporary  employees are 
those employed for short-term assignments or in connection with a specific project  or event. 
Temporary employees are not eligible for employee benefits, except those mandated by  applicable 
law.  

239



 Page 14 

Every member of the team is designated as a “Certificated employee” or “Classified employee.” 
Some of the policies and benefits described in this handbook depend on how the employee is  
designated.  

Exempt   

This category includes all regular employees who are determined by the School to be exempt from  
certain wage and hour provisions of state and federal laws. Exempt employees are paid a fixed  
salary that is intended to cover all of the compensation to which they are entitled. Exempt  
employees will be expected to work the number of hours necessary to complete their assigned  
responsibilities. Because they are exempt, such employees are not entitled to additional  
compensation for extra hours of work. Typically, full-time Teachers and Administrators are  
exempt employees.  

Non-Exempt  

This category includes all regular employees who are covered by certain wage and hour provisions of  
state and federal laws. Non-exempt employees are entitled to overtime and doubletime pay as well as  
meal and rest breaks, as prescribed by law. Typically, all part-time and temporary employees are non 
exempt. Additionally, most Classified staff are typically non-exempt employees.  

Certificated Employee   

Certificated Employees are teachers and administrators. Teachers are B-Basis (11 Months) or C 
Basis (10 Months) employees. Administrators are A-Basis (12 Months).  

Classified Employee  

Classified Employees include those employees hired by MRA that do not primarily instruct  
students, nor require state certification, such maintenance, assistants and other operational  
employees. Full-time Classified employees are A-Basis (12 Months), B-Basis (11 Months), D 
Basis (11 months) or C-Basis (10 Months) employees.  

WORK SCHEDULES  

All employees will be assigned a work schedule suitable for their job assignment and will be  
expected to begin and end work according to the schedule. Please note that schedules may vary  
depending on a variety of factors including whether you work during the academic year or on an  
annual basis. The Principal or your supervisor will assign your individual work schedule. In order  
to accommodate the needs of our business, it may be necessary to change individual work  
schedules on either a short- term or long-term basis. All employees are expected to be at their  desks 
or workstations at the start of their scheduled shift, ready to work. If you need to modify  your 
schedule, request the change with Human Resources or your supervisor. All schedule  changes or 
modifications must be approved by the Principal.  

MRA reserves the right to assign employees to jobs other than their usual assignment when  
necessary, provided the employee is capable of performing the essential functions of the alternate  
assignment.   

Non-exempt employees are not to work before or to continue working after their scheduled hours  
unless specifically assigned by the supervisor. Non-exempt employees are not allowed to work  
“off the clock.” Attendance at School-sponsored functions is not compensated unless the  
supervisor has required you to attend. Employees violating these rules may be subject to  

240



 Page 15 

disciplinary action up to and including termination.   

WORKWEEK AND WORKDAY  

MRA's workweek is from Sunday at 12:00 A.M. through the following Saturday at 11:59 P.M.  
MRA's standard workday is 12:00 A.M. to 11:59 P.M. (midnight) each day.   

SPECIAL VIRTUAL CLASSROOM EMPLOYMENT 

CONDITIONS  

Position Responsibilities:   

1. Teachers may be assigned a “Virtual Class” or “Virtual Classes”  

2. Teachers are provided, at MRA's expense, a computer capable of maintaining a high speed 
internet connection for their entire virtual class.   

3. Teachers must be available each school day from 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. by internet and/or phone.   

4. Teachers may be required to conduct a virtual classroom session up to two (2) hours per day  
for grades TK – 8 and up to three (3) hours per day for grades 9 – 12.   

5. Teachers must have access to a phone for calling/responding to students/parents during the  
teacher’s scheduled time within two (2) hours by phone or four (4) hours by internet.   

6. Teachers will use the tracking and monitoring system integrated into the student’s assigned  
course. Teachers will provide continual monitoring of the student’s progress and their scheduled  
benchmarked progress status.   

7. Teachers will be responsible for all virtual school required record keeping and reporting.   

Training:   
Teachers are required to attend training sessions hosted virtually or in-person. Mileage  
reimbursement will follow standard MRA protocols and procedures.  
  

Worksites:   

Most classes will be held virtually. Teachers may work from home.  

ATTENDANCE AND PUNCTUALITY  

Employees are expected to observe regular attendance and be punctual. Each of our employees is  
critical to our success. Therefore, regular attendance and punctuality is considered an essential  
function of all positions. If you are unable to report for work on any particular day, you must call  
your supervisor at least one hour before the time you are scheduled to begin working for that day.  
If you call in less than one hour before your scheduled time to begin work, you will be considered  
tardy for that day. Absent extenuating circumstances or a medical provider’s order excusing you  
from work for a period of time, you must call in on any day you are scheduled to work and will  
not report to work. The School understands that in some cases, advance notice is not possible. In  
these cases, notify your supervisor personally at the earliest possible moment. In some  
circumstances, you may be required to provide verification of the reason or documentation for  your 

241



 Page 16 

absence.  

More than three instances of tardiness by a non-exempt employee or instructional employee during  
any twelve-month period are considered excessive. Any unexcused absence is considered  
excessive.  

If you fail to report for work without any notification to your supervisor and the absence continues  
for a period of three business days, the School will determine that you have abandoned your job  
and voluntarily terminated your employment.   

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT  

Employees are expected to attend and participate in all professional development sessions and  
other school sponsored trainings that may be scheduled. While we understand that scheduling  
conflicts may arise, consistent tardiness, absenteeism and early departures may result in 
disciplinary action.   

When an employee attends a School sponsored professional development and/or training, the time  
spent in attendance shall be counted as time worked. All employees are required to sign-in and out  
for the purpose of record keeping. These records will serve as the official roster of attendance.  

MRA will pay hourly employees for attendance at mandatory trainings, lectures and meetings  
outside of regular working hours at the employee’s hourly rate. As exempt employees, salaried  
staff may be required to attend training seminars that may be outside of MRA's normal business  
hours with no additional pay.  

In the event that an employee must leave early or is unable to attend a scheduled training (i.e.  
Professional Development sessions), during their normal work hours, an employee MUST put in  
a time-off request according to the time-off policy. Employees may also be required to attend  
make-up sessions of any missed training.   

Failure to comply with this policy may result in disciplinary action.  

 

TIME RECORDS (NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEES)  

Non-exempt employees must accurately complete time records within the School’s time keeping  
system on a daily basis. Each time record must show the exact time work began and ended, the  
meal periods taken, and your signature. Absences and overtime must be accurately identified on  
your time record. Non-exempt employees are not allowed to work “off the clock.” All time  actually 
worked must be recorded. You cannot record time and/or submit a time record for another  
employee. Each employee must sign and submit his or her own time record. Employees must  
record all time actually worked.  

Exempt employees must report full days of absence from work. Deductions from an exempt  
employee’s salary will be made only in accordance with applicable law. Employees should  
immediately contact Human Resources with any questions concerning their pay so that inadvertent  
errors can be corrected.  

OVERTIME  

All non-exempt employees are required to obtain approval from their supervisor prior to working  

242



 Page 17 

overtime or double time. Failure to obtain such approval may subject an employee to discipline,  
up to and including termination. However, in all cases, the School will compensate its non-exempt  
employees for all hours worked.   

OFF THE CLOCK WORK  

MRA prohibits all non-exempt employees from working off the clock at any time. All time  worked 
must be recorded on the employee’s timesheet. This includes the use of laptops, computers,  PDAs 
or cell-phones to check work email, voicemail or to send text messages after hours.   

MEAL AND REST PERIODS (NON-EXEMPT 

EMPLOYEES)  

All non-exempt employees are provided with an opportunity to take meal and rest periods  
consistent with the law. During your meal periods and rest periods, you may not work at all. You  
are excused from all duties. In addition, please understand that you may not combine required  meal 
or rest periods in order to take a longer break. Also, you may not miss a required meal or  rest 
period in order to start work later or leave work earlier. In the rare event that you believe you  
cannot take a meal or rest period, or you are unable to take a full meal or rest period pursuant to  
School policy or you must begin your meal period more than five hours after your work period  
began, you must notify Human Resources in advance whenever possible (and, in any event, as  
soon as possible) so that the proper measures may be taken.   

Failure to comply with the School’s policy regarding meal and/or rest periods can lead to  
discipline, up to and including termination  

Meal Periods  

Non-exempt employees (hourly employees) scheduled to work more than five hours in a day are  
given a 30-minute duty-free unpaid meal period. The meal period must be taken before the end of  
the fifth (5th) hour of work. For example, if the employee begins working at 7:00 a.m., then the  
employee must clock out to begin his or her meal period no later than 12:00 p.m. (noon). The  
employee may waive this meal period if his/her workday will be completed within a total of six 
hours or less. To waive a meal period, the employee must receive prior written approval from their 
supervisor and complete a “Meal Period Waiver” form.   

If an employee’s day exceeds ten hours of work time, the employee is entitled to an additional 30- 
minute duty-free meal break. The employee only may waive this second meal period if he/she has  
taken the required first meal break of at least 30 minutes and his/her workday will not exceed 12  
hours. To waive the second meal period, the employee must receive prior written approval from 
their supervisor and complete a “Second Meal Period Waiver” form.   

Non-exempt employees must observe assigned working hours, the time allowed for meal periods,  
and report any missed, late or short meal periods on that days’ time record and to the employee’s  
supervisor immediately. The meal period must be accurately recorded on the employee’s time  
sheet. Meal periods are unpaid time and employees are free to leave the premises. Meal periods  
may not be combined with rest periods or used to come in later or leave earlier on a workday.   

Rest Periods  

Non-exempt employees are authorized and permitted to take a 10-minute rest period for each four  
(4) hours of work or major portion thereof. Your supervisor may schedule your rest periods. Rest  
periods should be taken as close to the middle of a work period as possible and cannot be taken in  

243



 Page 18 

conjunction with a meal period. Rest periods are paid work time; they cannot be waived by the  
employee in order to shorten the workday or used towards additional time off.  

Hours Worked Number of Rest Periods  

3.5 hours to 6 hours 1, 10-minute rest period  

Over 6 hours to 10 hours 2, 10-minute rest periods  

Over 10 hours to 14 hours 3, 10-minute rest periods  

Non-exempt employees must observe assigned working hours, the time allowed for rest periods,  
and report any missed rest period immediately as set forth below. Employees are encouraged to  
report any concerns regarding meal or rest periods to Human Resources.  

Reporting Missed, Late or Short/Interrupted Meal and Rest Periods  

Any employee who misses a meal or rest period or who experiences a late, short, or interrupted  
meal period – for any reason – must immediately report this issue in writing (via email) to Human  
Resources on the same workday that he or she experienced the non-compliant meal or rest period.  
The employee must include a description providing a thorough explanation for the non-compliant  
meal or rest period.   

If an employee voluntarily chooses to miss a meal or rest period or take a late, short, or interrupted  
meal period (e.g., I chose to take my lunch later in the day or I chose to refuse an “authorized” meal 
period at the time provided by MRA), the employee is not entitled to premium pay (one  additional 
hour of pay). If an employee involuntarily experiences a missed meal or rest period or  a late, short, 
or interrupted meal period (e.g., my supervisor asked me to handle a client call or  meeting that 
caused me to miss or take a late meal period), the employee is entitled to premium  pay. Employees 
must report the reason for the non-compliant meal or rest period to Human  Resources. 

PAYDAYS  

Employees are paid semi-monthly in accordance with the School’s payroll schedule. The Payroll  
Coordinator or his or her designee will distribute checks to those who do not have direct deposit.  
If a normally scheduled pay day falls on a weekend or holiday, paychecks will be distributed the  
preceding business day.  

A written, signed authorization is required for mail delivery or for delivery of your paycheck to  
any other person. If you have automatic deposit for your paycheck, your funds will be deposited  
to the financial institution you requested by the end of business on the scheduled payday. While  an 
automatic deposit may actually credit to your account before your actual “payday,” the School  is 
not responsible for automatic payments or withdraws dated prior to your actual payday and you  
should not depend on early deposits of your pay.   

If a wage garnishment order is received by MRA for one of our employees, we are obligated by  
law to comply with the demand. The affected employee will receive notice from his or her  
supervisor or Human Resources as soon as possible.  

PAY PERIODS  

24 pay periods   
Classified or Certificated employees who work year-round. No time is taken off work unless you  

244



 Page 19 

are on PTO or sick leave. You are paid 24 times a year. You are paid the 10th and 25th of every  
month.   

   

 

Team members on this work calendar are paid 24 times a year. You are compensated on the 10th  
and 25th of the month from 07/25 to 07/10 of the following year.  

PAYROLL WITHHOLDINGS  

MRA is required by law to withhold Federal Income Tax, State Income Tax, Social Security  
(FICA), State Teachers Retirement Service (STRS for eligible credentialed faculty) and State  
Disability Insurance from each employee’s paycheck as outlined below. Additionally, if a 
garnishment, tax levy, or an order to withhold child support payments should be delivered, MRA 
must comply with that order within the time allowed by law, and cannot postpone the payroll  
deduction for any reason. Voluntary deductions, which must be authorized in writing by  
employees, may include retirement plans, employee portion of insurance premiums, or any other  
benefit made available to employees.   

If an employee believes an error has been made in his or her pay or deductions, MRA will work  in 
good faith to resolve errors as soon as possible. The employee should notify the Payroll  
Coordinator or his or her designee of any errors in pay or deductions withheld within seven (7)  
days from the date paid.   

Every deduction from the employee’s paycheck is explained on the check voucher/paystub. If the  
employee does not understand the deduction, then he or she should ask Human Resources to  
explain it. The employee may change the number of withholding allowances he or she wishes to  
claim for Federal and/or State Income Tax purposes before any pay period by filling out a new W4  
form and submitting it to Human Resources.   

SECTION 6 - CONDITIONS OF 

EMPLOYMENT  

IMMIGRATION LAW COMPLIANCE  

MRA employs only those authorized to work in the United States in compliance with the  
Immigration and Control Act of 1986. Each new employee, as a condition of employment, must  
complete the Employment Eligibility Verification Form I-9 and present original documentation  
establishing identity and employment eligibility as outlined on the I-9 instruction forms. Former  
employees who are rehired must also complete the form if they have not completed an I-9 with  
MRA within the past three years or if their previous I-9 is no longer retained or valid.   

CREDENTIAL REQUIREMENTS  

If you are a credentialed team member, you must provide copies of your credential, official  
transcripts, and/or test scores prior to your first day of actual work. Failure to provide these  
documents may delay your ability to begin work.   

You are also responsible for keeping required certificates, credentials, and registrations current  and 

245



 Page 20 

in good standing, for paying the costs associated with renewal, and for providing both your  
Principal and the School with verification of renewals. Failure to provide these updated documents  
to the School may result in suspension without pay until such time as the necessary documentation  
has been provided.   

If a teacher fails to obtain the appropriate credential, or allows a credential, certificate, registration,  
or required course deadline to expire, or fails re-certification, training, or testing, the School 
reserves the right to suspend the teacher without pay until the teacher’s credential is cleared, or  
release the teacher from at-will employment as necessary.   

TUBERCULOSIS TEST  

Before the first day of employment, all new employees must have had a tuberculosis test as  
described in Education Code 49406 or a TB Risk Assessment (pursuant to AB1667) within the  
past 60 days. Employees transferring from other public or private schools within the State of 
California must either provide proof of an examination or a completed Risk Assessment within the  
previous 60 days or a certification showing that he or she was examined within the past four (4)  
years and was found to be free of communicable tuberculosis. The current physician’s statement  
or Risk Assessment must be on file in the office before the first day of employment. Failure to  
provide documentation on time may result in delay of your ability to begin work or termination.   

TB Clearance is good for four years and it is the employee’s responsibility to remain in compliance  
and ensure the School has a valid certificate on file.   

CRIMINAL BACKGROUND CHECK  

As required by law, all individuals working or volunteering at the School will be required to 
submit  to fingerprinting and a criminal background investigation.   

The School shall, on a case-by-case basis, determine whether a volunteer will have more than  
limited contact with pupils or consider other factors requiring a criminal background check for  
such a volunteer.  

CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT REPORTING ACT  

Since our employees work directly with children, they are in a position to detect instances of child  
abuse and neglect. It is MRA's policy that all School employees shall comply with the California  
State law regarding child abuse reporting procedures. Section 11166 of the California Penal Code  
mandates the reporting to designated authorities of cases of suspected child abuse as follows:   

“Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has  
knowledge of or observes a child in his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or  
her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has been the victim of child abuse  
shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency  
immediately or as soon as practically possible by telephone and shall prepare and send a written  
report thereof within 36 hours of receiving the information concerning the incident.”   

While each employee has the responsibility to ensure the reporting of any child he/she suspects is  
a victim of abuse, the employee is not to verify the suspicion or prove that abuse has occurred.  
Teachers or staff who become aware of suspected child abuse should report the suspicions as  
required.  

It is extremely important that MRA's employees comply with the requirements of the Child Abuse  

246



 Page 21 

and Neglect Reporting Act (CANRA). No mandated reporter can be held civilly or criminally  
liable for any report required or authorized by CANRA. In addition, any other person who  
voluntarily reports a known or suspected incident of child abuse or neglect will not incur civil or  
criminal liability unless it is proven that the report was false and the person knew the report was  
false or made the report with reckless disregard of its truth or falsity.  

Your direct supervisor is available to answer any questions employees may have about their  
responsibilities under CANRA, or to assist an employee in making a report under CANRA. If an  
employee makes a report pursuant to CANRA without MRA's assistance, he or she is required to  
notify MRA of the report if it is based on incidents he or she observed or became aware of during  
the course and scope of his or her employment with MRA.  

  

PERSONNEL FILES  

An employee or former employee (or designee) has the right to inspect or receive a copy of his or  
her personnel records at reasonable times, at a reasonable place, and on reasonable advance notice  
to Human Resources. All requests should be put in writing preferably on the form maintained by  
MRA. If the request includes a request for copies the employee or former employee may be  
required to pay for the actual costs of copying. Employer will respond to such a request within 30  
days of receipt of the written request.   

Employees are not entitled to inspect or copy: letters of reference, records that relate to an  
investigation of possible criminal activity, ratings, reports, or records obtained prior to  
employment, prepared by examination committee members or obtained in connection with a  
promotional examination.   

CHANGES IN EMPLOYEE INFORMATION  

An employee is responsible for notifying Human Resources about changes in the employee’s  
personal information and changes affecting the employee’s status (ex. name changes, address or  
telephone number changes, marriages or divorces, etc.). This notification by the employee must  
occur as close to the change as possible, but no later than 30 days following the change.  

SECTION 7 – PERFORMANCE   

PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS  

Performance evaluations generally are conducted annually to provide both employees and  
supervisors with the opportunity to discuss the employee’s position, tasks, identify and correct  
weaknesses, encourage and recognize strengths, and discuss methods for improving performance.  
The performance evaluations are intended to make employees aware of their progress, areas for  
improvement, and objectives or goals for future work performance. Favorable performance  
evaluations do not guarantee an increase in salary or promotional opportunities, or even continued  
employment. Salary increases and promotions are solely within the discretion of MRA and  depend 
upon many factors in addition to performance.   

Teachers:  

At the start of each academic year, each Teacher will meet with their Regional Coordinator to  

247



 Page 22 

establish Performance Objectives or SMART Goals for that school year. The Teacher will put  these 
objectives in writing in accordance with a template to be provided by the Regional  Coordinator.  

The Regional Coordinator will generally evaluate the Teacher’s performance at least once a year  
formally and on an ongoing basis informally. The evaluation will be based on factors including  the 
Teacher’s job description, accomplishment of the Performance Objectives, the MRA's charter,  and 
standards for teaching performance developed by the Principal, the MRA's Board of Directors,  
and/or other MRA staff.   

In addition to these more formal performance evaluations, MRA encourages you and your  
supervisor to discuss your job performance on an ongoing basis. 
 
MRA's provision of performance evaluations does not alter the at-will employment relationship.  
Nothing in this policy shall limit the right to terminate employment at-will or limit MRA's right  to 
transfer, demote, suspend, administer discipline, and change the terms and conditions of  
employment at its sole discretion. Employment is at the mutual consent of the employee and  MRA. 
Accordingly, either the employee or MRA can terminate the employment relationship  at-will, at 
any time, with or without reason and with or without notice.  

Classified Staff:   

Formal evaluations are generally held once each year. You will be provided a copy of the  
evaluation tool and as part of the process you will do a self-evaluation. Your supervisor may 
schedule your evaluation time in advance so that you are prepared for the process.  

In addition to these more formal performance evaluations, MRA encourages you and your  
supervisor to discuss your job performance on an ongoing basis.  

SECTION 8 – LEAVES  

FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE ACT/CALIFORNIA FAMILY RIGHTS ACT1
  

Eligible employees may request a family and medical leave of absence under the circumstances  
described below. Eligible employees are those who have been employed by the School for at least  
12 months (not necessarily consecutive), have worked at least 1250 hours during the 12 months  
immediately prior to the family and medical leave of absence, and are employed at a worksite  
where there are 50 or more employees of the School within 75 miles.  

Ordinarily, you must request a planned family and medical leave at least 30 days before the leave  
begins. If the need for the leave is not foreseeable, you must request the leave as soon as possible.  
You should use the School’s request form, which is available upon request from Human  Resources. 
Failure to comply with this requirement may result in a delay of the start of the leave.  

A family and medical leave may be taken for the following reasons:  

1. The birth of an employee’s child or the placement of a child with the employee for foster care  
or adoption, so long as the leave is completed within 12 months of the birth or placement of the  
child;  

2. The care of the employee’s spouse, child, parent, or registered domestic partner with a “serious  
health condition”;  

3. The “serious health condition” of the employee; 

248



 Page 23 

 
4. The care of the employee’s spouse, child, parent, or next of kin who is a member of the Armed  
Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, and who is undergoing medical  
treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the  
temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness; or  

5. Any qualifying exigency as defined by the applicable regulations arising out of the fact that the  
employee’s spouse, child, or parent is on active duty (or has been notified of an impending call or  
order to active duty) in the Armed Forces in support of a contingency operation.  

A “serious health condition” is one that requires inpatient care in a hospital or other medical care  
facility or continuing treatment or supervision by a health care provider. You may take a leave  
under paragraph (2) above only if due to a serious health condition, your spouse, child, parent, or  
registered domestic partner requires your care or assistance as certified in writing by the family  
member’s health care provider. If you are seeking a leave under paragraph (3) above, you must  
provide the School with a medical certification from your health care provider establishing  
eligibility for the leave, and you must provide the School with a release to return to work from the  
health care provider before returning to work. You must provide the required medical certification  
to the School in a timely manner to avoid a delay or denial of leave. You may obtain the  appropriate 
forms from Human Resources.  

Family and medical leave is unpaid and may be taken for up to 12 workweeks during the  designated 
12-month period (with the exception of qualifying leaves to care for a member of the  Armed 
Services who has a serious illness or injury, which may be taken for up to a total of 26  workweeks 
of leave during a single 12-month period). The 12-month period will be defined as a  “rolling twelve 
months” looking backward over the preceding 12 months to calculate how much  family and 
medical leave time has been taken and therefore determine the amount of leave that is  available. 
Qualifying leaves to care for a member of the Armed Services who has a serious illness  or injury 
will be calculated on the 12-month period looking forward. All time off that qualifies as  family 
and medical leave will be counted against your state and federal family and medical leave  
entitlements to the fullest extent permitted by law.  

You will be required to use any available PTO during unpaid family and medical leave. You will  
also be required to use any available paid sick leave during unpaid family and medical leave that  
is due to your own or a family member’s serious health condition. However, if an employee is  
receiving benefit payments pursuant to a disability insurance plan (such as California’s State  
Disability Insurance plan or Paid Family Leave program) or workers’ compensation insurance  
plan, the employee and the School may mutually agree to supplement such benefit payments with  
available PTO and/or paid sick leave.  

Benefit accrual, such as PSL, PTO, and holiday benefits, will be suspended during the approved  
leave period and will resume upon return to active employment. During a family and medical  leave, 
group health benefits will be maintained as if you were continuously employed. However,  you 
must continue to pay your share of applicable premiums (for yourself and any dependents)  during 
the leave.  

If you do not return to work on the first workday following the expiration of an approved family  
and medical leave, you will be deemed to have resigned from your employment. Upon returning  
from such a leave, you will normally be reinstated to your original or an equivalent position and  
will receive pay and benefits equivalent to those you received prior to the leave, as required by law. 
In certain circumstances, “key” employees may not be eligible for reinstatement following a  family 
and medical leave. The School will provide written notice to any “key” employee who is  not 

249



 Page 24 

eligible for reinstatement.  

If you have any questions concerning, or would like to submit a request for a family and medical  

leave of absence, please contact Human Resources.  

1 Employees may qualify for FMLA/CFRA Leave only if the School has 50 or more employees,  

the employees work within 75 miles of their respective worksites and meet other eligibility  

requirements set forth above. Please check with Human Resources to determine whether you are  

eligible for FMLA/CFRA leave. 

PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE  

The School provides pregnancy disability leaves of absence without pay to eligible employees who  
are temporarily unable to work due to a disability related to pregnancy, childbirth, or related  
medical conditions. Employees should make requests for pregnancy disability leave to their  
supervisor at least 30 days in advance of foreseeable events and as soon as possible for  
unforeseeable events. A health care provider’s statement must be submitted, verifying the need  for 
such leave and its beginning and expected ending dates. Any changes in this information  should 
be promptly reported to Human Resources. Employees returning from pregnancy disability  leave 
must submit a health care provider’s verification of their fitness to return to work.  

The School will make a good faith effort to provide reasonable accommodations and/or transfer  
requests when such a request is medically advisable based on the certification of a healthcare  
provider. When an employee’s health care provider finds it is medically advisable for an employee  
to take intermittent leave or leave on a reduced work schedule and such leave is foreseeable based  
on planned medical treatment because of pregnancy, the School may require the employee to  
transfer temporarily to an available alternative position. This alternative position will have an 
equivalent rate of pay and benefits and must better accommodate recurring periods of leave than  
the employee’s regular job.  

Eligible employees are normally granted unpaid leave for the period of disability, up to a maximum  
of four months (or 17 1/3 weeks or 693 hours) per pregnancy. Employees will be required to use  
any unused allotted sick time during any unpaid portion of pregnancy disability leave. Employees  
may also elect to use any available PTO during any unpaid portion of pregnancy disability leave.  
If an employee is receiving benefit payments pursuant to a disability insurance plan (such as  
California’s State Disability Insurance plan or Paid Family Leave program), the employee and the  
School may mutually agree to supplement such benefit payments with available PTO and/or sick  
leave.  

Benefit accrual, such as PTO, sick leave, and holiday benefits, will be suspended during the  
approved pregnancy disability leave period and will resume upon return to active employment.  
Group health benefits will be maintained during the approved pregnancy disability leave as if you  
were continuously employed. However, you must continue to pay your share of applicable  
premiums (for yourself and any dependents) during the leave.  

So that an employee’s return to work can be properly scheduled, an employee on pregnancy  
disability leave is requested to provide the School with at least one week’s advance notice of the  
date she intends to return to work.  

When an approved pregnancy disability leave ends, the employee will be reinstated to the same  
position, unless the job ceases to exist because of legitimate business reasons. An employee has no 

250



 Page 25 

greater right to reinstatement to the same position or to other benefits and conditions of  
employment than if she had been continuously employed in this position during the pregnancy  
disability leave or transfer. If the same position is not available, the employee will be offered a  
comparable position in terms of such issues as pay, location, job content, and promotional  
opportunities, if one exists. An employee has no greater right to reinstatement to a comparable  
position or to other benefits or conditions of employment than an employee who has been  
continuously employed in another position that is being eliminated.  

If you have any questions regarding pregnancy disability leave, please contact Human 

Resources. 

 MILITARY SPOUSE LEAVE  

An eligible employee-spouse of a qualified service member is entitled to take ten (10) days unpaid  
leave during a period when the spouse is on leave from deployment during a period of military  
conflict.   

An eligible employee must work an average of 20 hours per week; must provide notice of his or  
her intention to take the leave within two (2) business days of receiving official notice that the  
service member will be on leave; and submit written documentation certifying that the service  
member will be on leave during the time the leave is required.   

The employee may use unused and available PSL or PTO for this leave.   

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION LEAVE  

Employees that are temporarily disabled due to a work-related illness or injury will be placed on  
workers’ compensation leave. The duration leave will depend upon the rate of recovery and the  
medical provider’s recommendation. Workers’ compensation leave will run concurrently with any  
other applicable medical leave of absence (i.e. FMLA/CFRA if applicable). Human Resources  will 
reach out to employees that have requested a workers’ compensation leave regarding employer  
provided health insurance benefits. If you have any questions concerning this leave and/or any  
benefit related questions, please contact Human Resources.  

BEREAVEMENT LEAVE  

MRA provides regular full-time employees up to five (5) days off for bereavement leave, beyond 
sick or personal time, due to the death of an immediate family member. Three (3) of those days are 
paid. You can use PSL, PNL or PTO for the other days not paid. An immediate family member  
includes a  parent (including an in-law and step-parent), spouse, domestic partner, dependent, 
sibling,  stepsibling, grandparent or grandchild. If a funeral is more than 500 miles from your home, 
you  may receive paid leave for five (5) days with prior approval from your supervisor. 

 

JURY DUTY LEAVE   

All employees who receive a notice of jury/witness duty must notify their supervisor as soon as  
possible so that arrangements may be made to cover the absence. In addition, employees must  
provide a copy of the official jury/witness duty notice to their supervisor. Employees must report  
for work whenever the court schedule permits. Either the School or the employee may request an  
excuse from jury/witness duty if, in the School’s judgment, the employee’s absence would create  

251



 Page 26 

serious operational difficulties. 

 
Non-exempt employees who are called for jury/witness duty will be provided time off without  pay. 
Exempt employees will receive their regular salary unless they do not work any hours during  the 
course of a workweek. Employees may elect to use any available PTO during jury/witness  duty 
leave.  

In the event that the employee must serve as a witness within the course and scope of his or her 
employment with the School, the School will provide time off with pay.  

TIME OFF TO VOTE  

The School will allow any non-exempt employee who is a registered voter and does not have  
enough time outside of working hours to vote in a statewide election up to two (2) hours of work  
time without loss of pay to vote. The request must be made at least two (2) working days in  
advance. The time must be at the beginning or end of the employee’s regular shift, whichever  
allows the most free time for voting and the least time off from work unless the School and the  
employee agree otherwise. The employee may be required to prove he or she is a registered voter.   

An employee may also serve as an election official on Election Day without being disciplined,  
however the School will not pay the employee for this time off. Available PTO may be used for  
this time off.  

SCHOOL ACTIVITIES LEAVE  

The School encourages employees to participate in the school activities of their child(ren). If you  
are the parent or guardian of a child who is in school up to grade 12, or who attends a licensed  
daycare facility, you may take up to 40 hours of unpaid leave per year to participate in the activities  
of the school or daycare facility, to find, enroll or reenroll your child in a school or with a licensed  
childcare provider and/or to address a childcare provider or school emergency.  

The leave is subject to all of the following conditions:  

● The time off for school activity participation cannot exceed eight (8) hours in any  
calendar month, or a total of forty (40) hours each year;  

● Unless it is an emergency, employees planning to take time off for school  visitations must 
provide as much advance notice as possible to their supervisor;  

● If the School employs both parents, the first employee to request such leave will  receive 
the time off. The other parent will receive the time off only if the leave is  approved by his 
or her supervisor;  

● Employees must use existing PTO in order to receive compensation for this time  off;  
● Employees who do not have paid time off available will take the time off without  pay.  
● Documentation of participation may be requested and will be sufficient if it is  provided in 

writing by the school or the licensed child care/day care facility. 

  

SCHOOL APPEARANCE/SUSPENSION LEAVE  

If the parent or guardian of a child facing suspension from school is summoned to the school to  
discuss the matter, the employee should alert his or her supervisor as soon as possible before  

252



 Page 27 

leaving work. In compliance with California Labor Code section 230.7, no discriminatory action  
will be taken against an employee for taking time off for this purpose.  

This leave is unpaid but the employee may choose to use available PTO. You will not be  
discharged or discriminated against because of an absence protected by this law.  

CRIME VICTIM LEAVE  

Employees are allowed to be absent from work to attend judicial proceedings related to a violent  
felony, serious felony (as defined by the California Penal Code) or felonies related to theft or  
embezzlement if they are:  

• A victim of such a crime;  

• An immediate family member (i.e., spouse, registered domestic partner, child, step child, 
sibling, step-sibling, parent, step-parent, or the child or a registered domestic  
partner) is a victim of such a crime.  

An employee must give reasonable advance notice to the School by providing documentation of 
the proceeding. Documentation may be from any of the following:   

• Notice from the court or government agency setting the hearing;  

• The district attorney or prosecuting attorney’s office; or  

• The victim/witness assistance office advocating on the victim’s behalf.   

This leave is unpaid but the employee may choose to use available sick or personal time off 
(PTO).  You will not be discharged or discriminated against because of an absence protected by 
this law.   

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE/SEXUAL 

ASSAULT/STALKING LEAVE  

If you are a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault or stalking, you may take unpaid time off  
to obtain or attempt to obtain judicial relief, such as obtaining restraining orders, to help insure  
your health, safety or welfare or that of your child(ren). Employees may use available PTO (if  
applicable) or PSL. Otherwise, the time off is unpaid. All employees can take time off from work  
to get medical attention or services from a domestic violence shelter, program, or rape crisis center,  
or receive psychological counseling, or safety planning related to domestic violence, sexual  
assault, or stalking.  

You must give the School reasonable notice unless advance notice is not feasible, and provide  
certification that you are seeking such assistance.  

Certification may be sufficiently provided by any of the following:   

● A police report indicating that you were a victim of domestic violence or sexual  assault;   
● A court order protecting or separating you from the perpetrator of an act of domestic  

violence or sexual assault, or other evidence from the court or prosecuting attorney that 
you appeared in court; or  

● Documentation from a medical professional, domestic violence advocate, health  care 
provider, or counselor that you are undergoing treatment for physical or mental  injuries or 
abuse resulting in victimization from an act of domestic violence or  sexual assault.  

253



 Page 28 

Employees have the right to ask the School for help or changes in their workplace to make sure  
they are safe at work. The School will work with its employees to see what changes can be made.  
Changes in the workplace may include putting in locks, changing shifts or phone numbers,  
transferring or reassigning the employee, or help with keeping a record of what happened to the  
employee. The School may ask the affected employee for a signed statement certifying that this  
request is for a proper purpose and may also request proof showing the need for an  accommodation. 
The School will maintain confidentiality to the extent possible regarding any  requests for 
accommodations under this policy.  

The School will also, to the extent allowed by law, maintain the confidentiality to the extent  
possible of an employee requesting leave under this provision. The School will not discharge,  
discriminate, or retaliate against an employee who exercises their rights under this law. Domestic  
violence, sexual assault, and stalking victim’s leave for medical treatment does not exceed or add  
to the unpaid leave time that FMLA/CFRA allows.  

MRA is committed to ensuring employees are not treated differently or retaliated against because  
of any of the following:  

• The employee is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. • 

The employee asked for time off to get help.  

• The employee asked MRA for help or changes in the workplace to ensure safety  at 
work.  

Employers are prohibited from discharging, discriminating, or retaliating against an employee who  
is a victim of domestic violence, the victim of sexual assault or stalking for taking time off to seek  
medical attention, obtain services from a domestic violence shelter or program or rape crisis center,  
obtain psychological counseling, participate in safety planning, or temporary or permanent  
relocation.  

MILITARY LEAVE  

California’s military leave laws, found at Military & Veterans Code section 389 et seq. and the  
Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (“USERRA”), found at 38  
U.S.C. Section 4301 et seq., ensure that employees are not adversely affected in their employment  
after taking leave for military service. Employees who serve in the military and are entitled to a  
military leave of absence without pay from the School under applicable laws should notify Human  
Resources regarding the need for military leave.  

Please see Human Resources for more information regarding job reinstatement rights upon  
completion of military service. 

ADULT LITERACY LEAVE  

Pursuant to California law, the School will reasonably accommodate any eligible employee who  
seeks to enroll in an adult literacy education program, provided that the accommodation does not  
impose an undue hardship on the School. The School does not provide paid time off for  
participation in an adult literacy education. However, you may utilize available PTO if you want  
compensation for this time off. If you do not have any PTO available, you will be permitted to  take 
the time off without pay.  

254



 Page 29 

ORGAN DONOR / BONE MARROW DONOR LEAVE   

If you donate an organ to another person you may take up to thirty (30) days paid leave per year  
for this process or up to five (5) days paid leave for the donation of bone marrow.   

You must give as much notice as is practicable and must provide certification of the medical  
necessity of the procedure. You will be required to use up to ten (10) days of any available paid  
leave (sick and/or PTO) for organ donation and up to five (5) days of available paid leave (sick  
and/or PTO) for bone marrow donation. This leave does not run concurrently with FMLA/CFRA.  
You must have been employed for at least a 90-day period immediately preceding the beginning  
of the leave, if otherwise eligible.   

You may take this leave incrementally, as medically necessary, or all at one time. All health  
benefits shall be maintained during this leave to the extent they exist at the time of the leave. This  
leave shall not be considered a break in service and the employee shall continue to receive paid  
time off and other benefits as if they had continued working. The Employee shall be required to  
pay any portion of their benefits they are currently paying.   

An employee shall not have any greater rights during this leave than if he or she had been actively  
working during this time, but will be reinstated to their same or equivalent job prior to the leave.  
No employee shall be discriminated or retaliated against for taking an organ donation or bone  
marrow leave.   

DRUG & ALCOHOL REHABILITATION LEAVE  

MRA will reasonably accommodate any employee who volunteers to enter an alcohol or drug  
rehabilitation program, if the reasonable accommodation does not impose an undue hardship on  
the School. Reasonable accommodation includes time off without pay and adjusting work hours.  
You may use allotted and unused sick leave. All reasonable measures to safeguard your privacy  
will be maintained.   

This policy in no way restricts MRA's right to discipline an employee, up to and including  termination of 
employment, for violation of MRA's Substance and Alcohol Policy.  

VOLUNTEER CIVIL SERVICE LEAVE  

You are allowed to be absent from work to engage in volunteer emergency duty as a volunteer  
firefighter, reserve police officer, or emergency rescue personnel. This is an unpaid leave, but the  
employee may use any earned sick, and/or PTO.  

 

CIVIL AIR PATROL LEAVE  

MRA provides eligible employees who are volunteer members of the California Wing of the 
Civil  Air Patrol and are called to emergency operational missions up to (10) days of unpaid leave 
per  calendar year. Leave for a single emergency operational mission will generally be limited to 
three days unless an extension is granted by appropriate government entities and approved by the  
School.   

To be eligible, employees must have been employed with MRA for 90 days immediately  preceding 
the commencement of leave. Additionally, the School may require certification from  the proper 

255



 Page 30 

Civil Air Patrol authority to verify the eligibility of the employee for the leave requested  or taken.   

Employees may use available paid time off for leave taken under this policy. The notice and  
eligibility requirements for any such paid time off will generally apply to an employee’s request  
for use of PTO under this policy. 

 

SECTION 9 – BENEFITS   

SCHOOL HOLIDAYS   

The School observes 16 paid holidays during the year:  

(Refer to your work calendar for specific dates)  

● Friday before New Year’s Day 

● New Year’s Day  

● Martin Luther King Day  

● Lincoln’s Birthday  

● Washington’s Birthday 

● Day before Easter 

● Easter Day  

● Memorial Day  

● Juneteenth 

● Independence Day  

● Labor Day  

● Veteran’s Day  

● Thanksgiving Day  

● Day after Thanksgiving  

● Christmas Day  

● Day after Christmas Day  

To be eligible for holiday pay, an employee must be full-time and non-exempt and must work both  
the business day before and after the holiday. Part-time employees, temporary employees, exempt  
employees and teachers are not eligible for holiday pay. Exempt employees and teachers will  
receive their regularly scheduled pay during holidays.  

Eligible employees will receive time off with pay at their regular rate of pay on the School observed 
holidays listed above. When a holiday falls on a Saturday or Sunday, it is usually  observed on the 
preceding Friday or following Monday. However, the School may close on  another day. Holiday 
observance will be announced in advance. The School reserves the right to  change this policy at 
any time, with or without notice.  

Holiday hours do not count as hours worked for purposes of calculating overtime. For example,  if 
you receive 8 hours of holiday pay on Monday and work 40 hours Tuesday-Saturday (8  hours/day), 
you will not be eligible for overtime.  

Recognized religious holidays may be taken off by an employee whose religion requires  
observance of the particular day. Employees must request the day off in advance by written notice  

256



 Page 31 

to their supervisor. The employee may use paid time off (PTO) if the employee has unused PTO  
available, otherwise the holiday will be unpaid. All steps will be taken to reasonably accommodate  
a religious holiday (or practice) absent an undue hardship.   

To qualify for holiday pay, all employees must work the last scheduled day before and the first  
scheduled day after the holiday unless the employee is absent:  

● At the Supervisor’s request/approval  
● Due to closure of schools because of inclement weather  
● Due to sickness with a doctor’s note verifying need for absence  
● Prior to or following Jury Duty or Bereavement Leave  
● Due to a previously scheduled and approved time off  

PAID TIME OFF (PTO) – A-BASIS ONLY  

Full-time A-Basis (12 Months) school based employees are entitled to paid time off (PTO)  
according to this policy. PTO days may be used for vacation, personal time, illness, or time off to  
care for family or dependents. All other employees, including teachers, temporary employees, 
part time employees are not eligible to receive or accumulate PTO.   

PTO must be scheduled at least five (5) days in advance and approved by your supervisor, except  
in the case of an illness or emergency. In the case of illness or emergency you are required to  
contact your immediate supervisor at least one (1) hour before your shift begins, if possible or  
otherwise as soon as practicable. Employees using extended PTO time (in excess of three (3) days)  
must submit a request at least two (2) weeks before the extended PTO or, if used as sick time, the  
employee may be required to submit a doctor’s release upon return to work. Your supervisor uses  
his/her discretion to approve PTO without advance notice.   

Unless used for illness related purposes, PTO may not be taken the last week of the school year,  
or on scheduled in-service and/or training days, testing administration day, or immediately before  
or after holidays without supervisor’s permission.  

All full-time A-Basis (12 Months) employees may be eligible to receive up to ten (10) days (i.e.,  
80 hours) of PTO each school year (July 1 – June 30). Once an employee’s PTO balance reaches  
twenty (20) days (i.e., 120 hours), the employee stops receiving any additional PTO until PTO is  
used and the employee’s balance falls below the 20-day cap. PTO days will not accumulate during  
any unpaid leave of absence.  

The following terms also apply to PTO:  

• For both non-exempt and exempt employees, vacation time may be taken in minimum  
increments of 2 hours. If an exempt employee absents himself or herself from work for  part 
or all of a workday, he or she will be required to use available PTO to make up for the  
absence.  

• In the event an employee has exhausted his or her PTO, any additional time off must be  
approved by their supervisor and will be taken without pay.   

• Any employee who misses three (3) consecutive days of work without notice to their  
supervisor may be deemed to have abandoned his/her job and voluntarily resigned from  
employment.   

• Upon separation of employment, employees will be paid their earned PTO based on their  
date of separation and their regular rate of pay.   

257



 Page 32 

• To the extent permitted by law, PTO accumulated prior to the start of a requested and  
approved unpaid leave of absence must be used to cover hours missed before the start of  
the unpaid leave.   

As with all of its policies and procedures, the School reserves the right to modify, alter, or  
otherwise eradicate this policy at its sole and absolute discretion to the extent allowed by law. 

PAID SICK LEAVE (PSL), PERSONAL NECESSITY LEAVE 

(PNL), & TIME  OFF BALANCES POLICY 

  

The School enacted this policy in accordance with the California Healthy Workplaces, Healthy  
Families Act to provide paid sick leave (“PSL”) to eligible employees. Monarch River Academy 
Charter  School’s Paid Sick Leave Plan is a part of the benefits package extended to staff. This 
benefit is  designed to provide employees with a degree of income protection in the event of 
unforeseen  absence from work due to the employee’s own illness or other member of an 
employee's immediate  family. Sick leave benefits may be used as accrued, and may continue to 
accrue as long as the  employee is on active status and working. Upon reduction in benefits 
eligibility status (i.e. request  for reduced work schedule below the benefits threshold, on FMLA 
or any Leave of Absence),  benefits will cease to accrue until eligibility otherwise resumes. Any 
days accrued and unused,  earned to date, will be maintained as a part of the employee’s personnel 
record until such time as  the employee resumes benefit-eligible status. 

ALLOTMENT OF PAID SICK LEAVE: 

Full Time Teachers & SPED Assessment Team Members 

On July 1 of each year, eligible employees will be allotted seven days (32 hours) of Paid Sick Leave 

(PSL) per school year (July 1 – June 30), unused PSL days will carry over year to STRS retirement 

bank. (Cap of 120 hours).   Also, 48 hours will be front-loaded at the beginning of the school year or 

hire date for Personnel Necessity (PNL) Days.  Teachers need to have PNL days requested and 

approved by their administrator at least five working days prior.  Hours beyond cap go into Sick Leave 

bank. PNL days can also be used for paid sick leave.  However, PLS Days cannot be used for a PNL 

request.  PNL days are capped at 48 hours.Part-time. 

Teachers and Classified Staff Members 

Receive 24 hours of Paid Sick Leave annually. These days can be used for either Personal  
Necessity or Paid Sick Leave. 

Regional Coordinators 

On July 1 of each year, eligible employees will be allotted eight days (40 hours) of Paid Sick Leave 
(PSL) per school year (July 1 – June 30), unused PSL days will carry over year to STRS retirement 
bank. (Cap of 120 hours).      Also, 48 hours will be front-loaded at the beginning of the school year 
or hire date for Personnel Necessity (PNL) Days.  RCs need to have PNL days requested and 
approved by their administrator at least five working days prior.  Hours beyond cap go into Sick 

258



 Page 33 

Leave bank. PNL days can also be used for paid sick leave.  However, PLS Days cannot be used 
for a PNL request.  PNL days are capped at 24 hours. 

Administrators & Full-time Classified  

On July 1 of each year, eligible employees will be allotted nine days (72 hours) of Paid Sick Leave 
(PSL) per school year (July 1 – June 30), (Cap of 120 hours).  Also, 24 hours will be front-loaded 
at the beginning of the school year or hire date for Personnel Necessity (PNL) Days.  Teachers need 
to have PNL days requested and approved by their administrator at least five working days prior. 
(Cap of 48 hours). PNL days can also be used for paid sick leave.  However, PLS Days cannot be 
used for a PNL request.  PNL days are capped at 24 hours. 

  
New Hires may carry over sick leave from their prior school district if they are certificated team  
members in CALSTRS. Monarch River Academy will confirm previous employment and allotted 
sick  leave with the previous district. Once confirmed and approved, the carryover time will be 
added  to your service credit CALSTRS upon signature of the Monarch River Academy Charter 
School STRS  Carry-Over Policy. Carryover sick leave cannot be used while employed with 
Monarch River Academy  Charter School. 

Beginning on July 1, 2021 and each July moving forward, for any certificated member who  
contributes to CALSTRS, PSL and PN are capped. Any PSL and PN hours beyond their capped  
hours will be added to their carryover hours.  

ALLOTMENT OF PAID TIME OFF (PTO) FOR ADMINISTRATORS AND FULL-TIME 

HOURLY STAFF MEMBERS 

Since administrators and full-time hourly employees work the entire year, they also accrue PTO.  

PTO accrues at 3.33 hours per pay period with a cap of 120 hours. Administrators and full-time  

hourly staff members must have their PTO approved by their manager a minimum of five working  

days prior to being taken. Unused PTO will carry over from one school year to the next. 

Limits on Use 

Eligible employees may use PSL beginning on the 90th day of employment. 

PSL may be taken in minimum increments of 2 hours. If an exempt employee absents himself or 
herself from work for part or all of a workday for a reason covered by this policy, he or she will  be 
required to use PSL to make up for the absence. 

Notification 

The employee must provide reasonable advance notification, orally or in writing, of the need to  
use PSL, if foreseeable. If the need to use PSL is not foreseeable, the employee must provide notice  
as soon as practicable. 

Termination 

Employees will not receive pay in lieu of unused PSL. Unused PSL will not be paid out upon  
termination. 

No Discrimination or Retaliation 

259



 Page 34 

The School prohibits discrimination or retaliation against employees for using their PSL. 

INSURANCE BENEFITS   
Full-time employees are entitled to insurance benefits offered by MRA. These insurance benefits  

will include medical, dental, and vision. The School will set a defined contribution towards the  

employee’s insurance premiums that are sponsored by MRA. This amount will be determined on  

an annual basis. The employee’s portion of the monthly premiums will be deducted from the  

employee’s paycheck on a pre-tax basis. Fulltime employees will be eligible for benefits the first  

day of the month following 30 days of employment.  

  

If medical insurance premium rates increase, employees may be required to contribute to the cost  

of the increase to retain coverage. Unless otherwise mandated by law, employees on a leave of  

absence may be responsible for selecting continuing health coverage and paying the premium for  

such coverage through COBRA. If you have any benefit related questions while on a leave of  

absence, please contact Human Resources.  

Full-time employees will also be covered under an insurance policy that includes Life, Short-term  
Disability and Long-Term Disability at no cost to the full-time employee. Additional voluntary  
insurance plans will be offered through the School that will be the employee’s responsibility to  
purchase and pay for.  

COBRA BENEFITS  

The Federal Consolidated Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) gives employees and their  
qualified beneficiaries the opportunity to continue health insurance coverage under MRA's health  
plan when a “qualifying event” would normally result in the loss of eligibility.   

Some common qualifying events are resignation, termination of employment, or death of an  
employee, a reduction in an employee’s hours or leave of absence, divorce or legal separation, and  
a dependent child no longer meeting eligibility requirements.   

Under COBRA, the employee or beneficiary pays the full cost of coverage at MRA group rates  
plus an administration fee. MRA or our carrier provides each eligible employee with a written  
notice describing rights granted under COBRA when the employee becomes eligible for coverage  
under MRA's health insurance plan. The notice contains important information about the  
employee’s rights and obligations.   

SOCIAL SECURITY/MEDICARE  

If you are a full time regular employee contributing to a teacher’s retirement system (PERS/STRS),  
your earnings from this job are not covered under Social Security. When you retire, or if you  
become disabled, you may receive a pension based on earnings from this job. If you do, and you  
are also entitled to a benefit from Social Security based on either your own work or the work of  
your spouse, or former spouse, your pension may affect the amount of the Social Security benefit  
you receive. Your Medicare benefits, however, will not be affected.   

MRA withholds income tax from all employees’ earnings and, if elected, participates in FICA  
(Social Security), for temporary employees and Medicare withholding and matching programs as  
required by law.   

260



 Page 35 

STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE (WAGE SUPPLEMENT)   

All employees are enrolled in California State Disability Insurance (SDI), which is a partial wage  
replacement insurance plan for California workers. Employees may be eligible for SDI when they  
are ill or have non-work related injuries, or may be eligible for work related injuries if they are  
receiving workers’ compensation at a weekly rate less than the SDI rate. Specific rules and  
regulations relating to SDI eligibility are available from Human Resources.  

PAID FAMILY LEAVE (WAGE SUPPLEMENT)  

Under California law, eligible employees may participate in the Paid Family Leave (“PFL”) 
program, which is part of the state’s unemployment compensation disability insurance program.  
The PFL program provides up to six weeks of partial wage replacement benefits to employees who  
take time off to care for a seriously ill or injured child, spouse, parent, registered domestic partner,  
siblings, grandparents, grandchildren, or parents-in-law or to bond with a new child (birth, foster  
care, adoption) The PFL program does not provide job protection or reinstatement rights. It is a  
wage supplement provided concurrently while an employee takes an eligible leave of absence  
under MRA policy and applicable law.  

MRA will require you to take up to two weeks of unused PTO prior to your receipt of benefits  
under the PFL program.  

The program will be administered in a manner consistent with California law. For more  
information regarding this program, you may contact the California Employment Development  
Department.  

WORKER’S COMPENSATION INSURANCE   

Eligible employees are entitled to workers’ compensation insurance benefits when suffering from  
an occupational illness or injury. This benefit is provided at no cost to the employee.   

In the event of an occupational injury or illness (as defined under Workers’ Compensation Law)  
an employee may be covered by workers’ compensation insurance instead of group insurance.  

If an employee should become injured or in any way disabled on the job, he or she must report 
the  injury immediately to his or her supervisor. It is a felony to file a fraudulent or false workers’ 
compensation claim.  

  

SECTION 10 – EMPLOYEE COMMUNICATIONS POLICY  

COMMUNICATIONS POLICY  

Every employee is responsible for using MRA's computer system, including, without limitation,  
its computers, laptops, iPads, tablets, cellular phones, electronic mail (Email) system, telephone,  
video conferencing, voicemail, facsimile systems and the Internet (“Communications Systems”),  
properly and in accordance with this policy. Any questions about this policy should be addressed  
to the employee’s immediate supervisor.  

261



 Page 36 

The Communication Systems are the property of MRA and have been provided for use in  
conducting MRA business. All communications and information transmitted by, received from,  
created, or stored in its MRA's Communication Systems are records and property of MRA. The  
Communication Systems are to be used for School purposes only. Employees may, however, use  
MRA technology resources for the following incidental personal uses so long as such use does  not 
interfere with the employee’s duties, is not done for pecuniary gain, does not conflict with  MRA 
business, and does not violate any MRA policies:   

• To send and receive necessary and occasional personal communications;  • To 

use the telephone system for brief and necessary personal calls; and   

• To access the Internet for brief personal searches and inquiries during meal periods  or 
other breaks, or outside of work hours, provided that employees adhere to all  other 
usage policies.  

No Expectation of Privacy  

MRA has the right, but not the duty, to monitor any and all of the aspects of its Communication  
Systems, including, without limitation, reviewing documents created and stored on its  
Communication Systems, deleting any matter stored in its system (including, without limitation,  
its Email and word processing systems), monitoring sites visited by employees on the Internet,  
monitoring chat and news groups, reviewing material downloaded or uploaded by users to the  
Internet, and reviewing Email and instant messages sent and received by users and/or voicemails.  
Further, MRA may exercise its right to monitor its Communications Systems for any reason and  
without the permission of any employee. Employee use of MRA's Communication Systems  
constitutes consent to all the terms and conditions of this policy.  

Even if employees use a password to access the Communication Systems (or any aspect thereof),  

the confidentiality of any message stored in, created, received, or sent from MRA's Communication 

Systems is not assured. Use of passwords or other security measures does not in  any way diminish 

MRA's right to monitor and access materials on its Communication Systems,  or create any privacy 

rights of employees in the messages and files on the system. Any password  used by employees 

must be revealed to MRA upon request for any reason that MRA, in its  discretion, deems 

appropriate. Further, employees should be aware that deletion of any Email  messages, voicemails 

or files would not truly eliminate the messages from the system. All Email  messages, voicemails 

and other files may be stored on a central back-up system in the normal  course of data management. 

  

Employees have no expectation of privacy in anything they view, create, store, send, or receive 

on  the Communication Systems.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, even though MRA has the right to retrieve, read, and delete any  
information viewed, created, sent, received, or stored on its Communication Systems, Email  
messages should still be treated as confidential by other employees and accessed only by the  
intended recipient. Employees are not authorized to retrieve or read any Email messages that are  
not sent to them or by them. Any exception to this policy must receive the prior approval of the  
Principal.  

Professional Use of Communication Systems Required  

Employees are reminded to be courteous to other users of the system and always to conduct  
themselves in a professional manner. Emails and other text communications, in particular, are  
sometimes misdirected or forwarded and may be viewed by persons other than the intended  
recipient. Users should write Email communications with no less care, judgment, and  

262



 Page 37 

responsibility than they would use for letters or internal memoranda written on MRA letterhead.  

Offensive and Inappropriate Material  

MRA's policy against discrimination and harassment, sexual or otherwise, applies fully to MRA's 
Communication Systems, and any violation of that policy is grounds for discipline up to and  
including discharge. Therefore, no Email messages should be created, sent, or received if they  
contain intimidating, hostile, or offensive material concerning race, color, religion, sex, age,  
national origin, disability or any other classification protected by law. Further, material that is  
fraudulent, harassing, abusive, embarrassing, sexually explicit, profane, obscene, intimidating,  
defamatory, unlawful, inappropriate, or offensive (including offensive material concerning sex,  
race, color, national origin, religion, age, disability, or other characteristic protected by law) may  
not be downloaded from the Internet or displayed or stored in MRA's computers. Employees  
encountering or receiving this kind of material should immediately report the incident to their  
Principal.   

MRA may (but is not required) to use software to identify inappropriate or sexually explicit  
Internet sites. Such sites may be blocked from access by MRA networks. Employees who  
encounter inappropriate or sexually explicit material while browsing on the Internet should  
immediately disconnect from the site, regardless of whether the site was subject to MRA's  blocking 
software.  

Solicitations  

MRA's Communication Systems may not be used to solicit for political causes, commercial  
enterprises, outside organizations, or other non-job-related solicitations. Approval from the 
Principal is required before anyone can post any information on commercial on-line systems or  the 
Internet.  

Licenses and Fees  

Employees may not agree to a license or download any material over the Internet for which a  
registration fee is charged without first obtaining the express written permission of his/her  
Principal. 

  

Games and Entertainment Software  

Employees may not use a MRA Internet connection to download games or other entertainment  
software, or to play games over the Internet.  

Confidential Information  

Employees may not transmit information over the Internet or through email that is confidential or  
proprietary. Employees are referred to MRA's “Confidential Information” policy, contained  herein, 
for a general description of what MRA deems confidential or proprietary. When in doubt,  
employees must consult their immediate supervisor and obtain approval before transmitting any  
information that may be considered confidential or proprietary.  

Copyrights and Trademarks  

MRA's Communication Systems may not be used to send (upload) or receive (download)  
copyrighted materials, trade secrets, proprietary financial information, or similar materials without  
prior authorization from his/her Principal. Employees, if uncertain about whether certain  
information is copyrighted, proprietary, or otherwise inappropriate for transfer, should resolve all  
doubts in favor of not transferring the information and consult a supervisor.  

263



 Page 38 

Any MRA approved material that is posted or sent via its computer system should contain all  
proper copyright and trademark notices. Absent prior approval from a supervisor to act as an  
official representative of MRA, employees posting information must include a disclaimer in that  
information stating, “Views expressed by the author do not necessarily represent those of MRA.”  

Maintenance and Security of the System  

Employees must not deliberately perform acts that waste resources or unfairly monopolize  
resources to the exclusion of others. These acts include, but are not limited to, sending mass  
mailings or chain letters, spending excessive amounts of time on the Internet, playing games,  
streaming video or audio files, engaging in online chat groups, printing excessive copies of  
documents, or otherwise creating unnecessary network traffic. Because audio, video, and picture  
files require significant storage space, files of this or any other sort may not be downloaded unless  
they are business-related. In addition, employees should routinely delete outdated or otherwise  
unnecessary voicemails, Emails and computer files. These deletions will help keep the system  
running smoothly and effectively, as well as minimize maintenance costs.  

To ensure security and to avoid the spread of viruses, employees accessing the Internet through a  
computer attached to MRA's network must do so through an approved Internet firewall. Accessing  
the Internet directly by modem is strictly prohibited unless the computer you are using is not  
connected to MRA's network.  
Files obtained from sources outside MRA including disks brought from home; including files  
downloaded from the Internet, news groups, bulletin boards, or other online services; files attached  
to email; and files provided by customers or vendors, may contain dangerous computer viruses  that 
may damage MRA's computer network. Employees should never download files from the  Internet, 
accept email attachments from outsiders, or use disks from non-MRA sources, without  first 
scanning the material with MRA approved virus checking software. If you suspect that a  virus has 
been introduced into the MRA network, notify technology personnel immediately. 
  

Violations of this Policy  

Violations of this policy will be taken seriously and may result in disciplinary action, including  
possible termination, and civil and criminal liability.  

Amendment and Modification of this Policy  

MRA reserves the right to modify this policy at any time, with or without notice. MRA may  require 
employees to acknowledge and comply with a separate Acceptable Use Policy for Internet  and 
Network Resources, which shall control in the event of a conflict.  

SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY  

MRA has adopted the following policy with regard to employees’ behavior on social networking  
sites including but not limited to Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, Pinterest, Instagram, SnapChat and  
YouTube. If you wish to use networking protocols or set up a social media site as a part of the  
educational process, please work with your administrators and technology staff to identify and use  
a restricted, School-endorsed networking platform. Such sites will be the property of the School  
who will have unrestricted access to, and control of, such sites.  

Employees shall not accept students as friends on any personal social networking sites and are to  
decline any student-initiated friend requests. Teachers are not to initiate “friendships” with  students 
or parents. Employees must delete any students already on their “friends” list  immediately.   

With regard to social networking content, employees should not use commentary deemed to be  

264



 Page 39 

defamatory, obscene, proprietary, or libelous with regard to any School-related business or policy,  
employee, student, or parent. Additionally, employees should exercise caution with regards to  
exaggeration, obscenity, copyrighted materials, legal conclusions, and derogatory remarks or  
characterizations. Employees should weigh whether a particular posting puts his/her effectiveness  
as a School employee at risk. MRA encourages employees to post only what they want the world  
to see. Imagine that students, their parents, or administrators will visit your site as most information  
is available to the general public even after it is removed from the site. Employees may not discuss  
students nor post images that include students.   

Due to security risks, employees must be cautious when installing the external applications that  
work with the social networking site. At a minimum, it is recommended that all employees should  
have all privacy settings set to “Only Friends”. The settings “Friends of Friends” and “Networks  
and Friends” open your content to a large group of unknown people, including students.   

Personal or Professional Blogs  

If you are developing a website or writing a blog that will mention MRA, you must identify that  

you are an employee of the organization and that the views expressed on the blog or web site are  

yours alone and do not represent the views of MRA. Unless given permission by your Principal,  

you are not authorized to speak on behalf of MRA or to represent that you do so. If you are  

developing a site or writing a blog that will mention MRA, as a courtesy to the organization,  please 

let your Principal know in advance of publication. Your Principal may choose to visit your  blog or 

social networking site from time to time. 

 

You may not share information that is confidential and proprietary with regard to MRA. This  

includes, but is not limited to, information about curriculum, School dynamics, School programs,  

future goals, or current challenges within the organization. These are given as examples only and  

do not cover the range of what MRA considers confidential and proprietary. If you have any  

questions about whether information has been released publicly or doubts of any kind, speak with  

your Principal.   

When writing a blog or participating in any other social networking site, employees should speak  
respectfully about MRA and our current and potential employees, students, parents, and  
competitors. Name-calling or behavior that will reflect negatively on the organization’s reputation 
is discouraged. Note that the use of copyrighted materials, unfounded, harassing, libelous, or  
derogatory statements, or misrepresentation is not viewed favorably by MRA and can result in  
disciplinary action, up to, and including termination.   

All employees who engage in social networking may be legally liable for anything he/she writes  
or presents online. Employees can be disciplined, if appropriate, by MRA for commentary,  content, 
or images that are defamatory, pornographic, proprietary, harassing, libelous, or that can  create a 
hostile work environment.   

This policy should not be construed, and will not be applied, in a manner that violates employee  
rights under the National Labor Relations Act.  

Employees may not comment on a student’s blog or a student’s other social networking  
commentaries.  

Employees may not use trade names, or logos belonging to the School without express written  
permission of the Principal.  

Failure to comply with MRA's social media policy will result in disciplinary action, up to, and  
including, immediate termination.   

265



 Page 40 

EQUIPMENT POLICY  

MRA attempts to provide all staff members with the equipment and supplies needed to do their  
job. Providing equipment is a great expense to the School. It is expected that everyone will protect  
and care for all equipment and supplies issued to them. Staff members are responsible for the cost  
of lost, stolen, or broken items issued to them including: keys, textbooks, teacher guides, laptops,  
and any other equipment that may be assigned to them if the loss is due to willful misconduct or  
gross negligence.   

Laptop Computers  

Each staff member assigned a laptop for professional use shall be required to sign a laptop  
Agreement Form and will be charged for any damages, loss or theft to the laptop caused by willful  
misconduct or gross negligence.  

Although issued to an individual employee, all computing devices are considered the personal  

property of the primary organizational unit to which the receiving employee belongs and shall be  

returned upon termination of employment with the School, after reassignment of job duties or  

immediately upon request at any time by an official of the School. 

  

Employees are expected to take all appropriate measures and precautions to prevent the loss, theft,  

damage and/or unauthorized use of such equipment. Such precautions shall include, but not be  

limited to the following:  

● Keep the computing device in a locked and secured environment when not being  used;  
● Do not leave the computing device for prolonged periods of time in a vehicle,  especially 

in extreme temperatures;  
● Keep food and drinks away from all computing devices and work areas;  
● Do not leave the computing device unattended at any time in an unsecured location  (e.g., 

an unlocked empty office); and  
● Keep the computing device in sight at all times while in public places, such as  public 

transportation, airports, restaurants, etc. Should an employee’s computing  device be lost 
or stolen, the employee must:   

○ Immediately report the incident to his/her immediate supervisor and/or Principal; 
○ Obtain an official police report documenting the theft or loss; and   
○ Provide a copy of the police report to his/her immediate supervisor or Principal.   

If the employee fails to adhere to these procedures, the employee may be held legally and  
financially responsible to the School for the replacement of such equipment.  

The School is under no legal, financial or other obligation to provide for a replacement computing  
device to any employee whose device is lost, stolen or damaged.  

There is no expectation of privacy in School equipment. The School may add security and other  
tracking technology to any and all computing devices issued by it and any and all such usage is  
subject to management review, monitoring, and auditing by the School. Other audits may be  
performed on the usage and internal controls as deemed necessary.  

Non-compliance with any policies or procedures regarding Employee Computers and Portable  
Computing Devices issued by the School will result in appropriate disciplinary action and/or  
reimbursement of any and all costs to the School.  

266



 Page 41 

CELL PHONE POLICY  

Personal cell phone use is not permitted while you are working. Cell phones should be turned off  
and stored with your other personal belongings while you are working.   

If you are required to perform business on a cell phone for MRA while driving, you must utilize  
the hands-free option on the cell phone or a headset/earpiece device. Sending, writing, or reading  
text based communications on your cell phone while driving a School vehicle or your own vehicle  
to conduct School business is prohibited. Text based communications include, but are not limited  
to, text messages, instant messages, and email. 
 
If you are assigned a School cell phone to conduct School business, please notify your supervisor  
if the cell phone is misplaced, stolen, or damaged. Personal calls, received or placed, are not  
allowed on School cell phones.  

Telephone Calls and Texting  

While at work and during staff meetings, the employee’s undivided attention is expected. Cell  
phones, texting, and pagers are not allowed so that the activities or discussion are not disturbed.  
Employees should wait to make personal phone calls during breaks.   

NO SOLICITATION/DISTRIBUTION POLICY  

In order to minimize non-work-related activities that could interfere with providing quality  
education, teamwork, and safety, MRA has established the following policy concerning  
solicitation and the distribution of written materials other than those directly related to the School’s  
business.  

Non-employees may not solicit or distribute written materials of any kind at any time on premises  
that are owned, leased, operated, managed, or controlled by MRA.  

Employees may not solicit other employees during the workday when either the person doing the  
solicitation or the person being solicited is engaged in or required to be performing work tasks.  

Employees may not distribute written materials of any kind during the workday when either the  
distributing employee or the employee receiving the materials is engaged in or required to be  
performing work tasks.  

Additionally, distribution of written materials of any kind by MRA employees is prohibited at all  
times in all working areas on School premises.  

Employees may solicit other employees when both parties are on non-work time. Employees may  
distribute written materials in non-work areas during non-work time.  

The sole exceptions to this policy are charitable and community activities supported and approved  
by MRA.  

School bulletin boards are the only areas where any merchandise or notices may be placed. Such  
items must meet the guidelines established by the School. MRA must approve any postings prior  
to posting.  

MRA reserves the right to discontinue any solicitation or distribution if the activities become  
disruptive to employees or the efficient operation of the School’s business.  

Employees are required to leave School premises and other work areas at the completion of their  

267



 Page 42 

workday. Employees are not permitted to enter or remain on School premises or work areas unless  
the employee is on duty, scheduled for work, coming to or departing from scheduled work, or  
otherwise has specific authorization from their supervisor.  

Definitions  
School “premises:” property owned, leased, operated, managed, or controlled by the School,  
including buildings, parking lots, and play areas that the School has the right to use exclusively or  
in common with others, vehicles owned or operated by the School. 
Work time: any time when employees are engaged in or required to be performing work tasks.  
Work time does not include break periods, meal times, or other periods during the workday when  
employees are properly not engaged in performing their work tasks.  

Work areas: all areas controlled by the School where employees are performing work, except 
cafeterias, employee break areas, and parking lots (non-work areas).  

Employee Responsibility  

If you have a need to solicit and/or distribute materials on School premises, it must be in  
compliance with this policy. If you have questions, talk with Human Resources. If solicitation or  
distribution is conducted within the parameters of this policy, the manner of activities must not  
harass or intimidate other employees. If you are subjected to such behavior at any time, report the  
activity to your supervisor. If solicitation or distribution occurs while you are working, report the  
activity to your supervisor.  

ANTI-NEPOTISM POLICY   

Policy Statement  

It is the policy of MRA to avoid Nepotism, which means to avoid creating or maintaining  
circumstances in which the appearance or possibility of favoritism, conflicts of interest, or  
management disruptions exist due to a relationship between a MRA decision-maker and his or  her 
Family Member. This policy is to ensure effective supervision, internal discipline, security,  safety, 
and positive morale in the workplace and to avoid the potential for problems of actual or  perceived 
favoritism, conflicts in loyalty, discrimination, and appearances of impropriety or  conflict of 
interest. This policy applies to all MRA board members, employees, individual  consultants hired 
or retained by MRA, and School Services Providers hired or retained by MRA.  

Relationships between MRA board members, employees, consultants, or School Services  
Providers are permissible under the following circumstances:  

(a) Family Members of MRA board members, employees, individual consultants, or School  
Services Providers shall not be hired for or retained in an employment position if one  
Family Member would have the authority or be in a position to directly supervise, hire, or  
discharge the other.  

(b) Any time a board member, employee, individual consultant, or School Services Provider  is 
a Family Member of another, the relationship shall not result in an adverse impact on  work 
productivity or performance. The determination of whether there is an adverse  impact shall 
be in the discretion of the supervisor(s) of the employee(s), consultant(s), or  School 
Services Provider(s), or in the case of a board member, in the discretion of the  MRA board 
of directors.   

268



 Page 43 

(c) Any time a board member, employee, individual consultant, or School Services Provider  is 
a Family Member of another, the relationship shall not create an actual conflict of interest  
under the law, and shall not create a detrimental perceived conflict of interest. The  
determination of whether there is a detrimental perceived conflict of interest shall be in the  
discretion of the supervisor(s) of the employee(s), consultant(s) or School Services  

  
Provider(s), or in the case of a board member, in the discretion of the MRA board of  
directors.  

Definitions  

“Family Members” include an employee's parent, child (natural, adopted, or legal guardianship),  
spouse, domestic partner, brother, sister, grandparent, grandchild, step-relationships within the  
preceding categories, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law and father-in-law.  

“Nepotism” describes a work-related situation in which there is the potential for favoritism toward  
a Family Member (such as giving a job, promotion, biased performance reviews, or more favorable  
working conditions) on the basis of the familial relationship.  

“School Services Provider” shall mean any provider of school services to MRA, and in the case  
of an organization shall mean be the responsible individual at such organization that provides  
school services to MRA.   

Procedures  

When a Family Member of a current MRA board member, employee, individual consultant, or  
School Services Provider applies to become a board member or employee, or requests to be a  
consultant or School Services Provider, the Family Member’s application/request must be denied  
if a conflict under this policy exists (e.g., if one Family Member would have the authority or be in  
a position to directly supervise, hire, or discharge the other). Special circumstances may be  
reviewed by the Board in the event that MRA's best interests would be served otherwise.   

When a Family Member of a current MRA board member, employee, individual consultant, or  
School Services Provider applies for a transfer to a new employment position within MRA, the  
Family Member’s application must be evaluated to determine whether a conflict under this policy  
exists. If a conflict exists, the application for transfer must either be denied or one of the Family  
Members must seek a position transfer to avoid the conflict, if any such opportunity exists. In the  
event that no such opportunity exists, the application for transfer must be denied.   

In implementing this policy, it is permissible to ask an applicant, potential consultant, or School  
Services Provider to state whether he or she has a Family Member who is presently employed by  
or on the board of MRA, but such information may not be used as a basis for an employment  
decision except as stated herein.  

When a relationship that creates a conflict with this policy occurs during employment, MRA will  
attempt to arrange a transfer or change in position/duties to eliminate the conflict. If a suitable  
transfer/change in position/duties is not available, one of the employees may be separated from  
service. Every attempt will be made to effect transfer or separation on the basis of agreement  
between the employees involved and MRA. If a mutual agreement is unattainable, the Board will  
determine, in MRA's best interest, which employee is to be transferred or separated.  

Responsibilities  

269



 Page 44 

The Principal or designee shall coordinate with the current employee’s direct supervisor to develop  
appropriate plans to ensure that a Family Member’s employment does not conflict with this policy.  
If the situation cannot be resolved by a transfer, then the Principal or designee will deny the 
application for employment. Special circumstances may be reviewed by the Board in the event  that 
MRA's best interests would be served by the employment of a Family Member.  

The Principal or designee shall investigate reports of Nepotism and take appropriate action.  
Employees are required to disclose changes in their personal situations to the Principal or designee  
which may be covered by this policy. Supervisors may inquire about the family relationship  
between employees to determine the appropriateness of the working relationship under this policy.  
The Board shall make the final determination concerning potential conflicts with this policy  
involving the Principal.  

VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE  

MRA has adopted a policy prohibiting workplace violence. Consistent with this policy, acts or  
threats of physical violence, including intimidation, harassment, bullying, and/or coercion, which  
involve or affect MRA or which occur on MRA property will not be tolerated. Examples of  
workplace violence include, but are not limited to, the following:  

• All threats or acts of violence occurring on MRA premises, regardless of the  
relationship between MRA and the parties involved  

• All threats or acts of violence occurring off MRA premises involving someone who is  
acting in the capacity of a representative of MRA  

Specific examples of conduct, which may be considered threats or acts of violence, include, but  
are not limited to, the following:  

● Hitting or shoving an individual  

● Threatening an individual or his/her family, friends, associates, or property with harm  

● Intentional destruction or threatening to destroy MRA property  

● Making harassing or threatening phone calls  

●  Harassing surveillance or stalking (following or watching someone)  

●  Unauthorized possession or inappropriate use of firearms or weapons  

MRA's prohibition against threats and acts of violence applies to all persons involved in MRA's 
operation, including but not limited to all personnel, contract, unpaid interns, volunteers and  
temporary workers, and anyone else, including parents on MRA property. Violations of this  policy 
by any individual on MRA property will lead to disciplinary action, up to and including  termination 
and/or legal action as appropriate. All employees are encouraged to report incidents  of threats or 
acts of physical violence of which they are aware to their supervisors or to their  Principal.  

If an employee becomes aware of an imminent act of violence, a threat of imminent violence, or  
actual violence, emergency assistance must be sought immediately. In such situations, the  
employee should contact the law enforcement authorities by dialing 911. Immediately after  
contacting the law enforcement authorities, the employee must report the   

There will be no retaliation against any employee who brings a complaint in good faith under the  
Violence in the Workplace Policy or who honestly assists in investigating such a complaint, even  
if the investigation produces insufficient evidence that there has been a violation, or if the charges  
cannot be proven. However, disciplinary action may be taken against employees who, in bad 
faith,  make false or frivolous accusations.  

270



 Page 45 

SECTION 11 – STANDARDS OF CONDUCT  

PERSONAL STANDARDS  

Each employee must be neatly groomed and wear clothing that is professional and appropriate for  
the employee’s position. Your Principal or immediate supervisor will inform you of any special  
clothing requirements. Employees will not be permitted to wear clothing or otherwise present an  
appearance that may cause disruption, be taken as offensive, or reduce productivity.  

Consult your supervisor if you have any questions regarding appropriate attire.  

TEACHER-STUDENT INTERACTIONS  

Boundaries Defined  

For the purposes of this policy the term “boundaries” is defined as acceptable professional  behavior 
by staff members while interacting with a student. Trespassing beyond the boundaries of  a student-
teacher relationship is deemed an abuse of power and a betrayal of public trust.   

Acceptable and Unacceptable Behavior  

Some activities may seem innocent from a staff member’s perspective, but some of these activities  
can be perceived as flirtation or sexual insinuation from a student or parental point of view. The  
purpose of the following lists of unacceptable and acceptable behaviors is not to restrain innocent,  
positive relationships between staff and students, but to prevent relationships that could lead to, or  
may be perceived as, inappropriate or sexual misconduct.   

Staff members must understand their own responsibilities for ensuring they do not cross the  
boundaries as written in this policy. Disagreeing with the wording or intent of the established  
boundaries will be considered irrelevant for any required disciplinary purposes. Thus, it is critical  
that all employees study this policy thoroughly and apply its spirit and intent in their daily  
activities.  

Unacceptable Behaviors  

These lists, and any subsequent lists, are not meant to be all-inclusive, but rather illustrative of the  
types of behavior addressed by this policy.   

● Giving gifts to an individual student that are of a personal and intimate nature 

● Kissing of ANY kind  

● Any type of unnecessary physical contact with a student in a private situation 

● Intentionally being alone with a student away from school  

● Making, or participating in, sexually inappropriate comments  

● Sexual jokes, or jokes/comments with sexual overtones or double-entendres 

● Seeking emotional involvement (which can include intimate attachment) with a  

student beyond the normative care and concern required of an educator  

● Listening to or telling stories that are sexually oriented  

● Discussing inappropriate personal troubles or intimate issues with a student in an  

attempt to gain their support and understanding  

●  Becoming involved with a student so that a reasonable person may suspect  

inappropriate behavior  

271



 Page 46 

● Giving students a ride to/from school or school activities without parental  

permission  

● Being alone in a room with a student at school with the door closed  

● Allowing students in your home without signed parental permission for a pre 

planned and pre-communicated educational activity which must include another  

educator, parent, or other responsible adult  

● Remarks about the physical attributes or physiological development of anyone 

● Excessive attention toward a particular student  

● Sending emails, text messages, Facebook responses, or letters to students if the  

content is not about school activities  

Acceptable and Recommended Behaviors  

● Obtaining parent’s written consent for any school activity (exclusive of tutorials)  

● Obtaining formal approval (site and parental) to take students off school property  for 

activities such as field trips or competitions  

● Emails, text-messages, phone conversations, and other communications to and with  

students, if permitted, must be professional and pertain to school activities or  classes 

(communication should be initiated via school-based technology and  equipment) 

● Keeping the door open when alone with a student  

● Keeping reasonable and appropriate space between you and the student 

● Stopping and correcting students if they cross your own personal boundaries 

● Keeping parents informed when a significant issue develops about a student 

● Keeping after-class discussions with a student professional and brief  

● Immediately asking for advice from senior-staff or administration if you find  yourself 

in a difficult situation related to boundaries  

● Involving your supervisor in discussion about boundaries that have the potential to  

become more severe (including but not limited to: grooming or other red flag behaviors 

observed in colleagues, written material that is disturbing, or a student’s  fixation on an 

adult)  

● Making detailed notes about an incident that in your best judgment could evolve  into a 

more serious situation later  

● Recognizing the responsibility to stop unacceptable behavior of students and/or co 

workers  

● Asking another staff member to be present, or within close supervisory distance,  when 

you must be alone with a student after regular school hours  

● Prioritizing professional behavior during all moments of student contact  

● Asking yourself if any of your actions, which are contrary to these provisions, are  

worth sacrificing your job and career  

Reporting  

When any staff member becomes aware of another staff member, volunteer, guest or vendor having  
crossed the boundaries specified in this policy, or has a reasonable suspicion of misconduct, he or  
she must report the suspicion to their immediate supervisor or the Principal promptly. Reasonable  
suspicion means it is based on facts which would lead a reasonable person to believe the conduct  
occurred. Prompt reporting is essential to protect students, the suspected staff member, any  
witnesses, and the School as a whole. Employees must also report to the administration any  
awareness of, or concern about, student behavior that crosses boundaries, or any situation in which  
a student appears to be at risk for sexual abuse.   

272



 Page 47 

Investigating  

The School will promptly investigate and document the investigation of any allegation of sexual  
misconduct or inappropriate behavior, using such support staff or outside assistance, as it deems  
necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Throughout this fact-finding process, the  
investigating administrator, and all other privy to the investigation, shall protect the privacy  
interests of any affected student(s) and/or staff member(s) including any potential witnesses, as  
much as possible.   

Consequences  

Staff members who have violated this policy will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, 
and  where appropriate, will be reported to authorities for potential legal action.   

CUSTOMER & PUBLIC RELATIONS  

The School’s image in front of students, parents (i.e. our “customers”) and the general public is  
critical to our success. All employees are expected to be prompt, polite, courteous and attentive  to 
our customers and the public. It is possible an employee may come into contact with a  dissatisfied 
or hostile individual based on the nature of the employee’s work. If this happens, you  should 
immediately notify your supervisor or the Principal. We will absolutely not tolerate  conduct toward 
our customers or the general public that might be interpreted as unlawful  discrimination or 
harassment. If you witness conduct in violation of this policy, you should  immediately bring it to 
the attention of your supervisor or the Principal.  

PROHIBITED CONDUCT  

The following is a list of conduct that is prohibited and will not be tolerated by the School. It is  not 
an all-inclusive list, but rather a list designed to give examples of the types of conduct  prohibited 
by the School.  

● Falsification of employment records, employment information, or other School  records  
● Recording the work time of another employee or allowing any other employee to  record 

your work time, or allowing falsification of any time card, either your own  or another’s  
● Theft, deliberate or careless damage, or loss of any School property or the property  of any 

employee or customer  
● Provoking a fight or fighting during working hours or on School property  
● Participating in horseplay or practical jokes on School time or on School premises  where 

such conduct might be a safety risk or might be interpreted as offensive  
● Carrying firearms or any other dangerous weapons on School premises at any time or while 

acting on behalf of the School  
● Violation of the Substance and Alcohol policy  
● Insubordination, including but not limited to, failure or refusal to obey the orders  or 

instructions of a supervisor or member of administration, or the use of abusive  or 
threatening or abusive language toward a supervisor or member of administration  

● Unreported absence on scheduled workdays unless otherwise excused • Excessive tardiness 
or absenteeism unless otherwise excused  

● Unauthorized use of School equipment, time, materials, facilities, or the School  name  
● Sleeping or malingering on the job  
● Failure to observe working schedules, including the required rest and meal periods  
● Soliciting other employees for membership, funds, or other similar activity in  connection 

with any outside organization during your working time or the working  time of the 

273



 Page 48 

employee(s) solicited  
● Distributing unauthorized literature or any written or printed material during  working time 

or in work areas (“Working time” does not include your meal and  break periods.)  
● Failure to timely notify your supervisor when you are unable to report to work  
● Failure of an employee to obtain permission to leave work for any reason during  normal 

working hours  
● Abuse of sick leave  
● Violation of the Communications Policy  
● Failure to provide a physician’s certificate when requested or required to do so • Violating 

the School’s Personal Standards or dress code  
● Breaching confidentiality  
● Making derogatory racial, ethnic, religious, or sexual remarks or gestures; any  violation of 

the Harassment and/or Equal Employment Opportunity policy; or using  profane or abusive 
language at any time on School premises or during working  hours  

● Violation of any safety, health, security, or School rule  
● Negligence or other conduct leading to the endangerment of harm of a child or  children  
● Working overtime without authorization or refusing to work assigned overtime 
● Unsatisfactory job performance  
● Willfully or maliciously making false statements regarding any co-worker or  submitting a 

complaint known to be false.  

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION  

It is important to the School to protect and preserve its trade secrets and confidential information.  
Confidential information includes, but is not limited to, student information, all student lists,  
techniques and concepts, marketing plans, design specifications, design plans, strategies, forecasts,  
bid plans, bid strategies, bid information, contract prices, new products, software, computer  
programs, writings, and all know-how and show-how whether or not protected by patent,  
copyright, or trade secret law.   

The School prohibits audio or video recordings in the workplace, during working hours, without  
authorization of the School due to privacy and confidentiality concerns and protections.   

The School devotes significant time, energy, and expense to develop and acquire its trade secrets  

and confidential information. As an employee of the School you will, during the course of your  

employment, have access to and become familiar with various trade secrets and confidential  

information that are owned by the School. An employee shall not, directly or indirectly, disclose  

or use any of the foregoing information other than for the sole benefit of the School, either during  

the term of your employment or at any other time thereafter. This information shall not be  disclosed 

except through normal channels and with authorization. Any and all trade secrets or  confidential 

information shall be returned to the School during extended leaves of absence or upon  termination.  

 

During your employment with the School, you will not be permitted nor required to breach any  

obligation to keep in confidence proprietary information, knowledge, or data acquired during your  

former employment. You must not disclose to the School any confidential or proprietary  

information or material belonging to former employers or others.  

 

Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.   

274



 Page 49 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  

All employees must avoid situations that result in actual or even potential conflicts of interest.  
Personal, social, and economic relationships with competitors, suppliers, customers, parents, or  co-
employees that may impair an employee’s ability to exercise good judgment on behalf of the  
School or which give the appearance of such impairment create an actual or potential conflict of  
interest. For example, romantic or personal relationships between a supervisor and subordinate  
employee can lead to supervisory problems, claims of harassment, and morale problems.   

Any employee involved in such situations or relationships must immediately and fully disclose the  
nature of the situation or relationship to the Principal so a determination can be made as to whether  
an actual or potential conflict exists, and if so, how to correct the situation.  

MRA expects employees to devote their best efforts to the interests of our school. MRA recognizes 
your right to engage in activities outside of your employment, which are of a private  nature and 
unrelated to our business. However, outside activities (second jobs, side businesses,  clubs, etc.) 
must not interfere with your ability to fully perform your job duties at MRA or create  a conflict of 
interest with your statutory duty of loyalty to the School. The School prohibits  employees from 
working with another School or external organization that competes with MRA  

whether as a regular employee or as a consultant.  

If you have any questions whether an action or proposed course of conduct would create a conflict  
of interest, you should immediately contact the Principal to obtain advice on this issue. A violation  
of this policy will result in immediate and appropriate discipline, up to and including, immediate  
termination.   

This policy is in addition to MRA's Revised Nonprofit Conflict of Interest Policy and Conflict of  
Interest Code.  

Outside Employment  

If you are a full time employee we expect that you devote your full professional effort to your  
position at MRA. If you wish to participate in outside work activities you are required to obtain  
written approval from the Principal prior to starting those activities. Approval will be granted  
unless the activity conflicts with MRA's interests. In general, outside work activities are not  
allowed when they:  

● Prevent you from performing work for which you are employed at MRA.  

● Involve organizations that are doing or seek to do business with MRA including actual or  

potential vendors.  

● Violate provisions of law or MRA policies or rules.   

● When the employee is on a medical leave (FMLA/CFRA/PDL or any other medical leave).   

Your obligations to MRA must be given priority. Full time employees are hired and continue  
employment with the understanding that MRA is their primary employer and that other  
employment, commercial involvement or volunteer activity that is in conflict with the business  
interests of the school is strictly prohibited. 

275



 Page 50 

POLICY REGARDING INCONSISTENT, 
INCOMPATIBLE OR CONFLICTING  EMPLOYMENT, 
ACTIVITY OR ENTERPRISE BY SCHOOL PERSONNEL  

Policy Statement  

It is the policy of MRA that its officers and employees may not engage in any outside activity,  
employment, or enterprise for compensation which is inconsistent, incompatible with, or in  conflict 
with, his or her duties as an officer or employee of MRA. During working hours or on  school 
premises, officers or employees shall not engage in political or religious activities, or recruit  or 
solicit students or members of the public for political or religious activities.  

An officer’s or employee’s outside activity, employment, or enterprise for compensation shall be  
determined to be inconsistent, incompatible with, or in conflict with, his or her duties as an officer  
of employee of MRA if any of the following apply:  

1. It involves the use of MRA time, facilities, equipment, supplies, or the officer’s or  
employee’s position or influence with MRA, for private gain or advantage.  

2. It involves receipt or acceptance by the officer of employee of any money or other  
consideration for the performance of an act that would otherwise be required within the  
scope of the officer or employee’s duties with MRA.  

3. It involves the performance of an act as part of the outside activity that involves services  
performed for MRA.  

4. It affects the officer’s or employee’s work hours, interferes or conflicts with the officer’s  or 
employee’s job duties, raise any ethical or conflict of interest concerns, or create any  
conditions that impact the officer’s or employee’s job performance.  

Officers and employees may not use MRA's name, logo, supplies, equipment or other property in  
connection with any outside activities.  

Procedure  

In the event that an officer or employee believes that an outside activity for compensation may be  
inconsistent, incompatible with, or in conflict with, his or her duties as an officer or employee of  
MRA, the officer or employee shall obtain a written determination of the Principal or his or her  
designee that the outside activity is not in violation of this policy before engaging in such activity.  

EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT POLICY  

MRA will reimburse employees for certain reasonably necessary business expenses incurred in  the 
furtherance of MRA business. In order to be eligible for reimbursement, employees must  follow 
the protocol set forth in the school’s relevant fiscal and accounting policies and procedures.  In 
general, the immediate supervisor must have previously approved all expenses, prior to the  
employee spending money. All receipts pertaining to the reimbursement must be original and  
detailed, and should be submitted to the appropriate supervisor for review and approval, prior to  
submission for final approval and payment. 

276



 Page 51 

POLICY CONFIRMING RESTRICTION ON THE 
PROVISION OF FUNDS OR  OTHER THINGS OF 
VALUE TO STUDENTS, PARENTS OR GUARDIANS  

Policy Statement  

It is the policy of MRA that MRA shall not provide any funds or things of value to any student  or 
his or her parent or guardian that a school district could not legally provide to a similarly situated  
student, or his or her parent or guardian. MRA does not and shall not provide, for example, “sign  
up bonuses” to parents or guardians or other incentives unrelated to education.   

Additionally, a student, parent or guardian shall not use his or her status as a student, parent or  
guardian with MRA in order to obtain funds or things of value from MRA. For example, this  policy 
prohibits an individual from utilizing his or her status as a parent or guardian to obtain a  vendor 
contract with MRA for compensation. It also prohibits an individual from utilizing his or  her status 
as a parent or guardian to refer or encourage any students enrolled in MRA, or their  parents or 
guardians, to select that individual or his or her company or another provider of services,  in 
connection with the student’s education at MRA, resulting in the individual’s receipt of funds  or 
thing of value from MRA.  

Procedures  

The prior approval of the Principal or his or her designee must be obtained for any of the 
following  in order to ensure that it does not conflict with this policy:   

1. Any funds or things of value provided to a student, parent or guardian which has not  
previously been approved. This applies in any situation in which a student, parent or  
guardian would have any funds or things of value, whether in their capacity as a student, 
parent,  guardian, vendor, service provider or other circumstance.  

2. Any proposed incentive to be offered to students or parents.   

In requesting approval, the educational purpose of any such funds, things of value or incentive 
must  be provided to the Principal or his or her designee. 

 

SECTION 12 – SAFETY   

SUBSTANCE AND ALCOHOL POLICY  

It is the intent of MRA to promote a safe, healthy and productive work environment for all  
employees. The School recognizes that the illegal and/or excessive use of drugs and/or alcohol is  
not conducive to safe working conditions, employees’ health, efficient operations, or School  
success.  

For purposes of this policy, “illegal drugs” includes, but is not limited to, substances that are  
prohibited by law (such as cocaine, heroin, etc.), controlled substances, marijuana (including  
medicinal marijuana and marijuana vaping or other recreational marijuana use), and prescription  
drugs (if they are not prescribed for the person using them and/or not being used as prescribed).  

277



 Page 52 

“Drug paraphernalia” means any accessory for the use, possession, manufacture, distribution,  
dispensation, purchase, or sale of illegal drugs. “Under the influence” means that the employee is  
affected by alcohol, prescription medication that impairs cognitive or physical functions, and/or  
illegal drugs in any detectable manner.  

The School complies with all Federal and State regulations regarding drug use while on the job.  
This policy prohibits the following:   

● Use, possession, purchase, or offer for sale of illegal drugs, drug paraphernalia, or  alcohol 
during working hours, including meal and break periods, or in the presence  of pupils;  

● Use, possession, purchase, or offer for sale of illegal drugs, drug paraphernalia, or  alcohol 
on School property at any time;  

● Use, possession, purchase, or offer for sale of illegal drugs, drug paraphernalia, or alcohol 
while attending a School function or event:  

● Storing alcohol (if unauthorized), illegal drugs, or drug paraphernalia in a locker,  desk, 
automobile, or other repository on the School’s premises:  

● Refusing to submit to an inspection or testing when requested by administration:  
● Being under the influence of illegal drugs, prescription medication that impairs  cognitive 

or physical functions and/or alcohol during working hours, while on the  School’s premises 
and/or attending a School function or event.  

Employees taking physician-prescribed medications, which impairs the employee’s job  
performance, (including medical prescribed marijuana) should not report to work. In addition, if  
you are required to take any kind of prescription or nonprescription medication that will affect  your 
ability to perform your job, you are required to report this to Human Resources. Human  Resources 
will determine if it is necessary to temporarily place you on another assignment or take  other action 
as appropriate to protect your safety and the safety of other employees and students.  Employees 
taking physician-prescribed medication which will not impair their job performance  may be 
required to present a statement from the prescribing physician to the employee’s supervisor  
indicating the duration of the prescription and stating that the use of the prescription will not impair  
the employee’s ability to perform his or her specific job duties. This policy does not require or 
request the prescribing physician or the employee to identify any prescription drug or the medical  
condition for which it is prescribed. No employee shall use or have in his or her possession on the  
School premises any prescription medication other than medications currently prescribed by a  
physician for the employee.   

This policy will not be construed to prohibit the use of alcohol at social or business functions.  
However, employees must remember their obligation to conduct themselves appropriately at all  
times while at School-sponsored functions or while representing the School.  

The School may at times conduct unannounced searches of School property for alcohol, illegal  
drugs, drug paraphernalia, and/or unauthorized controlled substances or to ensure compliance with  
any other School-related policy. As a result, employees do not have an expectation of privacy in  
this regard.  

Violation of this Substance and Alcohol Policy may result in disciplinary action, up to and  
including termination, at the School’s sole discretion.  

Employees should be aware that participation in a rehabilitation program will not necessarily  
prevent the imposition of disciplinary action, including termination, for violation of this policy.  
Employees who undergo voluntary counseling or treatment and who continue to work, if any, must  
meet all established standards of conduct and job performance.  

278



 Page 53 

Compliance with this Substance and Alcohol Policy is a condition of employment at the School.  
Failure or refusal of an employee to cooperate fully, sign any required document, submit to any  
inspection, or follow any prescribed course of substance abuse treatment will result in discipline,  
up to and including termination.  

Because the use, sale, purchase, possession, or furnishing of an illegally obtained substance is a  
violation of the law, the School may report such illegal drug activities to an appropriate law  
enforcement agency.  

The School may require a test by intoxilator, blood test, urinalysis, medical examination of those  
persons whom the School reasonably suspects of using, possessing, or being under the influence  
of a drug or alcohol or is acting in such manner that they may harm themselves or another  
employee.  

Any refusal to submit to such testing will be considered a positive screen. An employee’s consent  
to submit to such a test is required as a condition of employment, and an employee’s refusal to  
consent may result in disciplinary action, including termination for a first refusal or any subsequent  
refusal. The School shall determine the manner in which such testing is conducted with the goal  
being to ensure that the test results are accurate.  

Such a test may be required of employees involved in any work-related accident or unsafe practice  
where the safety of the employee of other employees was jeopardized. Periodic retesting may also  
be required following positive test results or after any violation of this policy or rehabilitation.  

SMOKING  

All School buildings and facilities are non-smoking facilities. This includes nicotine and non 
nicotine cigarettes including (herbal cigarettes) as well as e-cigarettes, vaping and/or pipes (both  
tobacco and marijuana products). Smoking is prohibited within 20 feet of a school building and  
within 25 feet of a school playground or event location.  

PARKED VEHICLES  

Employees are responsible for their own parked vehicles and the personal possessions within while  
parked on MRA property. Be cautious: keep school property and/or personal possessions out of  
sight and lock your car. Insuring your vehicle and personal property against loss and damage is  
recommended for your protection.   

PERSONAL AUTOMOBILE and TRANSPORTATION/ 

DRIVING POLICY  

Employees who use their own automobiles for travel on authorized school business will be  
reimbursed for mileage at the rate established by the Internal Revenue Services and in accordance  
with the School’s Reimbursement policies. Employee must have prior supervisory approval for  the 
use of personal vehicles.   

Vehicle Requirements:  

Acceptable private-passenger vehicles used for transporting students must meet the following  
requirements:  

•The vehicle must not be designed, used, or maintained to carry more than 11 passengers (including  
the driver). For 11 passenger vehicles, a commercial driver’s license is required. Please note: Any  

279



 Page 54 

vehicle with the capacity of 12 or more used to transport students is classified by regulatory  
authorities as a “school bus” and cannot be used to transport students unless it has been modified  
to meet all federal and state safety regulations of a school bus.  

•The vehicle must be in safe working condition (e.g. working seatbelts, brakes, wipers, horn, and  
lights).   

•As required by law, children who are under 8 years old OR who are not at least 4 feet 9 inches in  
height must be properly secured in a federally approved child passenger restraint system.  

Driver Requirements:  

Driver must be at least 24 years of age and have the following on file with the school:  

● Driver application  
● Live Scan background check  
● TB Risk Assessment  
● Valid CA driving license  
● Valid vehicle registration  

Insurance Requirements:  

Driver must carry and provide evidence of the following auto insurance coverage and 
amounts: • Automobile Liability - $100,000 per person; $300,000 per occurrence  • Property 
Damage - $50,000 per occurrence 

 
If the driver of a personal automobile for approved CHARTER SCHOOL purposes is involved in  
an accident, by law their liability insurance policy is used first (California Vehicle Code section  
17150). CHARTER SCHOOL’s liability policy would be used only after their policy limits have  
been exceeded. CHARTER SCHOOL does not cover, nor is it responsible for, comprehensive and  
collision coverage to personal vehicles. CHARTER SCHOOL’s insurance does not cover damage  
to personal vehicles.  

Driving Record Requirements:  

All drivers must obtain and provide a copy of their current Motor Vehicle Record (MVR) at least  
annually for review; it is available online on the DMV website. Any moving violation must be  
reported.  

PERSONAL PROPERTY  

MRA cannot be responsible and will assume no liability for any loss or damage to employee  
personal property resulting from theft, fire, or any other cause on MRA's premises, including the  
parking area, or away from school property while on school business MRA employees are  
prohibited from using personal property for work-related purposes unless approved in advance by  
the Principal.  

SAFETY POLICY  

MRA is firmly committed to maintaining a safe and healthy working environment. All employees  
of the School are expected to be safety conscious on the job at all times. All unsafe conditions or  

280



 Page 55 

hazards should be corrected immediately. Report all unsafe conditions or hazards to your  
supervisor or Principal immediately, even if you believe you have corrected the problem. If you  
suspect a concealed danger is present on School premises, or in a product, facility, piece of  
equipment, process, or business practice for which the School is responsible, bring it to the  
attention of your supervisor or Principal immediately. Supervisors should arrange for the  
correction of any unsafe condition or concealed danger immediately and immediately contact the  
Principal regarding the problem.  

All workplace injuries and illnesses must be immediately reported to your supervisor and Human  
Resources.  

MRA has in place a written Injury and Illness Prevention Program as required by law. Please  
contact Human Resources for further information.  

ERGONOMICS  

MRA has invested in providing a work environment that is safe for all employees. To lessen the  
risk of ergonomic hazards, the School will make necessary adjustments to an individual’s  
workstation, educate employees on ergonomic safety, and modify processes when deemed  
necessary to ensure the well-being and safety of our employees. You should report any ergonomic  
concerns to your Principal. 

CHEMICAL EXPOSURE WARNING   

Employees should be aware that work areas might contain chemicals known to the State of  
California to cause cancer or to cause birth defects or other reproductive harm. If you have any  
questions or concerns about possible chemical exposure in your work area, contact your Principal.  

SECTION 13 – TERMINATION   

VOLUNTARY TERMINATION  

MRA will consider an employee to have voluntarily terminated his or her employment if the  
employee does any of the following: (1) elects to resign from MRA; (2) fails to return from an  
approved leave of absence on the date specified without notifying the school for the need for  
continued leave including failure to communicate with the School; or (3) fails to report for work  
without notice to MRA for three consecutive work days. MRA requests that employees provide  at 
least two weeks written notice of a voluntary termination. All MRA property must be returned  
immediately upon terminating employment. MRA retains the right to accept resignation  
immediately and pay the amount of straight time compensation an employee would have earned  in 
lieu of further performance.  

INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION  

An employee may be terminated involuntarily for, among other reasons, poor performance,  
misconduct or other violations of MRA's Rules of Conduct as set forth herein. Notwithstanding  
the foregoing, or anything else contained in this handbook, MRA reserves the right to terminate  
any employee at any time, with or without advance notice and with or without cause.  

281



 Page 56 

EXIT INTERVIEWS  

All employees who leave employment at MRA may be asked to take part in an exit interview  with 
their supervisor to communicate their challenges and growth while employed at MRA.  Information 
shared during an exit interview will be treated as confidential to the extent possible.  

VERIFICATION AND REFERENCE POLICY  

All requests for employment verification, references or personal information verification or  
disclosures must be directed to Human Resources. Only Human Resources is authorized to provide  
verifications or references, or disclose personal information, pertaining to current or former  
employees.  

With respect to verification requests, MRA will disclose only the dates of employment and the  title 
of the last position held. MRA will verify or disclose additional information about the  employee 
only if the employee provides written authorization for MRA to provide the  information. However, 
MRA will provide information about current or former employees as  required by law or court 
order. MRA will not provide any letters of reference for current or  former employees. Please refer 
all questions about this policy to Human Resources. 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  
By my signature below, I acknowledge that I have received a copy of Monarch River Charter  
School’s (“MRA”) Employee Handbook, on the date indicated below and agree to my at-will  
employment as described below. I acknowledge that it is my responsibility to read and review the  
Employee Handbook carefully. I also acknowledge that it is my responsibility to ask for  
clarification if I do not understand any of the policies included in the Employee Handbook.  

I understand that the Employee Handbook contains important information regarding MRA's 
expectations, policies and guidelines and that I am expected to comply with these expectations,  
policies and guidelines at all times. I understand that the Employee Handbook does not provide a  
binding contract, but provides guidelines for personnel concerning some of MRA's policies.  

In particular, I have read and understand MRA'ss Anti-Nepotism Policy, Policy Regarding  
Inconsistent, Incompatible or Conflicting Employment, Activity or Enterprise by School  
Personnel, Policy Confirming Restrictions on the Provision of Funds or Other Things of Value to  
Students, Parents or Guardians, and restrictions and procedures to avoid Conflicts of Interest.  

Just as I am free to terminate the employment relationship with MRA at any time, MRA, in its  sole 
discretion, also reserves the right to modify or terminate the employment relationship with  me at 
any time for any or no reason and with or without notice. Further, there is no agreement,  express 
or implied, written or verbal, between the employee and MRA for any specific period of  
employment, for continuing or long-term employment, or for guaranteed terms and conditions of  
employment. No one other than the Principal of MRA, with the approval of the Board of  Directors, 
has the authority to alter your employment at-will status, to enter into an agreement for  
employment for a specified period of time, or to make any agreement contrary to this policy.  
Further, any such agreement must be in writing and must be signed by the Principal. This is the  
entire agreement between MRA and me regarding this subject. All prior or contemporaneous  
inconsistent agreements are superseded. If I have an individually negotiated written employment  
agreement with MRA, then the terms and conditions of that agreement will prevail to the extent  it 

282



 Page 57 

differs from the policies in this Handbook.  

MRA reserves the right to modify, alter, add to or delete any of the policies, guidelines or 
benefits  contained in this handbook at any time with or without notice.   

Other than MRA Board of Directors, no other entity or person has the authority to modify this  
employee handbook.  

Employee Name (print): _________________________________  

Employee Signature: ____________________________________ 

Date:_______________________________ 

283



 Cover Sheet 
 Board Metrics Report - December 

 Sec�on:  VI. Governance 
 Item:  A. Board Metrics Report - December 
 Purpose:  Presenta�on & Poten�al Discussion - Informa�onal 
 Related Material:  Board Metrics Report - December 2023 - MR 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  School Report with December Topics 
 ●  The  Board  may  request  addi�onal  informa�on  through  a  presenta�on  at  a  future  Board 

 Mee�ng. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  Consider providing school staff with input, guidance, and or direc�on. 

284



 

BOARD METRICS REPORT 
 

December 2023 
 

 

Program Enrollment 
 
Current Enrollment by Grade: 
(As of 12/01/2023) 

 

• 368 withdrawals were processed since 8/1, 13 pending. 
• 42 SPED students have withdrawn, 1 pending.  
• The school continues to offer enrollment as students withdraw. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Transitional Kindergarten: Early Education Program 

Natalie Douty 

 
The Transitional Kindergarten (TK) program currently has 120 students enrolled in Central Valley 
Charter Schools (97 in Yosemite Valley Charter School and 23 in Monarch River Academy).  Like last 

year, this program is extremely popular among families and currently has a waitlist.  Since we are 
enrolling students throughout the year we anticipate that our enrollment will remain at 120 as we 
pull from the waitlist when a withdrawal occurs.  Our TK teachers have had an amazing start to 
the TK program and are building upon the great start from last school year.   
 
Purpose and Focus: 

• TK serves as a bridge between preschool and traditional kindergarten, specifically 
targeting children who miss the cutoff age for Kindergarten eligibility.  It gives these 
younger children an opportunity to build foundational skills in a structured and supportive 
learning environment.   

• The TK program focuses on helping children develop the social, emotional, and academic 
skills necessary for success in Kindergarten and beyond.  This includes early literacy and 
numeracy skills, as well as important social skills like cooperation and critical thinking.   

 

285



 
 

• The TK program offers individualized attention for each student by identifying the specific 
needs and readiness levels of each child and incorporating a developmentally appropriate 
curriculum designed to help them learn and grow.   

Highlights and Developments: Focused on fostering a love for learning and reducing the 
achievement gap by leveling the playing field and ensuring all students are ready for 
Kindergarten.  

• TK program is supported by 5 TK teachers and 7 paraprofessionals.   

• Each teacher supports 24 TK students on their roster and has the support of a 
paraprofessional making the student-teacher ratio 1:12. 

• Monarch River Academy has 23 TK students and Yosemite Valley has 97 TK students  

• TK-specific educational plans were created this year to better support TK students by 
identifying the learning goals, activities, and progress of each student.   

• TK standards and checklists were created to help teachers identify student mastery of 
standards, monitor student progress, and identify student needs each Learning Period.  

• We offer a TK “full day” option and a TK “enrichment” option.  

o Full Day:  Standards Aligned curriculum selected along 

o Enrichment:  Standards-aligned exposure to play-based curriculum plan  

• A curated list of TK Curriculum was developed and shared for “Full Day” TK students 

• Daily TK Launchpad taught by TK credentialed teachers.  Consistent attendance with 
about 10-15 kids.  

• To ensure each TK student is ready for Kindergarten, a Kindergarten readiness 
assessment is given three times a year.  This assessment allows teachers to monitor 
student learning and progress throughout the year and provide targeted instruction to meet 
each student’s needs.   

• TK Learning Period (LP) Meeting Agendas were created to create consistent messaging 
and identify specific kindergarten readiness tips and trips to share with parents each LP 
period to implement into their learning day throughout the LP.  

• Increased focus on TK Community Building Events to provide students with educational 
opportunities to collaborate and interact with other TK students in a group setting.  

o TK Park Days with Academic stations led by teachers to allow for collaboration and 
socialization in group settings.   

o TK Academic Adventure Field Trips- Over 100 children (TK and siblings) attended 
the October Field Trip to the Pumpkin Patch 

• Bi-yearly DRDP (Desired Results Developmental Profile) implementation for all students 

with an IEP (Individualized Educational Plan).  This assessment allows us to measure our 
TK student’s learning and development by assessing a student’s academic, social, and 
emotional development.   

286

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1JBzIZXehMWYC6siYyPnVChdSuOUPBOUytrGriXXA86g/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1BepjreB6vkIwbUrJOynyN5Wlvd7njOZZUm0V-vv6-_M/edit


 
 

Data:   

• How many in Full Day Academy TK and Half Day General TK 
o Monarch River | General 15 | Academy 8 | Total : 23 
o Yosemite Valley | General 52 | Academy 45 | Total: 97 

 
• Kindergarten Readiness Assessment: This is the first year we have implemented a 

Kindergarten readiness assessment for our TK students.  Round 1 was completed during 
LP#1 and LP#2.  We will conduct round 2 during LP#5 and then round 3 during LP#8 and 
LP#9.  We will compare the data from the beginning of the year to the end of the year to 
assess student progress and learning.   

 

 

High School: Drop Out Rate 

Yessenia Medina 

 
High school dropout rates like graduation rates are used as indicators of the educational system's 
productivity. Dropout rates are defined as the percentage of students who do not complete high 
school with their graduation cohort. The use of the California Longitudinal Pupil Achievement Data 
System (CALPADS) assists in tracking these students. Students who are identified as dropouts 
will have an exit code of E140. The exit E140 is defined as a student, age six up until age 18, is 
truant as defined by Education Code Section 48260 (a), and: (1) has been referred to a local or 
county School Attendance Review Board (SARB) by the Local Educational Agency (LEA) after 
the LEA has taken all statutory truancy intervention steps; or (2) cannot be located by the LEA 
after the LEA has completed a full investigation as to the whereabouts of the student. 
 

Monarch River Academy (MRA) Dropout Report 
 

• In the 2022/2023 school year, about this time of year, we had 3 Monarch River Academy 
high school students withdraw from our school.  All three students enrolled in another 
educational institution. 

• During this 2023/2024 school year, 7 high school students have withdrawn.  All seven 
students have enrolled in another educational institution. 

 

The most recent California High School Dropout Rate in 2019-20 was 8.9%. MRA is currently 
well below that with no high school students exiting as dropouts. 
 

In order to decrease the percentage of dropouts, the staff at MRA follow up with students who 
withdraw from high school by conducting phone calls or by mail to support them in enrolling in 
alternate schools.  
 

There has been increased high school staff due to the increase of high school student population 
over the past two years.  The graduation rates for Monarch River Academy have increased over 
the last two years, which may be related.  We used results from the CA Dashboard to determine 
the success rate. The graduation rate for 2022 was 84.2%, which was -8.11 lower than last year. 
We used CALPADS 15.1 Cohort Outcome Count and Rate Report to obtain our graduation rate 
for 2023, which was 92.31%. Our graduation rate 2022 was -3.2 percentage points lower than the 
statewide percentage of 87.4. 

287

https://www.caschooldashboard.org/reports/54718110139477/2022


 

 

High School: A-G Report 

Denise Voth, Carmen Marroquin, & Yessenia Medina 

 
A-G course requirement completion is one measure of College/Career Readiness.  Each year 
the number of students completing A-G course requirements is increasing. Monarch River 
Academy has offered A-G courses to meet our core subject graduation requirements since its 
inception in 2020.  
 

What have we implemented to increase A-G course completion? 
• Converted all core class offerings that meet our high school graduation requirements to 

meet A-G college entrance requirements (Social Studies, English, Science, Math, Visual 
Performing Arts, World Languages)  

• Increased A-G core offerings through High School Virtual Academy and updated 
University of California Office of the President (UCOP) A-G course lists. 

• Created A-G course curriculum lists and A-G course outlines for each core subject 
• Tracked and monitored students meeting A-G course requirements with a tag in 

Pathways and on the Individual Graduation Plan (IGP). 
• Held individual counseling meetings with 11th-grade and 12th-grade students 

completing A-G course requirements students to support and provide resources 
• Incentivized A-G completion with an honor cord at graduation 
• Scheduled Students for Success! Changed the way we talk about A-G course 

completion by promoting college/career readiness for all students. 
o Updated the Individual Graduation Plan (IGP) by scheduling classes in a way 

where all students are completing A-G course requirements while fulfilling high 
school graduation requirements during 9th and 10th grade. 

o Encourage all college-bound students, including those attending a community 
college, to complete A-G course requirements.  

o Continue all diploma-earning students on the A-G course completion path unless 
they choose to switch to non A-G in Grade 11.   

o Non-AG students must meet with their counselor to discuss their future plans and 
sign an AG waiver. 

• Encouraged using dual/concurrent enrollment for A-G course completion 
• Hired an additional counselor to help target A-G course completion at 11th and 12th-

grade level, expand dual/concurrent enrollment programs, increase support for financial 
aid application completion and post-secondary planning, and hold small group/individual 
student meetings. 

• Supported professional development and American School Counselor Association 
(ASCA) membership for the counseling department to keep abreast of updates and best 
practices. 

• Expanded the Secondary Education Specialist team to help monitor IGP and Yearly 
Plans, update A-G course outlines, manage course lists and catalog, and specialize in 
A-G curriculums. 

• Improved high school progress monitoring to target students in danger of failing 
• Educated staff about A-G course requirements and the importance of A-G course 

completion (Stay AG! campaign for staff and students) 
• Offered staff professional development in College/Career Readiness, the College Career 

Indicator, and its impact on the California Dashboard 

 

A-G course completion rates: 
288

https://drive.google.com/file/d/14SssEFH2FKb733gwykf1nejjflm7HrW5/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/15KIXbGpf19LBur-KJ-s_QB9ySsjM_AM_/view?usp=sharing
https://hs-articulation.ucop.edu/agcourselist/institution/5441
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1NNY6fGNYc79-rbQdVWkOAvtN_lABbXJf/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1IFAiTdCmDB7uawtmiKKIQ2jhEJ4wGmNn/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1RUhidOAAQTjc7ck_I85IqmqL0o2LUkXs/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/14WkGjIEtVc1j00w3lhCmPFFrQ_nLOxrE/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/14ZHdOwf8gOFdPBZO8wttYEswRRxGwaJZ/view?usp=sharing


 

Class Number of A-G students  
(total diploma grads) 

Percentage of class 

2024 6 (22) 27% 

2023 3 (25) 12% 

2022 10 (38) 26% 

2021 1 (12) 8% 

2020 1 (1) 100% 

 

Based on current enrollment, the Class of 2025 will graduate 82% of its diploma-earning 
students meeting A-G course requirements.  
 

How can we continue to increase A-G course completion? 
• Continue to Schedule Students for Success!  

o All 9th and 10th graders are on track to complete A-G course requirements. 
o Encourage all students to complete A-G, including students who plan on 

attending community college 
• Continue to monitor and track A-G course completion 

o Currently in progress to become a partner district with CaliforniaColleges.edu to 
use transcript-informed reports 

• Continue to promote Dual/Concurrent Enrollment options that fulfill A-G course 
requirements. 

• Continue to monitor and update the UCOP A-G Course List 
• Continue to seek out community partnerships that will support student’s A-G course 

completion 
o Currently in progress to become a partner district with Bulldog Bound, Fresno 

State’s guaranteed admission program. 
• Increase offerings that meet A-G course requirements in English and math 
• Increase knowledge and level of importance of A-G course requirement completion and 

its impact on the College Career Indicator (CCI) among the staff. 
• Review and update interventions available for D and F students through high school 

progress monitoring 
• Encourage all students to take a College/Career exploration/readiness course 
• Work with middle school staff and students to promote early awareness of A-G course 

requirements 
• Review Pathways California Longitudinal Pupil Achievement Data System (CALPADS) 

reports in August to review the accuracy of A-G course completion data before 
certification. 

 

High School/ College/Career: Counseling 

Carmen Marroquin 

 
The main goal of Monarch River Academy’s High School Program is to graduate students who 
are college and career-ready.  College and Career Readiness is also a state measure reflected 
on our California Dashboard called the College Career Indicator (CCI).   Graduates who meet  
 289

https://www.californiacolleges.edu/
https://hs-articulation.ucop.edu/agcourselist/institution/5441
https://studentaffairs.fresnostate.edu/are/bound/documents/guaranteed-admissions-web.pdf


 
 
specific CCI “prepared” criteria are included in the calculations of the CCI rate.  The following 
are State Board of Education-approved measures used to calculate the CCI: 

 
• Advanced Placement (AP) exams 
• A-G Course Requirement Completion   
• Career Technical Education (CTE) pathway completion  
• College Credit Course (formerly called Dual Enrollment)  
• International Baccalaureate (IB) exams  
• Leadership/Military Science  
• Pre-Apprenticeships  
• Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments in English Language Arts(ELA)/Literacy and 

Mathematics in Grade Eleven  
• State and Federal Job Programs  
• State Seal of Biliteracy (SSB) 
• Transition Classroom and Work-Based Learning Experiences 

Students are classified as “Prepared”, “Approaching Prepared”, or “Not Prepared” depending on 
which of the above criteria they have met by the time they graduate.   
 

Monarch River Academy CCI Progress Report 
 

*CCI on the 2020 Dashboard 
No report, only 1 graduate 
 

*CCI on the Dashboard for 2021 or 2022  
Not reported due to COVID 
 

CCI available for 2023 Dashboard on December 15, 2023 
Per internal school records, we are anticipating: 

12% Prepared  

20% Approaching Prepared  

68% Not Prepared  

 

CCI anticipated for 2024 Dashboard per internal school records: 

23% Prepared  

23% Approaching Prepared  

54% Not Prepared  

 

Monarch River Academy’s High School Program is happy to report an increase in the CCI 
Indicator of “Prepared” students and a decrease in “Not Prepared” students based on 2023 
baseline data. We have been actively targeting college and career readiness measures that are 
applicable to our students, including: 
 
 

290

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Jeoqs6lJWlskw25jPOKXKm4oFdJNlhmj/view?usp=sharing


 

 
• A-G Course Requirement Completion 

o Schedule all 9th and 10th graders to complete A-G course requirements 
o Encourage all students to complete A-G course requirements, including students 

who plan on attending community college 
o Incentivize A-G course completion with an honor cord at graduation 
o Hold individual counselor meetings and require opt-out waiver for 11th graders 

choosing non A-G 
o Hold individual counselor meetings for 11th and 12th-grade students completing 

A-G course requirements to provide encouragement and support 
o Educate staff about A-G course requirements and the importance of completing 

them 
• CTE Pathway completion 

o Matched CTE Pathways available through our vendor Edynamic with our own 
CTE credentialed teachers 

o Promote CTE Pathways during non A-G meetings 
• College Credit Course 

o Partnered with Fresno/Madera K-16 Collaborative Virtual Dual Enrollment Hub 
o Promote Concurrent/Dual Enrollment to families 

▪ Hold family information sessions 
▪ Send emails with resources and upcoming registration dates 
▪ Update website with resources 

o Educate staff about concurrent enrollment process and benefits 
• Smarter Balanced ELA/Math tests 

o Curriculum recommendations or ‘Short List’ that covers standards (i.e. High 
School Virtual Academy (HSVA) Live!, Edgenuity, etc.) 

o Recommend Single Subject Teacher 
• State Seal of Biliteracy 

o Identify and notify students who are close to meeting criteria for SSB  

 

Future plans to increase our CCI include: 
• Increase knowledge and level of importance of A-G completion and CCI Preparedness 

among staff 
• Continue to encourage, support, and monitor A-G completion: 

o In the process of becoming a partner district with CaliforniaColleges.edu 
o In the process of becoming a partner district with Fresno State’s Bulldog Bound 

• Continue to promote Concurrent Enrollment options for students 
o Goal:  All eligible students to graduate with one college class on their transcript 

• Promote CTE Pathways completion for students ineligible to take a college class (below 
a 2.5 Grade Point Average (GPA)) 

• Support students with participation in college/career readiness and exploration courses. 

 
Testing: Internal Benchmark Progress Report Fall 2023 

Becky Bennett, Testing Coordinator 

 

Participation 

98% of YVC students took the Star Assessments this Fall. This number includes the 2% of our 
population that take an Alternative Assessment in place of the Star 360.  

 
 291



 
 
Student Growth Percentile 
 

Star Mathematics Assessment     Star Reading Assessment     

Spring - Fall ‘23 

• 59.5% of students made typical or 
greater than typical growth from 
Spring of 2023. 

• 4% increase from the Spring of ‘23 
when 55.8% of students scored 
typical/ greater 

• CA Statewide Median 48% 

Spring - Fall ‘23 

• 64.3% of students made typical or 
greater than typical growth from 
Spring of 2023.  

• 2% increase from the Spring when 
62.2% of students scored typical or 
greater  

• CA Statewide Median 47% 

 

Student Proficiency Report 

 
 

 
Report Definitions  

 
Student Growth Percentile 

To determine the rate of student growth the Student Growth Percentile (SGP) is calculated to see 
how adequately students are progressing over the course of the year. The SGP is determined by 
first calculating growth between current test scores and up to two previous scores, then comparing 
that calculation to the growth of academic peers. See table:  

 
 
Reported are the percent of students at or above the 35th student growth percentile, which shows 
growth relative to others in the same grade with a similar Star Assessment score history. The 
given calculations used the student’s latest score in Spring of 2023 compared to their latest score 
in Fall 2023. The Statewide Median is also provided for comparison.  
  

 
 
 292



 
 
Student Proficiency Report  
Rather than measuring growth over time, proficiency levels are calculated based on California 
state referenced cut-scores. These show how the proficiency level on the state test corresponds 
to the Star Assessment scores. The standard against which the scores are judged can be 
described as performance levels such as Below Basic, Basic, Proficient, and Advanced. To 
remain consistent with California’s standard benchmarks, performance levels in this report are 
referred to as Level 1, Level 2, Level 3, Level 4. Below you will find the percent of students in 
each Benchmark Category as described.  
 

 

English Language Learners 

Kelly Pettit, EL Coordinator 

 
Current EL Enrollment Numbers 

• 9 EL students 
 

English Learner Reclassification  
• 2022-2023 Reclassification Rates 

8 total students tested in the Spring 23 Summative ELPAC 

• 3 Reclassified since the 23 Spring Summative ELPAC.  
• 38% Reclassification rate 
• 100% of students tested & reclassified by MRA were enrolled in Live ELD classes 

 

EL Annual Growth on ELPAC  
 

Our 8 students either maintained or improved their proficiency level in the Spring 23 ELPAC. In 
order to protect student privacy, due to the limited number of students data is not presented in 
specificity. 
 

 

Virtual Academies: High School VA, Middle School Va, & Elementary 

School VA 

Emily Catron & Lorinda Riffel 

 
The purpose of our virtual academy program is to provide an all-inclusive curriculum option for 
families in Yosemite Valley Charter and Monarch River Academy. Our courses provide rigorous 
standards-aligned instruction that addresses the needs of all students. The classes in our High 
School Virtual Academy program meet all AG requirements to ensure students are college and 
career-ready.  
 
The Virtual Academy programs seek to grow and develop each year in response to data 
analysis, which includes not only student academic performance but also feedback from parents 
and staff.  Below, you can read some of the data collected this fall as well as some of the plans 
to improve student experience and achievement.  
 

 

 

 293



 

 
Course Offerings 

• Math 
• English Language Arts (ELA) 
• Science 
• Social Studies 
• Social Emotional Learning (SEL) 
• 9th Grade Directed Studies 
• Transitions Electives which include Middle and High school Study Skills  
• Electives include Art, Middle School and High School Leadership, Academic Pentathlon, 

and Academic Decathlon.  

 
Training for VA teachers 

• Curriculum Trainings 
o My Access! 
o Teachers’ Curriculum Institute (TCI) 
o Professional Learning Communities (PLCs) 
o McGraw Hill Open Learning System 

• Professional Development  
o Use of Artificial Intelligence (AI) 
o High-End Learning Strategies 
o Professional Learning Communities (PLCs) 

▪ Teachers meet regularly in subject-specific teams to complete PDSA’s 
(Plan, Do, Study, Act) in order to improve student achievement. 
Secondary teams include case managers who serve as inclusion 
teachers. 

o Personalized Professional Development 

 
Data Points  
 

• HSVA/MSVA Edgenuity 
o 90 students enrolled Nov ‘23 
o 93 students enrolled in Fall ‘22 

• Students with IEP 
o ESVA - 10% with IEP 
o MSVA - 18% with IEP 
o HSVA - 18% with IEP 

 

Virtual Academy Program Enrollment: Unduplicated Student Numbers 

 

Grade 
Level 

YVC VA Enrolment (Fall 
22) 

YVC VA 
Enrollment  

(Nov 23) 

Percentage of VA Students in YVC 
(Nov 23) 

TK 4 6 6% 

K 11 35 12% 

1 29 31 11% 

2 27 31 13% 

294



 

3 43 46 17% 

4 45 54 20% 

5 42 58 24% 

6 51 63 29% 

7 45 71 36% 

8 55 77 46% 

9 49 70 60% 

10 49 60 57% 

11 49 47 44% 

12 52 33 31% 

 
Virtual Academy Program Enrollment: Program Usage 

 

Grade 
YVC Math/ELA 2022 YVC Math/ELA 2023 

YVC  
Core 4* 2022 

YVC 
 Core 4* 2023 

TK 0% 100% 0% 0% 

K 82% 91% 9% 34% 

1 62% 65% 17% 19% 

2 76% 66% 8% 25% 

3 58% 67% 5% 28% 

4 64% 64% 16% 34% 

5 50% 52% 7% 31% 

6 67% 62% 24% 31% 

7 64% 66% 22% 25% 

8 58% 49% 7% 17% 

9 64% 51% 13% 7% 

10 61% 63% 22% 31% 

11 41% 27% 18% 13% 

12 23% 3% 8% 0% 

*Core 4 is Math, ELA, Science, and Social Studies 295



 

 
Program Adjustments Made for the 23/24 School Year (based on previous feedback) 

• One section of math and ELA courses offered 3 times per week (MSVA, ESVA) 
• Two hours per week of optional homework club (ESVA) 
• Time added to K-2nd grade ELA for explicit phonics/reading instruction (ESVA) 
• Weekly grade level newsletters sent to families rather than emails from each teacher 

(ESVA) 
• Classes offered on more days of the week (ESVA) 
• Extended class time for Algebra and Chemistry to provide students with more 

instructional minutes (HSVA) 
• Set weekly office hours to provide support to students and learning coaches (HSVA) 
• Increased class maximums to allow for more enrollment (HSVA/MSVA) 
• Improvement of the Struggling Student Report and periodic progress check emails as a 

source of communication between ISTs and VA teachers to ensure students are 
supported in bringing up their grades. 

• Increase usage of educational technology such as SeeSaw and Pear Deck as an 
effective way to check for student understanding and promote student engagement in 
live classes across all content areas   

 
Parent Quotes  
“I have really appreciated the weekly updates and communication from the teachers.” 
 
“It has been a PERFECT way for my daughter to complete her high school education.  She loves the 
format, and she is much more able to keep up with school assignments on this platform.  It has been the 
BEST for our family!!” 
 
“We love our teachers! All our teachers are all wonderful. As a homeschool family, it is wonderful having 
the guidance and help of so many enthusiastic, fun, and kind teachers to help us! Thank you for this 
hybrid program!”  parent of ESVA & MSVA students 
 
“Mrs. Vernon and Mrs. Frankmore have been incredible ESVA teachers for us. They have been so patient 
and consistent in their teaching. I feel like my son is getting a quality education! They have also both been 
very accommodating when we’ve dealt with illness and needed an extension on assignments. They are 
very responsive and very patient and I know I can ask a question whenever I need to with ease.” 
 
“I appreciate their patience, planning + organization, enthusiasm, and high level of professionalism. All 
three of Z's teachers (Mrs. Heuring, Mrs.Tuck and Mrs. Kulekjian) are amazing and we are so happy to be 
a part of ESVA this year.” 
 
“My daughter is enrolled in Mrs. Lauchland's grade 8 math class, and she LOVES her teacher. Mrs. 
Lauchland is extremely knowledgeable in her discipline, very patient and understanding, and replies to 
G.'s emails and text messages after school hours. She is kind and a true professional. We really 
appreciate her!” 
 
“My son’s teacher for both 7th grade ELA and Social Studies, Mrs. Smith, does an amazing job in many 
ways, but I really appreciate that she offers artistic projects as an alternative to writing assignments 
(which my son struggles with) she also has chosen some really compelling stories for the ELA class, 
which my son has found really engaging.” 
 
Highlights 

• ESVA Park Day  
o 253 students 

• Academic Adventure Attendance 296



 
o 143 students and 106 parents have attended ESVA-specific field trips this fall 

• HSVA/MSVA teachers attending High School and Middle School Hangouts 
o Students enjoy seeing their teachers in person and connecting with them 
o By having multiple locations available more high school and middle school 

students have attended this year  

 
Plans for Growth 

• Increased amount of class sections based on demand 
• More elective options for ESVA 
• Demand was especially high for all VA live classes based on waitlists  

 

Special Education: SLP, OT, & Nursing 

Lorraine Sewell 

 

• Occupational Therapy Services 
o In house - 1 OT and 1 COTA 
o 146 students total receiving OT 

▪ 38 are served in house (20 YV and 18 MR) 
▪ 108 are contracted out (80 YV and 28 MR) 

• Speech and Language Services 
o In house - 4 SLPs 
o 317 students total receiving Speech and Language services (224 YV and 93 MR) 

▪ 118 are served in house (79 YV and 39 MR) 
▪ 199 are contracted out (145 YV and 54 MR) 

• Health and Nursing Services 
o 1 student receiving Health and Nursing consult 
o School nurse completes assessments for special education and creates health 

plans for all students as needed. 
 

 

297



 Cover Sheet 
 2023-2024 Board Meeting Calendar 

 Sec�on:  VI. Governance 
 Item:  B. 2023-2024 Board mee�ng Calendar 
 Purpose:  Discussion & Poten�al Ac�on - Vote 
 Related Material:  2023-2024 Board Calendar - MR 

 BACKGROUND: 

 ●  Per  Board  Member  request,  the  Board  Calendar  is  being  considered  for  changes  to  the 
 remaining mee�ngs for the year, specifically, the day mee�ngs are held. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 ●  Consider the approval of the 2023-2024 Board Calendar with any agreed upon changes. 

298



July 2023 January 2024

August 2023 February 2024

September 2023 March 2024

October 2023 April 2024

November 2023 May 2024

December 2023 June 2024

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
1 6

2 8 7 13
9 15 14 20
16 22 21 27
23 29 28
30

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
5 3

6 12 4 10
13 19 11 17
20 26 18 24
27 25

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
2 2

3 9 3 9
10 16 10 16
17 23 17 23
24 30 24 30

31

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 7 6
8 14 7 13
15 21 14 20
22 28 21 27
29 28

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
4 4

5 11 5 11
12 18 12 18
19 25 19 25
26 26

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
2 1

3 9 2 8
10 16 9 15
17 23 16 22
24 30 23 29

1 2 3 4 5
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19
17 18 19 20 21 22 24 25 26
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31
31

1 2 3 4 1 2
7 8 9 10 11 5 6 7 8 9

14 15 16 17 18 12 13 14 15 16
21 22 23 24 25 19 21 22 23
28 29 30 31 26 27 28 29

1 1
4 5 6 7 8 4 5 6 7 8
11 12 13 14 15 11 12 13 14 15
18 19 20 21 22 18 19 20 21 22
25 27 28 29 25 26 27 28 29

2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 4 5
9 10 11 12 13 8 9 10 11 12

16 17 18 19 20 15 16 17 18 19
23 24 25 26 27 22 23 24 25 26
30 31 29 30

1 2 3 1 2 3
6 7 8 9 10 6 7 8 9 10

13 14 15 16 17 13 14 15 16 17
20 21 22 23 24 20 22 23 24
27 28 29 30 27 28 29 30 31

1
4 6 7 8 3 4 5 6 7
11 12 13 14 15* 10 11 12 13 14
18 19 20 21 22 17 19 20 21
25 26 27 28 29 24 25 26 27 28

23

20

26

21

5

18

School Year Dates

School Holidays

Important Board Items Regular Board Meeing Dates Important Board Items

Aug 7 Teachers Back to Work
Aug 23 First Day of School
Aug 28-Sept 8 Fall Star 360
Sept 15 HS Senior Sunrise
Dec 11-Jan 12 Winter Star 360
Nov 30 HS Sadie Hawkins Dance
Jan 26 End of Semester 1
Feb Physical Fitness Testing
Feb 9 Report Cards Due
Mar 11-May 10 State Testing
April 26 HS Prom
May 13-24 Spring Star 360
May 24 Graduation - Monterey
May 31
June 7 Last Day of School
June 12 Report Cards Due
Jun 14 Last Teacher Work Day

Sept 4 Labor Day
Nov 10 Veteran's Day
Nov 17-24 Thanksgiving Break
Dec 18-Jan 2 Winter Break
Jan 15 Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
Feb 12
Feb 19 Washington Day
Mar 25-Apr 1 Spring Break
May 27 Memorial Day
June 19 Juneteenth

Sept 26
Dec 5
Jan 23
Feb 20
May 21
June 18

  School Closed

 Regular Board Meeting

Important Board Dates

Graduation - Fresno

Lincoln Day

on - M

31 3011 10

Sept 15 Unaudited Actuals Due Feb 1 SARC Due to the State

Nov 1 Dashboard Indicators Comprehensive School

    due to State     Safety Plan

Dec Aproval of previous Mar 15 2nd Interims Due to County

  year's Audit Mar 31 Auditor Selection Form Due

Dec 15 1st Interims Due to County       to County

April 1 Form 700s Due to County

    Board of Supervisors

May LCAP Public Hearing

June Budjet adoption & LCAP Approval

Mar 1

*

299



July 2023 January 2024

August 2023 February 2024

September 2023 March 2024

October 2023 April 2024

November 2023 May 2024

December 2023 June 2024

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
1 6

2 8 7 13
9 15 14 20
16 22 21 27
23 29 28
30

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
5 3

6 12 4 10
13 19 11 17
20 26 18 24
27 25

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
2 2

3 9 3 9
10 16 10 16
17 23 17 23
24 30 24 30

31

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 7 6
8 14 7 13
15 21 14 20
22 28 21 27
29 28

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
4 4

5 11 5 11
12 18 12 18
19 25 19 25
26 26

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
2 1

3 9 2 8
10 16 9 15
17 23 16 22
24 30 23 29

1 2 3 4 5
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19
17 18 19 20 21 22 24 25 26
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31
31

1 2 3 4 1 2
7 8 9 10 11 5 6 7 8 9

14 15 16 17 18 12 13 14 15 16
21 22 23 24 25 19 21 22 23
28 29 30 31 26 27 28 29

1 1
4 5 6 7 8 4 5 6 7 8
11 12 13 14 15 11 12 13 14 15
18 19 20 21 22 18 19 20 21 22
25 27 28 29 25 26 27 28 29

2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 4 5
9 10 11 12 13 8 9 10 11 12

16 17 18 19 20 15 16 17 18 19
23 24 25 26 27 22 23 24 25 26
30 31 29 30

1 2 3 1 2 3
6 7 8 9 10 6 7 8 9 10

13 14 15 16 17 13 14 15 16 17
20 21 22 23 24 20 22 23 24
27 28 29 30 27 28 29 30 31

1
4 6 7 8 3 4 5 6 7
11 12 13 14 15* 10 11 12 13 14
18 19 20 21 22 17 19 20 21
25 26 27 28 29 24 25 26 27 28

23

20

26

21

5

18

School Year Dates

School Holidays

Important Board Items Regular Board Meeing Dates Important Board Items

Aug 7 Teachers Back to Work
Aug 23 First Day of School
Aug 28-Sept 8 Fall Star 360
Sept 15 HS Senior Sunrise
Dec 11-Jan 12 Winter Star 360
Nov 30 HS Sadie Hawkins Dance
Jan 26 End of Semester 1
Feb Physical Fitness Testing
Feb 9 Report Cards Due
Mar 11-May 10 State Testing
April 26 HS Prom
May 13-24 Spring Star 360
May 24 Graduation - Monterey
May 31
June 7 Last Day of School
June 12 Report Cards Due
Jun 14 Last Teacher Work Day

Sept 4 Labor Day
Nov 10 Veteran's Day
Nov 17-24 Thanksgiving Break
Dec 18-Jan 2 Winter Break
Jan 15 Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
Feb 12
Feb 19 Washington Day
Mar 25-Apr 1 Spring Break
May 27 Memorial Day
June 19 Juneteenth

Sept 26
Dec 5
Jan 23
Feb 20
May 21
June 18

  School Closed

 Regular Board Meeting

Important Board Dates

Graduation - Fresno

Lincoln Day

on - M

31 3011 10

Sept 15 Unaudited Actuals Due Feb 1 SARC Due to the State

Nov 1 Dashboard Indicators Comprehensive School

    due to State     Safety Plan

Dec Aproval of previous Mar 15 2nd Interims Due to County

  year's Audit Mar 31 Auditor Selection Form Due

Dec 15 1st Interims Due to County       to County

April 1 Form 700s Due to County

    Board of Supervisors

May LCAP Public Hearing

June Budjet adoption & LCAP Approval

Mar 1

*

300


